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PART 1

Item 1.

Item 2.

Item 3.
3A

3B

3.C

Pursuant to Rule 12b-23(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the information for GlaxoSmithKline plc’s Form 20- F
for the year ended December 31, 2019 as set out below is being incorporated by reference from the “GSK Annual Report 2019” included
as exhibit 15.3 to this Form 20-F dated and submitted on March 6, 2020 (the “GSK Annual Report 2019”).

All references in this Form 20-F to “GlaxoSmithKline,” the “Group,” “GSK,” “we” or “our” mean GlaxoSmithKline plc and its
subsidiaries; the “company” means GlaxoSmithKline plec.

References below to major headings include all information under such major headings, including subheadings, unless such reference is a
reference to a subheading, in which case such reference includes only the information contained under such subheading.

In addition to the information set out below, the information set forth under the headings “Cautionary statement” and “Assumptions
related to 2016-2020 outlook™ on the inside back cover, “The Directors’ Report” on page 114, “Directors’ statement of responsibilities” on
pages 152 to 153, “Share capital and control” on pages 288 to 289, “Financial calendar 20207, “Results announcements”, “Financial
reports” and “Annual General Meeting 2020 on page 291, “Registrar” on page 294, “ADS Depositary”, “Glaxo Wellcome and
SmithKline Beecham Corporate PEPs”, “Donating shares to Save the Children”, “Contacts” and “Share scam alert” on page 295,

“Section 13(r) of the US Securities Exchange Act” on page 297 and “Glossary of terms” on page 311 in each case of the GSK Annual
Report 2019 is incorporated by reference.

Notice regarding limitations on Director Liability under English Law

Under the UK Companies Act 2006, a safe harbour limits the liability of Directors in respect of statements in and omissions from certain
portions of the GSK Annual Report 2019 incorporated by reference herein, namely “The Directors’ Report” (for which see page 114
thereof), the “Strategic Report” (pages 1 to 74 thereof, portions of which are incorporated by reference as described below) and the
“Remuneration Report” (pages 115 to 150 portions of which are incorporated by reference as described below). These reports have been
drawn up and presented in accordance with, and in reliance upon, English company law. Under English law, the Directors would be liable
to the company, but not to any third party, if these sections of the GSK Annual Report 2019 contain errors as a result of recklessness or
knowing misstatement or dishonest concealment of a material fact, but would not otherwise be liable.

Portions of the GSK Annual Report 2019 incorporated by reference herein contain references to our website. Information on our
website or any other website referenced in the GSK Annual Report 2019 is not incorporated into this Form 20-F and should not be
considered to be part of this Form 20-F. We have included any references to the website as an inactive textual reference only.

Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers

Not applicable.

Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable
Not applicable.

Key Information
Selected financial data
The information set forth under the heading:

. “Five year record” on pages 263 to 265 (excluding the heading and the information under the heading “Financial results —
Adjusted” on page 264 and the columns titled “2017 (revised)”, “2016 (revised)” and “2015 (revised)” in the table
“Pharmaceuticals turnover” on page 263); and

. “Dividends” on page 290
of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

Capitalization and indebtedness

Not applicable.

Reasons for the offer and use of proceeds

Not applicable.



3.D

Risk Factors
Principal risks and uncertainties

The principal risks discussed below are the risks and uncertainties relevant to our business, financial condition and results of operations
that may affect our performance and ability to achieve our objectives. They are the risks that we believe could cause our actual results to
differ materially from expected and historical results.

During 2019, we continued to embed changes to our risk management and reporting cycle to help us identify, manage and report our most
important risks across the organisation in a more consistent and proportionate way. We completed Enterprise Risk Plans for all of our most
important risks and ensured businesses adopted them and only adapted them with approval. We deployed confirmation across the
organisation, reinforcing leader accountability for risk management, and measured how well the controls set out in the Enterprise Risk
Plans had been implemented and gaps closed. We further evolved our risk management process by introducing new reports to the Board
with more focus on data and key risk indicators, leading to better informed discussions on risk exposure and action needed. We introduced
a new approach to the annual risk review to support CET decisions on any changes required to our most important risks.

We are required to comply with a broad range of laws and regulations which apply to research and development, manufacturing, testing,
approval, distribution, sales and marketing of Pharmaceutical, Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare products.

These affect not only the cost of product development but also the time required to reach the market and the likelihood of doing so
successfully on an uninterrupted basis.

As rules and regulations change, government interpretation evolves, and our business activities change, the nature of a particular risk may
change. Changes to certain regulatory regimes may be substantial. Any change in, and any failure to comply with, applicable laws and
regulations could materially and adversely affect our financial results.

Similarly, our global business exposes us to litigation and government investigations, including but not limited to product liability
litigation, patent and antitrust litigation and sales and marketing litigation. Litigation and government investigations, including related
provisions we may make for unfavourable outcomes and increases in related costs such as insurance premiums, could materially and
adversely affect our financial results.

More detail on the status and various uncertainties in our significant unresolved disputes and potential litigation is set out in “Note 46 —
Legal proceedings” on pages 247 to 251 of the GSK Annual Report 2019.

Patient safety
Risk definition

Failure to appropriately collect, review, follow up, or report human safety information (HSI), including adverse events from all potential
sources, and to act on any relevant findings in a timely manner.

Risk impact

The risk impact has the potential to compromise our ability to conduct robust safety signal detection and interpretation and to ensure that
appropriate decisions are taken with respect to the risk/ benefit profile of our products, including the completeness and accuracy of product
labels and the pursuit of additional studies/ analyses, as appropriate. Additionally, this risk could potentially negatively impact our ability
to incorporate verified safety signals into local (country) labelling. This could lead to potential harm to patients, reputational damage,
product liability claims or other litigation, governmental investigation, regulatory action such as fines, penalties or loss of product
authorisation.

Context

Pre-clinical and clinical trials are conducted during the development of investigational Pharmaceutical, Vaccine and Consumer Healthcare
products to determine the safety and efficacy of the products for use by humans. Notwithstanding the efforts we make to determine the
safety of our products through appropriate pre-clinical and clinical trials, unanticipated side effects may become evident only when
products are widely introduced into the marketplace.



Questions about the safety of our products may be raised not only by our ongoing safety surveillance and post-marketing studies but also
by governmental agencies and third parties that may analyse publicly available clinical trial results. Constant vigilance and flexibility are
required in order to respond to a varied regulatory environment which continues to evolve and diverge globally. Externally, developments
in data interrogation present potential benefits for patient safety but the volume of data to be analysed presents a significant challenge
which intensifies when coupled with fragmented regulatory requirements and privacy concerns. In the economic arena, mergers and
acquisition activities introduce data integrity risks. Technology presents a significant opportunity for patient safety risk management by
creating more reliable data interrogation tools and more accurate data collection mechanisms, even though the pace of Artificial
Intelligence development has not been as great as once expected. Cyberattacks are an ever-growing concern given the volume of data and
digital dependency.

The Group is currently a defendant in a number of product liability lawsuits, including class actions, that involve significant claims for
damages related to our products. Litigation, particularly in the US, is inherently unpredictable. Class actions that seek to sweep together all
persons who take our products increase the potential liability. Claims for pain and suffering and punitive damages are frequently asserted
in product liability actions and, if allowed, can represent potentially open-ended exposure and thus, could materially and adversely affect
the Group’s financial results.

Product quality
Risk definition
Failure by GSK, its contractors or suppliers to ensure:
. Appropriate controls and governance of quality in product development
. Compliance with good manufacturing practice or good distribution practice regulations in commercial or clinical trials
manufacture and distribution activities
. Compliance with the terms of GSK product licences and supporting regulatory activities
Risk impact

A failure to ensure product quality could have far reaching implications in terms of patient and consumer safety, delays in launching
products, drug shortages, product recalls, as well as regulatory, legal, and financial consequences, which could materially and adversely
affect GSK’s reputation and financial results.

Context

The external environment for product quality continues to be challenging. The single biggest change since 2018 is the political instability
and uncertainty surrounding the delivery of Brexit and the implications for medicine supply continuity both into and out of mainland
Europe. Two new sets of requirements are due to be implemented by EMA shortly and we are preparing for both. In the first quarter of
2020, there will be new reporting requirements on potential drug shortages and from May 2020 there are new regulations covering the
licensing of medical devices.

Technological developments are increasingly used to both enhance manufacture and to support the inclusion of packaging features that
help secure the legitimate supply chain e.g. serialisation. The threat of cyberattacks remains a key risk to the integrity of product quality
data and its audit trail.

Significant changes are taking place in GSK as we implement the new organisational alignments and IPTc strategy. These changes are
assessed by the Quality organisations to ensure our quality procedures and governance can facilitate the strategy whilst also ensuring that
no unintended consequences increase our product quality risk.

Financial controls and reporting
Risk definition

Failure to comply with current tax laws or incurring significant losses due to treasury activities; failure to report accurate financial
information in compliance with accounting standards and applicable legislation.

Risk impact

Non-compliance with existing or new financial reporting and disclosure requirements, or changes to the recognition of income and
expenses, could expose us to litigation and regulatory action and could materially and adversely affect our financial results. In the current
period of significant political uncertainty especially in the USA and UK, there can be significant changes at short notice. Failure to comply
with any changes in the substance or application of the governing laws covering transfer pricing, dividends, tax credits, and intellectual
property could materially and adversely affect our financial results.
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Significant losses may arise from inconsistent application of treasury policies, transactional or settlement errors, or counterparty defaults.

Context

The Group is required by the laws of various jurisdictions to disclose publicly its financial results and events that could materially affect
the financial results of the Group. Regulators routinely review the financial statements of listed companies for compliance with new,
revised or existing accounting and regulatory requirements. The Group believes that it complies with the appropriate regulatory
requirements concerning our financial statements and disclosure of material information including any transactions relating to business
restructuring such as acquisitions and divestitures. However, should we be subject to an investigation into potential non-compliance with
accounting and disclosure requirements, this can lead to restatements of previously reported results and significant penalties.

Our Treasury group deals in high value transactions, mostly foreign exchange and cash management transactions, daily. These transactions
involve market volatility and counterparty risk.

The Group’s effective tax rate reflects rates of tax in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates that are both higher and lower than the
UK rate and considers regimes that encourage innovation and investment in science by providing tax incentives which, if changed, could
affect the Group’s tax rate. In addition, the worldwide nature of our operations means that our intellectual property, R&D and
manufacturing operations are centered in several key locations. A consequence of this is that our cross-border supply routes, necessary to
ensure supplies of medicines into numerous end markets, can be complex and result in conflicting claims from tax authorities as to the
profits to be taxed in individual countries. Tax legislation itself is also complex and differs across the countries in which we operate. As
such, tax risk can also arise due to differences in the interpretation of such legislation. The tax charge included in our financial statements
is our best estimate of tax liability pending audits by tax authorities.

We expect there to be continued focus on tax reform driven by initiatives of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation & Development
to address the taxation of the digital economy and European Commission initiatives including the use of fiscal state aid investigations.
Together with domestic initiatives around the world, these may result in significant changes to established tax principles and an increase in
tax authority disputes. These, regardless of their merit or outcomes, can be costly, divert management attention and may adversely impact
our reputation and relationship with key stakeholders.

Anti-bribery and corruption (ABAC)

Risk definition
The ABAC risk comprises five sub-risk areas:
. Bribery of public officials by GSK
. Bribery of commercial and other non-public entities by GSK
. Bribery by third parties acting on behalf of GSK
. GSK employees receiving and/or requesting bribes and/or other undue personal benefit
. Other corruption-non-compliance with laws and regulations related to money laundering or facilitation of tax evasion by

third parties/clients/partners.

Risk impact

Failure to mitigate this risk could expose the Group and associated persons to governmental investigation, regulatory action, and civil and
criminal liability and may compromise the Group’s ability to supply its products under certain government contracts. In addition to legal
and financial penalties, a failure to prevent bribery through complying with ABAC legislation and regulations could have substantial
implications for the reputation of the company, the credibility of senior leaders, and an erosion of investor confidence in our governance
and risk management.

Context

The macro risk level remains unchanged as we continue to see legal frameworks similar to the UK and US develop in emerging
economies; high standards are expected of individuals and corporations aided by improved technology and increased enforcement.

The overall environment for ABAC in 2019 remained challenging. Divergence of legislation is making compliance harder and countries
are increasingly holding individuals accountable as well as corporations, increasing the employer duty of care. Society is holding
corporations to ever higher standards with technology providing a speedy and anonymous avenue for dissemination of previously
privileged information or even damaging false reports. Enforcement actions and penalties have increased across the globe with focus on
use of third-party intermediaries. Supportive aspects of new policies include Latin America moving towards compliance regimes like those
established by the US and UK. In India there was an amendment of the Corruption Act (2018) which explicitly makes an offence to pay a
bribe. China has introduced significant anti-bribery and anti-corruption/legislative and regulatory reforms.
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The GSK exposure remains unchanged.

Commercial practices
Risk definition

Failure to engage in commercial activities that are consistent with the letter and spirit of the law, industry, or the Group’s requirements
relating to marketing and communications about our medicines and associated therapeutic areas; appropriate interactions with healthcare
professionals (HCPs) and patients; and legitimate and transparent transfer of value.

Risk impact

Failure to manage risks related to commercial practices could materially and adversely affect our ability to deliver our strategy and long-
term priorities. Failure to comply with applicable laws, rules and regulations may result in governmental investigation, regulatory action

and legal proceedings brought against the Group by governmental and private plaintiffs which could result in government sanctions, and

criminal and/or financial penalties. Failure to provide accurate and complete information related to our products may result in incomplete
awareness of the risk/benefit profile of our products and possibly suboptimal treatment of patients and consumers. Any practices that are

found to be misaligned with our values could also result in reputational harm and dilute trust established with external stakeholders.

Context

We continue to evolve our business operations (including acquisitions and joint ventures) to operate on a global basis in an industry that is
both highly competitive and highly regulated. Our competitors may make significant product innovations and technical advances and may
intensify price competition. In light of this competitive environment, continued development of commercially viable new products and the
development of additional uses for existing products that reflect insights which help ensure those products address the needs of
patients/consumers, HCPs, and payers are critical to achieve our strategic objectives.

As other pharmaceutical, vaccine and consumer companies, we face downward price pressure in major markets, declining emerging
market growth, rapidly evolving digital landscape, and negative foreign exchange impact.

Developing new Pharmaceutical, Vaccine and Consumer Healthcare products is a costly, lengthy and an uncertain process. A product
candidate may fail at any stage, including after significant economic and human resources have been invested. Our competitors’ products
or pricing strategies, or any failure on our part to develop commercially successful products, or to develop additional uses for existing
products, could materially and adversely affect our ability to achieve our strategic objectives.

We are committed to the ethical and responsible commercialisation of our products to support our purpose to improve the quality of
human life by enabling people to do more, feel better, and live longer. To accomplish this purpose, we engage the healthcare community
in various ways to provide important information about our medicines.

Promotion of approved products seeks to ensure that HCPs globally have access to information they need, that patients and consumers
have access to the information and products they need and that products are prescribed, recommended or used in a manner that provides
the maximum healthcare benefit to patients and consumers. We are committed to communicating information related to our approved
products in a responsible, legal and ethical manner.

Privacy
Risk definition

The failure to collect, secure, use and destroy personal information (PI) in accordance with data privacy laws can lead to harm to
individuals and GSK, including fines and operational, financial and reputational risk.

Risk impact

Non-compliance can lead to harm to individuals and GSK. It can also damage trust between GSK and individuals, communities, business
partners and government authorities.

The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), with other privacy legislation following suit, increased the enforcement powers of
supervisory authorities, including the ability to impose fines and to suspend processing of PI. GDPR and other privacy laws also give
individuals the right to bring collective legal actions against GSK for failure to comply with data privacy laws.
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Context

Data privacy legislation is diverse with limited harmonisation or simplification, despite Europe’s adoption of GDPR. It is challenging for
multi-nationals to standardise their approach to compliance with data privacy laws due to the high-level of local variation. Governments
are enforcing compliance with data privacy laws more rigorously. The focus on the ethical use of PI is growing, over and above
compliance with data privacy laws, due to an increase in data volume processed and advancements in technology. Individuals are more
aware of their rights under data privacy laws.

Research practices
Risk definition

Research practices risk is the failure to adequately conduct ethical and sound pre-clinical and clinical research. In addition, it is the failure
to engage in scientific activities that are consistent with the letter and spirit of the law and industry, or the Group’s requirements. It
comprises the following sub-risks: Non-clinical & laboratory research; Human subject research; Data integrity; Care, welfare and
treatment of animals; Human biological samples management; Data disclosure; Regulatory filings and engagement; Scientific
engagement; and Intellectual property.

Risk impact

The impacts of the risk include harm to human subjects, reputational damage, failure to obtain the necessary regulatory approvals for our
products, governmental investigation, legal proceedings brought against the Group by governmental and private plaintiffs (product liability
suits and claims for damages), loss of revenue due to inadequate patent protection or inability to supply GSK products, and regulatory
action such as fines, penalties, or loss of product authorisation. Any of these consequences could materially and adversely affect our
financial results and cause loss of trust from our customers and patients.

Context

Research relating to animals can raise ethical concerns however, in many cases, research in animals is the only method that can be used to
investigate the effects of a potential new medicine in a living body other than in humans. Animal research provides critical information
about the causes and mechanisms of diseases and therefore remains a vital part of our research. We continually seek ways in which we can
minimise our use of animals in research whilst complying with regulatory requirements and reduce the impact on the animals used.

Clinical trials in healthy volunteers and patients are used to assess and demonstrate an investigational product’s efficacy and safety, or
further evaluate the product once it has been approved for marketing. We also work with human biological samples. These samples are
fundamental to the discovery, development and safety monitoring of our products. GSK is committed to ensuring that human biological
samples are managed in accordance with relevant laws, regulations and ethical principles, in a manner that respects the interests of the
sample donors.

The integrity of our data is essential to success in all stages of the research data lifecycle: design, generation, recording and management,
analysis, reporting, storage and retrieval. Our research data is governed by legislation and regulatory requirements. Research data and
supporting documents are core components at various stages of pipeline progression decision-making and form the content of regulatory
submissions, publications and patent filings. Poor data integrity can compromise our research efforts and negatively impact company
reputation.

There are innate complexities and interdependencies required for regulatory filings, particularly given our global research and
development footprint. Continually changing and increasingly stringent submission requirements continue to increase the complexity of
worldwide product registration. The continued supply of GSK medicines to patients is dependent on the ongoing compliance and
maintenance of these licenses across many geographies whose requirements and timelines differ. The secure management of the high
volume of lifecycle changes to these licenses and their renewal is critical to enable compliant supply. Failure to maintain licenses will
directly impact patients and company revenue.

Scientific engagement, defined as the interaction and exchange of information between GSK and external communities to advance
scientific and medical understanding, including the appropriate development and use of our products, is an essential part of scientific
discourse. Such non-promotional engagement with external stakeholder groups is vital to GSK’s purpose and necessary for scientific and
medical advance. Scientific engagement activities are essential but present legal, regulatory, and reputational risk if the sharing of data,
invited media coverage or payments to HCPs have, or are perceived to have, promotional intent.
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A wide variety of biological materials are used by GSK in discovery, research and development phases. Through the Convention on
Biological Diversity (CBD) and the Nagoya Protocol, the international community has established a global framework regulating access
to, and use of, genetic resources of non-human origin in R&D.

We support the principles of access and benefit sharing to genetic resources as outlined in the CBD and the Nagoya Protocol, recognising
the importance of appropriate, effective and proportionate implementation measures at national and regional levels.

Patent rights are awarded to protect innovation and play an important role in providing GSK with a competitive advantage in the market
for a limited period of time. Any loss of patent protection in a market for GSK’s products developed through our R&D, including reducing
the term, availability or scope of patent rights, could materially and adversely affect our financial results in that market. Absence of
adequate patent or data exclusivity protection, which could lead to, for example, competition from manufacturers of generic or biosimilar
pharmaceutical products, could limit the opportunity to rely on such markets for future sales growth for our products, which could also
materially and adversely impact our financial results.

Following expiration of certain intellectual property rights, a generic or biosimilar manufacturer may lawfully produce a generic version of
a product. Introduction of generic products typically leads to a rapid and dramatic loss of sales and reduces our revenues and margins for
our proprietary products.

Third party oversight (TPO)
Risk definition

There is a risk that our third parties fail to meet their contractual, regulatory or ethical obligations resulting in significant operational,
reputational, legal and financial risk for GSK (and in some cases our employees directly).

Put simply, there is a risk that third parties fail to deliver the goods and services we expect or fail to deliver them in a legal and compliant
way.

Risk impact

Failure to adequately manage third party relationships could result in business disruption and exposure to risks ranging from sub-optimal
contractual terms and conditions, to severe business and legal sanctions and/or significant reputational damage. Any of these consequences
could materially and adversely affect our business operations and financial results.

Context

Third parties are critical to our business delivery and are an integral part of the solution to meeting our business objectives. We rely on
third parties, including suppliers, advisors, distributors, individual contractors, licensees, and other pharmaceutical and biotechnology
collaboration partners for discovery, manufacture, and marketing of our products and for supporting other important business processes.

These business relationships present a material risk. For example, we share critical and sensitive information such as marketing plans,
clinical data, and employee data with specific third parties who are conducting the relevant outsourced business activities. Inadequate
protection or misuse of this information by third parties could have significant business impact. Similarly, we use distributors and agents
in a range of activities such as promotion and tendering which have inherent risks such as inappropriate promotion or corruption.
Insufficient internal compliance and controls by the distributors could affect our reputation. These risks are further increased by the
complexities of working with large numbers of third parties across a diverse geographical spread.

Environment, health and safety & sustainability (EHS&S)
Risk definition

Failure in management of:

. execution of hazardous activities;

. GSK’s physical assets and infrastructure;

. handling and processing of hazardous chemicals and biological agents;

. control of releases of substances harmful to the environment in both the short and long term; leading to incidents which

could disrupt our R&D and Supply activities, harm employees, harm the communities we operate in and harm the
environment and its longer-term sustainability.
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Risk impact

Failure to manage EHS&S risks could lead to significant harm to people, the environment and communities in which we operate, fines,
failure to meet stakeholder expectations and regulatory requirements, litigation or regulatory action, and damage to the Group’s reputation,
which could materially and adversely affect our financial results.

Context

GSK is subject to health, safety and environmental laws of various jurisdictions. These laws impose duties to protect people, the
environment, and the communities in which we operate, as well as potential obligations to remediate contaminated sites. Overall, our
control framework for managing EHS&S risk is effective and our frequency of serious events is similar to peers and lower than for high
hazard industries e.g. petrochemicals.

Information security
Risk definition

The risk that unauthorised disclosure, theft, unavailability or corruption of GSK’s information or key information systems may lead to
harm to our patients, workforce and customers, disruption to our business and/or loss of commercial or strategic advantage, damage to our
reputation or regulatory sanction.

Risk impact

Failure to adequately protect critical and sensitive systems and information may result in loss of commercial or strategic advantage and
could materially affect our ongoing business operations, such as scientific research, clinical trials and manufacturing and supply chain
activities.

Further, inadequately applying controls that would be expected of GSK may result in regulatory fines or present a reputational risk to the
organisation.

Context

We rely on critical and sensitive systems and data, such as corporate strategic plans, intellectual property, manufacturing systems and trade
secrets. There is the potential that our computer systems or information may be exposed to misuse or unauthorised disclosure.

GSK operates a highly ‘connected’ information network that exposes our confidential research and development, manufacturing,
commercial, workforce and financial data to the risk of external attacks. GSK’s Digital and Data Analytics Strategy also substantially
increases the businesses dependency on digital assets and distributed data, while increasing the number of assets potentially impacted by a
cyberattack. As threats evolve, we cannot provide broad assurances that the significant efforts we deliver in the protection and monitoring
of our systems and information will always be successful in preventing compromise or disruption. Cybersecurity losses increasingly
involve highly-resourced and organised threat actors such as nation-states and online criminal collectives targeting GSK’s large and
complex information technology (IT) and operational technology (OT) footprint, as well as the systems of our supply chain partners
(including outsourced operations).

This means that our systems and information have been and will continue to be the target of cyberattacks. Additionally, extensive use of
third parties to store and process our data increases GSK’s reliance on suppliers to operate effectively. This dependence increases the
complexity around security controls and practices. It also reduces GSK’s ability to monitor controls and effectively investigate and
respond to incidents involving GSK information or systems. While GSK stands at the ready to address cybersecurity incidents and risks as
they occur, in the past year GSK has not experienced a material cybersecurity incident that would have resulted in substantial harm to
GSK (e.g., injury to reputation, financial performance, and customer and vendor relationships).

Supply continuity
Risk definition

Failure to deliver a continuous supply of compliant finished product; inability to respond effectively to a crisis incident in a timely manner
to recover and sustain critical operations.



Risk impact

We recognise that failure to supply our products can adversely impact consumers and patients who rely on them. A material interruption of
supply or exclusion from healthcare programmes could expose us to litigation or regulatory action and financial penalties that could
adversely affect the Group’s financial results. The Group’s international operations, and those of its partners, expose our workforce,
facilities, operations and information technology to potential disruption from natural events (e.g. storm, earthquake), man-made events
(e.g. trading barriers imposed at short notice, civil/political unrest, terrorism), and global emergencies (e.g. coronavirus outbreak, Ebola
outbreak, flu pandemic). It is important that we have robust crisis management and recovery plans in place to manage such events.

Context

Our supply chain operations are subject to review and approval by various regulatory agencies that effectively provide our license to
operate. Failure by our manufacturing and distribution facilities or by suppliers of key services and materials could lead to litigation or
regulatory action such as product recalls and seizures, interruption of supply, delays in the approval of new products, and suspension of
manufacturing operations pending resolution of manufacturing or logistics issues.

We rely on materials and services provided by third party suppliers to make our products, including active pharmaceutical ingredients,
antigens, intermediates, commodities, and components for the development, manufacture and packaging of Pharmaceutical, Vaccine and
Consumer Healthcare products. Some of the third-party services procured, such as services provided by contract manufacturing and
clinical research organisations to support development of key products, are important to ensure continuous operation of our business.

Although we undertake risk mitigation, we recognise that certain events could nevertheless still result in delays or service interruptions.
We use effective crisis management and business continuity planning to provide for the health and safety of our people and to minimise
impact to us, by maintaining functional operations following a natural or man-made disaster, or a public health emergency.

Risks associated with the coronavirus outbreak
The potential impact of the coronavirus outbreak on GSK’s trading performance and supply continuity remains uncertain.

Up to the date of this annual report on Form 20-F, the outbreak has not had a material impact on the trading results of the Group. However,
we continue to monitor the situation closely, including the potential impacts on trading results, our supply continuity and our employees.

The situation could change at any time and there can be no assurance that the coronavirus outbreak will not have a material adverse impact
on the future results of the Group.

Risks associated with the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture with Pfizer

The legal completion of the transfer of certain assets or entities to the GSK consumer healthcare business in certain jurisdictions is
subject to the satisfaction of regulatory approvals or other requirements agreed between the parties (including the passage of time to
allow for additional integration preparation), which if not satisfied may result in the further delay of legal completion of such transfers
in these jurisdictions

The acquisition of Pfizer’s consumer healthcare business to form the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture (the “Transaction”) was
completed on July 31, 2019. In a number of jurisdictions (the “Delayed Jurisdictions”), the transfer of certain assets or entities to the GSK
consumer healthcare business is subject to the satisfaction of regulatory approvals (including antitrust clearances or satisfaction of related
commitments) or other requirements agreed between the parties (including the passage of time to allow for additional integration
preparation). In the event that such requirements are not satisfied in any of the Delayed Jurisdictions, the legal completion of the transfer
of certain assets or entities in such jurisdictions may be further delayed, which could reduce the anticipated benefits of the Transaction (or
result in additional difficulty in the integration of the business in such jurisdiction), including the realization of anticipated synergies, and
could have an adverse impact on the results and operations of the GSK Group following the acquisition of the Pfizer consumer healthcare
business (the “Enlarged Group™).
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The Enlarged Group may experience difficulties in integrating the Pfizer consumer healthcare business with the GSK consumer
healthcare business

The future prospects of the Enlarged Group will, in part, be dependent upon the Enlarged Group’s ability to integrate the Pfizer consumer
healthcare business with the existing GSK consumer healthcare business, and the ability of the Enlarged Group to realize the anticipated
benefits and cost savings from combining the respective businesses.

The key potential difficulties in integrating the businesses include the following:

. the complexity of transferring employees and assets (including intellectual property, third party contracts, real estate and marketing
authorizations and other licenses/permits) and consolidating operations, infrastructure, procedures, systems, facilities, services and
policies across many different countries, jurisdictions, regulatory systems and business cultures;

. maintaining employee engagement and retaining and incentivizing key employees;

. the diversion of management time and resources away from the day-to-day operations of the Enlarged Group;

. limiting disruption to the ongoing businesses of the Enlarged Group, including minimizing the risk of supply chain interruptions and
ensuring that necessary transitional arrangements between Pfizer and the Enlarged Group function successfully;

. replacing and/or integrating IT systems used by the Pfizer consumer healthcare business with those used by the GSK consumer
healthcare business and transferring relevant data from Pfizer IT systems to GSK IT systems;

. technical transfer of manufacturing and other processes and services, upon expiry of transitional manufacturing and services
arrangements and/or in-sourcing of third party supply contracts;

. the delay of legal completion of the Transaction in the Delayed Jurisdictions; and

. maintaining business continuity throughout integration.

Difficulties experienced in the integration process could potentially lead to the interruption of operations of the businesses, or a loss of
customers, suppliers or key personnel, which could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations or financial
condition of the Enlarged Group.

Transaction-related costs may exceed GSK’s expectations

GSK has incurred and expects to incur additional costs in relation to the Transaction, including integration and post-completion costs in
order to implement the Transaction successfully and deliver anticipated costs savings. The actual costs may exceed those estimated and
there may be additional and unforeseen expenses incurred in connection with the Transaction. In addition, GSK has incurred and will incur
legal, accounting and transaction fees and other costs relating to the Transaction. Such costs could materially and adversely affect the
realization of synergies and the results of operations of the Group or the Enlarged Group.

The Enlarged Group may fail to realize, or it may take longer than expected to realize, the anticipated benefits of the consumer
healthcare joint venture

The expected benefits of the consumer healthcare joint venture with Pfizer, including any identified synergies, may not be achieved, or
may take longer than expected to realize, and other assumptions upon which the terms of the transaction with Pfizer to form the consumer
healthcare joint venture have been determined may prove to be incorrect. To the extent that GSK incurs higher integration costs, achieves
lower margin benefits or fewer cost savings than expected, the results of operations and financial condition of the Enlarged Group may
suffer, which may materially and adversely affect GSK’s share price.

The Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement with Pfizer contains certain representations, warranties and indemnities, which could
require GSK or GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Holdings (No. 2) Limited (“GSK Consumer Healthcare”) to make payments to
Pfizer

The Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement with Pfizer in relation to the Transaction contains certain representations, warranties and
indemnities given by GSK and GSK Consumer Healthcare in favor of Pfizer. Any payment required under those representations,
warranties and indemnities may have a material and adverse effect on the cash flow and financial condition of the Enlarged Group.
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The consumer healthcare joint venture with Pfizer and the Enlarged Group may not have full recourse to Pfizer under the Stock and
Asset Purchase Agreement

Under the terms of the Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement, Pfizer provides GSK Consumer Healthcare and GSK with certain
representations, warranties and indemnities. However, these representations, warranties and indemnities may not cover all potential
liabilities associated with the Pfizer consumer healthcare business, and they are in certain circumstances limited in their scope, duration
and/or the amount which may be claimed under them. Accordingly, GSK Consumer Healthcare and GSK may not have recourse against
Pfizer, or may not recover in full from Pfizer, for losses which it may suffer in respect of a breach of those warranties, or in respect of the
subject matter of any of the indemnities, or otherwise in respect of the consumer healthcare joint venture. This could materially and
adversely affect the operations and financial results of the consumer healthcare joint venture and the Enlarged Group.

The successful completion of a separation of the consumer healthcare joint venture initiated by GSK may be dependent on a number of
factors that are outside GSK’s control, including favorable conditions in public equity markets and public or private debt markets and
changes in applicable law and regulation

GSK’s ability to exit the consumer healthcare joint venture through a listing and admission to trading of shares of GSK Consumer
Healthcare on the London Stock Exchange, the Nasdaq Stock Market or the New York Stock Exchange (the “Separation”) initiated by
GSK may be dependent on a number of factors such as (i) the condition of public or private debt markets being such that the consumer
healthcare joint venture is able to raise, on terms acceptable to the Group, sufficient levels of debt finance to undertake a pre-separation
recapitalization and distribution of the proceeds to GSK and Pfizer and (ii) the condition of public equity markets being such as to enable a
successful sale or demerger of shares in the consumer healthcare joint venture. Conditions in public equity markets and public or private
debt markets are not within GSK’s control and disruption in those markets may impede GSK’s ability to exit the consumer healthcare joint
venture at the desired time or in the desired way.

In addition, GSK’s ability to implement a successful Separation initiated by GSK, including by way of a demerger of its equity stake and a
listing of the consumer healthcare joint venture on the London Stock Exchange, the Nasdaq Stock Market or the New York Stock
Exchange, may be impeded or prevented by any change of law, regulation or the rules of any authority to which GSK is subject (including,
for example, any rules or guidance issued by the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority or H. M. Revenue & Customs) or any change to the
way in which applicable law and regulation is interpreted and applied by the relevant authorities. Such changes are outside the control of
GSK and there can be no guarantee that GSK’s preferred strategy in relation to the Separation will be capable of being implemented.

If GSK is not able to execute a successful Separation, including by undertaking a pre-separation recapitalization of the consumer
healthcare joint venture and completing a demerger of its equity stake, at a time and on terms acceptable to it, the Group may not be able
to implement its preferred strategy, including in relation to its pharmaceuticals and vaccines business, the reduction of leverage associated
with those businesses, and the support for those businesses’ ongoing investment requirements (especially the Group’s R&D pipeline). This
may have a material and adverse effect on the business, financial condition, results and operations of the Enlarged Group.

The expected benefits of a successful completion of a Separation initiated by GSK of the consumer healthcare joint venture from the
Group may not be realized and such a Separation may be detrimental to the consumer healthcare joint venture and/or the Group

Following a successful Separation, there can be no guarantee that the expected benefits of such a Separation will be realized. In particular,
if such a Separation does proceed, both the consumer healthcare joint venture and the Group (excluding the consumer healthcare business)
will form smaller, less diversified groups. As a result, each separate group may be more exposed to cyclical, sector-specific or other risks
than the Group and, following completion of the Transaction, the Enlarged Group are currently. In addition, consistent with their smaller
sizes, each separate group may not be able to obtain future debt or equity financing or put in place other contractual arrangements on terms
as favorable as the Group and, following completion of the Transaction, the Enlarged Group are currently able to achieve. Were any of
these risks to be realized following a Separation, this may have a material and adverse effect on the business, financial condition, results
and operations of the consumer healthcare joint venture and/or the Group (excluding the consumer healthcare business).

The completion of a Separation initiated by Pfizer, causing the consumer healthcare joint venture to become a listed, publicly traded
company, would reduce GSK’s control over the consumer healthcare joint venture

Under the terms of the Shareholders’ Agreement between GSK and Pfizer in relation to the consumer healthcare joint venture, in the event
that GSK has not exercised its exit rights in respect of the consumer healthcare joint venture within five years following completion of the
Transaction, Pfizer will be entitled to initiate a Separation from that point in time. While GSK would not be required to sell or demerge
any of its shares in the consumer healthcare joint venture as part of such a Separation initiated by Pfizer and could therefore retain its
proportionate equity stake, GSK’s rights to appoint directors to the board of directors of the joint venture and other control rights would be
reduced to a customary level for a company listed on the same exchange as the primary listing of the consumer healthcare joint venture,
such that GSK would lose overall control of the board of directors of the consumer healthcare joint venture and its control rights under the
Shareholders’ Agreement would cease to apply. In that event, GSK may not be able to direct the business and operations of the consumer
healthcare joint venture in accordance with the strategy and objectives of the Enlarged Group, which could have a material and adverse
effect on the business, financial condition and results of the Enlarged Group.
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Item 4.
4A

4B

4.C

4D

Information on the Company

History and development of the company

The information set forth under the heading:

“About GSK” on the inside back cover;
“Preparing for the future” on page 2;
“Head Office and Registered Office” on the outside back cover; and

“Note 40 — Acquisitions and disposals” on pages 222 to 225

of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that
file electronically with the SEC. The address of that site is http://www.sec.gov. GSK’s Internet address is gsk.com.

Business overview

See Item 3.D “Risk factors” above.

In addition, the information set forth under the headings:

“Our business model” on pages 1 and 2;
“Chairman’s statement” on page 3;
“CEO’s statement” on pages 4 and 5;

“Our long-term priorities” on page 9 (excluding the pro-forma figure in the first bullet point under the sub-heading “2019
progress” under “Performance”);

“Our culture” on page 10;

“Industry trends” on pages 12 to 14;
“Stakeholder engagement” on pages 15 and 16;
“Pharmaceuticals” on pages 17 to 22;
“Vaccines” on pages 23 to 26;

“Consumer Healthcare” on pages 27 to 29 (excluding the second sentence in the first paragraph under the sub-heading
“Performance” on page 28);

“Trust” on pages 30 to 42 (excluding the heading and the paragraph under the heading “Our approach to reporting” on
page 31);

“Note 6 — Turnover and segment information” on pages 180 to 183 (excluding the column titled “2017 (revised)” in the
table “Pharmaceuticals turnover by therapeutic area” on page 180);

“Note 40 — Acquisitions and disposals” on pages 222 to 225;
“Pharmaceutical products, competition and intellectual property” on pages 272 to 273;
“Vaccines products, competition and intellectual property” on page 273; and

“Consumer Healthcare products and competition” on page 274

of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

Organizational structure

The information set forth under the heading:

“Note 45 — Principal Group companies” on page 246; and

“Group companies” on pages 299 to 310

of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

Property, plant and equipment

The information set forth under the heading “Property, plant and equipment” under “Financial position and resources” in Item 5.A of this
annual report on Form 20-F is incorporated herein by reference.
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The information set forth under the headings:

. “Note 6 — Turnover and segment information” on pages 180 to 183 (excluding the column titled “2017 (revised)” in the
table “Pharmaceuticals turnover by therapeutic area” on page 180); and

. “Note 17 — Property, plant and equipment” on pages 193 to 194

of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.
Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects
S5.A Operating results

The information set forth under the headings:

. “Regulatory environment” on page 14;
. “Our preparations for Brexit” within “Risk management” on page 48; and
. “Climate-related financial disclosure” within “Risk management” on page 46

of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

The following tables reconcile Total results to Adjusted results. References in the GSK Annual Report 2019 to the reconciliations on page 62 and pages

266-268 of that report should be read to refer to the information in these tables.

Adjusted results reconciliation — 31 December 2019

Divestments,

Intangible Intangible significant
Total asset asset Major Transaction legal and Adjusted
results amortisation impairment restructuring -related other items results
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Gross profit 21,891 713 30 658 383 23,675
Operating profit 6,961 777 83 1,105 345 (299) 8,972
Profit before taxation 6,221 777 83 1,110 345 (300) 8,236
Profit after taxation 5,268 621 66 902 221 (160) 6,918
Earnings per share 93.9p 12.6p 1.3p 18.2p 1.2p 3.3)p 123.9p
Weighted average number of shares (millions) 4,947 4,947
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted gross profit
Cost of sales (11,863) 713 30 658 383 (10,079)
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted operating profit
Selling, general and administration (11,402) 4 332 104 247 (10,715)
Research and development (4,568) 64 49 114 2 (4,339)
Other operating income 689 1 (142) (548) —
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted profit before tax
Net finance costs (814) 5 (N (810)
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted profit after tax
Taxation (953) (156) 17) (208) (124) 140 (1,318)
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Adjusted results reconciliation — 31 December 2018

Divestments,

Intangible Intangible significant
Total asset asset Major Transaction legal and Adjusted
results amortisation impairment restructuring -related other items results
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Gross profit 20,580 536 69 443 15 21,643
Operating profit 5,483 580 116 809 1,977 (220) 8,745
Profit before taxation 4,800 580 116 813 1,974 (205) 8,078
Profit after taxation 4,046 471 97 643 1,735 (449) 6,543
Earnings per share 73.7p 9.6p 2.0p 13.1p 30.2p ©2)p 119.4p
Weighted average number of shares (millions) 4,914 4,914
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted gross profit
Cost of sales (10,241) 536 69 443 15 (9,178)
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted operating profit
Selling, general and administration (9,915) 2 315 98 38 (9,462)
Research and development (3,893) 44 45 49 20 (3,735)
Other operating income (1,588) 2 1,864 (278) —
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted profit before tax
Net finance costs (717) 4 3) 18 (698)
Profit on disposal of associates 3 3) —
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted profit after tax
Taxation (754) (109) (19) (170) (239) (244) (1,535)
Adjusted results reconciliation — 31 December 2017
Divestments,
Intangible Intangible significant
Total asset asset Major Transaction legal and US tax Adjusted
results amortisation impairment restructuring -related other items reform results
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Gross profit 19,844 546 400 545 80 21,415
Operating profit 4,087 591 688 1,056 1,599 (119) 666 8,568
Profit before taxation 3,525 591 688 1,060 1,599 (205) 666 7,924
Profit after taxation 2,169 457 512 851 980 (456) 1,744 6,257
Earnings per share 31.4p 9.4p 10.5p 17.4p 19.2p ©4)p 33.3p 111.8p
Weighted average number of shares (millions) 4,886 4,886
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted gross profit
Cost of sales (10,342) 546 400 545 80 (8,771)
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted operating profit
Selling, general and administration (9,672) 248 83 (9,341)
Research and development (4,476) 45 288 263 18 (3,862)
Other operating income (1,965) 1,519 (220) 666 —
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted profit before tax
Net finance costs (669) 4 8 (657)
Profit on disposal of associates 94 (94) —
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted profit after tax
Taxation (1,356) (134) (176) (209) (619) (251) 1,078 (1,667)
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Group financial review
Reporting framework
Total and Adjusted results

The Group financial review discusses the operating and financial performance of the Group, its cash flows and financial position and our resources. The
results for each year are compared primarily with the results of the preceding year.

Total results
Total reported results represent the Group’s overall performance.

GSK also uses a number of adjusted, non-IFRS, measures to report the performance of its business. Adjusted results and other non-IFRS measures may
be considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for or superior to, information presented in accordance with IFRS. Adjusted results and other
non-IFRS measures are defined below.

GSK believes that Adjusted results, when considered together with Total results, provide investors, analysts and other stakeholders with helpful
complementary information to understand better the financial performance and position of the Group from period to period, and allow the Group’s
performance to be more easily compared against the majority of its peer companies. These measures are also used by management for planning and
reporting purposes. They may not be directly comparable with similarly described measures used by other companies.

GSK encourages investors and analysts not to rely on any single financial measure but to review GSK’s Annual Reports, including the financial
statements and notes, in their entirety.

GSK is committed to continuously improving its financial reporting, in line with evolving regulatory requirements and best practice.

Adjusted results

Adjusted results exclude the following items from Total results, together with the tax effects of all of these items:

. amortisation of intangible assets (excluding computer software)
. impairment of intangible assets (excluding computer software) and goodwill
. Major restructuring costs, which include impairments of tangible assets and computer software, (under specific Board-approved

programmes that are structural, of a significant scale and where the costs of individual or related projects exceed £25 million) including
integration costs following material acquisitions

. transaction-related accounting or other adjustments related to significant acquisitions

. proceeds and costs of disposals of associates, products and businesses; significant legal charges (net of insurance recoveries) and expenses
on the settlement of litigation and government investigations; other operating income other than royalty income, and other items.

Costs for all other ordinary course smaller scale restructuring and legal charges and expenses are retained within both Total and Adjusted results.

As Adjusted results include the benefits of Major restructuring programmes but exclude significant costs (such as significant legal, major restructuring
and transaction items), they should not be regarded as a complete picture of the Group’s financial performance, which is presented in its Total results.
The exclusion of other Adjusting items may result in Adjusted earnings being materially higher or lower than Total earnings. In particular, when
significant impairments, restructuring charges and legal costs are excluded, Adjusted earnings will be higher than Total earnings.

GSK is undertaking a number of Major restructuring programmes in response to significant changes in the Group’s trading environment or overall
strategy, or following material acquisitions. Costs, both cash and non-cash, of these programmes are provided for as individual elements are approved
and meet the accounting recognition criteria. As a result, charges may be incurred over a number of years following the initiation of a Major
restructuring programme.
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The Group has also initiated a two-year Separation Preparation programme to prepare GSK for separation into two new leading companies in biopharma
and consumer healthcare.

From time to time, the Group divests non-core investments, products and businesses and records the profit or loss on disposal as an Adjusting item. The
most notable divestment in the past five years was the disposal of the Oncology business as one element of the three-part transaction with Novartis in
2015.

Significant legal charges and expenses are those arising from the settlement of litigation or government investigations that are not in the normal course
and are materially larger than more regularly occurring individual matters. They also include certain major legacy matters.

Reconciliations between Total and Adjusted results, providing further information on the key Adjusting items for 2018 and 2019 are set out above.

GSK provides earnings guidance to the investor community on the basis of Adjusted results. This is in line with peer companies and expectations of the
investor community, supporting easier comparison of the Group’s performance with its peers. GSK is not able to give guidance for Total results as it
cannot reliably forecast certain material elements of the Total results, particularly the future fair value movements on contingent consideration and put
options that can and have given rise to significant adjustments driven by external factors such as currency and other movements in capital markets.

Historical record of Adjusting items

The reconciliations between Total and Adjusted operating profit can be summarised as follows:

2019 2018 2017

£m £m £m
Total operating profit 6,961 5483 4,087
Intangible asset amortisation 777 580 591
Intangible asset impairment 83 116 688
Major restructuring 1,105 809 1,056
Transaction-related items 345 1,977 1,599
Divestments, significant legal and other items (299) (220) (119)
US tax reform — — 666
Adjusted operating profit 8,972 8,745 8,568

The analysis of the impact of transaction-related items on operating profit is as follows:

2019 2018 2017

£m £m £m
Novartis Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture put option — 658 986
Contingent consideration on former Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare JV (including Shionogi preferential dividends) 31 1,188 556
ViiV Healthcare put options and Pfizer preferential dividends (234) (58) (1206)
Contingent consideration on former Novartis Vaccines business 76 58 101
Release of fair value uplift on acquired Pfizer inventory 366 — —
Other adjustments 106 131 82
Transaction-related items 345 1,977 1,599

Non-controlling interests in ViiV Healthcare
Trading profit allocations

Because ViiV Healthcare is a subsidiary of the Group, 100% of its operating results (turnover, operating profit, profit after tax) are included within the
Group income statement and then a portion of the earnings is allocated to the non-controlling interests owned by the other shareholders, in line with
their respective equity shareholdings (Pfizer 11.7% and Shionogi 10%). Each of the shareholders, including GSK, is also entitled to preferential
dividends determined by the performance of certain products that each shareholder contributed. As the relative performance of these products changes
over time, the proportion of the overall earnings of ViiV Healthcare allocated to each shareholder will change. In particular, the increasing proportion of
sales of dolutegravir-containing products has a favourable impact on the proportion of the preferential dividends that is allocated to GSK. Adjusting
items are allocated to shareholders based on their equity interests. GSK was entitled to approximately 85% of the Total earnings and 82% of the
Adjusted earnings of ViiV Healthcare for 2019. Remeasurements of the liabilities for the preferential dividends allocated to Pfizer and Shionogi are
included within other operating income.

Acquisition-related arrangements

As consideration for the acquisition of Shionogi’s interest in the former Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare joint venture in 2012, Shionogi received the 10%
equity stake in ViiV Healthcare.

ViiV Healthcare also agreed to pay additional future cash consideration to Shionogi, contingent on the future sales performance of the products being
developed by that joint venture, principally dolutegravir. Under IFRS 3 ‘Business combinations’, GSK was required to provide for the estimated fair
value of this contingent consideration at the time of acquisition and is required to update the liability to the latest estimate of fair value at each
subsequent period end. The liability for the contingent consideration recognised in the balance sheet at the date of acquisition was £659 million.
Subsequent remeasurements are reflected within other operating income/expense and within Adjusting items in the income statement in each period, and
at 31 December 2019, the liability, which is discounted at 8.5%, stood at £5,103 million, on a post-tax basis.
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Cash payments to settle the contingent consideration are made to Shionogi by ViiV Healthcare each quarter, based on the actual sales performance of
the relevant products in the previous quarter. These payments reduce the balance sheet liability and hence are not recorded in the income statement. The
cash payments made to Shionogi by ViiV Healthcare in 2019 were £865 million.

Because the liability is required to be recorded at the fair value of estimated future payments, there is a significant timing difference between the charges
that are recorded in the Total income statement to reflect movements in the fair value of the liability and the actual cash payments made to settle the
liability.

The cash payments are reflected in the cash flow statement partly in operating cash flows and partly within investing activities. The tax relief on these
payments is reflected in the Group’s Adjusting items as part of the tax charge. The part of each payment relating to the original estimate of the fair value
of the contingent consideration on the acquisition of the Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare joint venture in 2012 of £659 million is reported within investing
activities in the cash flow statement and the part of each payment relating to the increase in the liability since the acquisition is reported within operating
cash flows.

Movements in contingent consideration payable to Shionogi were as follows:

2019 2018

£m £m
Contingent consideration at beginning of the year 5,937 5,542
Remeasurement through income statement 31 1,188
Cash payments: operating cash flows (767)  (703)
Cash payments: investing activities (98) (90)
Contingent consideration at end of the year 5,103 5,937

Of the contingent consideration payable (on a post-tax basis) to Shionogi at 31 December 2019, £730 million (31 December 2018 — £815 million) is
expected to be paid within one year.

Exit rights

Pfizer may request an IPO of ViiV Healthcare at any time and if either GSK does not consent to such IPO or an offering is not completed within nine
months, Pfizer could require GSK to acquire its shareholding. Under the original agreements, GSK had the unconditional right, so long as it made no
subsequent distribution to its shareholders, to withhold its consent to the exercise of the Pfizer put option and, as a result, in accordance with IFRS, GSK
did not recognise a liability for the put option on its balance sheet. However, during Q1 2016, GSK notified Pfizer that it had irrevocably given up this
right and accordingly recognised the liability for the put option on the Group’s balance sheet during Q1 2016 at an initial value of £1,070 million.
Consistent with this revised treatment, at the end of Q1 2016 GSK also recognised liabilities for the future preferential dividends anticipated to become
payable to Pfizer and Shionogi on the Group’s balance sheet.

The closing balances of the liabilities related to Pfizer’s shareholding are as follows:

2019 2018

£m £m
Pfizer put option 1,011 1,240
Pfizer preferential dividend 4 15

Under the original agreements, Shionogi could also have requested GSK to acquire its shareholding in ViiV Healthcare in six-month windows
commencing in 2017, 2020 and 2022. GSK had the unconditional right, so long as it made no subsequent distribution to its shareholders, to withhold its
consent to the exercise of the Shionogi put option and, as a result, GSK did not recognise a liability for the put option on its balance sheet.

However, during Q1 2016, GSK notified Shionogi that it had irrevocably given up this right and accordingly recognised the liability for the put option
on the Group’s balance sheet during Q1 2016 at an initial value of £926 million. In Q4 2016, Shionogi irrevocably agreed to waive its put option and as
a result GSK de-recognised the liability for this put option on the Group’s balance sheet directly to equity. The value of the liability was £1,244 million
when it was de-recognised.

GSK also has a call option over Shionogi’s shareholding in ViiV Healthcare, which under the original agreements was exercisable in six-month
windows commencing in 2027, 2030 and 2032. GSK has now irrevocably agreed to waive the first two exercise windows, but the last six-month
window in 2032 remains. As this call option is at fair value, it has no value for accounting purposes.

Free cash flow

Free cash flow is defined as the net cash inflow from operating activities less capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets,
contingent consideration payments, net finance costs, and dividends paid to non-controlling interests plus proceeds from the sale of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets, and dividends received from joint ventures and associates. It is used by management for planning and reporting
purposes and in discussions with and presentations to investment analysts and rating agencies. Free cash flow growth is calculated on a reported basis. A
reconciliation of net cash inflow from operations to free cash flow is set out below.
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CER and AER growth

In order to illustrate underlying performance, it is the Group’s practice to discuss its results in terms of constant exchange rate (CER) growth. This
represents growth calculated as if the exchange rates used to determine the results of overseas companies in Sterling had remained unchanged from
those used in the comparative period. CER% represents growth at constant exchange rates. £% or AER% represents growth at actual exchange rates.

Financial performance

GSK uses a number of adjusted, non-IFRS, measures to report the performance of its business. Adjusted results and other non-IFRS measures may be
considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for or superior to, information presented in accordance with IFRS. Adjusted results and other non-IFRS
measures are set out above under “Reporting framework™ and reconciliations of Total results to Adjusted results are set out above.
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Group turnover

Group turnover by business

2019 2018 Growth Growth
£m £m £% CER%
Pharmaceuticals 17,554 17,269 2 —
Vaccines 7,157 5,894 21 19
Consumer Healthcare 8,995 7,658 17 17
Group turnover 33,706 30,821 9 8
Corporate and other unallocated turnover 48 —
33,754 30,821 10 8
Group turnover by geographic region
2019 2018 Growth Growth
£m £m £% CER%
UsS 13,890 11,982 16 12
Europe 8,069 7,973 1 2
International 11,795 10,866 9 9
33,754 30,821 10 8

Group turnover for the year increased 10% AER, 8% CER to £33,754 million, with growth delivered by Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare, and
Pharmaceuticals flat at CER.

Pharmaceuticals turnover in the year was £17,554 million, up 2% AER, but flat at CER. HIV sales were up 3% AER, 1% CER, to £4,854 million and
Respiratory sales were up 18% AER, 15% CER, to £3,081 million. Sales of Established Pharmaceuticals were £8,776 million, down 7% AER, 8% CER.

Vaccines turnover grew 21% AER, 19% CER to £7,157 million, primarily driven by growth in sales of Shingrix. Meningitis vaccines also contributed
significantly to growth.

Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines Innovation sales (sales of products launched in the last five years) amounted to £3.8 billion in 2019, driven by sales of
Shingrix, Trelegy Ellipta and Nucala.

Consumer Healthcare sales grew 17% AER, 17% CER to £8,995 million, primarily reflecting the acquisition of the Pfizer consumer healthcare business.

Consumer Healthcare Innovation sales (sales of products new to market in the last three years) amounted to 12% of Consumer Healthcare sales,
reflecting continued focus on Oral health innovations.
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Pharmaceuticals

Pharmaceuticals turnover

2018
2019 (revised) Growth Growth
£m £m £% CER%
Respiratory 3,081 2,612 18 15
HIV 4,854 4,722 3 1
Immuno-inflammation 613 472 30 25
Oncology 230 — — —
Established Pharmaceuticals 8,776 9,463 (7) (8)
17,554 17,269 2 —

Pharmaceuticals turnover in the year was £17,554 million, up 2% AER, but flat at CER. HIV sales were up 3% AER, 1% CER, to £4,854 million, with
growth in Juluca and Dovato partly offset by declines in Triumeq and Tivicay. Respiratory sales were up 18% AER, 15% CER, to £3,081 million, on
growth of Trelegy Ellipta and Nucala. Sales of Established Pharmaceuticals were £8,776 million, down 7% AER, 8% CER, including the impact of loss
of exclusivity of Advair.

In the US, sales declined 1% AER, 4% CER. Continued growth of Nucala, Trelegy Ellipta and Benlysta was more than offset by the decline in
Established Products including the loss of exclusivity of Advair. Excluding Advair and Relvar/Breo Ellipta, which were impacted by genericisation of
the ICS/LABA market, growth was 13% AER, 9% CER. In Europe, sales grew 1% AER, 2% CER, with strong growth in Respiratory partly offset by a
decline in Established Pharmaceuticals. International grew 5% AER, 4% CER, with growth in all therapy areas.

Respiratory

Total Respiratory sales were up 18% AER, 15% CER, with strong growth in all regions. Ellipta product sales grew 13% AER, 10% CER, with Europe
up 26% AER, 27% CER and International up 29% AER, 27% CER on Trelegy and Relvar/Breo growth. Nucala was up 36% AER, 37% CER in Europe
and 56% AER, 50% CER in International. In the US, Trelegy Ellipta and Nucala growth offset the decline in Relvar/Breo Ellipta on post generic
ICS/LABA price pressure.

Sales of Nucala were £768 million in the year and grew 36% AER, 33% CER, with US sales of £453 million up 33% AER, 28% CER, including the
impact of the new at-home use application.

Sales of Ellipta products were up 13% AER, 10% CER to £2,313 million driven by growth in Europe and International regions. In the US, sales grew
4% AER, but were flat at CER, reflecting continued competitive pricing pressures for ICS/LABAs, post generic Advair. In Europe, sales grew 26%
AER, 27% CER, and in International by 29% AER, 27% CER. Sales of Trelegy Ellipta contributed £518 million globally in the year, driven by an
increase in US market share.

Relvar/Breo Ellipta sales were down 11% AER, 13% CER, driven by the US, where Relvar/Breo Ellipta declined 34% AER, 37% CER as a result of
competitive pricing pressures and the impact of generic Advair on the US ICS/LABA market. In Europe and International, Relvar/Breo Ellipta
continued to grow, up 11% AER, 12% CER in Europe, and 21% AER, 19% CER in International.

HIv

HIV sales grew 3% AER, 1% CER to £4,854 million in the year. The dolutegravir franchise grew 5% AER, 2% CER, delivering sales of £4,633 million.
The remaining portfolio, £221 million and 5% of total HIV sales, declined 27% AER, 27% CER and reduced the overall HIV growth by two percentage
points at AER and one percentage point at CER.

Sales of dolutegravir products were £4,633 million, with Triumeq and Tivicay delivering sales of £2,549 million and £1,662 million, respectively. The
two-drug regimens, Juluca and Dovato, delivered sales of £422 million in the year with combined growth more than offsetting the decline in the three-
drug regimen, Triumeq, which reflected the impact of competition as well as the transition of the business to the new portfolio.

In the US, following the launch of Dovato in April 2019, combined sales of the two-drug regimens were £350 million. Total dolutegravir sales grew 4%
AER but were flat at CER, reflecting a year-on-year share decline as the business transitions to the new two-drug portfolio, offset by a net price benefit.
In Europe, total dolutegravir sales were flat at AER and flat at CER, with strong growth in market share offsetting price erosion and higher clawback
payments. Dovato and Juluca reported combined sales of £65 million. International grew strongly with total dolutegravir sales growth of 22% AER,
22% CER, driven by Tivicay and Triumeq.

Oncology

Sales of Zejula, were £229 million in the period from the date of acquisition, comprising £134 million in the US and £95 million in Europe.

Immuno-inflammation

Sales of Benlysta in the year were up 30% AER, 25% CER to £613 million, including sales of the sub-cutaneous formulation of £268 million. In the US,
Benlysta grew 27% AER, 23% CER to £535 million.

Established Pharmaceuticals

Sales of Established Pharmaceuticals in the year were £8,776 million, down 7% AER, 8% CER.

Established Respiratory products declined 10% AER, 11% CER to £3,900 million, with the decline in Advair/Seretide partly offset by higher sales of
Ventolin, Flovent and allergy products. In the US, a generic version of Advair was launched in February, resulting in a 54% AER, 56% CER decline in
the year. In Europe, Seretide sales were down 16% AER, 16% CER to £502 million, reflecting continued competition from generic products and the
transition of the Respiratory portfolio to newer products. In International, sales of Seretide were flat at AER but down 1% CER. Globally, Ventolin grew
by 27% AER, 25% CER, driven by the strong uptake of an authorised generic version in the US.
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The remainder of the Established Pharmaceuticals portfolio declined 5% AER, 6% CER to £4,876 million, including Lamictal down 8% AER, 10%
CER to £566 million on generic competition and lower sales of Viread in International. These declines were partly offset by Augmentin, up 6% AER,
6% CER to £602 million in the year, driven by strong growth in International.

Vaccines

Vaccines turnover

2019 2018 Growth  Growth

£m £m £% CER%

Meningitis 1,018 881 16 15
Influenza 541 523 3 1
Shingles 1,810 784 >100 >100
Established Vaccines 3,788 3,706 2 1
7,157 5,894 21 19

Vaccines turnover grew 21% AER, 19% CER to £7,157 million, primarily driven by growth in sales of Shingrix. Meningitis vaccines also contributed to
growth mainly due to Bexsero demand and share gains in the US together with stronger demand in International. Established Vaccines grew 2% AER,
1% CER to £3,788 million, primarily reflecting strong growth in Boostrix, Hepatitis vaccines, Synflorix and Infanrix/Pediarix, partly offset by lower
Cervarix sales in International and supply constraints in MMRYV vaccines.

Meningitis

Meningitis sales grew 16% AER, 15% CER to £1,018 million. Bexsero sales grew 16% AER, 16% CER to £679 million, driven by demand and share
gains in the US together with stronger demand in International and Europe, partly offset by the completion of the vaccination of catch-up cohorts in
certain markets in Europe. Menveo grew 15% AER, 13% CER, primarily reflecting improved supply and higher demand in International.

Influenza

Fluarix/FluLaval sales were up 3% AER, 1% CER to £541 million, reflecting strong sales execution in the US, partly offset by increased price
competition in the US and lower demand in Europe.

Shingles

Shingrix recorded sales of £1,810 million, primarily driven by continued strong uptake and the favourable benefit of prior-period rebate adjustments in
the US. Germany and Canada also contributed to growth.

Established Vaccines

Sales of DTPa-containing vaccines (Infanrix, Pediarix and Boostrix) grew 10% AER, 8% CER. Infanrix/Pediarix sales grew 8% AER, 6% CER to
£733 million, reflecting favourable year-on-year US CDC stockpile movements and stronger demand in International, partly offset by competitive
pressures in Europe. Boostrix sales were up 13% AER, 11% CER to £584 million mainly due to strong demand in International together with share
gains and higher demand in the US.

Hepatitis vaccines grew 8% AER, 6% CER to £874 million, primarily due to favourable year-on-year CDC stockpile movements and the continued
benefit from a competitor supply shortage in the US, partly offset by supply constraints and lower demand in Europe.

Synflorix sales grew 10% AER, 11% CER to £468 million, primarily due to stronger demand in International.

Rotarix sales were up 7% AER, 6% CER to £558 million, reflecting stronger demand in International and the US together with favourable phasing in
International.

MMRYV vaccines sales declined 24% AER, 23% CER to £232 million, largely driven by supply constraints in Europe and International.

Cervarix sales were down 64% AER, 64% CER to £50 million, reflecting lower demand and expected returns due to competitive pressure in China,
together with lower demand elsewhere in International.

Consumer Healthcare

Consumer Healthcare turnover

2019 2018 Growth Growth

£m £m £% CER%

Wellness 4,526 3,940 15 14
Oral health 2,673 2,496 7 7
Nutrition 1,176 643 83 81
Skin health 620 579 7 7
8,995 7,658 17 17
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2019 2018 Growth Growth

£m £m £% CER%

UsS 2,583 1,828 41 36
Europe 2,456 2,340 5 6
International 3,956 3,490 13 14
8,995 7,658 17 17

Consumer Healthcare sales grew 17% AER, 17% CER in 2019 to £8,995 million. At a regional level, growth was driven by the US and International,
particularly China, following the acquisition of the Pfizer portfolio.

Sales of the Consumer Healthcare business included five months of Pfizer brand sales arising after the creation of the joint venture. The Pfizer brands
have been included in the existing categories and geographic regions used to report Consumer Healthcare sales. GSK expects to revise this category
structure for reporting from Q1 2020 onwards.

Wellness

Wellness sales grew 15% AER, 14% CER to £4,526 million for the year. Pain relief benefited from continued strong performance of Panadol and Advil
with the latter reflecting ongoing recovery from now resolved supply issues. Voltaren saw weaker performance and was also impacted by retail stock
movements. Respiratory sales declined as growth in Flonase was more than offset by weaker performance in Theraflu, following a strong cold and flu
comparator in 2018. Growth was also impacted by a decline in other Respiratory brands.

Oral health

Oral health sales grew 7% AER, 7% CER to £2,673 million. Sensodyne saw double-digit, broad-based growth, with strong performance in the US and
India benefiting from new product innovations. Gum health grew in double digits with broad-based growth, while Denture care grew in mid-single
digits. Oral health growth was also impacted by a decline in sales of non-strategic brands.

Nutrition

Nutrition sales grew 83% AER, 81% CER to £1,176 million, largely due to the inclusion of the Pfizer vitamins, minerals and supplements portfolio.
Growth also reflected the strong performance of Horlicks, offset by declines in other Nutrition products due to the alignment of in-market inventory
levels of some Pfizer brands, but was impacted by the divestment of Horlicks and Maxinutrition in the UK.

Skin health
Skin health sales grew 7% AER, 7% CER to £620 million, largely due to the addition of ChapStick from the Pfizer portfolio.

Cost of sales

2019 2018 Growth Growth
£m £m £% CER%
Total cost of sales (11,863) (10,241) 16 16
Adjusted cost of sales (10,079) (9,178) 10 10

Total cost of sales as a percentage of turnover was 35.1%, 1.9 percentage points higher at AER and 2.4 percentage points higher in CER terms compared
with 2018. This reflected an increase in the costs of Major restructuring programmes, primarily as a result of write-downs in a number of manufacturing
sites, the unwind of the fair market value uplift on inventory arising on completion of the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture with Pfizer and increased
amortisation of intangible assets.

Excluding these and other Adjusting items, Adjusted cost of sales as a percentage of turnover was 29.9%, 0.1 percentage points higher at AER and 0.5
percentage points higher at CER compared with 2018. This reflected continued adverse pricing pressure in Pharmaceuticals, particularly in Respiratory,
an unfavourable product mix in Pharmaceuticals and a number of non-restructuring related write-downs in manufacturing sites. This was partly offset by
a more favourable product mix in Vaccines, primarily due to growth of Shingrix in the US, a favourable impact of inventory adjustments in Vaccines
and a further contribution from integration and restructuring savings in Pharmaceuticals and Consumer Healthcare.

Selling, general and administration

2019 2018 Growth Growth
£m £m £% CER%
Total selling, general and administration (11,402) (9,915) 15 13
Adjusted selling, general and administration (10,715) (9,462) 13 12

23



Total SG&A costs as a percentage of turnover were 33.8%, 1.6 percentage points higher at AER and 1.6 percentage points higher at CER compared
with 2018. This included increased significant legal charges arising from the settlement of existing matters and provisions for ongoing litigation, costs
related to the acquisition of the Pfizer consumer healthcare business and a reversal of an indemnity receivable from Novartis following a tax settlement,
with an equivalent release of a tax provision which was reflected in the tax charge, as well as increased restructuring costs.

Excluding these and other Adjusting items, Adjusted SG&A costs as a percentage of turnover were 31.7%, 1.0 percentage point higher at AER than in
2018 and 1.0 percentage point higher on a CER basis.

The growth in Adjusted SG&A costs of 13% AER, 12% CER reflected increased investment resulting from the acquisition of Tesaro and in promotional
product support, particularly for new launches in Vaccines, Respiratory and HIV, as well as increased costs for a number of legal settlements.

This was partly offset by the continuing benefit of restructuring in Pharmaceuticals and the tight control of ongoing costs, particularly in
non-promotional spending across all three businesses.

Research and development

2019 2018 Growth Growth

£m £m £% CER%

Total research and development (4,568) (3,893) 17 15
Adjusted research and development (4,339) (3,735) 16 14

Total R&D expenditure was £4,568 million, 13.5% of turnover, up 17% AER, 15% CER. Adjusted R&D expenditure was £4,339 million, 12.9% of
turnover, 16% higher at AER, 14% higher at CER than in 2018.

Pharmaceuticals R&D expenditure was £3,348 million, up 19% AER, 16% CER, with a significant increase in study and clinical trial material
investment in Oncology compared with 2018. This reflected the progression of assets from the Tesaro acquisition, primarily Zejula and dostarlimab, and
a number of other programmes, including belantamab mafodotin, NY-ESO, ICOS and bintrafusp alfa, as well as increased spending on the progression
of key non-Oncology assets, such as aGM-CSF for rheumatoid arthritis. This was partly offset by savings from the early phase portfolio reprioritisation
in late 2018. R&D expenditure in Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare was £718 million and £273 million, respectively.

Royalty income

Royalty income was £351 million (2018 — £299 million), up 17% AER, 17% CER, primarily reflecting increased royalties on sales of Gardasil.

Other operating income/(expense)

Net other operating income of £689 million (2018 — £1,588 million expense) primarily reflected the profit on disposal of rabies and tick-borne
encephalitis vaccines (£306 million) and a number of other asset disposals, together with an increase in value of the shares in Hindustan Unilever
Limited to be received on the disposal of Horlicks and other Consumer Healthcare brands. The cumulative increase in value since the signing of the
proposed transaction was £240 million.

Other income also included accounting credits of £127 million (2018 — £1,846 million expense) arising from the remeasurement of the contingent
consideration liabilities related to the acquisitions of the former Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare joint venture and the former Novartis Vaccines business and
the liabilities for the Pfizer put option and Pfizer and Shionogi preferential dividends in ViiV Healthcare. This included a remeasurement charge of
£31 million (2018 — £1,188 million) for the contingent consideration liability due to Shionogi, primarily arising from the unwind of the discounting,
partly offset by changes in exchange rate assumptions and sales forecasts. 2018 also included a remeasurement charge of £658 million in relation to the
Consumer Healthcare put option.

Operating profit

Total operating profit was £6,961 million in 2019 compared with £5,483 million in 2018. Reduced remeasurement charges on the contingent
consideration liabilities, no Consumer Healthcare put option charge, increased profits on disposals and an increase in value of the shares in Hindustan
Unilever Limited to be received on the disposal of Horlicks and other Consumer Healthcare brands were partly offset by increased charges for Major
restructuring, primarily arising from write-downs in a number of manufacturing sites and costs to integrate the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture, and
increased significant legal charges.

Excluding these and other Adjusting items, Adjusted operating profit was £8,972 million, 3% higher than 2018 at AER but flat at CER on a turnover
increase of 8% CER. The Adjusted operating margin of 26.6% was 1.8 percentage points lower at AER, and 2.1 percentage points lower on a CER basis
than in 2018.

The reduction in Adjusted operating profit primarily reflected continuing price pressure, particularly in Respiratory, including the impact of the launch
of a generic version of Advair in the US in February 2019, investment in R&D including a significant increase in Oncology investment, partly on the
assets from the Tesaro acquisition, and investments in promotional product support, particularly for new launches in Vaccines, HIV and Respiratory.
This was partly offset by the benefit from sales growth, particularly in Vaccines, a more favourable mix in Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare,
favourable inventory adjustments in Vaccines and the continued benefit of restructuring with tight control of ongoing costs across all three businesses.
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Contingent consideration cash payments which are made to Shionogi and other companies reduce the balance sheet liability and hence are not recorded
in the income statement. Total contingent consideration cash payments in 2019 amounted to £893 million (2018 — £1,137 million), including payments
to Shionogi of £865 million (2018 — £793 million).

Operating profit by business

Pharmaceuticals operating profit was £4,595 million, down 20% AER, 22% CER with turnover flat at CER. The operating margin of 26.2% was 7.1
percentage points lower at AER than in 2018 and 7.2 percentage points lower on a CER basis. This primarily reflected the increase in cost of sales
percentage due to the continued impact of lower prices, particularly in Respiratory, including the impact of the launch of a generic version of Advair in
the US in February 2019, an unfavourable product mix, primarily as a result of the decline in Advair and growth in lower margin products, a significant
increase in Oncology R&D and investment in new product support and targeted priority markets, together with a number of non-restructuring related
write-downs in manufacturing sites and higher legal costs.

This was partly offset by the continued benefit of restructuring and tight control of ongoing costs and the benefits of re-prioritisation of the R&D
portfolio.

Vaccines operating profit was £2,966 million, 53% AER, 46% CER higher than in 2018 on a turnover increase of 19% CER. The operating margin of
41.4% was 8.5 percentage points higher at AER than in 2018 and 7.3 percentage points higher on a CER basis. This was primarily driven by enhanced
operating leverage from strong sales growth, particularly Shingrix in the US, improved product mix and higher royalty income. Increased SG&A
investment to support business growth was partly offset by income from one-off settlements.

Consumer Healthcare operating profit was £1,874 million, up 24% AER, 22% CER higher on a turnover increase of 17% CER. The operating margin of
20.8% was 1.0 percentage point higher at AER and 0.9 percentage points higher on a CER basis than in 2018. This primarily reflected continued
manufacturing restructuring savings, improved growth from higher margin power brands and the divestment of lower margin tail products, as well as
tight control of other operating expenses, partly offset by increased investment in promotion.

Net finance costs

2018

2019 (revised)
Finance income £m £m
Interest and other income 79 74
Fair value movements _19 7

—o8 sl
Finance expense
Interest expense (840) (715)
Unwinding of discounts on provisions ®) (15)
Remeasurements and fair value movements 1) 3
Finance expense on lease liabilities 39) 2)
Other finance expense (29 (69)

©R) _a%)

Total net finance costs were £814 million compared with £717 million in 2018. Adjusted net finance costs were £810 million compared with

£698 million in 2018. The increase primarily reflected higher debt levels following the acquisition from Novartis of its stake in the Consumer
Healthcare Joint Venture in June 2018 and the acquisition of Tesaro in January 2019, as well as an adverse comparison with a one-off accounting
adjustment of £20 million to amortisation of interest charges in 2018. This was partly offset by the benefit from older bonds being refinanced at lower
interest rates, a fair value gain on interest rate swaps and interest of £23 million in Q3 2018 on an historic tax settlement. Following the introduction of
IFRS 16, ‘Leases’, finance costs included an unwind of the discount on the lease liability of £39 million in the year.

Share of after-tax profits of associates and joint ventures

The share of after-tax profits of associates was £74 million (2018 — £31 million). This included a one-off adjustment of £51 million to reflect GSK’s
share of increased after-tax profits of Innoviva primarily as a result of a non-recurring income tax benefit.

Profit before tax

Taking account of net finance costs and the share of profits of associates, profit before taxation was £6,221 million compared with £4,800 million in
2018.

Taxation
2019 2018
£m £m
UK current year charge 149 234
Rest of world current year charge 1,407 1,426
Charge in respect of prior periods (420) _(492)
Total current taxation 1,136 1,168
Total deferred taxation (183) (414)
Taxation on total profits 953 754
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The charge of £953 million represented an effective tax rate on Total results of 15.3% (2018 — 15.7%) and reflected the different tax effects of the
various Adjusting items. Tax on Adjusted profit amounted to £1,318 million and represented an effective Adjusted tax rate of 16.0% (2018 — 19.0%),
reflecting the impact of the settlement of a number of open issues with tax authorities.

Issues related to taxation are described in Note 14, to the financial statements ‘Taxation’. The Group continues to believe it has made adequate provision
for the liabilities likely to arise from periods which are open and not yet agreed by tax authorities. The ultimate liability for such matters may vary from
the amounts provided and is dependent upon the outcome of agreements with relevant tax authorities.

Non-controlling interests

The allocation of Total earnings to non-controlling interests amounted to £623 million (2018 — £423 million). The increase was primarily due to an
increased allocation of ViiV Healthcare profits of £482 million (2018 — £251 million) and higher net profits in some of the Group’s other entities with
non-controlling interests. This was partly offset by the lower allocation of Consumer Healthcare profits of £70 million (2018 — £117 million) following
the buyout of Novartis’ interest in June 2018 and the completion of the new Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture with Pfizer on 31 July 2019, and which
included the unwind of the fair value uplift on acquired inventory.

The allocation of Adjusted earnings to non-controlling interests amounted to £787 million (2018 — £674 million). The increase in allocation reflected an
increased allocation of Consumer Healthcare profits of £204 million (2018 — £118 million), an increased allocation of ViiV Healthcare profits of
£512 million (2018 — £501 million) and higher net profits in some of the Group’s other entities with non-controlling interests.

Earnings per share

Total earnings per share was 93.9p, compared with 73.7p in 2018. The increase in earnings per share primarily reflected reduced remeasurement charges
on the contingent consideration liabilities and put options, an increase in the value of the shares in Hindustan Unilever Limited to be received on the
disposal of Horlicks and other Consumer Healthcare brands, a reduced effective tax rate and the increased share of after-tax profit of the associate
Innoviva.

Adjusted EPS of 123.9p compared with 119.4p in 2018, up 4% AER, 1% CER, with Adjusted operating profit flat at CER. The improvement primarily
resulted from a reduced effective tax rate and an increased share of after-tax profits of associates as a result of a non-recurring income tax benefit in
Innoviva, partly offset by increased net finance costs and a higher non-controlling interest allocation of Consumer Healthcare profits.

Dividends

The Board declared four interim dividends resulting in a total dividend for the year of 80 pence, in line with the dividend declared for 2018. See Note 16
to the financial statements, ‘Dividends’.

Dividend policy

GSK recognises the importance of dividends to shareholders and aims to distribute regular dividend payments that will be determined primarily with
reference to the free cash flow generated by the business after funding the investment necessary to support the Group’s future growth.

The Board intends to maintain the dividend for 2020 at the current level of 80p per share, subject to any material change in the external environment or
performance expectations. Over time, as free cash flow strengthens, it intends to build free cash flow cover of the annual dividend to a target range of
1.25 - 1.50x, before returning the dividend to growth.

Outlook

Our outlook for 2020 reflects our expectations for growth in key new products, and the start of a two-year period in which we will continue to increase
investment in these products and in our R&D pipeline, alongside implementation of our new programme which will prepare the Group for separation.

In 2020 we expect Adjusted EPS to decline in the range of -1% to -4% at CER. This guidance excludes any impact in 2020 from any further material
divestments beyond those previously announced and any potential impact on our business from the coronavirus outbreak.

We are not able to give guidance for Total results as we cannot reliably forecast certain material elements of our Total results such as impairments of
intangible assets and the future fair value movements on contingent consideration and put options, including those arising from changes in foreign
exchange rates, and therefore a reconciliation of the guidance for Adjusted results to equivalent guidance for Total results is not available without
unreasonable effort.

All expectations, guidance and targets regarding future performance and dividend payments should be read together with ‘Cautionary statement
regarding forward-looking statements’ and ‘Assumptions related to 2016-2020 outlook’ on the inside back cover of the GSK Annual Report 2019.

Adjusting items
Major restructuring and integration
Within the Pharmaceuticals sector, the highly-regulated manufacturing operations and supply chains and long life-cycle of the business mean that

restructuring programmes, particularly those that involve the rationalisation or closure of manufacturing or R&D sites, are likely to take several years to
complete.

Major restructuring costs are those related to specific Board-approved Major restructuring programmes and are excluded from Adjusted results. Major
restructuring programmes, including integration costs following material acquisitions, are those that are structural and are of a significant scale where
the costs of individual or related projects exceed £25 million. Other ordinary course smaller-scale restructuring costs are retained within Total and
Adjusted results.

26



Total Major restructuring charges incurred in 2019 were £1,105 million (2018 — £809 million), analysed as follows:

2019 2018
Non Non-
Cash cash  Total Cash cash Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
2018 major restructuring programme (incl. Tesaro) 227 572 799 279 90 369
Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture integration programme 248 4 252 — @ — —
Combined restructuring and integration programme 10 44 54 330 110 440

Cash charges primarily arose from restructuring of the manufacturing organisation, R&D and some administrative functions as well as the integration of
Tesaro under the 2018 major restructuring programme and integration costs under the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture integration programme.
Non-cash charges under the 2018 major restructuring programme primarily related to announced plans to restructure the manufacturing network.

Total cash payments made in 2019 were £645 million, £316 million for the existing Combined restructuring and integration programme (2018 — £528
million) and £164 million (2018 — £9 million) under the 2018 major restructuring programme including the settlement of certain charges accrued in

previous quarters and a further £165 million relating to the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture integration programme.

The analysis of major restructuring charges by business was as follows:

2019 2018

fm  fm

Pharmaceuticals 651 563

Vaccines 58 104

Consumer Healthcare 321 72

1,030 739

Corporate and central functions 75 70

Total Major restructuring charges 1,105 809
The analysis of Major restructuring charges by Income statement line was as follows:

2019 2018

£m _£m_

Cost of sales 658 443

Selling, general and administration 332 315

Research and development 114 49

Other operating income/(expense) 12

Total Major restructuring charges 1,105 809
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The Combined restructuring and integration programme delivered incremental annual cost savings in the year of £0.3 billion. The 2018 major
restructuring programme delivered incremental cost savings in the year of £0.2 billion.

Total cash charges for the Combined restructuring and integration programme are now expected to be approximately £4.0 billion with non-cash charges
of £1.4 billion. The total of £5.4 billion represents a reduction of £0.3 billion from the originally approved £5.7 billion. The programme has now
delivered approximately £4.2 billion of annual savings, including an estimated currency benefit of £0.2 billion. The programme is expected to deliver by
the end of 2020 total annual savings of £4.3 billion on a constant currency basis, including an estimated benefit of £0.2 billion from currency on the
basis of 2019 average exchange rates. The programme is substantially complete and therefore GSK will cease external reporting of total costs and
benefits of the Combined restructuring and integration programme from 2020 onwards.

The Group acquired Tesaro in January 2019, and is expected to incur around £50 million of integration and restructuring cash costs, leading to annual
cost-saving benefits of around £50 million. This has been added to and reported as part of the existing 2018 major restructuring programme.

The 2018 major restructuring programme, now including Tesaro, is expected to cost £1.75 billion over the period to 2021, with cash costs of
£0.85 billion and non-cash costs of £0.9 billion, and is expected to deliver annual savings of around £450 million by 2021 (at 2019 rates). These savings
are intended to be fully re-invested to help fund targeted increases in R&D and commercial support of new products.

The completion of the new Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture with Pfizer is expected to realise substantial cost synergies, generating total annual cost
savings of £0.5 billion by 2022 for expected cash costs of £0.7 billion and non-cash charges of £0.3 billion, plus additional capital expenditure of
£0.2 billion. Up to 25% of the cost savings are intended to be reinvested in the business to support innovation and other growth opportunities.

The Group has initiated a two-year Separation Preparation programme to prepare for the separation of GSK into two companies: New GSK, a
biopharma company with an R&D approach focused on science related to the immune system, the use of genetics and new technologies, and a new
leader in Consumer Healthcare.
The programme aims to:

. drive a common approach to R&D with improved capital allocation

. align and improve the capabilities and efficiency of global support functions to support New GSK

. further optimise the supply chain and product portfolio, including the divestment of non-core assets. A strategic review of prescription
dermatology is underway

. prepare Consumer Healthcare to operate as a standalone company
The programme will target delivery of £0.7 billion of annual savings by 2022 and £0.8 billion by 2023, with total costs estimated at £2.4 billion, of

which £1.6 billion is expected to be cash costs. The proceeds of anticipated divestments are largely expected to cover the cash costs of the
programme.Additional one-time costs to prepare Consumer Healthcare for separation are estimated at £600-700 million, excluding transaction costs.

Transaction-related adjustments

Transaction-related adjustments resulted in a net charge of £345 million (2018 — £1,977 million). This included a net £127 million accounting credit for
the remeasurement of the contingent consideration liabilities related to the acquisitions of the former Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare joint venture and the
former Novartis Vaccines business and the liabilities for the Pfizer put option and Pfizer and Shionogi preferential dividends in ViiV Healthcare.

2019 2018

Charge/(credit) _Em £m
Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture put option — 658
Contingent consideration on former Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare Joint Venture (including Shionogi

preferential dividends) 31 1,188
ViiV Healthcare put options and Pfizer preferential dividends (234) (58)
Contingent consideration on former Novartis Vaccines business 76 58
Release of fair value uplift on acquired Pfizer inventory 366 —
Other adjustments _106 131
Total transaction-related charges 345 1,977

The £31 million charge relating to the contingent consideration for the former Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare joint venture represented an increase in the
valuation of the contingent consideration due to Shionogi, primarily as a result of a £435 million unwind of the discount, partly offset by updated
exchange rate assumptions and adjustments to sales forecasts. The £234 million credit relating to the ViiV Healthcare put options and Pfizer preferential
dividends represented a reduction in the valuation of the put option as a result of adjustments to multiples and sales forecasts as well as updated
exchange rate assumptions.
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Other adjustments included transaction costs arising on completion of the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture with Pfizer, as well as a reversal of an
indemnity receivable from Novartis following a tax settlement, with an equivalent release of a tax provision. An explanation of the accounting for the
non-controlling interests in ViiV Healthcare is set out above under “Reporting framework”.

Divestments, significant legal charges and other items

Divestments and other items included a profit on disposal of rabies and tick-borne encephalitis vaccines (£306 million), a gain in the year of

£143 million arising from the increase in value of the shares in Hindustan Unilever Limited to be received on the disposal of Horlicks and other
Consumer Healthcare brands, as well as equity investment impairments and certain other Adjusting items together with the profit on a number of asset
disposals. A charge of £251 million (2018 — £33 million) for significant legal matters included the settlement of existing matters as well as provisions
for ongoing litigation. Significant legal cash payments were £294 million (2018 — £39 million).

Cash generation and conversion

A summary of the consolidated cash flow statement is set out below.

2019 2018
£m £m

Net cash inflow from operating activities 8,020 8,421
Net cash outflow from investing activities (5,354) (1,553)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (1,840) (6,389)
Increase/(decrease) in cash and bank overdrafts 826 479
Cash and bank overdrafts at beginning of year 4,087 3,600
Increase in cash and bank overdrafts 826 479
Exchange adjustments (82) 8
Cash and bank overdrafts at end of year 4,831 4,087
Cash and bank overdrafts at end of year comprise:
Cash and cash equivalents 4,707 3,874
Cash and cash equivalents reported in assets held for sale 507 485
Overdrafts (383) (272)

4,831 4,087

The net cash inflow from operating activities for the year was £8,020 million (2018 - £8,421 million). The reduction primarily reflected the adverse
timing of payments for returns and rebates, as well as the initial step-down impact from US Advair generic competition, higher restructuring payments
and higher significant legal costs. This was partly offset by improved operating profits including currency benefits, a reduction in inventory and lower
increase in trade receivables, lower contingent consideration payments and the reclassification of lease payments from operating to financing activities
following the transition to IFRS 16.

Capital expenditure and financial investment

Cash payments for tangible and intangible fixed assets amounted to £2,163 million (2018 — £1,796 million) and disposals realised £603 million (2018 —
£453 million). Cash payments to acquire equity investments amounted to £258 million (2018 — £309 million), primarily relating to Lyell
Immunopharma, and sales of equity investments realised £69 million (2018 — £151 million).

Free cash flow

Free cash flow is the amount of cash generated by the Group after meeting our obligations for contingent consideration, interest, tax and dividends paid
to non-controlling interests, and after capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

2019 2018
£m £m
Free cash inflow 5,073 5,692

The reduction in free cash flow primarily reflected the adverse timing of payments for returns and rebates, as well as the initial step-down impact from
US Advair generic competition, increased capital expenditure including the acquisition of intangible assets, higher restructuring payments and higher
significant legal costs. This was partly offset by improved operating profits including currency benefits, a reduction in inventory and a lower increase in
trade receivables, lower contingent consideration payments compared with 2018, which included a milestone payment to Novartis, lower dividend
payments to non-controlling interests and the reclassification of lease payments from operating to financing activities following the transition to IFRS
16.

Total cash payments to Shionogi in relation to the ViiV Healthcare contingent consideration liability in the year were £865 million (2018 — £793
million), of which £767 million was recognised in cash flows from operating activities and £98 million was recognised in contingent consideration paid
within investing cash flows. These payments are deductible for tax purposes.
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Reconciliation of net cash inflow from operating activities to free cash flow

A reconciliation of net cash inflow from operating activities, which is the closest equivalent IFRS measure to free cash flow, is shown below.

2019 2018
£m £m
Net cash inflow from operating activities 8,020 8,421
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,265) (1,344)
Purchase of intangible assets (898) (452)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 95 168
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets 404 256
Interest paid (895) (766)
Interest received 82 72
Dividends from associates and joint ventures 7 39
Contingent consideration paid (reported in investing activities) (113) (153)
Contribution from non-controlling interests — 21
Distributions to non-controlling interests (364) (570)
Free cash flow 5,073 5,692

Future cash flow

Over the long term, we expect that future cash generated from operations will be sufficient to fund our operating and debt servicing costs, normal levels
of capital expenditure, obligations under existing licensing agreements, expenditure arising from restructuring programmes and other routine outflows
including tax, pension contributions and dividends, subject to the ‘Principal risks and uncertainties’ discussed under Item 3.D “Risk Factors” above. We
may from time to time have additional demands for finance, such as for acquisitions, including potentially acquiring increased ownership interests in the
ViiV Healthcare business where minority shareholders hold put options. We have access to multiple sources of liquidity from short and long-term
capital markets and financial institutions for such needs, in addition to the cash flow from operations.

Investment appraisal and capital allocation

We have a strong framework for capital allocation, including a board to govern the allocation of capital between our businesses. We utilise a consistent
cash return on invested capital (CROIC) methodology to prioritise investment across the Group as a whole, so that we can more effectively compare the
returns from each of the businesses as we allocate capital between them. We also consider the impact on EPS and our credit profile where relevant.
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Financial position and resources

2019 2018
£m £m

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10,348 11,058
Right of use assets 966 —
Goodwill 10,562 5,789
Other intangible assets 30,955 17,202
Investments in associates and joint ventures 314 236
Other investments 1,837 1,322
Deferred tax assets 4,096 3,887
Derivative financial instruments 103 69
Other non-current assets _ 1,020 1,576
Total non-current assets 60,201 41,139
Current assets
Inventories 5,947 5,476
Current tax recoverable 262 229
Trade and other receivables 7,202 6,423
Derivative financial instruments 421 188
Liquid investments 79 84
Cash and cash equivalents 4,707 3,874
Assets held for sale 873 653
Total current assets 19,491 16,927
Total assets 79,692 58,066
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings (6,918)  (5,793)
Contingent consideration liabilities (755) (837)
Trade and other payables (14,939) (14,037)
Derivative financial instruments (188) (127)
Current tax payable (629) (965)
Short-term provisions (621) (732)
Total current liabilities (24,050) (22,491)
Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings (23,590) (20,271)
Corporation tax payable (189) (272)
Deferred tax liabilities (3,810) (1,156)
Pensions and other post-employment benefits (3,457)  (3,125)
Other provisions (670) (691)
Derivative financial instruments (1) (1)
Contingent consideration liabilities (4,724) (5,449)
Other non-current liabilities (844) (938)
Total non-current liabilities (37,285) (31,903)
Total liabilities (61,335) (54,394)
Net assets 18,357 3,672
Total equity 18,357 3,672

Acquisition of Pfizer consumer healthcare business

As the acquisition of the Pfizer consumer healthcare business was a non-cash transaction, it resulted in an increase in net assets of £15.0 billion,
including intangible assets of £12.4 billion and goodwill of £3.9 billion. This reflected the recognition of Pfizer’s non-controlling interest in the
Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture of £6.9 billion and a gain in retained earnings of £8.1 billion representing the difference between fair value and
book value of the 32% of GSK’s Consumer Healthcare business transferred to Pfizer.

Property, plant and equipment

Our business is science-based, technology-intensive and highly regulated by governmental authorities. We allocate significant financial resources to the
renewal and maintenance of our property, plant and equipment to minimise risks of interruption to production and to ensure compliance with regulatory
standards. A number of our processes use hazardous materials.
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The total cost of our property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2019 was £21,599 million, with a net book value of £10,348 million. Of this, land
and buildings represented £4,037 million, plant and equipment £4,425 million and assets in construction £1,886 million. In 2019, we invested

£1,640 million in new property, plant and equipment. This was mainly related to a large number of projects for the renewal, improvement and expansion
of facilities at various worldwide sites to support new product development and launches as well as to improve the efficiency of existing supply chains.
Property is mainly held freehold. New investment is financed from our liquid resources. At 31 December 2019, we had contractual commitments for
future capital expenditure of £413 million. We believe that our property and plant facilities are adequate for our current needs.

We observe stringent procedures and use specialist skills to manage environmental risks from our activities. Environmental issues, sometimes dating
from operations now modified or discontinued, are reported under ‘Environment’ on page 41 of the GSK Annual Report 2019 and in Note 46 to the
financial statements, ‘Legal proceedings’.

Right of use assets

Right of use assets amounted to £966 million at 31 December 2019 compared with £1,071 million on 1 January 2019, following the implementation of
IFRS 16. The decrease in the year reflected the impact of depreciation and disposals of £214 million and £64 million respectively, partly offset by
additions, including from business combinations, of £211 million.

Goodwill

Goodwill increased to £10,562 million at 31 December 2019, from £5,789 million, primarily reflecting additions of £3,854 million arising from the
acquisition of the Pfizer consumer healthcare business and £1,169 million from the acquisition of Tesaro, Inc.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets include the cost of intangibles acquired from third parties and computer software. The net book value of other intangible assets
as at 31 December 2019 was £30,955 million (2018 — £17,202 million). The increase primarily reflected additions of £12,357 million from the
acquisition of the Pfizer consumer healthcare business and £3,092 million from the acquisition of Tesaro, Inc.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

We held investments in associates and joint ventures with a carrying value at 31 December 2019 of £314 million (2018 — £236 million). The market
value at 31 December 2019 was £396 million (2018 — £487 million). The largest of these investments was in Innoviva Inc., which had a book value at
31 December 2019 of £261 million (2018 — £189 million) and a market value of £343 million. See Note 21 to the financial statements, ‘Investments in
associates and joint ventures’.

Other investments

We held other investments with a carrying value at 31 December 2019 of £1,837 million (2018 — £1,322 million). The highest value investments held at
31 December 2019 were in 23andMe, which had a book value at 31 December 2019 of £227 million (2018 — £229 million), Progyny, Inc, which had a
book value of £213 million (2018 — £21 million) and Theravance Biopharma, Inc., which had a book value at 31 December 2019 of £189 million (2018
— £194 million). The other investments included equity stakes in companies with which we have research collaborations, and which provide access to
biotechnology developments of potential interest and interests in companies that arise from business divestments.

Derivative financial instruments: assets

We had current derivative financial assets held at fair value of £421 million (2018 — £188 million) and non-current derivative financial assets held at fair
value of £103 million (2018 —£69 million). £240 million of current derivative financial assets related to a derivative embedded in the agreement to
divest Horlicks and other nutritional brands to Unilever plc. See Note 40 for further information. The majority of the remainder of these financial
instruments related to foreign exchange contracts both designated and not designated as accounting hedges.

Inventories

Inventory of £5,947 million increased from £5,476 million in 2018 primarily reflecting the higher inventory in Consumer Healthcare following the
Pfizer acquisition in the year, partly offset by the impact of exchange movements.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables of £7,202 million increased from £6,423 million in 2018, primarily reflecting the impact of higher sales, particularly in
Vaccines, partly offset by better collections and exchange movements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets amounted to £4,096 million (2018 — £3,887 million) at 31 December 2019.

Derivative financial instruments: liabilities

We held current and non-current derivative financial liabilities at fair value of £189 million (2018 — £128 million). This primarily related to foreign
exchange contracts both designated and not designated as accounting hedges.

Trade and other payables

At 31 December 2019, trade and other payables were £14,939 million compared with £14,037 million at 31 December 2018. The increase primarily
reflected higher payables in Consumer Healthcare following the Pfizer acquisition in the year, partly offset by exchange movements.

Provisions

We carried deferred tax provisions and other short-term and non-current provisions of £5,101 million at 31 December 2019 (2018 — £2,579 million).
Other provisions at the year-end included £198 million (2018 — £219 million) related to legal and other disputes and £505 million (2018 — £641 million)
related to Major restructuring programmes. Provision has been made for legal and other disputes, indemnified disposal liabilities, employee related
liabilities and the costs of the restructuring programme to the extent that at the balance sheet date a legal or constructive obligation existed and could be
reliably estimated.
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Pensions and other post-employment benefits

We account for pension and other post-employment arrangements in accordance with IAS 19. The net deficits were £1,921 million (2018 — £995
million) on pension arrangements and £1,418 million (2018 — £1,379 million) on unfunded post-employment liabilities. See Note 30 to the financial
statements, ‘Pensions and other post-employment benefits’.

Other non-current liabilities

Other non-current liabilities amounted to £844 million at 31 December 2019 (2018 — £938 million).

Contingent consideration liabilities

Contingent consideration amounted to £5,479 million at 31 December 2019 (2018 — £6,286 million), of which £5,103 million (2018 — £5,937 million)
represented the estimated present value of amounts payable to Shionogi relating to ViiV Healthcare and £339 million (2018 — £296 million) represented
the estimated present value of contingent consideration payable to Novartis related to the Vaccines acquisition.

The liability due to Shionogi included £222 million in respect of preferential dividends. The liability for preferential dividends due to Pfizer at
31 December 2019 was £4 million (2018 — £15 million). An explanation of the accounting for the non-controlling interests in ViiV Healthcare is set out
above under “Reporting framework”.

Of the contingent consideration payable (on a post-tax basis) at 31 December 2019, £755 million (2018 — £837 million) is expected to be paid within
one year. The consideration payable is expected to be paid over a number of years. As a result, the total estimated liabilities are discounted to their
present values, on a post-tax basis using post-tax discount rates. The Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare contingent consideration liability is discounted at 8.5%
and the Novartis Vaccines contingent consideration liability is discounted partly at 8% and partly at 9%.

Net debt
2019 2018
£m £m
Cash, cash equivalents and liquid investments 4,786 3,958
Cash, cash equivalents reported in assets held for sale 507 485
Borrowings — repayable within one year (6,918)  (5,793)
Borrowings — repayable after one year (23,590) (20,271)
Net debt (25215) (21,621)

At 31 December 2019, net debt was £25.2 billion, compared with £21.6 billion at 31 December 2018. This comprised gross debt of £30.5 billion and
cash and liquid investments of £5.3 billion, including £0.5 billion reported within Assets held for sale. Net debt increased due to the £3.9 billion
acquisition of Tesaro Inc as well as £0.2 billion of Tesaro net debt, together with the £1.3 billion impact from the implementation of IFRS 16, the
dividend paid to shareholders of £4.0 billion and other net investing activities of £0.1 billion, partly offset by £0.7 billion net favourable exchange
impacts from the translation of non-Sterling denominated debt and exchange on other financing items and £5.1 billion of free cash flow.

At 31 December 2019, GSK had short-term borrowings (including overdrafts and lease liabilities) repayable within 12 months of £6.9 billion, with loans
of £3.2 billion repayable in the subsequent year.

At 31 December 2019, GSK’s cash and liquid investments were held as follows:

2019 2018
£m £m
Bank balances and deposits 2,565 1,853
Bank balances and deposits reported in assets held for sale 507 485
US Treasury and Treasury repo only money market funds 102 449
Liquidity funds 2,040 1,572
Cash and cash equivalents 5,214 4,359
Liquid investments — Government securities 79 84
5,293 4,443
Cash and liquid investments of £3.6 billion (2018 — £2.9 billion) were held centrally at 31 December 2019.
The analysis of cash and gross debt after the effects of hedging is as follows.
2019 2018
£m £m
Cash and liquid investments 5,293 4,443
Gross debt — fixed! (25,064) (21,603)
— floating (5,444) (4,432)
— non-interest bearing — (29)
Net debt (25,215) (21,621)

1 Includes £2.1 billion equivalent of notes swapped from floating to fixed rates via interest rate swaps.
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Movements in net debt

2019 2018
£m £m

Net debt at beginning of year (21,621) (13,178)
Implementation of IFRS 16 (1,303) —
Net debt at beginning of year, as adjusted (22,924) (13,178)
Increase in cash and bank overdrafts 826 479
Decrease in liquid investments (1) —
Increase in long-term loans (4,794) (10,138)
Net repayment of short-term loans 1,065 1,986
Repayment of lease liabilities 214 28
Debt of subsidiary undertakings acquired (524) —
Exchange movements 1,015 (776)
Other movements (92) (22)
Net debt at end of year (25,215) (21,621)

Interest rate benchmark reform

‘Interest rate benchmark reform — Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7° was issued by the IASB in September 2019. These amendments modify
specific hedge accounting requirements to allow hedge accounting to continue for affected hedges during the period of uncertainty before the hedged
items or hedging instruments affected by the current interest rate benchmarks are amended as a result of the ongoing interest rate benchmark reforms.

At 31 December 2019, the Group was not directly exposed to interest rate benchmark reform as it held no interest rate derivatives that referenced
LIBOR and matured after the end of 2021 and all floating rate bonds were due to mature before the end of 2021.

The Group has closely monitored the market and the output from the various industry working groups managing the transition to new benchmark
interest rates. This includes announcements made by LIBOR regulators, including the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and the US Commodity
Futures Trading Commission, regarding the transition away from LIBOR (including GBP LIBOR, USD LIBOR and EURIBOR) to the Sterling
Overnight Index Average Rate (SONIA), the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR), and the Euro Short-Term Rate (ESTR) respectively. The FCA
has made it clear that, at the end of 2021, it will no longer seek to persuade, or compel, banks to submit to LIBOR.

The Group is undertaking an interest rate benchmark transition programme to identify potential exposures within the business and deliver a smooth
transition to appropriate alternative benchmark rates.

Total equity
At 31 December 2019, total equity had increased from £3,672 million at 31 December 2018 to £18,357 million.

A summary of the movements in equity is set out below.

2019 2018
£m £m

Total equity at beginning of year 3,672 3,489
Implementation of IFRS 15 “4)
Implementation of IFRS 9 (11)
Implementation of IFRS 16 (93)
Total equity at beginning of year, as adjusted 3,579 3,474
Total comprehensive income for the year 3,701 4,300
Dividends to shareholders (3,953) (3,927)
Recognition of interest in Consumer Healthcare

Joint Venture 14,969 —
Ordinary shares issued 51 74
Changes in non-controlling interests (10) —
De-recognition of liabilities with non-controlling interests — (62)
Share-based incentive plans 365 360
Tax on share-based incentive plans 19 2
Contributions from non-controlling interests — 21
Distributions to non-controlling interests (364) (570)
Total equity at end of year 18,357 3,672

Share purchases

No shares were repurchased by the company during 2019. At 31 December 2019, GSK held 393.5 million shares as Treasury shares (2018 —
414.6 million shares), at a cost of £5,505 million (2018 — £5,800 million), which has been deducted from retained earnings.

No ordinary shares were purchased in the period 1 January 2020 to 24 February 2020 and the company does not expect to make any ordinary share
repurchases in the remainder of 2020.
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In 2019, 21.1 million Treasury shares were transferred to the Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) Trusts. Shares are held by the Trusts to satisfy
future exercises of options and awards under the Group share option and award schemes. A proportion of the shares held by the Trusts are in respect of
awards where the rules of the scheme require us to satisfy exercises through market purchases rather than the issue of new shares. The shares held by the
Trusts are matched to options and awards granted.

At 31 December 2019, the ESOP Trusts held 36.4 million (2018 —41.5 million) GSK shares against the future exercise of share options and share
awards. The carrying value of £135 million (2018 — £161 million) has been deducted from other reserves. The market value of these shares was
£647 million (2018 — £619 million).

Contractual obligations and commitments
Financial commitments are summarised in Note 35 to the financial statements, ‘Commitments’.

The following table sets out our contractual obligations and commitments at 31 December 2019 as they fall due for payment.

Total Under lyr 1-3yrs 3-Syrs 5 yrs+

£m £m £m £m £m
Loans 29,408 6,678 5,883 3,925 12,922
Interest on loans 8,952 780 1,409 1,159 5,604
Finance lease obligations 1,250 240 346 198 466
Future finance charges 223 41 66 42 74
Intangible assets 9,727 578 607 1,502 7,040
Property, plant & equipment 413 378 35 — —
Investments 47 24 23 — —
Purchase commitments 1,047 925 121 1 —
Pensions 163 75 88 — —
Total 51,230 9,719 8,578 6,827 26,106

Commitments in respect of loans and future interest payable on loans are disclosed before taking into account the effect of derivatives.

We have entered into a number of research collaborations to develop new compounds with other pharmaceutical companies. The terms of these
arrangements can include upfront fees, equity investments, loans and commitments to fund specified levels of research. In addition, we will often agree
to make further payments if future ‘milestones’ are achieved.

As some of these agreements relate to compounds in the early stages of development, the potential obligation to make milestone payments will continue
for a number of years if the compounds move successfully through the development process. Generally, the closer the product is to marketing approval,
the greater the probability of success. The amounts shown above within intangible assets represent the maximum that would be paid if all milestones
were achieved, and include £4.9 billion which relates to externalised projects in the discovery portfolio. There was an increase in the commitments in
2019 as a result of a number of new R&D collaborations, including with Merck KgaA and Lyell Immunopharma.

In 2018, we reached an agreement with the trustees of the UK pension schemes to make additional contributions, to assist in eliminating the pension
deficit identified as part of the 31 December 2017 actuarial funding valuation. The table above includes this commitment but excludes the normal
ongoing annual funding requirement in the UK of approximately £130 million. For further information on pension obligations, see Note 30 to the
financial statements, ‘Pensions and other post-employment benefits’.

Contingent liabilities
Other contingent liabilities are set out in Note 34 to the financial statements, ‘Contingent liabilities’.

The following table sets out contingent liabilities, comprising discounted bills, performance guarantees, letters of credit and other items arising in the
normal course of business, and when they are expected to expire.

Total Under 1 yr 1-3 yrs 3-5 yrs S yrs+

£m £m £m £m £m
Guarantees 32 4 11 3 14
Other contingent liabilities 65 10 17 8 30
Total 97 14 28 11 44

In the normal course of business, we have provided various indemnification guarantees in respect of business disposals in which legal and other disputes
have subsequently arisen. A provision is made where an outflow of resources is considered probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the likely
outcome of the dispute and this is included in Note 31 to the financial statements, ‘Other provisions’.

We provide for the outcome of tax, legal and other disputes when an outflow of resources is considered probable and a reliable estimate of the outflow
may be made. At 31 December 2019, other than for those disputes where provision has been made, it was not possible to make a reliable estimate of the
potential outflow of funds that might be required to settle disputes where the possibility of there being an outflow was more than remote.

The ultimate liability for such matters may vary significantly from the amounts provided and is dependent upon negotiations with the relevant tax
authorities and the outcome of litigation proceedings, where relevant. This is discussed further in ‘Principal risks and uncertainties’ under Item 3.D
“Risk Factors” above and Note 46 to the financial statements, ‘Legal proceedings’.
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Treasury policies

We report in Sterling and pay dividends out of Sterling cash flows. The role of Treasury is to monitor and manage the Group’s external and internal
funding requirements and financial risks in support of our strategic objectives. GSK operates on a global basis, primarily through subsidiary companies,
and we manage our capital to ensure that our subsidiaries are able to operate as going concerns and to optimise returns to shareholders through an
appropriate balance of debt and equity. Treasury activities are governed by policies approved annually by the Board of Directors, and most recently on
16 October 2019. A Treasury Management Group (TMG) meeting, chaired by our Chief Financial Officer, takes place on a regular basis to review
Treasury activities. Its members receive management information relating to these activities.

Treasury operations

The objective of GSK’s Treasury activities is to minimise the post-tax net cost of financial operations and reduce its volatility in order to benefit
earnings and cash flows. GSK uses a variety of financial instruments to finance its operations and derivative financial instruments to manage market
risks from these operations. Derivatives principally comprise foreign exchange forward contracts and swaps which are used to swap borrowings and
liquid assets into currencies required for Group purposes, as well as interest rate swaps which are used to manage exposure to financial risks from
changes in interest rates.

Derivatives are used exclusively for hedging purposes in relation to underlying business activities and not as trading or speculative instruments.

Capital management

GSK’s financial strategy, implemented through the Group’s financial architecture, supports GSK’s strategic priorities and is regularly reviewed by the
Board. We manage the capital structure of the Group through an appropriate mix of debt and equity. We continue to manage our financial policies to a
credit profile that particularly targets short-term credit ratings of A-1 and P-1 while maintaining single A long-term ratings consistent with those targets.

Liquidity risk management

GSK’s policy is to borrow centrally in order to meet anticipated funding requirements. Our cash flow forecasts and funding requirements are monitored
by the TMG on a regular basis. Our strategy is to diversify liquidity sources using a range of facilities and to maintain broad access to financial markets.

Each day, we sweep cash from a number of global subsidiaries to central Treasury accounts for liquidity management purposes.

Interest rate risk management

GSK’s objective is to minimise the effective net interest cost and to balance the mix of debt at fixed and floating interest rates over time. The policy on
interest rate risk management limits the net amount of floating rate debt to a specific cap, reviewed and agreed no less than annually by the Board.

Foreign exchange risk management

Our objective is to minimise the exposure of overseas operating subsidiaries to transaction risk by matching local currency income with local currency
costs where possible. Foreign currency transaction exposures arising on external and internal trade flows are selectively hedged. GSK’s internal trading
transactions are matched centrally and we manage inter-company payment terms to reduce foreign currency risk. Where possible, we manage the cash
surpluses or borrowing requirements of subsidiary companies centrally using forward contracts to hedge future repayments back into the originating
currency.

In order to reduce foreign currency translation exposure, we seek to denominate borrowings in the currencies of our principal assets and cash flows.
These are primarily denominated in US Dollars, Euros and Sterling. Borrowings can be swapped into other currencies as required.

Borrowings denominated in, or swapped into, foreign currencies that match investments in overseas Group assets may be treated as a hedge against the
relevant assets. Forward contracts in major currencies are also used to reduce exposure to the Group’s investment in overseas Group assets. The TMG
reviews the ratio of borrowings to assets for major currencies regularly.

Counterparty risk management

We set global counterparty limits for each of our banking and investment counterparties based on long-term credit ratings from Moody’s and Standard
and Poor’s. Treasury’s usage of these limits is monitored daily by a Treasury Compliance Officer (TCO) who operates independently of Treasury. Any
breach of these limits would be reported to the CFO immediately.

The TCO also monitors the credit rating of these counterparties and, when changes in ratings occur, notifies Treasury so that changes can be made to
investment levels or to authority limits as appropriate. In addition, relationship banks and their credit ratings are reviewed regularly and a report is
presented annually to the TMG for approval.

Critical accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS, as adopted for use in the European Union, and also with IFRS as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), following the accounting policies approved by the Board and described in Note 2 to the financial
statements, ‘Accounting principles and policies’.

We are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported in the financial
statements. Actual amounts and results could differ from those estimates.
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The critical accounting policies relate to the following areas:
. Turnover
. Taxation (Note 14)
. Legal and other disputes (Notes 31 and 46)

. Contingent consideration and put option liabilities (Notes 28 and 32)
. Pensions and other post-employment benefits (Note 30)
. Information on the judgements and estimates made in these areas is given in Note 3 to the financial statements, ‘Key accounting

judgements and estimates’.

Turnover

In respect of the Turnover accounting policy, our largest business is US Pharmaceuticals, and the US market has the most complex arrangements for
rebates, discounts and allowances. The following briefly describes the nature of the arrangements in existence in our US Pharmaceuticals business:

. We have arrangements with certain indirect customers whereby the customer is able to buy products from wholesalers at reduced prices. A
chargeback represents the difference between the invoice price to the wholesaler and the indirect customer’s contractual discounted price.
Accruals for estimating chargebacks are calculated based on the terms of each agreement, historical experience and product growth rates

. Customer rebates are offered to key managed care and Group Purchasing Organisations and other direct and indirect customers. These
arrangements require the customer to achieve certain performance targets relating to the value of product purchased, formulary status or
pre-determined market shares relative to competitors. The accrual for customer rebates is estimated based on the specific terms in each
agreement, historical experience and product growth rates

. The US Medicaid programme is a state-administered programme providing assistance to certain poor and vulnerable patients. In 1990, the
Medicaid Drug Rebate Program was established to reduce State and Federal expenditure on prescription drugs. In 2010, the Patient
Protection and Affordable Care Act became law. We participate by providing rebates to states. Accruals for Medicaid rebates are
calculated based on the specific terms of the relevant regulations or the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act

. Cash discounts are offered to customers to encourage prompt payment. These are accrued for at the time of invoicing and adjusted
subsequently to reflect actual experience

. We record an accrual for estimated sales returns by applying historical experience of customer returns to the amounts invoiced, together
with market-related information such as stock levels at wholesalers, anticipated price increases and competitor activity.

A reconciliation of gross turnover to net turnover for the US Pharmaceuticals business is as follows:

2019 2018 2017
Margin Margin Margin
£m % £m % £m %
Gross turnover 18,471 100 18,227 100 16,365 100
Market-driven segments (5,976) 32) (5,147) (28) (4,040) (25)
Government mandated and state programmes (4,264) 23) (4,594) (25) (3,933) (24)
Cash discounts (356) 2) (361) 2) (330) 2)
Customer returns (141) (1) 98) @9 ©7) (1)
Prior year adjustments 247 1 98 1 86 1
Other prior year items — — 39 — 23 —
Other items (579) 3) (613) @) (460) 3
Total deductions (11,069) _ (60) (10,774) 59) (8,797) (54)
Net turnover 7,402 40 7,453 41 7,568 46

Market-driven segments consist primarily of Managed Care and Medicare plans with which we negotiate contract pricing that is honoured via rebates
and chargebacks. Mandated segments consist primarily of Medicaid and Federal Government programmes which receive government-mandated pricing
via rebates and chargebacks.

The increased deductions in the market-driven segments of the gross turnover to net turnover reconciliation primarily reflected higher rebates and
chargebacks on respiratory products, and on Advair in particular. A generic version of Advair was launched in February 2019, and during the year
Advair accounted for 7% of US Pharmaceuticals turnover and approximately 27% of the total deduction for rebates and returns. The respiratory
portfolio as a whole, including Established Respiratory products, accounted for approximately 79% of the total deduction in the year.

The balance sheet accruals for rebates, discounts, allowances and returns for the US Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines businesses are managed on a
combined basis. At 31 December 2019, the total accrual amounted to £4,200 million (2018 — £4,356 million).
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A monthly process is operated to monitor inventory levels at wholesalers for any abnormal movements. This process uses gross sales volumes,
prescription volumes based on third party data sources and information received from key wholesalers. The aim of this is to maintain inventories at a
consistent level from year to year based on the pattern of consumption.

On this basis, US Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines inventory levels at wholesalers and in other distribution channels at 31 December 2019 were estimated
to amount to approximately four weeks of turnover. This calculation uses third party information, the accuracy of which cannot be totally verified, but is
believed to be sufficiently reliable for this purpose.

Legal and other disputes
In respect of the accounting policy for Legal and other disputes, the following briefly describes the process by which we determine the level of provision
that is necessary.

In accordance with the requirements of IAS 37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’, we provide for anticipated settlement costs
where an outflow of resources is considered probable and a reliable estimate may be made of the likely outcome of the dispute and legal and other
expenses arising from claims against the Group.

We may become involved in significant legal proceedings, in respect of which it is not possible to make a reliable estimate of the expected financial
effect, if any, that could result from ultimate resolution of the proceedings. In these cases, appropriate disclosure about such cases would be included in
the Annual Report, but no provision would be made.

This position could change over time and, therefore, there can be no assurance that any losses that result from the outcome of any legal proceedings will
not exceed by a material amount the amount of the provisions reported in the Group’s financial statements.

Like many pharmaceutical companies, we are faced with various complex product liability, anti-trust and patent litigation, as well as investigations of
our operations conducted by various governmental regulatory agencies. Throughout the year, the General Counsel of the Group, as head of the Group’s
legal function, and the Senior Vice President and Head of Global Litigation for the Group, who is responsible for all litigation and government
investigations, routinely brief the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the Board of Directors on the significant litigation pending
against the Group and governmental investigations of the Group.

These meetings, as appropriate, detail the status of significant litigation and government investigations and review matters such as the number of claims
notified to us, information on potential claims not yet notified, assessment of the validity of claims, progress made in settling claims, recent settlement
levels and potential reimbursement by insurers.

The meetings also include an assessment of whether or not there is sufficient information available for us to be able to make a reliable estimate of the
potential outcomes of the disputes. Often, external counsel assisting us with various litigation matters and investigations will also assist in the briefing of
the Board and senior management. Following these discussions, for those matters where it is possible to make a reliable estimate of the amount of a
provision, if any, that may be required, the level of provision for legal and other disputes is reviewed and adjusted as appropriate. These matters are
discussed further in Note 46 to the financial statements, ‘Legal proceedings’.

Please refer to the “Financial review 2018” of the GSK Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 31 December 2018 for a comparative discussion
of 2018 financial results compared to 2017.

5B Liquidity and capital resources

The information set forth under the headings “Cash generation and conversion,” “Financial position and resources” and “Treasury
policies” in Item 5.A of this annual report on Form 20-F is incorporated herein by reference.

The information set forth under the headings:
* “Note 35 — Commitments” on page 216; and
* “Note 43 — Financial instruments and related disclosures” on pages 227 to 243

of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

5.C Research and development, patents and licenses, etc.
The information set forth under the headings:
* “Innovation” within:
°  “Our long-term priorities” on the Inside front cover;

°  the “Chairman’s statement” on page 3;

°  “Our long-term priorities” on page 9;

°  “Pharmaceuticals” on pages 17 to 21;

°  “Vaccines” on pages 23 to 25; and

°  “Consumer Healthcare” on pages 27 to 28;

* “Performance” within:
°  “Our long-term priorities” on the Inside front cover;

°  “Our long-term priorities” on page 9 (excluding the pro-forma figure in the first bullet point under the sub-heading “2019
progress” under “Performance”);

°  “Pharmaceuticals” on page 22;
°  “Vaccines” on page 26; and
°  “Consumer Healthcare” on pages 28 to 29 (excluding the second sentence in the first paragraph under the sub-heading

“Performance” on page 28);
* “Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines product development pipeline” on pages 269 to 271;
* “Pharmaceutical products, competition and intellectual property” on pages 272 to 273;

* “Vaccines products, competition and intellectual property” on page 273; and



5.D

* “Consumer Healthcare products and competition” on page 274

of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

Trend information

The information set forth under the heading “Group Financial Review” in Item 5.A of this annual report on Form 20-F is incorporated
herein by reference.
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S.E

5.F

Item 6.

6.A

6.B

6.C

6.D

6.E

Item 7.

7.A

7.B

Off-balance sheet arrangements

Not applicable.

Tabular disclosure of contractual obligations

The information set forth under the heading “Contractual obligations and commitments” in Item 5.A on this annual report on Form
20-F is incorporated herein by reference.

Directors, Senior Management and Employees
Directors and senior management
The information set forth under the headings:

¢ “Our Board” on pages 79 to 81; and

* “Our Corporate Executive Team” on pages 82 to 83

of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

Compensation

+ “Remuneration report” on pages 115 to 150 (excluding the words after “CER” in the third bullet point in the table titled
“Financial performance” on page 122);

« “2020 Remuneration policy summary” on page 140; and
+ “Remuneration policy report” on pages 141 to 150

of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

Board practices
The information set forth under the heading:

* “Corporate governance” on pages 75 to 114 (excluding the heading and the information under the heading “Section 172
statement” on pages 111 to 112); and

+ “Additional remuneration disclosures” on page 128; and
» “Donations to political organisations and political expenditure” on page 298

of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

Employees
The information set forth under the headings:
* “Note 9 — Employee costs” on page 185;
* “Note 30 — Pensions and other post-employment benefits” on pages 205 to 213; and
* “Number of employees” under “Five year record” on page 265

of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

Share ownership
The information set forth under the headings:
* “Note 44 — Employee share schemes” on pages 244 to 245;
* “2019 Total remuneration” on pages 119 to 120;
* “Value earned from Long Term Incentives (LTIs)” on page 124;
+ “Update on performance of ongoing LTI awards” and “Performance updates” on page 125; and
+ “Directors’ interests in shares” on pages 137 to 138

of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions
Major shareholders
The information set forth under the headings:
* “Change of control and essential contracts” on page 113;
+ “Share capital and control” on pages 288 to 289; and
* “Analysis of shareholdings at 31 December 2019 on page 290
of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.
Related party transactions
The information set forth under the heading:
* “Note 39 — Related party transactions” on page 222
of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.
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7.C Interests of experts and counsel

Not applicable.
Item 8. Financial Information
8.A Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Information:

See Item 18 below.
In addition, the information set forth under the headings:
* “Note 46 — Legal proceedings” on pages 247 to 251; and
* “Dividends” on page 290
of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

8.B Significant Changes
The information set forth under the heading:
* “Note 46 — Legal proceedings” on pages 247 to 251
of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9. The Offer and Listing
9.A Offer and listing details
The information set forth under the headings:
+ “Market capitalisation” on page 289; and
* “Nature of trading market” on page 289
of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

The trading symbol for GSK’s Ordinary Shares of 25p each on the London Stock Exchange is GSK.L and the trading symbol for
GSK’s ADSs on the New York Stock Exchange is GSK.

9.B Plan of distribution
Not applicable.
9.C Markets

The information set forth under the headings:
* The second paragraph under “Share capital and control” on page 288; and
* “Nature of trading market” on page 289

of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

9.D Selling shareholders
Not applicable.
9.E Dilution
Not applicable.
9.F Expenses of the issue
Not applicable.
Item 10. Additional Information
10.A Share Capital
Not applicable.
10.B Articles of Association of GlaxoSmithKline plc

The following is a summary of the principal provisions of the company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles”). Shareholders should
not rely on this summary, but should instead refer to the current Articles which are filed with the Registrar of Companies in the UK and
can be viewed on the company’s website. The Articles contain the fundamental provisions of the company’s constitution, and the rules
for the internal management and control of the company. The company has no statement of objects in its Articles and accordingly its
objects are unrestricted in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.
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(a) Voting

All resolutions put to the vote at general meetings, including electronic general meetings (see paragraph (h)), will be decided by poll.
On a poll, every shareholder who is present in person or by proxy or, in the case of an electronic general meeting, who participates or is
represented by proxy via an electronic platform shall have one vote for every Ordinary Share of which he or she is the holder. In the
case of joint holders of a share, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the
exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders, and seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand on the register.
Unless the Directors otherwise decide, the right to attend a general meeting and voting rights may not be exercised by a shareholder
who has not paid to the company all calls and other sums then payable by him or her in respect of his or her Ordinary Shares. The right
to attend a general meeting and voting rights may not be exercised by a shareholder who is subject to an order under Section 794 of the
Companies Act 2006 because he or she has failed to provide the company with information concerning his or her interests in Ordinary
Shares within the prescribed period, as required by Section 793 of the Companies Act 2006.

(b) Transfer of Ordinary Shares

Any shareholder may transfer his or her Ordinary Shares which are in certificated form by an instrument of transfer in any usual form
or in any other form which the Directors may approve. Such instrument must be properly signed and stamped or certified (or otherwise
shown to the satisfaction of the Directors as being exempt from stamp duty) and lodged with the company together with the relevant
share certificate(s) and such other evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to make the
transfer.

Any member may transfer title to his or her uncertificated Ordinary Shares by means of a relevant system, such as CREST.

The transferor of a share is deemed to remain the holder until the transferee’s name is entered on the register. The Directors may
decline to register any transfer of any Ordinary Share which is not fully paid.

Registration of a transfer of uncertificated Ordinary Shares may be refused in the circumstances set out in the uncertificated securities
rules, and where, in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the uncertificated Ordinary Share is to
be transferred exceeds four.

The Articles contain no other restrictions on the transfer of fully paid certificated Ordinary Shares provided: (i) the instrument of
transfer is duly stamped or certified or otherwise shown to the satisfaction of the Directors to be exempt from stamp duty and is
accompanied by the relevant share certificate and such other evidence of the right to transfer as the Directors may reasonably require;
(ii) the transfer, if to joint transferees, is in favour of not more than four transferees; (iii) the instrument of transfer is in respect of only
one class of shares; and (iv) the holder of the Ordinary Shares is not subject to an order under Section 794 of the Companies Act 2006.
Notice of refusal to register a transfer must be sent to the transferee within two months of the instrument of transfer being lodged. The
Directors may decline to register a transfer of Ordinary Shares by a person holding 0.25 per cent. or more of the existing Ordinary
Shares if such person is subject to an order under Section 794 Companies Act 2006, after failure to provide the company with
information concerning interests in those Ordinary Shares required to be provided under Section 793 of the Companies Act 2006,
unless the transfer is carried out pursuant to an arm’s length sale.

Provisions in the Articles will not apply to uncertificated Ordinary Shares to the extent that they are inconsistent with:
(1) the holding of Ordinary Shares in uncertificated form;
(i1) the transfer of title to Ordinary Shares by means of a system such as CREST; and

(iii)  any provisions of the relevant regulations.

(c) Dividends and distribution of assets on liquidation

The profits of the company which are available for distribution and permitted by law to be distributed and which the company may by
ordinary resolution from time to time declare, upon the recommendation of the Directors to distribute by way of dividend, in respect of
any accounting reference period shall be distributed by way of dividend among holders of Ordinary Shares.

If in their opinion the company’s financial position justifies such payments, the Directors may, as far as any applicable legislation
allows, pay interim dividends on shares of any class of such amounts and in respect of such periods as they think fit. Except in so far as
the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any share otherwise provide, all dividends will be declared, apportioned and paid pro
rata according to the amounts paid up on the shares during any portion of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid. As the
company has only one class of Ordinary Shares, the holders of such Ordinary Shares will be entitled to participate in any surplus assets
on a winding-up in proportion to their shareholdings.

(d) Variation of rights and changes in capital

Subject to the provisions of any statute (including any orders, regulations or other subordinate legislation made under it) from time to
time in force concerning companies in so far as it applies to the company (the “Companies Acts”), the rights attached to any class of
shares may be varied with the written consent of the holders of
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three-quarters in nominal value of the issued shares of that class (excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares) or with the
sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the holders of shares of that class. At every such separate meeting, the
provisions of the Articles relating to general meetings shall apply, except the necessary quorum shall be at least two persons entitled to
vote and holding or representing as proxy at least one-third in nominal value of the issued shares of the relevant class (excluding any
shares of that class held as treasury shares) (but provided that at any adjourned meeting one holder of shares of the relevant class
present in person or by proxy shall be a quorum).

The rights conferred upon the holders of any Ordinary Shares shall not, unless otherwise expressly provided in the rights attaching to
those Ordinary Shares, be deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking pari passu with them.

(e) Unclaimed dividends

All dividends or other sums payable on or in respect of any Ordinary Shares which remain unclaimed may be invested or otherwise
made use of by the Directors for the benefit of the company until claimed. Unless the Directors decide otherwise, any dividend or other
sums payable on or in respect of any Ordinary Shares unclaimed after a period of 12 years from the date when declared or became due
for payment will be forfeited and revert to the company. The company may stop sending dividend cheques or warrants by post, or
employ such other means of payment in respect of any Ordinary Shares, if at least two consecutive payments have remained uncashed
or are returned undelivered or if one payment has remained uncashed or is returned undelivered and the company cannot establish a
new address for the holder after making reasonable enquiries; however, in either case, the company must resume sending cheques or
warrants or employ such other means of payment if the holder or any person entitled to the Ordinary Shares by transmission requests
the resumption in writing.

(f) Untraced shareholders

The company may sell any certificated Ordinary Shares in the company after using reasonable efforts to trace the holder of, or person
entitled by transmission to, the Ordinary Shares and sending a notice to the registered address or last known address of the holder or
other person entitled in accordance with the requirements of the Articles and waiting for three months if the Ordinary Shares have been
in issue for at least ten years and during that period at least three dividends have become payable on them and have not been claimed or
satisfied and, so far as any Director is aware, the company has not received any communication from the holder of the Ordinary Shares
or any person entitled to them by transmission. Upon any such sale, the company will become indebted to the former holder of the
Ordinary Shares or the person entitled to them by transmission for an amount equal to the net proceeds of sale unless and until
forfeited. If no valid claim for the money has been received by the company during a period of six years from the date on which the
relevant shares were sold by the company, the money will be forfeited and will belong to the company.

(g) Limitations on rights of non-resident or foreign shareholders

There are no limitations imposed by the Articles on the rights of non-resident or foreign shareholders except that there is no
requirement for the company to serve notices on shareholders outside the United Kingdom and the United States, if no postal address in
the United States or United Kingdom has been provided to the company. The company may choose not to serve, send or supply any
notice to a particular shareholder where it considers this necessary or appropriate to deal with legal, regulatory or practical problems in,
or under the laws of, any territory.

(h) General meetings of shareholders

The Articles rely on the Companies Act 2006 provisions dealing with the calling of general meeting. The company is required by the
Companies Act 2006 to hold an annual general meeting each year. General meetings of shareholders may be called as necessary by the
Directors and must be called promptly upon receipt of a requisition from shareholders. Under the Companies Act 2006, an annual
general meeting must be called by notice of at least 21 clear days. A general meeting other than an annual general meeting may be
called on not less than 14 clear days’ notice provided a special resolution reducing the notice period to 14 clear days has been passed at
the immediately preceding annual general meeting or a general meeting held since that annual general meeting. The Directors may
determine that a general meeting shall be held as a physical meeting or in combination with an electronic platform or platforms that
enables members to participate in the meeting without physically attending (an electronic general meeting).

(i) Conflicts of interest

The Directors may, subject to the provisions of the Articles, authorise any matter which would otherwise involve a Director breaching
his or her duty under the Companies Acts to avoid conflicts of interest (each a “Conflict”). A Director seeking authorisation in respect
of a Conlflict shall declare to the other Directors the nature and extent of his or her Conflict as soon as is reasonably practicable and
shall provide the other Directors with such details of the matter as are necessary to decide how to address the Conflict. The board may
resolve to authorise the
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relevant Director in relation to any matter the subject of a Conflict, save that the relevant Director and any other Director with a similar
interest shall not count towards the quorum nor vote on any resolution giving such authority, and, if the other Directors so decide, shall
be excluded from any meeting of the Directors while the Conflict is under consideration.

(j) Other Conflicts of Interest

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, and provided the nature and extent of a Director’s interest has been declared to the
Directors, a Director may:

1) be party to, or otherwise interested in, any contract with the company, or in which the company has a direct or indirect
interest;

(ii))  hold any other office or place of profit with the company (except that of auditor) in conjunction with his office of director
for such period and upon such terms, including remuneration, as the Directors may decide;

(iii)  act by himself or through a firm with which he is associated in a professional capacity for the company or any other
company in which the company may be interested (otherwise than as auditor);

(iv)  be or become a director of, or employed by, or otherwise be interested in any holding company or subsidiary company of
the company or any other company in which the company may be interested; and

W) be or become a director of any other company in which the company does not have an interest and which cannot
reasonably be regarded as giving rise to a conflict of interest at the time of his appointment as director of that other
company.

No contract in which a Director is interested shall be liable to be avoided, and any Director who is so interested is not liable to account
to the company or its shareholders for any benefit realised by the contract by reason of the Director holding that office or of the
fiduciary relationship thereby established. However, no Director may vote on, or be counted in the quorum, in relation to any resolution
of the board relating specifically to his or her own appointment (including remuneration) or the terms of his or her termination of
appointment or relating to any contract in which he or she has an interest (subject to certain exceptions).

Subject to the Companies Acts, the company may by ordinary resolution suspend or relax to any extent the provisions relating to
directors’ interests or restrictions on voting or ratify any transaction not duly authorised by reason of a contravention of such
provisions.

(k) Directors’ remuneration

Each of the Directors will be paid a fee at such rate as may from time to time be determined by the Directors, but the total fees paid to
all of the directors for acting as directors (including amounts paid to any director who acts as chairman or is chairman of, or serves on
any committee of the board of directors but excluding any amounts paid under any other provision of the Articles) shall not exceed the
higher of:

) £3 million a year; and

(ii) any higher amount as the company may by ordinary resolution decide. Such fees may be satisfied in cash or in shares or
any other non-cash form. Any Director who is appointed to any executive office, acts as Chairman, acts as senior
independent director, acts as a scientific/medical expert on the board, is Chairman of, or serves on any committee of the
Directors or performs any other services which the Directors consider to extend beyond the ordinary services of a
Director shall be entitled to receive such remuneration (whether by way of salary, commission or otherwise) as the
Directors may decide. Each Director may be paid reasonable travelling, hotel and other incidental expenses he or she
incurs in attending and returning from meetings of the Directors or committees of the Directors, or general meetings of
the company, or otherwise incurred in connection with the performance of his or her duties for the company.

(1) Pensions and gratuities for Directors

The Directors or any committee authorised by the Directors may provide benefits by the payment of gratuities, pensions or insurance or
in any other manner for any Director or former Director or their relations, connected persons or dependants, but no benefits (except
those provided for by the Articles) may be granted to or in respect of a Director or former Director who has not been employed by or
held an executive office or place of profit under the company or any of its subsidiary undertakings or their respective predecessors in
business without the approval of an ordinary resolution of the company.

(m) Borrowing powers

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, the Directors may exercise all the company’s powers to borrow money; to
mortgage or charge all or any of the company’s undertaking, property (present and future), and uncalled capital; to issue debentures and
other securities; and to give security either outright or as collateral security for any debt, liability or obligation of the company or of any
third party.
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10.C

(n) Retirement and removal of Directors
A Director is subject to re-election at every annual general meeting of the company

In addition to any power of removal conferred by the Companies Acts the company may by special resolution remove any Director before
the expiration of his or her period of office. No Director is required to retire by reason of his or her age, nor do any special formalities
apply to the appointment or re-election of any Director who is over any age limit. No shareholding qualification for Directors shall be
required.

(0) Vacation of office
The office of a director shall be vacated if:
@) he resigns or offers to resign, and the board resolves to accept such offer;
(ii)  his resignation is requested by all of the other directors and all of the other directors are not less than three in number;
(iii)  he is or has been suffering from mental or physical ill health and the board resolves that his office be vacated,;

(iv)  he is absent without permission of the board from meetings of the board (whether or not an alternate director appointed by
him attends) for six consecutive months and the board resolves that his office is vacated;

W) he becomes bankrupt or compounds with his creditors generally;
(vi)  he is prohibited by law from being a director; or

(vii)  he is removed from office pursuant to the Articles or the Companies Acts.

(p) Share rights

Subject to any rights attached to existing shares, shares may be issued with such rights and restrictions as the company may by ordinary
resolution decide, or (if there is no such resolution or so far as it does not make specific provision) as the board may decide. Such rights
and restrictions shall apply as if they were set out in the Articles. Redeemable shares may be issued, subject to any rights attached to
existing shares. The board may determine the terms, conditions and manner of redemption of any redeemable share so issued. Such terms
and conditions shall apply to the relevant shares as if they were set out in the Articles. Subject to the articles, any resolution passed by the
shareholders and other shareholders’ rights, the Board may decide how to offer, allot, grant options over or otherwise deal with any shares
in the company.

Material contracts
Agreements with Novartis

On April 22, 2014, GSK and Novartis AG (“Novartis”) entered into a three-part, inter-conditional transaction, pursuant to which they
executed an implementation agreement, a contribution agreement relating to a consumer healthcare joint venture, a share and business sale
agreement relating to the vaccines business of Novartis, a sale and purchase agreement relating to the oncology business of GSK, a put
option deed relating to the influenza vaccines business of Novartis and a shareholders’ agreement. GSK’s shareholders approved the
Transaction on December 18, 2014. The transaction closed on March 2, 2015.

Under the terms of the shareholders’ agreement, Novartis had the right to require GSK to purchase its shares in the consumer healthcare
joint venture. On June 1, 2018, GSK acquired 100% of the shares in GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Holdings Limited (“GSK
Consumer Healthcare”) following cancellation of Novartis’s shares under the terms of a put option implementation agreement among
GSK, Novartis and GSK Consumer Healthcare, among others.

GSK continues to have obligations to pay further sales and milestone-based consideration to Novartis under the share and business sale
agreement relating to the vaccines business of Novartis.

Agreement with Pfizer

On December 19, 2018, GSK, GSK Consumer Healthcare and Pfizer Inc. (“Pfizer”) entered into a Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement
(the “SAPA”) pursuant to which the parties agreed to form a consumer healthcare joint venture through the acquisition by GSK Consumer
Healthcare from Pfizer of Pfizer’s consumer healthcare business and the transfer by GSK to GSK Consumer Healthcare of those parts of
the GSK consumer healthcare business not already part of GSK Consumer Healthcare as of the date of the SAPA (with certain limited
exceptions). As consideration for the acquisition of its consumer healthcare business, Pfizer received shares in GSK Consumer Healthcare
representing a 32% ownership interest in the joint venture. GSK retained a controlling interest in GSK Consumer Healthcare of 68%. On
July 31, 2019, the parties entered into an amendment to the SAPA, pursuant to which: (i)
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GSK Consumer Healthcare transferred by novation to GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Holdings (No. 2) Limited (“GSK Consumer
Healthcare (No. 2)”) all rights, title, interest, obligations duties and liabilities of GSK Consumer Healthcare under and in respect of the
SAPA, (ii) the parties released GSK Consumer Healthcare from its obligations under the SAPA in exchange for GSK Consumer
Healthcare (No. 2)’s assumption thereof and (iii) certain other amendments to the SAPA and other arrangements in connection with the
closing of the transaction, including in relation to the delayed legal completion of the transaction in a number of jurisdictions due to
regulatory constraints. The transaction closed on July 31, 2019.

Each of GSK and Pfizer has given customary and broadly reciprocal representations and warranties to each other under the SAPA. GSK
and Pfizer have agreed to indemnify each other and GSK Consumer Healthcare (No. 2) (as applicable) in respect of losses (other than
certain losses arising from tax matters, which are subject to a specific indemnity under the SAPA) relating to: (i) certain liabilities which
the parties have agreed will be retained by GSK or Pfizer; (ii) any breach of their respective covenants or agreements under the SAPA or
the related ancillary agreements implementing the SAPA; or (iii) any breach of their respective representations and warranties given under
the SAPA or the related ancillary agreements implementing the SAPA as of the date of completion of the transaction. GSK Consumer
Healthcare (No. 2) has agreed to indemnify GSK and Pfizer in respect of losses (other than certain losses arising from tax matters, which
are subject to a specific indemnity under the SAPA) relating to: (i) liabilities which GSK Consumer Healthcare (No. 2) has agreed to
assume in connection with the transaction; (ii) liabilities resulting from the conduct of GSK Consumer Healthcare’s business other than
those liabilities that GSK has agreed to retain in connection with the transaction; and (iii) any breach of GSK Consumer Healthcare
(No.2)’s post-completion covenants or agreements under the SAPA or the related ancillary agreements implementing the SAPA.

In connection with the closing of the transaction on July 31, 2019, GSK, Pfizer, GSK Consumer Healthcare and GSK Consumer
Healthcare (No. 2) entered into a Shareholders’ Agreement in relation to the consumer healthcare joint venture (the “Shareholders’
Agreement”). Under the terms of the Shareholders’ Agreement, GSK has the right to appoint six directors to the board of the joint venture
and the right to appoint the chair of the board of the joint venture, and Pfizer has the right to appoint three directors to the board of the
joint venture. The Shareholders’ Agreement contains a list of customary reserved matters that may not be undertaken by the joint venture
without the prior approval of Pfizer.

The joint venture is permitted to make external borrowings up to an aggregate amount of £300 million, with external borrowings in excess
of this level requiring Pfizer’s consent. In the event that the joint venture requires additional funding, the funding will be requested from
GSK and Pfizer pro rata to their respective shareholdings. GSK and Pfizer will each be entitled to provide all (but not some only) of its
proportion of the requested funds, but neither party will be obliged to provide such funding. Dividends will be paid to the shareholders in
proportion to their respective interests in ordinary shares, and all readily available cash in excess of an agreed base cash figure of

£300 million will be distributed subject to the availability of distributable reserves, there being no outstanding shareholder loans and after
the payment of any dividends required to be paid on certain low-coupon preference shares held by GSK.

Under the Shareholders’ Agreement, each of GSK and Pfizer have agreed, subject to customary carve-outs, not to compete with the
business of the consumer healthcare joint venture for a period of three years after completion of the transaction and not to acquire a
business or interest in an entity in a competing business of the joint venture for six years after completion of the transaction.

At any time from completion of the transaction, GSK will have the right to require the listing and admission to trading of the shares of
GSK Consumer Healthcare on the London Stock Exchange, the Nasdaq Stock Market or the New York Stock Exchange (a “Separation”).
From five years from completion of the transaction, Pfizer will have the right to require a Separation. From 15 years after completion of
the transaction, GSK will be entitled to require Pfizer to sell to GSK its entire shareholding in the consumer healthcare joint venture at a
price reflecting the fully distributed public trading equity value of the joint venture at the relevant time. Neither GSK nor Pfizer may
transfer its shares in the joint venture without the other’s consent.

The Shareholders” Agreement will terminate immediately in the event that (i) only GSK or Pfizer remain holding shares in the joint
venture or (ii) the shares of the joint venture have been listed and admitted to trading on a recognized stock exchange.

Exchange controls

The information set forth under the heading “Exchange controls and other limitations affecting security holders” on page 288 of the GSK
Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

Taxation

The information set forth under the heading “Tax information for shareholders” on pages 292 to 293 of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is
incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 11.

Item 12.

12.A

12.B

12.C

12.D

Dividends and paying agents

Not applicable.

Statement by experts
Not applicable.

Documents on display

The information set forth under the heading “Documents on display” on page 291 of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein
by reference.

Subsidiary information

Not applicable.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The information set forth under the heading “Treasury policies” in Item 5.A of this annual report in Form 20-F is incorporated herein by
reference.

The information set forth under the heading:
. “Note 43 — Financial instruments and related disclosures” on pages 227 to 243

of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

Description of Securities Other than Equity Securities
Debt Securities

Not applicable.

Warrants and Rights
Not applicable.

Other Securities

Not applicable.

American Depositary Shares
Fees and charges payable by ADR holders

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. serves as the depositary (the “Depositary”) for GSK’s American Depositary Receipt (“ADR”) programme.
On July 29, 2019, GSK and the Depositary amended and restated the deposit agreement (the “Deposit Agreement”) between GSK, the
Depositary and owners and holders of ADRs. Pursuant to the Deposit Agreement, ADR holders may be required to pay various fees to the
Depositary, and the Depositary may refuse to provide any service for which a fee is assessed until the applicable fee has been paid. In
particular, the Depositary, under the terms of the Deposit Agreement, shall charge (i) a fee of $5.00 per 100 American Depositary Shares
(or portion thereof) for the issuance, delivery, reduction, cancellation or surrender (as the case may be) of American Depositary Shares
(“ADSs”), (ii) a fee of U.S.$0.05 or less per ADS held (A) upon which any cash distribution is made pursuant to the Deposit Agreement or
(B) in the case of an elective cash/stock dividend, upon which a cash distribution or an issuance of additional ADSs is made as a result of
such elective dividend, (iii) a fee for the distribution or sale of securities, such fee being in an amount equal to the fee for the execution
and delivery of ADSs referred to above which would have been charged as a result of the deposit of such securities but which securities or
the net cash proceeds from the sale thereof are instead distributed by the Depositary to ADR holders entitled thereto, (iv) an aggregate fee
of U.S.80.05 or less per ADS per calendar year (or portion thereof) for services performed by the Depositary in administering the ADRs
(which fee may be charged on a periodic basis during each calendar year and shall be assessed against ADR holders as of the record date
or record dates set by the Depositary during each calendar year and shall be payable at the sole discretion of the Depositary by billing such
Holders or by deducting such charge from one or more cash dividends or other cash distributions), and (v) a fee for the reimbursement of
such fees, charges and expenses as are incurred by the Depositary and/or any of its agents (including, without limitation, the agent or
agents of the Depositary (the “Custodian”) and expenses incurred on behalf of ADR holders in connection with compliance with foreign
exchange control regulations or any law or regulation relating to foreign investment) in connection with the servicing of the ordinary
shares or other Deposited Securities, the sale of securities (including, without limitation, Deposited Securities), the delivery of Deposited
Securities or otherwise in connection with the Depositary’s or its Custodian’s compliance with applicable law, rule or regulation (which
fees and charges shall be assessed on a proportionate basis against ADR holders as of the record date or dates set by the Depositary and
shall be payable at the sole discretion of the Depositary by billing such ADR holders or by deducting such charge from one or more cash
dividends or other cash distributions).
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Item 13.

Item 14.

Item 15.

GSK will pay other charges and out of pocket expenses of the Depositary and any agent of the Depositary (except the Custodian) as
specified in written agreements from time to time between GSK and the Depositary, except (i) stock transfer or other taxes and other
governmental charges (which are payable by ADR holders or persons depositing ordinary shares), (ii) SWIFT, cable, telex and facsimile
transmission and delivery charges incurred at the request of persons depositing, or ADR holders delivering ordinary shares, ADRs or
Deposited Securities (which are payable by such persons or ADR holders), (iii) transfer or registration fees for the registration or transfer
of Deposited Securities on any applicable register in connection with the deposit or withdrawal of Deposited Securities (which are payable
by persons depositing ordinary shares or ADR holders withdrawing Deposited Securities) and (iv) in connection with the conversion of
foreign currency into U.S. dollars, the Depositary shall deduct out of such foreign currency the fees, expenses and other charges charged
by it and/or its agent (which may be a division, branch or affiliate) so appointed in connection with such conversion. The Depositary
and/or its agent may act as principal for such conversion of foreign currency. Such charges may at any time and from time to time be
changed by agreement between GSK and the Depositary.

Direct and indirect payments by the Depositary

The Depositary anticipates reimbursing GSK for certain expenses incurred by GSK that are related to the establishment and maintenance
of the ADR program upon such terms and conditions as GSK and the Depositary may agree from time to time. The Depositary may make
available to GSK a set amount or a portion of the Depositary fees charged in respect of the ADR program or otherwise upon such terms
and conditions as GSK and the Depositary may agree from time to time. In 2019, The Bank of New York, the depositary under the Deposit
Agreement prior to the appointment of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. on July 29, 2019, made payments to GSK of approximately

$7.55 million,. The Depositary made a payment of approximately $3.34 million in 2020 which were related to expenses reimbursed and
fees collected in connection with services provided in 2019.

Under certain circumstances, including removal of the Depositary or termination of the ADR program by GSK, GSK is required to repay
certain amounts paid to GSK and to compensate the Depositary for payments made or services provided on behalf of GSK.

Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquencies

Not applicable.

Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable.

Controls and Procedures

The information set forth under the heading “Internal framework for control and risk management developments” on pages 97 to 98 of the
GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

US law and regulation

A number of provisions of US law and regulation apply to the company because our shares are quoted on the New York Stock Exchange
(the “NYSE”) in the form of American Depositary Shares.

NYSE rules

In general, the NYSE rules permit the company to follow UK corporate governance practices instead of those applied in the USA,
provided that we explain any significant variations. This explanation is contained in Item 16.G of this Form 20-F. NYSE rules that came
into effect in 2005 require us to file annual and interim written affirmations concerning the Audit & Risk Committee and our statement on
significant differences in corporate governance.

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Following a number of corporate and accounting scandals in the USA, Congress passed the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Sarbanes-Oxley
is a wide ranging piece of legislation concerned largely with financial reporting and corporate governance.

As recommended by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), the company has established a Disclosure Committee. The
Committee reports to the CEO, the CFO and to the Audit & Risk Committee. It is chaired by the Company Secretary and the members
consist of senior managers from finance, legal, corporate communications and investor relations.

External legal counsel, the external auditors and internal experts are invited to attend its meetings periodically. It has responsibility for
considering the materiality of information and, on a timely basis, determining the disclosure of that information. It has responsibility for
the timely filing of reports with the SEC and the formal review of the GSK Annual Report 2019 and Form 20-F. In 2019 the Committee
met 18 times.
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Sarbanes-Oxley requires that this annual report on Form 20-F contain a statement as to whether a member of our Audit & Risk Committee
(“ARC”) is an audit committee financial expert as defined by Sarbanes-Oxley. For a summary regarding the Board’s judgment on this
matter, please refer to Item 16.A below and to page 81 in the biography for “Judy Lewent,” and page 96 under “Judy Lewent, Audit &
Risk Committee Chair” of the GSK Annual Report 2019.

Additional disclosure requirements arise under section 302 and section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley in respect of disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting.

Section 302: Corporate responsibility for financial reports
Sarbanes-Oxley also introduced a requirement for the CEO and the CFO to complete formal certifications, confirming that:
« they have each reviewed the GSK Annual Report 2019 and Form 20-F;
*  based on their knowledge, the GSK Annual Report 2019 and Form 20-F contain no material misstatements or omissions;

*  based on their knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information fairly present, in all material respects, the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows as of the dates, and for the periods, presented in the GSK Annual Report
2019 and Form 20-F;

« they are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures that ensure that material information is
made known to them, and have evaluated the effectiveness of these controls and procedures as at the year-end, the results of such
evaluation being contained in the GSK Annual Report 2019 and Form 20-F;

+ they are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal control over financial reporting that provides reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

+ they have disclosed in the GSK Annual Report 2019 and Form 20-F any changes in internal controls over financial reporting during
the period covered by the GSK Annual Report 2019 and Form 20-F that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect
materially, the company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

+ they have disclosed, based on their most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the external auditors and
the ARC, all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to affect adversely the company’s ability to record, process, summarise and report financial information,
and any fraud (regardless of materiality) involving persons that have a significant role in the company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

The Group has carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of its management, including the CEO and CFO,
of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Group’s disclosure controls and procedures as at 31 December 2019.

There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the possibility of human
error and the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and procedures
can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives.

Based on the Group’s evaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded that, as at December 31, 2019, the disclosure controls and procedures
were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports that the Group files and submits
under the US Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarised and reported as and when required and
that it is accumulated and communicated to management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
disclosure.

The CEO and CFO completed these certifications on March 6, 2019.

Section 404: Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting.

In accordance with the requirements of section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley, the following report is provided by management in respect of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the US Securities Exchange Act of
1934):

* management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Group. Internal
control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS;
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+ management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013 Framework) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission;

* management has assessed the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, as at 31 December 2019 and has concluded
that such internal control over financial reporting was effective. In addition, there have been no changes in the Group’s internal
control over financial reporting during 2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect materially, the Group’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

*  Deloitte LLP, which has audited the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2019, has also
assessed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control over financial reporting under Auditing Standard No. 2201 of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Their audit report can be found below.

On July 31, 2019, the Company completed a transaction with Pfizer to combine their consumer healthcare businesses into a joint venture.
The Company is in the process of evaluating the existing controls and procedures of the Pfizer consumer healthcare business and
integrating the Pfizer consumer healthcare business into the Company’s internal control environment over financial reporting. In
accordance with SEC Staff guidance permitting a company to exclude an acquired business from management’s assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting for the year in which the acquisition is completed, the Company has excluded this
business from its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019. The Pfizer
consumer healthcare business combined represented 22% of the Company’s total assets as of December 31, 2019, and 4% of the
Company’s turnover for the year ended December 31, 2019.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of GlaxoSmithKline plc

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of GlaxoSmithKline plc and subsidiaries (the “Group”) as at 31 December 2019, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Group maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as at

31 December 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019, of the Group and our report dated 6 March 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion
on those financial statements.

As described in Section 404: Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting, management excluded from its assessment the
internal control over financial reporting of the Consumer Healthcare business acquired from Pfizer Inc. on 31 July 2019 (the “Pfizer Consumer
Healthcare business”), and whose financial statements constitute 22% of total assets and 4% of turnover of the consolidated financial statement amounts
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019. Accordingly, our audit did not include the internal control over financial reporting at the acquired Pfizer
Consumer Healthcare business.

Basis for Opinion

The Group’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying “Section 404: Management’s annual report on internal control over financial
reporting” included in Item 15 of the Form 20-F. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Group’s internal control over financial reporting
based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Group in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte LLP
London, United Kingdom
6 March 2020
Item 16.A Audit committee financial expert
The information set forth under the heading:

. “Membership” within the “Audit & Risk Committee Report” on page 96; and
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Item 16.B

Item 16.C

16C(a)

16C(b)

16C(c)

16C(d)

16C(e)

16C(f)

Item 16.D

Item 16.E

Item 16.F

Item 16.G

. “Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002” on page 296
of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.

Code of Ethics

The information set forth under the heading “Code of Conduct and reporting lines” on page 104 of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is
incorporated herein by reference. You will find the Code of Conduct at this link:
https://www.gsk.com/en-gb/about-us/policies-codes-and-standards/.

No waivers were granted from a provision of our code of ethics to an officer or person described in Item 16B(a) that relates to one or
more of the items set forth in Item 16B(b) in 2017.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Audit Fees for 2017 were paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and for 2018 and 2019 were paid to Deloitte LLP.
Audit Fees

The information set forth in the table under the heading “Fees payable to the company’s auditor and its associates” in the rows named
“Audit of parent company and consolidated financial statements”, “Audit of the company’s subsidiaries” and “Attestation under s.404
of Sarbanes-Oxley Act 2002” in Note 8 — “Operating profit” on page 184 of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by
reference.

Audit-Related Fees

The information set forth in the table under the heading “Fees payable to the company’s auditor and its associates” in the row named
“Other assurance services” in Note 8 — “Operating profit” on page 184 of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by
reference. The other assurance services provided by the auditor relate to agreed upon procedures and other assurance services outside of
statutory audit requirements.

Tax Fees

The information set forth in the table under the heading “Fees payable to the company’s auditor and its associates” in the rows named
“Taxation compliance” and “Taxation advice” in Note 8 — “Operating profit” on page 184 of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is
incorporated herein by reference.

All Other Fees

The information set forth in the table under the heading “Fees payable to the company’s auditor and its associates” in the row named
“All other services” in Note 8 — “Operating profit” on page 184 of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.
All other services provided by the auditor primarily related to advisory services for the year-ended 31 December 2019.

The information set forth under the heading “Non-audit services” on page 104 of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein
by reference.

Not applicable.

Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees

Not applicable.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
Not applicable.

Change in Registrant’s Certifying Accountant

Not applicable.

Corporate Governance
Comparison of New York Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Standards and GlaxoSmithKline plc’s corporate governance practice.

On November 4, 2003, the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) adopted new corporate governance standards. The application of
the NYSE’s standards is restricted for foreign companies, recognizing that they have to comply with domestic requirements. As a
foreign private issuer, GlaxoSmithKline plc (“GlaxoSmithKline” or the “Company”) must comply with the following NYSE standards:

1. the Company must satisfy the audit committee requirements of the SEC;
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2. the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) must promptly notify the NYSE in writing after any executive officer of the Company
becomes aware of any non-compliance with any applicable provisions of the NYSE’s corporate governance standards;

3. the Company must submit an annual affirmation to the NYSE affirming GlaxoSmithKline’s compliance with applicable NYSE
corporate governance standards, and submit interim affirmations to the NYSE notifying it of specified changes to the audit
committee or a change to the status of the Company as a foreign private issuer; and

4.  the Company must provide a brief description of any significant differences between its corporate governance practices and those
followed by US companies under the NYSE listing standards.

As a Company listed on the London Stock Exchange, GlaxoSmithKline is required to comply with the UK Listing Authority’s Listing
Rules (the “Listing Rules”) and to report non-compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code (the “UK Code).

The table below discloses differences between GlaxoSmithKline’s current domestic corporate governance practices, which are based on
the UK Code, and the NYSE corporate governance standards, applicable to US companies.

NYSE
Corporate Governance Standards

Director Independence (303A.01 of NYSE Manual)

Description of differences between GlaxoSmithKline’s governance practice and the
NYSE Corporate Governance
Standards

1. Listed companies must have a majority of independent directors (as

defined in Exchange Act Rule 10A-3 under the U.S Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)).
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GlaxoSmithKline complies with the equivalent domestic requirements
contained in the UK Corporate Governance Code (the “UK Code”), the
latest version of which was issued in July 2018.

The UK Code provides that the board of directors of GlaxoSmithKline
(the “Board”) and its committees should have a combination of skills,
experience and knowledge. Consideration should be given to the length
of the service of the Board and membership should be regularly
refreshed (Principle K). The Board should include an appropriate
combination of Executive and Non-Executive Directors and, in
particular, “independent” Non-Executive Directors (for the purpose of
the UK Code) such that no individual or small group of individuals can
dominate the Board’s decision taking. There should be a clear division of
responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and the executive
leadership of GlaxoSmithKline’s business (Principle G). At least half the
Board, excluding the Chairman, should comprise Non-Executive
Directors determined by the Board to be independent (Provision 11). The
roles of Chairman and Chief Executive should not be exercised by the
same individual. If, exceptionally, this is proposed by the Board, major
shareholders should be consulted ahead of appointment (Provision 9).

The current Chairman of the Board, Sir Jonathan Symonds, was
considered independent on appointment (Provision 9).

The Board considers that Vindi Banga, Dr Vivienne Cox, Lynn
Elsenhans, Dr Laurie Glimcher, Dr Jesse Goodman, Judy Lewent, and
Urs Rohner are independent for the purpose of the UK Code.

A majority of the Board members are independent Non-Executive
Directors and, in accordance with the requirements of the UK Code, the
Board has appointed one of the independent Non-Executive Directors as
Senior Independent Director to provide a sounding board for the
Chairman and act as an intermediary for other Directors and
shareholders where necessary (Provision 12). In January 2012 the Board
adopted a formal written role specification for the Senior Independent
Director.



NYSE Independence Tests (303A.02 of the NYSE Manual)

2. In order to tighten the definition of “independent director” for purposes of

these standards:

(a) (i) No director qualifies as “independent” unless the board of
directors affirmatively determines that the director has no
material relationship with the listed company (either directly or
as a partner, shareholder or officer of an organization that has a
relationship with the company).

(ii) In addition, in affirmatively determining the independence
of any director who will serve on the compensation committee
of the listed company’s board of directors, the board of directors
must consider all factors specifically relevant to determining
whether a director has a relationship to the listed company
which is material to that director’s ability to be independent
from management in connection with the duties of a
compensation committee member, including, but not limited to:

(A) the source of compensation of such director, including any consulting,
advisory or other compensatory fee paid by the listed company to such
director; and

(B) whether such director is affiliated with the listed company, a
subsidiary of the listed company or an affiliate of a subsidiary of the listed
company.

(b) In addition, a director is not independent if:

(i) The director is, or has been within the last three years, an
employee of the listed company, or an immediate family
member is, or has been within the last three years, an
executive officer, of the listed company.

(i1) The director has received, or has an immediate family
member who has received, during any twelve-month period
within the last three years, more than $120,000 in direct
compensation from the listed company, other than director
and committee fees and pension or other forms of deferred
compensation for prior service (provided such
compensation is not contingent in any way on continued
service).

(ii1) (A) The director is a current partner or employee of a firm that is
the listed company’s internal or external auditor; (B) the director
has an immediate family member who is a current partner of
such a firm; (C) the director has an immediate family member
who is a current employee of such a firm and personally works
on the listed company’s audit; or (D) the director or an
immediate family member was within the last three years a
partner or employee of such a firm and personally worked on
the listed company’s audit within that time.

(iv) The director or an immediate family member is, or has been
within the last three years, employed as an executive officer of
another company where any of the listed company’s present
executive officers at the same time serves or served on that
company’s compensation committee.

(v) The director is a current employee, or an immediate family
member is a current executive officer, of a company that has
made payments to, or received payments from, the listed
company for property or services in an amount which, in any of
the last three fiscal years, exceeds the greater of $1 million, or
2% of such other company’s consolidated gross revenues.

(For the purposes of these standards “executive officer” is defined to have
the meaning specified for the term “officer” in Rule 16a-1(f) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the “Exchange Act”).
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GlaxoSmithKline complies with the corresponding domestic
requirements contained in the UK Code, which sets out the principles for
GlaxoSmithKline to determine whether a director is independent.

The Board is required to identify each Non-Executive Director it
considers to be independent. Circumstances which are likely to impair,
or could appear to impair a non-executive director’s independence
include, but are not limited to, whether a director:

(a) is or has been an employee of GlaxoSmithKline within the last
five years;

(b) has, or has had within the last three years, a material business
relationship with GlaxoSmithKline either directly or as a
partner, shareholder, director or senior employee of a body that

has such a relationship with GlaxoSmithKline;

has received or receives additional remuneration from
GlaxoSmithKline apart from a director’s fee, participates in
GlaxoSmithKline’s share option or a performance-related pay
scheme, or is a member of GlaxoSmithKline’s pension
scheme;

(©

(d)

has close family ties with any of GlaxoSmithKline’s advisers,
directors or senior employees;

(e)

holds cross-directorships or has significant links with other
directors through involvement in other companies or bodies;

®
(2

represents a significant shareholder; or

has served on the Board for more than nine years from the date
of his or her first appointment.

Where any of these or other relevant circumstances apply, and the Board
nonetheless considers that the non-executive director is independent, a
clear explanation should be provided (Provision 10).

The Board considers all its Non-Executive Directors to be independent
in character and judgment and has concluded that all its Non-Executive
Directors are independent within the meaning of the UK Code.

The Chairman satisfied the independence criteria on appointment in
accordance with the UK Code (Provision 9). The Chairman should not
remain in post beyond nine years from the date of their first appointment
to the Board. To facilitate effective succession planning and the
development of a diverse board, this period can be extended for a limited
time (Provision 19).

GlaxoSmithKline complied with the UK Code requirement, and its
Articles of Association, that all Directors should be subject to annual
election or re-election by shareholders (Provision 18) at its Annual
General Meeting in 2019 and intends to comply with this requirement at
its 2020 Annual General Meeting.

The UK Code also provides that the Board should undertake a formal
and rigorous annual evaluation of its own performance and that of its
committees, the Chairman and individual Directors (Principle L and
Provision 21). Annual evaluation of the Board should consider the
Board’s composition, diversity and how effectively members work
together to achieve objectives. Individual evaluation should demonstrate
whether each director continues to contribute effectively (Principle L).
GlaxoSmithKline has complied with this requirement. In addition, the
annual evaluation of the Board should be externally facilitated at least
every three years and a statement should be made as to whether an
external facilitator has any other connection with GlaxoSmithKline and
the external facilitator should be identified in the Annual Report
(Provision 21). Internally facilitated evaluations were conducted in 2015,
2016 and 2018. GlaxoSmithKline conducted an externally facilitated
evaluation in 2014 and 2017 and is currently in the process of
undertaking one for 2019.



Executive Sessions (303A.03 of the NYSE Manual)

The Financial Reporting Council’s Guidance on Board Effectiveness
(“Guidance”) provides that all Directors should receive an induction on
joining the Board and should regularly update and refresh their skills and
knowledge. The Chairman should ensure that new Directors receive a
full, formal and tailored induction on joining the Board (Guidance, para
61, 75-76 & 81). The Chairman should act on the results of the annual
evaluation by recognising the strengths and addressing any weaknesses
of the Board. Each Director should engage with this process and take
appropriate action when development needs have been identified
(Provision 22).

Meetings

. To empower non-management directors to serve as a more effective check
on management, the non-management directors of each listed company
must meet at regularly scheduled executive sessions without management.

Nominating / Corporate Governance Committee (303A.04 of the NYSE Manual)

GlaxoSmithKline complies with the equivalent domestic requirements
set out in the UK Code, which requires the Chairman of
GlaxoSmithKline to hold meetings with the Non-Executive Directors
without executives present (Provision 13). The Non-Executive Directors,
led by the Senior Independent Director, also meet at least annually
without the Chairman present to appraise the Chairman’s performance
and on other occasions as necessary (Provision 12).

The UK Code provides that the Chairman should promote a culture of
openness and debate by facilitating the effective contribution of all
Non-Executive Directors in particular, and constructive board relations
between Executive and Non-Executive Directors (Principle F). In
addition, the Chairman should seek regular engagement with major
shareholders in order to understand their views on governance and
performance against the strategy. The Chairman is responsible for
ensuring that the Board as a whole has a clear understanding of the view
of shareholders and stakeholders (Principle D and Provision 3). The
Board should also understand the views of GlaxoSmithKline’s other key
stakeholders and keep engagement mechanisms under review so that
they remain effective (Provision 5).

Nominations C ittee

. (a) Listed companies must have a nominating/corporate governance
committee composed entirely of independent directors.

(b) The nominating/corporate governance committee must have a written
charter that addresses:

(1) the committee’s purpose and responsibilities — which, at minimum,
must be to: identify individuals qualified to become board members,
consistent with criteria approved by the board, and to select, or to
recommend that the board select, the director nominees for the next

annual meeting of shareholders; develop and recommend to the board

a set of corporate governance guidelines applicable to the
corporation; and oversee the evaluation of the board and
management; and

(i1) an annual performance evaluation of the committee.
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GlaxoSmithKline complies with the corresponding domestic
requirements set out in the UK Code, which requires GlaxoSmithKline
to have a Nominations Committee that is comprised of a majority of
independent Non-Executive Directors (Provision 17). In practice, the
current GSK Nominations Committee is comprised entirely of
independent directors within the meaning of the UK Code. The
Chairman of the Board should not chair the committee when it is dealing
with the appointment of their successor (Provision 17).

GlaxoSmithKline’s Nominations Committee has written terms of
reference in accordance with the UK Code. The terms of reference are
available on GlaxoSmithKline’s website and explain the Nominations
Committee’s role and the authority delegated to it by the Board
(Guidance, para 63). The Nominations Committee reviews the structure,
size, diversity (including gender diversity), and composition of the
Board (evaluating the balance of skills, experience, independence and
knowledge on the Board), leads the process for the appointment of
members to the Board and the Corporate Executive Team (the “CET”),
and makes recommendations to the Board as appropriate. The
Nominations Committee also monitors the planning of succession for the
Board and Senior Management (Provision 17).
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The terms and conditions of appointment of the Chairman and
Non-Executive Directors are available for inspection (Guidance, para
96).

The UK Code requires that GlaxoSmithKline’s Annual Report describes
the work of the Nominations Committee in discharging its duties,
including the process it has used in relation to Board appointments, its
approach to succession planning and how both support developing a
diverse pipeline (Provision 23). An explanation should be given if
neither an external search consultancy nor open advertising has been
used in the appointment of a chairman or a non-executive director.
Where an external search consultancy has been used, it should be
identified in the Annual Report and a statement should be made as to
whether it has any other connection with GlaxoSmithKline or individual
directors (Provision 20). This section should include a description of the
process used in relation to appointments, how board evaluation has been
conducted, the Board’s policy on diversity and inclusion, including
gender, any measurable objectives that it has set for implementing the
policy, and progress on achieving the objectives, and the gender balance
of those in the senior management and their direct reports (Provision 23).
GlaxoSmithKline has complied with this requirement under the 2018
UK Code.

As described above, there is an annual Board evaluation exercise, which
also includes evaluation of the Board’s committees and individual
Directors (Principle L).

The Board is responsible for regularly reviewing its corporate
governance standards and practices. The Company Secretary oversees
corporate governance matters for the Group. The Company Secretary is
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman on all corporate
governance matters (Provision 16). Domestic requirements do not
mandate GlaxoSmithKline to establish a distinct corporate governance
committee.



Compensation Committee (303A.05 of the NYSE Manual)

Remuneration Committee

. (a) Listed companies must have a compensation committee composed

entirely of independent directors. Compensation committee members must

satisfy the additional independence requirements specific to compensation
committee membership set forth in Section 2(a)(ii) in the Section titled
“Independence Tests” above.

(b) The compensation committee must have a written charter that
addresses:

(i) the committee’s purpose and responsibilities — which, at a minimum,
must be to have direct responsibility to:

(A) review and approve corporate goals and objectives relevant to CEO
compensation, evaluate the CEO’s performance in light of those
goals and objectives, and, either as a committee or together with the
other independent directors (as directed by the board), determine and
approve the CEO’s compensation level based on this evaluation;

(B) make recommendations to the board with respect to non-CEO
executive officer compensation, and incentive-compensation and
equity-based plans that are subject to board approval; and

(C) prepare the disclosure required by Item 407(e)(5) of Regulation S-K
under the Exchange Act;

(i1) an annual performance evaluation of the compensation committee.

(i) The rights and responsibilities of the compensation committee set
forth in Section 303A.05(c).

(c)(i) The compensation committee may, in its sole discretion, retain or
obtain the advice of a compensation consultant, independent legal counsel
or other adviser.

(i1) The compensation committee shall be directly responsible for the
appointment, compensation and oversight of the work of any
compensation consultant, independent legal counsel or other adviser
retained by the compensation committee.

(iii) The listed company must provide for appropriate funding, as
determined by the compensation committee, for payment of reasonable
compensation to a compensation consultant, independent legal counsel or
any other adviser retained by the compensation committee.

(iv) The compensation committee may select a compensation consultant,
legal counsel or other adviser to the compensation committee only after
taking into consideration, all factors relevant to that person’s
independence from management, including the following:

(A) The provision of other services to the listed company by the
person that employs the compensation consultant, legal counsel
or other adviser;

(B) The amount of fees received from the listed company by the
person that employs the compensation consultant, legal counsel
or other adviser, as a percentage of the total revenue of the
person that employs the compensation consultant, legal counsel
or other adviser;

(C) The policies and procedures of the person that employs the
compensation consultant, legal counsel or other adviser that are
designed to prevent conflicts of interest;

(D) Any business or personal relationship of the compensation
consultant, legal counsel or other adviser with a member of the
compensation committee;
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GlaxoSmithKline complies with the equivalent domestic requirements
set out in the UK Code, which requires GlaxoSmithKline to have a
Remuneration Committee comprising at least three independent
Non-Executive Directors (Provision 32). In practice, the current GSK
Remuneration Committee is comprised entirely of independent directors
within the meaning of the UK Code.

GlaxoSmithKline’s Remuneration Committee has written terms of
reference in accordance with the UK Code, which explain the
Remuneration Committee’s role and the authority delegated to it by the
Board and are available on GlaxoSmithKline’s website (Guidance, para
63). The Remuneration Committee determines the terms of service and
remuneration of the Executive Directors and members of the CET and,
with the assistance of external independent advisers, it evaluates and
makes recommendations to the Board on overall executive remuneration
policy (the Chairman and the CEO are responsible for evaluating and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
Non-Executive Directors). It should review workforce remuneration and
related policies and the alignment of incentives and rewards with culture,
taking these into account when setting the policy for executive director
remuneration (Provision 33). Where remuneration consultants are
appointed, they should be identified in the Annual Report and a
statement should be made as to whether they have any other connection
with GlaxoSmithKline or individual directors (Provision 35).

The UK Code provides that the Remuneration Committee:

(a) should take care to recognise and manage conflicts of interest
when receiving views from Executive Directors or senior
management, or consulting the Chief Executive about its
proposals (Provision 35 & Guidance, para 129) and should
have delegated responsibility for setting remuneration for all
Executive Directors and the Chairman, including pension
rights and any compensation payments (Provision 33);

should recommend and monitor the level and structure of
remuneration for senior management (Provision 33);

(b)

(c) should consider the pension consequences and associated costs
of basic salary increases and any other changes in pensionable
remuneration, or contribution rates, particularly for Directors

close to retirement (Provision 38);

(d) should ensure that compensation commitments in Directors’
terms of appointment do not reward poor performance
(Provision 39). Remuneration schemes should promote long-
term shareholdings by Executive Directors that support
alignment with long-term shareholder interests. A formal
policy should be developed for post-employment shareholding
requirements encompassing both unvested and vested shares
(Provision 36). Remuneration schemes and policies should
enable the use of discretion to override formulaic outcomes
and include provisions that would enable GlaxoSmithKline to
recover and/or withhold sums or share awards specifying the
circumstances in which it would be appropriate to do so
(Provision 37); and

(e) when determining Executive Director remuneration policy and
practices, should address the following: (i) remuneration
arrangements are transparent and promote effective
engagement with shareholders and the workforce; (ii) the
operation and rationale of remuneration structures are easy to

understand; (iii)



(E) Any stock of the listed company owned by the compensation
consultant, legal counsel or other adviser; and

(F) Any business or personal relationship of the compensation

consultant, legal counsel, other adviser or the person employing

the adviser with an executive officer of the listed company.
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remuneration arrangements identify and mitigate reputational
and other risks from excessive rewards and behavioural risks
that can arise from target-based incentive plans; (iv) the range
of possible values of rewards to individual Directors and any
other limits or discretions are identified and explained at the
time of approving the policy; (v) the link between individual
awards, the delivery of strategy and the long-term performance
of GlaxoSmithKline should be clear; and (vi) incentive
schemes should drive behaviours consistent with company
purpose, values and strategy (Provision 40).

The UK Code requires that remuneration of Non-Executive Directors
should not include share options or other performance-related elements,
but should reflect the time commitment and responsibilities of the role
(Provision 34).

The UK Code requires that notice or contract periods should be one year
or less (Provision 39).

As described above, there is an annual Board evaluation exercise, which
also includes evaluation of the Board’s committees (Principle L).



Audit Committee (303A.06 and 303A.07 of the NYSE Manual)

Audit & Risk Committee

6. Listed companies must have an audit committee that satisfies the
requirements of Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act.
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GlaxoSmithKline complies with equivalent domestic requirements set
out in the UK Code, which require that GlaxoSmithKline has an Audit &
Risk Committee that is comprised of at least three independent
Non-Executive Directors (Provision 24). GlaxoSmithKline considers all
members of the Audit & Risk Committee to be independent. The Board
has also satisfied itself, in line with the UK Code, that at least one
member of the Audit & Risk Committee has recent and relevant
financial experience and that the Audit & Risk Committee as a whole
has competence relevant to the sector in which GlaxoSmithKline
operates (Provision 24).

Under the UK Code, the main roles and responsibilities of the Audit &
Risk Committee include:

(a) monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of
GlaxoSmithKline and any formal announcements relating to
GlaxoSmithKline’s financial performance, reviewing
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them
(Provision 25);

(b) providing advice (where requested by the Board) on whether
the Annual Report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair,
balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess GlaxoSmithKline’s
position and performance, business model and strategy
(Provision 25);

(c) reviewing GlaxoSmithKline’s internal financial controls and
internal control and risk management systems (Provision 25);

(d) monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of
GlaxoSmithKline’s internal audit function (Provision 25);

(e) conducting the tender process and make recommendations to
the Board, regarding the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the external auditor and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor
(Provision 25);

(f) reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process,
taking into consideration relevant UK professional and
regulatory requirements (Provision 25);

(g) developing and implementing policy on the engagement of
external auditors to supply non-audit services, ensuring there is
prior approval of non-audit services, considering the impact
this may have on independence, taking into account the
relevant regulations and ethical guidance regarding the
provision of non-audit services by the external audit firm, and
to report to the Board on any improvement or action required
(Provision 25); and

(h) reporting to the Board on how it has discharged its
responsibilities (Provision 25).

The Audit & Risk Committee is also the means by which the Board
reviews arrangements by which the staff of GlaxoSmithKline may, in
confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of
financial reporting or other matters (Provision 6).

GlaxoSmithKline’s Audit & Risk Committee meets the requirements of
Rule 10A-3 in that:

+ each member of the Audit & Risk Committee is deemed to be
“independent” in accordance with the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended, and applicable NYSE and UK
requirements;



+ the Audit & Risk Committee, amongst other things, is
responsible for recommending the appointment, compensation,
maintenance of independence and oversight of the work of any
registered public accounting firm engaged for the purpose of
preparing or issuing an audit report or performing other audit,
review or attest services for GlaxoSmithKline, and each such
accounting firm must report directly to the Audit & Risk
Committee;

+ the Audit & Risk Committee has established a procedure for
the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints regarding
accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters,
and for the confidential, anonymous submission by employees
of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing
matters;

+ the Audit & Risk Committee has the authority to engage
independent counsel and other advisors as it determines
necessary to carry out its duties; and

* GlaxoSmithKline must provide appropriate funding for the
Audit & Risk Committee.

The Board has determined that Judy Lewent has the appropriate
qualifications and background to be an “Audit Committee Financial
Expert” as defined in rules promulgated by the SEC under the Exchange
Act.

7. (a) The audit committee must have a minimum of three members. All

audit committee members must satisfy the requirements for independence
set out in Section 303A.02 and, in the absence of an applicable exemption,
Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Exchange Act.

(b) The audit committee must have a written charter that addresses:

(i) the committee’s purpose — which, at minimum, must be to:

(A) assist board oversight of (1) the integrity of the listed
company’s financial statements, (2) the listed company’s
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, (3) the
independent auditor’s qualifications and independence, and
(4) the performance of the listed company’s internal audit
function and independent auditors (if the listed company
does not yet have an internal audit function because it is
availing itself of a transition period pursuant to
Section 303A.00, the charter must provide that the
committee will assist board oversight of the design and
implementation of the internal audit function); and

(B) prepare disclosure required by Item 407(d)(3)(i) of
Regulation S-K (regarding the audit committee’s review
and discussion of financial statements and certain other
audit matters with management and auditors);

(i1) an annual performance evaluation of the audit committee; and

(iii) the duties and responsibilities of the audit committee — which, at
a minimum, must include those set out in Rule 10A-3(b)(2), (3),
(4) and (5) of the Exchange Act as well as to:
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GlaxoSmithKline complies with the equivalent domestic requirements
set out in the UK Code, which requires that the Audit & Risk Committee
should be comprised of a minimum of three independent Non-Executive
Directors (Provision 24).

GlaxoSmithKline’s Audit & Risk Committee has written terms of
reference in accordance with the UK Code. The terms of reference are
available on GlaxoSmithKline’s website and explain the Audit & Risk
Committee’s role and the authority delegated to it by the Board
(Guidance, para 63).

The Audit & Risk Committee’s main responsibilities include monitoring
and reviewing the financial reporting process, the system of internal
control and risk management, overseeing the identification and
management of risks, the external and internal process and for
monitoring compliance with laws, regulations and ethical codes of
practice, including review throughout the year of integrated assurance
reports comprising business unit and associated consolidated internal
audit reports. Where requested by the Board, the Audit & Risk
Committee should provide advice on the following areas which the
directors as a whole are required to explain in the Annual Report:

* whether the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is
fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess GlaxoSmithKline’s
performance, business model and strategy (Principle M &
Provision 27); and

» when taking into account GlaxoSmithKline’s position and
principal risks, how the prospects of GlaxoSmithKline have
been assessed, over what period and why the period is
regarded as appropriate. The Audit & Risk Committee should
also advise whether there is a reasonable expectation that
GlaxoSmithKline will be able to



(A) at least annually, obtain and review a report by the
independent auditor describing: the firm’s internal quality-
control procedures; any material issues raised by the most recent
internal quality-control review, or peer review, of the firm, or by
any inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional
authorities, within the preceding five years, respecting one or
more independent audits carried out by the firm, and any steps
taken to deal with any such issues; and (to assess the auditor’s
independence) all relationships between the independent auditor
and the listed company;

(B) meet to review and discuss the listed company’s annual
audited financial statements and quarterly financial statements
with management and the independent auditor, including
reviewing the listed company’s specific disclosures under
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations™;

(C) discuss the listed company’s earnings press releases, as well
as financial information and earnings guidance provided to
analysts and rating agencies;

(D) discuss policies with respect to risk assessment and risk
management,

(E) meet separately, periodically, with management, with
internal auditors (or other personnel responsible for the internal
audit function) and with independent auditors;

(F) review with the independent auditor any audit problems or
difficulties and management’s response;

(G) set clear hiring policies for employees or former employees
of the independent auditors; and

(H) report regularly to the board of directors.

(c) Each listed company must have an internal audit function.

Shareholder Approval of Equity Compensation Plans (303A.08 of the NYSE Manual)

continue in operation and meet its liabilities when falling due
over the said period, drawing attention to any qualifications or
assumptions as necessary prior to the directors making their
statement in the annual report (Provision 31).

The UK Code requires that a separate section of the Annual Report
should describe the work of the Audit & Risk Committee in discharging
its responsibilities (Provision 26).

The Annual Report should include:

 the significant issues that the committee considered in relation
to the financial statements, and how these issues were
addressed (Provision 26);

+ an explanation of how it has assessed the effectiveness of the
external audit process and the approach taken to the
appointment or reappointment of the external auditor,
information on the length of tenure of the current audit firm
and when a tender was last conducted and advance notice of
any retendering plans (Provision 26); and

+ if the external auditor provides non-audit services, an
explanation of how auditor objectivity and independence are
safeguarded (Provision 26).

Please see section 6 above for a description of the main role and
responsibilities of the Audit & Risk Committee.

In accordance with the UK Code (Provision 25), the Audit & Risk
Committee monitors and reviews the effectiveness of
GlaxoSmithKline’s internal audit function.

. Shareholders must be given the opportunity to vote on all equity-
compensation plans and material revisions thereto, except for employment
inducement awards, certain grants, plans and amendments in the context
of mergers and acquisitions, and certain specific types of plans. However,
these exempt grants, plans and amendments may be made only with the
approval of the listed company’s independent compensation committee or
the approval of a majority of the listed company’s independent directors.
Companies must also notify the Exchange in writing when they use one of
these exemptions.

Corporate Governance Guidelines (303A.09 of the NYSE Manual)

GlaxoSmithKline complies with corresponding domestic requirements in
the Listing Rules, which mandate that GlaxoSmithKline must seek
shareholder approval for employee share schemes and significant
changes to existing schemes, save in circumstances permitted by the
Listing Rules (Listing Rule 9.4). Please see section 5(d) above.

. Listed companies must adopt and disclose corporate governance
guidelines.
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GlaxoSmithKline complies with corresponding domestic requirements in
the Listing Rules and the UK Code, which require that GlaxoSmithKline
includes an explanation in its Annual Report of how it complies with the
principles of the UK Code and a confirmation that it complies with the
UK Code’s provisions or, where it does not, provide an explanation of
how and why it does not comply (Listing Rule 9.8.6). In addition,
GlaxoSmithKline is required to make certain mandatory corporate
governance statements in the Directors’ Report in accordance with the
UK Listing Authority’s Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules,
DTR 7. GlaxoSmithKline will comply with these requirements in its
2019 Annual Report.



Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (303A.10 of the NYSE Manual)

Code of Conduct

10. Listed companies must adopt and disclose a code of business conduct and ethics
for directors, officers and employees, and promptly disclose any waivers of the
code for directors or executive officers.

Foreign Private Issuer Disclosure (303A.11 of the NYSE Manual)

GlaxoSmithKline’s Code of Conduct for all employees,
including the CEO, CFO and other senior financial officers,
is available on GlaxoSmithKline’s website.

11. Listed foreign private issuers must disclose any significant ways in which their

corporate governance practices differ from those followed by domestic companies

under NYSE listing standards.

Listed foreign private issuers are required to provide this disclosure in the English

language and in their annual reports filed on Form 20-F.

12. Certification Requirements (303A.12 of the NYSE Manual)

GlaxoSmithKline fulfils this requirement by publishing this
document.

GlaxoSmithKline fulfils this requirement by including this
disclosure in its Annual Report on Form 20-F.

Each listed company and its CEO must file certain annual and interim
certifications regarding compliance with the corporate governance requirements
and certain other matters (although foreign private issuers are only required to
comply with a subset of these requirements).

Item 16.H

PART III
Item 17

Item 18

Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.

Financial Statements

Not applicable.

Financial Statements

The information set forth under the headings:

“Consolidated income statement” on page 166;

GlaxoSmithKline fulfils this requirement by filing the
required certifications each year.

“Consolidated statement of comprehensive income” on page 166;

“Consolidated balance sheet” on page 167;
“Consolidated statement of changes in equity” on page 168;

“Consolidated cash flow statement” on page 169; and

“Notes to the financial statements” on pages 170 to 251 (excluding the column titled “2017 (revised)” in the table
“Pharmaceuticals turnover by therapeutic area” in “Note 6 — Turnover and segment information” on page 180)

of the GSK Annual Report 2019 is incorporated herein by reference.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of GlaxoSmithKline plc

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of GlaxoSmithKline plc and subsidiaries (the “Group”) as at 31 December 2019 and
2018, the related consolidated income statements, statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity, and cash flow statements, for
each of the two years in the period ended 31 December 2019, and the related notes, included in Exhibit 15.3 on pages 166 to 251 (collectively referred
to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended 31 December 2019, in
conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Group’s
internal control over financial reporting as at 31 December 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework

(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated 6 March, expressed an unqualified
opinion on the Group’s internal control over financial reporting.

Change in Accounting Policies

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, effective 1 January 2019, the Group adopted IFRS 16 Leases, using the modified retrospective
approach.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Group’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Group’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Group in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and

(2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our
opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on
the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Valuation of the ViiV Healthcare Shionogi contingent consideration liability
Balances impacted: Contingent consideration liabilities and Other operating expense
Refer to Notes 3, 28, 32 and 43 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

In recent years the Group has completed a number of significant transactions which resulted in the recognition of material contingent consideration
liabilities, which are a key source of estimation uncertainty. The most significant of these liabilities was the ViiV Healthcare Shionogi Contingent
Consideration Liability (“ViiV CCL”).

The Group completed the acquisition of the remaining 50% interest in the Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare joint venture in 2012. Upon completion, the Group
recognised a contingent consideration liability for the fair value of the expected future payments to be made to Shionogi. As at 31 December 2019, the
liability was valued at £5,103 million.
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We identified the ViiV CCL as a critical audit matter because of the significant estimates and assumptions management makes related to the sales
forecasts of dolutegravir-based regimens used to value the ViiV CCL. Such forecasts are based on management’s assessment of the expected launch
dates, the ability to shift market practice and prescriber behaviour towards 2-drug regimens, and subsequent sales volumes and pricing. The forecasts
also required significant audit effort to perform appropriate audit procedures to challenge and evaluate the reasonableness of those forecasts.

The contingent consideration liabilities, including the ViiV CCL, are disclosed as a key source of estimation uncertainty in note 3 of the Group financial
statements with further disclosures provided in notes 28, 32 and 43. The matter is also discussed in the Audit & Risk Committee report within the
Corporate Governance section of the Annual Report.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

We performed the following audit procedures, amongst others, related to the sales forecasts:

. Challenged management’s evidence through enquiries of key individuals from the senior leadership team, commercial strategy team and
key personnel involved in the budgeting and forecasting process, and the obtaining of objective evidence with respect to key inputs and
assumptions;

. Challenged the United States (US) volume assumptions made by management to estimate sales forecasts. This involves benchmarking

market share data against external data, such as total prescription volumes and new patient prescription volumes, in order to assess for any
sources of contradictory evidence;

. Challenged the reasonableness of US pricing assumptions made by management, by comparing the forecasted Returns and Rebates
accruals rate by product against the current rate, and assessing the forecasted Returns and Rebates against comparable products and
expected changes in payer policy;

. Reviewed the results of clinical studies undertaken in the year by management and key competitors in order to assess whether these are
corroborative or contradictory to management’s assumptions on dolutegravir sales forecasts in the US;

. Benchmarked management’s forecasts against analysts reports and developed a range of possible outcomes using analyst forecast growth
for ViiV Healthcare with a consensus of 15 analysts including Bank of America Merrill Lynch, Morgan Stanley, Barclays, Credit Suisse,
Jefferies and Redburn; and

. Tested the controls over the key inputs and assumptions used in the valuation of the contingent consideration liability, including
management review controls over the sales forecasts of dolutegravir-based regimens.

Valuation of US Returns and Rebates (RAR) accruals
Balances impacted: Turnover and Trade and other payables
Refer to Notes 3 and 28 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

In the US the Group sells to customers under various commercial and government mandated contracts and reimbursement arrangements that include
rebates, chargebacks and a right of return for certain pharmaceutical products. As such, revenue recognition reflects gross-to-net sales adjustments.
These adjustments are known as the Returns and Rebates (“RAR”) accruals and are a source of significant estimation uncertainty which could have a
material impact on reported revenue. The three most significant payer channels (also referred to as buying groups) within the RAR accrual are managed
healthcare organisations, Medicaid and Medicare Part D.

The two main causes of significant estimation uncertainty are:

. The utilisation rate, which is the portion of total sales that will be made into each payer channel, estimated by management in recording
the accruals. The utilisation assumption is the most challenging of the key assumptions used to derive the accrual given that it is influenced
by market demand and other factors outside the control of the Group; and

. The time lag between the point of sale and the point at which exact rebate amounts are known to the Group upon receipt of a claim. Those
payer channels with the longest time lag result in a greater accrued period, and therefore, a greater level of estimation uncertainty in
estimating the period end accrual.

The level of estimation uncertainty is also impacted by significant shifts in channel mix often driven by changes in the competitive landscape, including
competitor and generic product launches.
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In the US Pharmaceuticals business in 2019 £11,069 million of RAR deductions were made to gross revenue of £18,471 million, resulting in net
revenue of £7,402 million. The balance sheet accrual at 31 December 2019 for the combined US Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines businesses amounted to
£4,200 million.

US Pharmaceuticals returns and rebates are disclosed as a key accounting estimate in note 3 of the Group financial statements with further disclosures
provided in note 28. The matter is also discussed in the Audit & Risk Committee report within the Corporate Governance section of the Annual Report.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
We performed the following audit procedures, amongst others, related to management estimates in the RAR accruals:
. Assessed the historical accuracy of management’s estimates against actual outcomes to inform our assessment of the current year accrual;

. Performed substantive analytical procedures by developing an independent expectation of the accrual balance for each of the key
segments, based on historical claims received adjusted to reflect market changes in the period including an assessment of the time lag
between the initial point of sale and the claim receipt. We then compared this independent expectation to those of management to evaluate
the appropriateness of management’s ending accrual position;

. Recalculated the accrual recognised to determine that it is consistent with the assumptions determined through management’s process;

. Selected a sample of individual utilisation rates giving particular focus to products which have experienced increased generic competition
in the current year. We challenged and obtained support for the utilisation rates selected, which included comparison to historical
utilisation rates;

. Challenged the appropriateness of period-end adjustments to the liability made as part of the ongoing review of the estimated accrual. The
impact of these market events on the year end accrual was considered and reflected as part of our overall audit approach; and

. Tested the key controls over the estimation of RAR accruals including the controls associated with the bi-annual forecasting of utilisation
rates process and the month-end accrual review controls.

Valuation of intangible assets recognised on the Tesaro and Pfizer transactions
Balances impacted: Other intangible assets and Cost of sales

Refer to Notes 20 and 40 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

During the year, the Group recognised £15,449 million of other intangible assets (including licences, patents, trademarks and brand names, but
excluding goodwill) on the acquisitions of Tesaro Inc. and the Pfizer Consumer Healthcare business.

The determination of the fair value of the acquired intangible assets relies on certain management assumptions and estimates of future trading
performance, including the probability of success of pipeline products and product innovations, likelihood of regulatory approval, future sales growth
rates and profit margin levels, and discount rates.

We identified the valuation of other intangible assets recognised on these acquisitions as a critical audit matter because of the inherent judgements
involved in estimating future cash flows and auditing such estimates required extensive audit effort to challenge and evaluate the reasonableness of
those forecasts. We also engaged our fair value specialists to assess the discount rates and valuation methodologies applied.

The disclosures relating to other intangible assets are included in note 20 and 40 of the Group financial statements. The matter is also discussed in the
Audit & Risk Committee report within the Corporate Governance section of the Annual Report.
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How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

We performed the following audit procedures, amongst others, related to the probability of success of pipeline products and product innovations,
likelihood of regulatory approval, future sales growth rates and profit margin levels, and discount rates used in the valuation of the acquired intangible
assets:

. Met with the key individuals from the senior leadership team, product category leads and key personnel involved in the forecasting process
to discuss and evaluate management’s evidence to support future sales growth rates and profitability assumptions;

. Challenged the business assumptions applied by management in estimating sales forecasts, including benchmarking of sales forecasts and
product compound annual growth rates to external data for the specific market segment. This included independent market research of
expected category growth and assessment of any sources of contradictory evidence;

. Evaluated the probability of success factors related to regulatory approval applied to pipeline products to calculate forecast sales to be
derived from future commercialised assets;

. Assessed the historical accuracy of management’s forecasts including consumption data and estimates of new sales from innovation;

. Compared the forecast sales to the Plan data (asset by asset internal forecasts) approved by senior management and the Board of directors;

. With the assistance of our fair value specialists, assessed the reasonableness of valuation-specific assumptions used by management,

including discount rate and terminal growth rate, and whether these assumptions were consistent with how a well-informed independent
third party would value these assets; and

. Tested management review controls over the key inputs and assumptions used in valuation of intangible assets. The controls encompass
review of the valuation models, which contain a number of assumptions such as the revenue growth rates, probability of success of
pipeline products, profit margins and discount rates.

Valuation of uncertain tax positions, including transfer pricing

Balances impacted: Corporation tax payable, Deferred tax liabilities and Taxation charge
Refer to Notes 3 and 14 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Group operates in numerous jurisdictions and there are open tax and transfer pricing matters and exposures with UK, US and overseas tax
authorities that give rise to uncertain tax positions. There is a range of possible outcomes for provisions and contingencies can be wide and management
are required to make certain judgements in respect of estimates of tax exposures and contingencies in order to assess the adequacy of tax provisions,
which are sometimes complex as a result of the considerations required over multiple tax laws and regulations.

At 31 December 2019, the Group has recorded provisions of £933 million in respect of uncertain tax positions.

Valuation of uncertain tax positions is disclosed as a key source of estimation uncertainty in note 3 of the Group financial statements with further
disclosures included in note 14. The matter is also discussed in the Audit & Risk Committee report within the Corporate Governance section of the
Annual Report.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

With the support of tax specialists, we assessed the appropriateness of the uncertain tax provisions by performing the following audit procedures
amongst others:

. Assessed and challenged provisions for uncertain tax positions, and focused our work on those jurisdictions where the Group has the
greatest potential exposure and where the highest level of judgement is required;

. Assessed management’s policies for recognition and measurement of uncertain tax positions for compliance with the guidance per IFRIC
23;

. Involved our transfer pricing specialists to review the transfer pricing methodology of the Group and associated approach to provisioning;

. Involved our UK, US and international tax and transfer pricing specialists to challenge the conclusions reached by management, both in

relation to the expected outcome and the financial impact;

. Considered evidence such as the actual results from the recent tax authority audits and enquiries, third-party tax advice where obtained and
our tax specialists” own knowledge of market practice in relevant jurisdictions; and

. Tested key controls over preparation, review and reporting of judgmental tax balances and transactions, which include provisions for
uncertain tax provisions.
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/s/ Deloitte LLP

London, United Kingdom
6 March 2020

The first accounting period we audited was 31 December 2018
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of GlaxoSmithKline plc

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated cash flow statement
and consolidated statement of changes in equity of GlaxoSmithKline plc (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2017, including the related notes included in Exhibit 15.3 on pages 166 to 251 (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the results of the Group’s operations and its
cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2017 in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Group’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Group in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due
to error or fraud.

Our audit of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
London, United Kingdom
16 March 2018

We served as the Company or its merged predecessors’ auditor from 1977 to 2017. Since at least 1974, we also served as auditor of a company acquired
by a merged predecessor of the Company.
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Item 19 Exhibits

1.1 Articles of Association of the Registrant as in effect on the date hereof.

2.1 Amended and Restated Deposit Agreement among the Registrant and The Bank of New York Mellon, as Depositary, and the owners
and holders from time to time of the American Depositary Shares issued thereunder, including the form of American Depositary
Receipt, is incorporated by reference to the post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement on Form F-6 (No. 333-232726)
filed with the Commission on July 19, 2019.

2.2 Description of the Registrant’s securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

43 UK Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited and Emma N. Walmsley dated March 29, 2017 is incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the Commission on March 15,2019 .

4.4 UK Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline LLC and Hal V. Barron dated December 16, 2017.

4.5 UK Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited and Iain Mackay dated 18 September 2018 is incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the Commission on March 15, 2019.

4.6 Share and Business Sale Agreement relating to the Vaccines Group made on April 22, 2014, as amended and restated on May 29
2014, as amended on October 9, 2014, and as further amended and restated on March 1, 2015, between Novartis AG and

GlaxoSmithKline plc is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the

Commission on March 18, 2016. Confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential
treatment and filed separately with the SEC.

4.7 Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Pfizer Inc., GlaxoSmithKline plc and GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare
Holdings Limited dated as of December 19, 2018 is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.10 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 20-F filed with the Commission on March 15, 2019. Confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request
for confidential treatment and filed separately with the SEC.

4.8 Amendment Agreement dated July 31, 2019 to the Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Pfizer Inc., GlaxoSmithKline
plc, GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Holdings Limited and GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Holdings (No. 2) Limited
dated as of July 31, 2019.

49 Shareholders’ Agreement among GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Holdings Limited, Pfizer Inc., PF Consumer Healthcare
Holdings LLC, GlaxoSmithKline ple and GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Holdings (No.2) Limited dated as of July 31, 2019.

Certain confidential information contained in this exhibit has been omitted from this exhibit because it is both (i) not material and
(ii) would likely cause competitive harm to the Registrant if publicly disclosed.

8.1 A list of the Registrant’s principal subsidiaries is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under “Group Companies” on
pages 299 to 310 of the GSK Annual Report 2019 included as Exhibit 15.3.
12.1 Certification Required by Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 — Emma Walmsley.
12.2 Certification Required by Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 — lain Mackay.
13.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title
18, United States Code).
15.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
15.2 Consent of Deloitte LLP.
15.3* GSK Annual Report 2019.
101.INS** XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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Certain of the information included within Exhibit 15.3, which is provided pursuant to Rule 12b-23(a)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, is incorporated by reference in this Form 20-F, as specified elsewhere in this Form 20-F. With the exception of the items and pages
so specified, the GSK Annual Report 2019 is not deemed to be filed as part of this Form 20-F.

In accordance with Rule 402 of Regulation S-T, the information in these exhibits shall not be deemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of
the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, and shall not be incorporated by reference into any registration statement or
other document filed under the Securities Act, or the Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.
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Signature

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused and authorized the undersigned to
sign this Annual Report on its behalf.

GlaxoSmithKline plc
March 6, 2020 By: /s/lain Mackay
lain Mackay

Chief Financial Officer
70



Exhibit 1.1

Company No. 3888792
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
(As adopted by Special Resolution passed on 3 May 2018)
OF

GlaxoSmithKline plc



Company No. 3888792
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
(As adopted by Special Resolution passed on 3 May 2018)
OF

GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC



—

e A A o

RO R = —m e s e e s e e
M = o 0 ©® N bk Wb = O

CONTENTS

Exclusion of Model Articles
Definitions

Limited Liability

Change of Name

Rights Attached to Shares

Redeemable Shares

Variation of Rights

Pari Passu Issues

Shares

Payment of Commission

Trusts Not Recognised

Suspension of Rights Where Non-Disclosure of Interest
Uncertificated Shares

Right to Share Certificates
Replacement of Share Certificates
Share Certificates Sent at Holder’s Risk
Execution of Share Certificates
Company’s Lien on Shares Not Fully Paid
Enforcing Lien by Sale

Application of Proceeds of Sale

Calls

Timing of Calls




23.
24,
25.
26.
27.
28.
29.
30.
31.
32.
33.
34,
35,
36.
37.
38.
39.
40.
41.
42.
43.
44.
45.
46.
47.

Liability of Joint Holders

Interest Due on Non-Payment

Sums Due on Allotment Treated as Calls
Power to Differentiate

Payment of Calls in Advance

Notice if Call or Instalment Not Paid

Form of Notice

Forfeiture for Non-Compliance with Notice
Notice after Forfeiture

Sale of Forfeited Shares

Arrears to be Paid Notwithstanding Forfeiture
Statutory Declaration as to Forfeiture
Transfer

Signing of Transfer

Rights to Decline Registration of Partly Paid Shares
Other Rights to Decline Registration

No Fee for Registration

Untraced Shareholders

Transmission on Death

Entry of Transmission in Register

Election of Person Entitled by Transmission
Rights of Person Entitled by Transmission
Sub-division

Fractions

Omission or Non-Receipt of Notice

19
19
19
19
19
19
20
20
20
20
20
21
21
21
21
21
22
22
23
23
24
24
24
24
25



48.
49.
50.
51.
52.
53.
54.
55.
56.
57.
58.
59.
60.
61.
62.
63.
64.
65.
66.
67.
68.
69.
70.
71.

Postponement of General Meetings
Resolutions of members at Annual General Meetings
Electronic General Meetings

Quorum

Procedure if Quorum Not Present
Security Arrangements

Confidential Information

Chairman of General Meeting

Orderly Conduct

Entitlement to Attend and Speak
Adjournments

Notice of Adjournment

Amendments to Resolutions
Amendments Ruled Out of Order
Votes of Members

Method of Voting

Votes of Joint Holders

Voting on Behalf of Incapable Member
No Right to Vote where Sums Overdue on Shares
Objections or Errors in Voting
Meaning of Approved Depositary
Appointment of Approved Depositaries
Register of Approved Depositaries

Approved Depositaries’ Attendance at General Meetings

25
25
26
26
27
27
28
28
28
29
29
29
29
30
30
30
30
30
30
31
31
32
32
32



72.
73.
74.
75.
76.
77.
78.
79.
80.
81.
82.
83.
84.
85.
86.
87.
88.
89.
90.
91.
92.
93.
94.
95.
96.

Proxies of Appointed Depositaries
Identifying Appointed Proxies
Appointment of Proxies

Receipt of Proxies

Maximum Validity of Proxy

Form of Proxy

Cancellation of Proxy’s Authority
Separate General Meetings

Number of Directors

Directors’ Shareholding Qualification
Power of Company to Appoint Directors
Power of Board to Appoint Directors
Annual Retirement of Directors
Filling Vacancies

Power of Removal by Special Resolution
Persons Eligible as Directors

Position of Retiring Directors
Vacation of Office by Directors
Alternate Directors

Executive Directors

Directors’ Fees

Additional Remuneration

Expenses

Pensions and Gratuities for Directors

Conflicts of interest requiring board authorisation

32
33
33
33
35
35
35
35
35
36
36
36
36
36
36
36
37
37
37
38
39
40
40
40
41



97.
98.
99.

100.
101.
102.
103.
104.
105.
106.
107.
108.
109.
110.
111.
112.
113.
114.
115.
116.
117.
118.
119.
120.

Other conflicts of interest

Benefits

Quorum and voting requirements
General

General Powers of Company Vested in Board
Borrowing Powers

Agents

Delegation to Individual Directors
Registers

Provision for Employees

Board Meetings

Notice of Board Meetings

Quorum

Directors below Minimum through Vacancies
Appointment of Chairman

Competence of Meetings

Voting

Delegation to Committees

Participation in Meetings

Resolution in Writing

Validity of Acts of Board or Committee
Use of Seals

Declaration of Dividends by Company

Payment of Interim and Fixed Dividends by Board

42
42
43
45
45
45
46
46
47
47
47
47
47
47
48
48
48
48
49
49
49
49
49
50



121.
122.
123.
124.
125.
126.
127.
128.
129.
130.
131.
132.
133.
134.
135.
136.
137.
138.
139.
140.
141.

Calculation and Currency of Dividends

Amounts Due on Shares may be Deducted from Dividends

No Interest on Dividends

Payment Procedure

Uncashed Dividends

Forfeiture of Unclaimed Dividends

Dividends Not in Cash

Scrip Dividends and Dividend Plans Generally
Power to Capitalise Reserves and Funds
Settlement of Difficulties in Distribution

Power to Choose Any Record Date

Inspection of Records

Summary Financial Statements

Method of Service

Record Date for Service

Members Resident Abroad or on Branch Registers
Service of Notice on Person Entitled by Transmission
Deemed Delivery

Notice When Post Not Available

Presumptions Where Documents Destroyed

Indemnity of Directors

50
50
50
51
52
52
53
53
55
56
56
56
56
56
58
58
58
59
60
60
61



ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
of
GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC

(adopted by Special Resolution passed on 3 May 2018)

Interpretation

Exclusion of Model Articles

No articles set out in any statute, or in any statutory instrument or other subordinate legislation made under any statute, concerning companies
shall apply as the articles of the company.

Definitions

In these articles unless the context otherwise requires:

“address” includes a number or address used for the purposes of sending or receiving documents or information by electronic means;

“these articles” means these articles of association as altered from time to time and the expression “this article” shall be construed accordingly;

“associated company” means any company (i) which is the company’s holding company or (ii) in which the company or its holding company or
any of the predecessors of the company or of such holding company has any interest whether direct or indirect or (iii) which is in any way allied to
or associated with the company or its holding company or any of the predecessors of the company or of such holding company, of (iv) which is a
subsidiary undertaking or any other associated company;

“the auditors” means the auditors from time to time of the company or, in the case of joint auditors, any one of them;

13

the Bank of England base rate” means the base lending rate most recently set by the Monetary Policy Committee of the Bank of England in
connection with its responsibilities under Part 2 of the Bank of England Act 1998;

“the board” means the board of directors from time to time of the company or the directors present at a meeting of the directors at which a
quorum is present;



“certificated share” means a share which is not an uncertificated share and references in these articles to a share being held in certificated form
shall be construed accordingly;

“clear days” in relation to the period of a notice means that period excluding the day when the notice is served or deemed to be served and the
day for which it is given or on which it is to take effect;

13

the Companies Acts” means every statute (including any orders, regulations or other subordinate legislation made under it) from time to time in
force concerning companies in so far as it applies to the company;

“the holder” in relation to any shares means the person whose name is entered in the register as the holder of those shares;
“the office” means the registered office from time to time of the company;
“paid up” means paid up or credited as paid up;

“participating class” means a class of shares title to which is permitted by an Operator to be transferred by means of a relevant system;

“person entitled by transmission” means a person whose entitlement to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a member or of any
other event giving rise to its transmission by operation of law has been noted in the register;

13

place” means, in relation to a general meeting or annual general meeting, the place of a physical meeting or the electronic platform specified by
the board in relation to an electronic general meeting and, where relevant, references to the place of a general meeting or annual general meeting
include any combination of two or more such places;

“the register” means the register of members of the company;
“seal” means any common or official seal that the company may be permitted to have under the Companies Acts;

“the secretary” means the secretary, or (if there are joint secretaries) any one of the joint secretaries, of the company and includes an assistant or
deputy secretary and any person appointed by the board to perform any of the duties of the secretary;

“the uncertificated securities rules” means any provision of the Companies Acts relating to the holding, evidencing of title to, or transfer of
uncertificated shares and any legislation, rules or other arrangements made under or by virtue of such provision;

“uncertificated share” means a share of a class which is at the relevant time a participating class, title to which is recorded on the register as
being held in uncertificated form and references in these articles to a share being held in uncertificated form shall be construed accordingly;

“United Kingdom” means Great Britain and Northern Ireland,

10



references to a person being “present” at or “attending” a general meeting or annual general meeting means present at a physical meeting or

9 <

participating via the electronic platform specified by the board in relation to that meeting, and references to “absence”, “refuse entry” and “eject”
shall be read accordingly;

references to a document being signed or to signature include references to its being executed under hand or under seal or by any other method
and, in the case of a communication in electronic form, such references are to its being authenticated as specified by the Companies Acts;

references to writing include references to any method of representing or reproducing words in a legible and non-transitory form whether sent or
supplied in electronic form or otherwise and written shall be construed accordingly;

words or expressions to which a particular meaning is given by the Companies Acts in force when these articles or any part of these articles are
adopted bear (if not inconsistent with the subject matter or context) the same meaning in these articles or that part (as the case may be) save that
the word “company” shall include any body corporate; and

references to a meeting shall not be taken as requiring more than one person to be present if any quorum requirement can be satisfied by one
person.

Headings are included only for convenience and shall not affect meaning.

Limited Liability

The liability of members of the company is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the shares in the company held by them.

Change of Name

The company may change its name by resolution of the board.

Share Capital

Rights Attached to Shares

Subject to any rights attached to existing shares, any share may be issued with or have attached to it such rights and restrictions as the company
may by ordinary resolution decide or, if no such resolution has been passed or so far as the resolution does not make specific provision, as the
board may decide. Such rights and restrictions shall apply to the relevant shares as if the same were set out in these articles.

Redeemable Shares

Subject to any rights attached to existing shares, any share may be issued which is to be redeemed, or is liable to be redeemed at the option of the
company or the holder. The board may determine the terms, conditions and manner of redemption of any redeemable share so issued. Such terms
and conditions shall apply to the relevant shares as if the same were set out in these articles.
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10.

11.

Variation of Rights

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, all or any of the rights attached to any existing class of shares may from time to time (whether or
not the company is being wound up) be varied either with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than three-fourths in nominal value of
the issued shares of that class (excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares) or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a
separate general meeting of the holders of those shares. All the provisions of these articles as to general meetings of the company shall, with any
necessary modifications, apply to any such separate general meeting, but so that the necessary quorum shall be two persons entitled to vote and
holding or representing by proxy not less than one-third in nominal value of the issued shares of the class (excluding any shares of that class held
as treasury shares), (but so that at any adjourned meeting one holder entitled to vote and present in person or by proxy (whatever the number of
shares held by him) shall be a quorum). The foregoing provisions of this article shall apply to the variation of the special rights attached to some
only of the shares of any class as if each group of shares of the class differently treated formed a separate class and their special rights were to be
varied.

Pari Passu Issues

The rights conferred upon the holders of any shares shall not, unless otherwise expressly provided in the rights attaching to those shares, be
deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking pari passu with them.

Shares

Subject to the provisions of these articles and to any resolution passed by the company and without prejudice to any rights attached to existing
shares, the board may offer, allot, grant options over or otherwise deal with or dispose of shares in the company to such persons, at such times and
for such consideration and upon such terms as the board may decide.

Payment of Commission

The company may in connection with the issue of any shares or the sale for cash of treasury shares exercise all powers of paying commission and
brokerage conferred or permitted by the Companies Acts. Any such commission or brokerage may be satisfied by the payment of cash or by the
allotment of fully or partly-paid shares or other securities or partly in one way and partly in the other.

Trusts Not Recognised

Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, no person shall be recognised by the company as holding any share
upon any trust and the company shall not be bound by or required in any way to recognise (even when having notice of it) any interest in any
share or (except only as by these articles or by law otherwise provided) any other right in respect of any share other than an absolute right to the
whole of the share in the holder.
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12.

Suspension of Rights Where Non-Disclosure of Interest

(A)

B

©

D)

(E)

)

Where the holder of any shares in the company, or any other person appearing to be interested in those shares, fails to comply within the
relevant period with any statutory notice in respect of those shares or, in purported compliance with such a notice, has made a statement
which is false or inadequate in a material particular, the company may give the holder of those shares a further notice (a “restriction
notice”) to the effect that from the service of the restriction notice those shares will be subject to some or all of the relevant restrictions,
and from service of the restriction notice those shares shall, notwithstanding any other provision of these articles, be subject to those
relevant restrictions accordingly. For the purpose of enforcing the relevant restriction referred to in sub-paragraph (iii) of the definition of
“relevant restrictions”, the board may give notice to the relevant member requiring the member to change the relevant shares held in
uncertificated form to certificated form by the time stated in the notice and to keep them in certificated form for as long as the board
requires. The notice may also state that the member may not change any of the relevant shares held in certificated form to uncertificated
form. If the member does not comply with the notice, the board may authorise any person to instruct the Operator to change the relevant
shares held in uncertificated form to certificated form.

If after the service of a restriction notice in respect of any shares the board is satisfied that all information required by any statutory notice
relating to those shares or any of them from their holder or any other person appearing to be interested in the shares the subject of the
restriction notice has been supplied, the company shall, within seven days, cancel the restriction notice. The company may at any time at
its discretion cancel any restriction notice or exclude any shares from it. The company shall cancel a restriction notice within seven days
after receipt of a notice in writing that the relevant shares have been transferred pursuant to an arm’s length sale.

Where any restriction notice is cancelled or ceases to have effect in relation to any shares, any moneys relating to those shares which were
withheld by reason of that notice shall be paid without interest to the person who would but for the notice have been entitled to them or as
he may direct.

Any new shares in the company issued in right of any shares subject to a restriction notice shall also be subject to the restriction notice,
and the board may make any right to an allotment of the new shares subject to restrictions corresponding to those which will apply to those
shares by reason of the restriction notice when such shares are issued.

Any holder of shares on whom a restriction notice has been served may at any time request the company to give in writing the reason why
the restriction notice has been served, or why it remains uncancelled, and within 14 days of receipt of such a notice the company shall give
that information accordingly.

Where a person appearing to be interested in shares has been served with a statutory notice and the shares in which he appears to be
interested are held by an Approved Depositary, this article applies only to those shares which are held by the Approved Depositary in
which that person appears to be interested and not (so far as that person’s apparent interest is concerned) to any other shares held by the
Approved Depositary.
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(G)

H)

@

)

Where a member who is an Approved Depositary has been served with a statutory notice, the obligations of that member will be limited to
disclosing to the company information relating to any person who appears to be interested in the shares held by it which has been recorded
by it in accordance with the arrangement under which it was appointed as an Approved Depositary.

If a statutory notice is given by the company to a person appearing to be interested in any share, a copy shall at the same time be given to
the holder, but the failure or omission to do so or the non-receipt of the copy by the holder shall not invalidate such notice.

This article is in addition to, and shall not in any way prejudice or affect, the statutory rights of the company arising from any failure by
any person to give any information required by a statutory notice within the time specified in it. For the purpose of this article a statutory
notice need not specify the relevant period, and may require any information to be given before the expiry of the relevant period.

In this article:

a sale is an “arm’s length sale” if the board is satisfied that it is a bona fide sale of the whole of the beneficial ownership of the shares to a
party unconnected with the holder or with any person appearing to be interested in such shares and shall include a sale made by way of or
in pursuance of acceptance of a takeover offer and a sale made through a recognised investment exchange or any other stock exchange
outside the United Kingdom. For this purpose an associate (within the definition of that expression in any statute relating to insolvency in
force at the date of adoption of this article) shall be included amongst the persons who are connected with the holder or any person
appearing to be interested in such shares;

“person appearing to be interested” in any shares shall mean any person named in a response to a statutory notice or otherwise notified
to the company by a member as being so interested or shown in any register or record kept by the company under the Companies Acts as
so interested or, taking into account a response or failure to respond in the light of the response to any other statutory notice and any other
relevant information in the possession of the company, any person whom the company knows or has reasonable cause to believe is or may
be so interested;

“person with a 0.25 per cent. interest” means a person who holds, or is shown in any register or record kept by the company under the
Companies Acts as having an interest in, shares in the company which comprise in total at least 0.25 per cent. in number or nominal value
of the shares of the company (calculated exclusive of any shares held as treasury shares), or of any class of such shares (calculated
exclusive of any shares of that class held as treasury shares), in issue at the date of service of the restriction notice;
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“relevant period” means a period of 14 days following service of a statutory notice;

“relevant restrictions” mean in the case of a restriction notice served on a person with a 0.25 per cent. interest that:

(1)  the shares shall not confer on the holder any right to attend or vote either personally or by proxy at any general meeting of the
company or at any separate general meeting of the holders of any class of shares in the company or to exercise any other right
conferred by membership in relation to general meetings;

(i) the board may withhold payment of all or any part of any dividends or other moneys payable in respect of the shares and the holder
shall not be entitled to receive shares in lieu of dividend;

(iii) the board may decline to register a transfer of any of the shares which are certificated shares, unless such a transfer is pursuant to an
arm’s length sale,

and in any other case mean only the restriction specified in sub-paragraph (i) of this definition; and

“statutory notice” means a notice served by the company under the Companies Acts requiring particulars of interests in shares or of the
identity of persons interested in shares.

13. Uncertificated Shares

(A)  Pursuant and subject to the uncertificated securities rules, the board may permit title to shares of any class to be evidenced otherwise than
by a certificate and title to shares of such a class to be transferred by means of a relevant system and may make arrangements for a class of
shares (if all shares of that class are in all respects identical) to become a participating class. Title to shares of a particular class may only
be evidenced otherwise than by a certificate where that class of shares is at the relevant time a participating class. The board may also,
subject to compliance with the uncertificated securities rules, determine at any time that title to any class of shares may from a date
specified by the board no longer be evidenced otherwise than by a certificate or that title to such a class shall cease to be transferred by
means of any particular relevant system.

(B) Inrelation to a class of shares which is a participating class and for so long as it remains a participating class, no provision of these articles
shall apply or have effect to the extent that it is inconsistent in any respect with:

(i)  the holding of shares of that class in uncertificated form;
(i) the transfer of title to shares of that class by means of a relevant system; and

(iii) any provision of the uncertificated securities rules,
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D)

(E)

)

(©)

and, without prejudice to the generality of this article, no provision of these articles shall apply or have effect to the extent that it is in any
respect inconsistent with the maintenance, keeping or entering up by the Operator, so long as that is permitted or required by the
uncertificated securities rules, of an Operator register of securities in respect of that class of shares in uncertificated form.

Shares of a class which is at the relevant time a participating class may be changed from uncertificated to certificated form, and from
certificated to uncertificated form, in accordance with and subject as provided in the uncertificated securities rules.

If, under these articles or the Companies Acts, the company is entitled to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of, forfeit, re-allot, accept the
surrender of or otherwise enforce a lien over an uncertificated share, then, subject to these articles and the Companies Acts, such
entitlement shall include the right of the board to:

(1)  require the holder of that uncertificated share by notice in writing to change that share from uncertificated to certificated form within
such period as may be specified in the notice and keep it as a certificated share for as long as the board requires;

(i) appoint any person to take such other steps, by instruction given by means of a relevant system or otherwise, in the name of the
holder of such share as may be required to effect the transfer of such share and such steps shall be as effective as they had been
taken by the registered holder of that share; and

(iii) take such other action that the board considers appropriate to achieve the sale, transfer, disposal, forfeiture, re-allotment or surrender
of that share or otherwise to enforce a lien in respect of that share.

Unless the board otherwise determines, shares which a member holds in uncertificated form shall be treated as separate holdings from any
shares which that member holds in certificated form. However shares held in uncertificated form shall not be treated as forming a class
which is separate from certificated shares with the same rights.

Unless the board otherwise determines or the uncertificated securities rules otherwise require, any shares issued or created out of or in
respect of any uncertificated shares shall be uncertificated shares and any shares issued or created out of or in respect of any certificated
shares shall be certificated shares.

The company shall be entitled to assume that the entries on any record of securities maintained by it in accordance with the uncertificated
securities rules and regularly reconciled with the relevant Operator register of securities are a complete and accurate reproduction of the
particulars entered in the Operator register of securities and shall accordingly not be liable in respect of any act or thing done or omitted to
be done by or on behalf of the company in reliance on such assumption; in particular, any provision of these articles which requires or
envisages that action will be taken in reliance on information contained in the register shall be construed to permit that action to be taken
in reliance on information contained in any relevant record of securities (as so maintained and reconciled).
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14.

15.

16.

17.

Right to Share Certificates

Every person (except a person to whom the company is not by law required to issue a certificate) whose name is entered in the register as a holder
of any certificated shares shall be entitled, without payment, to receive within the time limits prescribed by the Companies Acts (or, if earlier,
within any prescribed time limit or within a time specified when the shares were issued) one certificate for all those shares of any one class. In the
case of a certificated share held jointly by several persons, the company shall not be bound to issue more than one certificate and delivery of a
certificate to one of several joint holders shall be sufficient delivery to all. A member who transfers some but not all of the shares comprised in a
certificate shall be entitled to a certificate for the balance without charge to the extent the balance is to be held in certificated form.

Replacement of Share Certificates

If a share certificate is defaced, worn out, lost or destroyed, it may be replaced on such terms (if any) as to evidence and indemnity as the board
may decide and, where it is defaced or worn out, after delivery of the old certificate to the company. Any two or more certificates representing
shares of any one class held by any member shall at his request be cancelled and a single new certificate for such shares issued in lieu. Any
certificate representing shares of any one class held by any member may at his request be cancelled and two or more certificates for such shares
may be issued instead. The board may require the payment of any exceptional out-of-pocket expenses of the company incurred in connection with
the issue of any certificates under this article. Any one of two or more joint holders may request replacement certificates under this article.

Share Certificates Sent at Holder’s Risk

Every share certificate sent in accordance with these articles will be sent at the risk of the member or other person entitled to the certificate. The
company will not be responsible for any share certificate lost or delayed in the course of delivery.

Execution of Share Certificates

Every share certificate shall be executed under a seal or in such other manner as the board, having regard to the terms of issue and any listing
requirements, may authorise and shall specify the number and class of the shares to which it relates and the amount or respective amounts paid up
on the shares. The board may by resolution decide, either generally or in any particular case or cases, that any signatures on any share certificates
need not be autographic but may be applied to the certificates by some mechanical or other means or may be printed on them or that the
certificates need not be signed by any person.
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18.

19.

20.

21.

Lien

Company’s Lien on Shares Not Fully Paid

The company shall have a first and paramount lien on every share (not being a fully paid share) for all amounts payable to the company (whether
presently or not) in respect of that share. The company’s lien on a share shall extend to every amount payable in respect of it. The board may at
any time either generally or in any particular case waive any lien that has arisen or declare any share to be wholly or in part exempt from the
provisions of this article.

Enforcing Lien by Sale

The company may sell, in such manner as the board may decide, any share on which the company has a lien if a sum in respect of which the lien
exists is presently payable and is not paid within 14 clear days after a notice has been served on the holder of the share or the person who is
entitled by transmission to the share, demanding payment and stating that if the notice is not complied with the share may be sold. For giving
effect to the sale the board may authorise some person to sign an instrument of transfer of the share sold to or in accordance with the directions of
the purchaser. The transferee shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money, nor shall his title to the share be affected by any
irregularity or invalidity in relation to the sale.

Application of Proceeds of Sale

The net proceeds, after payment of the costs, of the sale by the company of any share on which it has a lien shall be applied in or towards payment
or discharge of the debt or liability in respect of which the lien exists so far as it is presently payable, and any residue shall (subject to a like lien
for debts or liabilities not presently payable as existed upon the share prior to the sale and upon surrender, if required by the company, for
cancellation of the certificate for the share sold) be paid to the person who was entitled to the share at the time of the sale.

Calls on Shares

Calls

Subject to the terms of issue, the board may from time to time make calls upon the members in respect of any moneys unpaid on their shares
(whether on account of the nominal amount of the shares or by way of premium) and not payable on a date fixed by or in accordance with the
terms of issue, and each member shall (subject to the company serving upon him at least 14 clear days’ notice specifying when and where
payment is to be made) pay to the company as required by the notice the amount called on his shares. A call may be made payable by instalments.
A call may be revoked or postponed, in whole or in part, as the board may decide. A person upon whom a call is made shall remain liable jointly
and severally with the successors in title to his shares for all calls made upon him notwithstanding the subsequent transfer of the shares in respect
of which the call was made.
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22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

Timing of Calls

A call shall be deemed to have been made at the time when the resolution of the board authorising the call was passed.

Liability of Joint Holders

The joint holders of a share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay all calls in respect of the share.

Interest Due on Non-Payment

If a call remains unpaid after it has become due and payable, the person from whom it is due and payable shall pay interest on the amount unpaid
from the day it is due and payable to the time of actual payment at such rate (not exceeding the Bank of England base rate by more than five
percentage points) as the board may decide, and all expenses that have been incurred by the company by reason of such non-payment, but the
board shall be at liberty in any case or cases to waive payment of the interest or expenses wholly or in part.

Sums Due on Allotment Treated as Calls

Any amount which becomes payable in respect of a share on allotment or on any other date fixed by or in accordance with the terms of issue,
whether in respect of the nominal amount of the share or by way of premium or as an instalment of a call, shall be deemed to be a call and, if it is
not paid, all the provisions of these articles shall apply as if the sum had become due and payable by virtue of a call.

Power to Differentiate

The board may on or before the issue of shares differentiate between the allottees or holders as to the amount of calls to be paid and the times of
payment.

Payment of Calls in Advance

The board may, if it thinks fit, receive from any member who is willing to advance them all or any part of the moneys uncalled and unpaid upon
any shares held by him and on all or any of the moneys so advanced may (until they would, but for the advance, become presently payable) pay
interest at such rate (not exceeding the Bank of England base rate by more than five percentage points, unless the company by ordinary resolution
shall otherwise direct) as the board may decide.

Forfeiture of Shares

Notice if Call or Instalment Not Paid

If any call or instalment of a call remains unpaid on any share after the day appointed for payment, the board may at any time serve a notice on the
holder requiring payment of so much of the call or instalment as is unpaid, together with any interest which may have accrued and any expenses
incurred by the company by reason of such non-payment.
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29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

Form of Notice

The notice shall name a further day (not being less than 14 clear days from the date of the notice) on or before which, and the place where, the
payment required by the notice is to be made and shall state that in the event of non-payment on or before the day and at the place appointed, the
shares in respect of which the call has been made or instalment is payable will be liable to be forfeited.

Forfeiture for Non-Compliance with Notice

If the notice is not complied with, any share in respect of which it was given may, at any time before payment of all calls or instalments and
interest and expenses due in respect of it have been made, be forfeited by a resolution of the board to that effect and the forfeiture shall include all
dividends declared and other moneys payable in respect of the forfeited shares and not paid before the forfeiture. The board may accept the
surrender of any share liable to be forfeited and, in that event, references in these articles to forfeiture shall include surrender.

Notice after Forfeiture

When any share has been forfeited, notice of the forfeiture shall be served upon the person who was before forfeiture the holder of the share but
no forfeiture shall be invalidated by any omission or neglect to give notice.

Sale of Forfeited Shares

Until cancelled in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Acts, a forfeited share shall be deemed to be the property of the company
and may be sold or otherwise disposed of either to the person who was, before forfeiture, the holder or to any other person upon such terms and in
such manner as the board shall decide. The board may for the purposes of the disposal authorise some person to sign an instrument of transfer to
the designated transferee. The company may receive the consideration (if any) given for the share on its disposal. At any time before a sale or
disposition the forfeiture may be cancelled by the board on such terms as the board may decide.

Arrears to be Paid Notwithstanding Forfeiture

A person whose shares have been forfeited shall cease to be a member in respect of them and shall surrender to the company for cancellation the
certificate for the forfeited shares but shall remain liable to pay to the company all moneys which at the date of the forfeiture were payable by him
to the company in respect of those shares with interest thereon at such rate (not exceeding the Bank of England base rate by more than five
percentage points) as the board may decide from the date of forfeiture until payment, and the company may enforce payment without being under
any obligation to make any allowance for the value of the shares forfeited or for any consideration received on their disposal.
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34.

35s.

36.

37.

38.

Statutory Declaration as to Forfeiture

A statutory declaration that the declarant is a director of the company or the secretary and that a share has been forfeited on a specified date shall
be conclusive evidence of the facts stated in it as against all persons claiming to be entitled to the share. The declaration shall (subject to the
signing of an instrument of transfer if necessary) constitute a good title to the share and the person to whom the share is sold or otherwise disposed
of shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money (if any) nor shall his title to the share be affected by any irregularity or
invalidity in the proceedings relating to the forfeiture, sale or disposal.

Transfer of Shares

Transfer
(A)  Subject to such of the restrictions of these articles as may be applicable:

(i) any member may transfer all or any of his uncertificated shares by means of a relevant system in such manner provided for, and
subject as provided in, the uncertificated securities rules, and accordingly no provision of these articles shall apply in respect of an
uncertificated share to the extent that it requires or contemplates the effecting of a transfer by an instrument in writing or the
production of a certificate for the share to be transferred; and

(i) any member may transfer all or any of his certificated shares by an instrument of transfer in any usual form or in any other form
which the board may approve.

(B)  The transferor of a share shall be deemed to remain the holder of the share concerned until the name of the transferee is entered in the
register in respect of it.

Signing of Transfer

The instrument of transfer of a certificated share shall be signed by or on behalf of the transferor and (in the case of a partly paid share) the
transferee. All instruments of transfer, when registered, may be retained by the company.

Rights to Decline Registration of Partly Paid Shares

The board can decline to register any transfer of any share which is not a fully paid share.

Other Rights to Decline Registration

(A)  Registration of a transfer of an uncertificated share may be refused in the circumstances set out in the uncertificated securities rules, and
where, in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the uncertificated share is to be transferred exceeds
four.

(B)  The board may decline to register any transfer of a certificated share unless:

(1)  the instrument of transfer is duly stamped or duly certified or otherwise shown to the satisfaction of the board to be exempt from
stamp duty and is left at the office or such other place as the board may from time to time determine accompanied (save in the case
of a transfer by a person to whom
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40.

©

(if)
(iif)

the company is not required by law to issue a certificate and to whom a certificate has not been issued) by the certificate for the
share to which it relates and such other evidence as the board may reasonably require to show the right of the person signing the
instrument of transfer to make the transfer and, if the instrument of transfer is signed by some other person on his behalf, the
authority of that person so to do;

the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of share; and

in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the share is to be transferred does not exceed four.

For all purposes of these articles relating to the registration of transfers of shares, the renunciation of the allotment of any shares by the
allottee in favour of some other person shall be deemed to be a transfer and the board shall have the same powers of refusing to give effect
to such a renunciation as if it were a transfer.

No Fee for Registration

No fee shall be charged by the company for registering any transfer, document or instruction relating to or affecting the title to any share or for
making any other entry in the register.

Untraced Shareholders

(A)

The company may sell any certificated shares in the company on behalf of the holder of, or person entitled by transmission to, the shares at
the best price reasonably obtainable at the time of sale if:

(@

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

the shares have been in issue either in certificated or uncertificated form throughout the qualifying period and at least three cash
dividends have become payable on the shares during the qualifying period;

no cash dividend payable on the shares has either been claimed by presentation to the paying bank of the relevant cheque or warrant
or been satisfied by the transfer of funds to a bank account designated by the holder of, or person entitled by transmission to, the
shares or by the transfer of funds by means of a relevant system at any time during the relevant period;

so far as any director of the company at the end of the relevant period is then aware, the company has not at any time during the
relevant period received any communication from the holder of, or person entitled by transmission to, the shares; and

on or after the expiry of the qualifying period, the company has sent a notice to the registered address or last known address of the
member or person concerned, of its intention to sell such share and before sending such a notice to the member or other person
concerned, the company must have used reasonable efforts to trace the member or other person entitled, engaging, if considered
appropriate by the company, a professional asset reunification company or other tracing agent, and at least a period of three months
has elapsed from the date of sending such notices.
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41.

42.

(B)  The company shall also be entitled to sell at the best price reasonably obtainable at the time of sale any additional certificated shares in the
company issued either in certificated or uncertificated form during the qualifying period in right of any share to which paragraph (A) of
this article applies (or in right of any share so issued), if the criteria in paragraph (A)(ii) to (iv) are satisfied in relation to the additional
shares.

(C)  To give effect to any sale of shares pursuant to this article the board may authorise some person to transfer the shares in question and an
instrument of transfer signed by that person shall be as effective as if it had been signed by the holder of, or person entitled by
transmission to, the shares. The purchaser shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase moneys nor shall his title to the
shares be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings relating to the sale.

(D)  The net proceeds of sale shall belong to the company and, upon their receipt, the company shall record the name of the member, or (if
known) the person who would have been entitled to the shares by law, as a creditor for the money in its accounts, unless and until forfeited
under this article. No trust shall be created in respect of the debt and no interest shall be payable in respect of it and the company shall not
be required to account for any moneys earned from the net proceeds which may be employed in the business of the company or as it thinks
fit. If no valid claim for the money has been received by the company during a period of six years from the date on which the relevant
shares were sold by the company under this article, the money will be forfeited and will belong to the company.

(D)  For the purpose of this article:

“the qualifying period” means the period of 10 years immediately preceding the date of sending the notice referred to in paragraph (A)(iv)
above; and

“the relevant period” means the period beginning at the commencement of the qualifying period and ending on the date when all the
requirements of paragraphs (A)(i) to_(iv) above have been satisfied.

Transmission of Shares

Transmission on Death

If a member dies, the survivor or survivors, where he was a joint holder, and his personal representatives, where he was a sole holder or the only
survivor of joint holders, shall be the only persons recognised by the company as having any title to his shares; but nothing contained in these
articles shall release the estate of a deceased holder from any liability in respect of any share held by him solely or jointly with other persons.

Entry of Transmission in Register

Where the entitlement of a person to a certificated share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a member or of any other event giving rise
to its transmission by operation of law is proved to the satisfaction of the board, the board shall within two months after proof cause the
entitlement of that person to be noted in the register.
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Election of Person Entitled by Transmission

Any person entitled by transmission to a share may, subject as provided elsewhere in these articles, elect either to become the holder of the share
or to have some person nominated by him registered as the holder. If he elects to be registered himself he shall give notice to the company to that
effect. If he elects to have another person registered and the share is a certificated share, he shall sign an instrument of transfer of the share to that
person. If he elects to have himself or another person registered and the share is an uncertificated share, he shall take any action the board may
require (including, without limitation, the signing of any document and the giving of any instruction by means of a relevant system) to enable
himself or that person to be registered as the holder of the share. The board may at any time require the person to elect either to be registered
himself or to transfer the share and if the requirements are not complied with within 60 days of being issued the board may withhold payment of
all dividends and other moneys payable in respect of the share until the requirements have been complied with. All the provisions of these articles
relating to the transfer of, and registration of transfers of, shares shall apply to the notice or transfer as if the death or bankruptcy of the member or
other event giving rise to the transmission had not occurred and the notice or transfer was given or signed by the member.

Rights of Person Entitled by Transmission

Where a person becomes entitled by transmission to a share, the rights of the holder in relation to that share shall cease, but the person entitled by
transmission to the share may give a good discharge for any dividends or other moneys payable in respect of it and shall have the same rights in
relation to the share as he would have had if he were the holder of it save that, until he becomes the holder, he shall not be entitled in respect of the
share (except with the authority of the board) to receive notice of, or to attend or vote at, any general meeting of the company or at any separate
general meeting of the holders of any class of shares in the company or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to general
meetings.

Alteration of Share Capital

Sub-division

Any resolution authorising the company to sub-divide its shares or any of them may determine that, as between the shares resulting from the
sub-division, any of them may have any preference or advantage or be subject to any restriction as compared with the others.

Fractions

Whenever as a result of a consolidation, consolidation and sub-division or sub-division of shares any holders would become entitled to fractions
of a share, the board may deal with the fractions as it thinks fit including by ignoring fractions altogether or by aggregating and selling them or by
dealing with them in some other way. For the purposes of effecting any
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such sale, the board may arrange for the shares representing the fractions to be entered in the register as certificated shares. The board may sell
shares representing fractions to any person, including the company and may authorise some person to transfer or deliver the shares to, or in
accordance with the directions of, the purchaser. The person to whom any shares are transferred or delivered shall not be bound to see to the

application of the purchase money nor shall his title to the shares be affected by any irregularity in, or invalidity of, the proceedings relating to the
sale.

Notice of General Meetings

Omission or Non-Receipt of Notice

(A)  The accidental omission to give any notice of a meeting or the accidental omission to send or supply any document or other information
relating to any meeting to, or the non-receipt (even if the company becomes aware of such non-receipt) of any such notice, document or
other information by, any person entitled to receive the notice, document or other information shall not invalidate the proceedings at that
meeting.

(B) A member present in person or by proxy at a meeting shall be deemed to have received proper notice of that meeting and, where
applicable, of the purpose of that meeting.

Postponement of General Meetings

If the board, in its absolute discretion, considers that it is impractical or undesirable for any reason to hold a general meeting on the date or at the
time or place specified in the notice calling the general meeting, it may postpone or move the general meeting to another date, time and/or place.
The board shall take reasonable steps to ensure that notice of the date, time and place of the rearranged meeting is given to any member trying to
attend the meeting at the original time and place. Notice of the date, time and place of the rearranged meeting shall, if practicable, also be placed
in: (i) at least two national newspapers in the United Kingdom, and (ii) The Wall Street Journal and/or such other newspaper published in the
United States as the directors consider to be appropriate. Notice of the business to be transacted at such rearranged meeting shall not be required.
If a meeting is rearranged in this way, the appointment of a proxy will be valid if it is received as required by these articles not less than 48 hours
before the time appointed for holding the rearranged meeting. The board may also postpone or move the rearranged meeting under this article.

Resolutions of members at Annual General Meetings

(A)  If, on or before, 31st January in any year any members shall, in accordance with the Companies Acts, require the company, in relation to
the Annual General Meeting to be held in that year, to give notice of a resolution which may properly be moved or require the company to
circulate a statement in acceptable form, the company shall circulate that resolution or statement with the notice of the Annual General
Meeting without cost to the requisitionists.
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If any such requisition is made in accordance with the Companies Acts after 31st January in any year and prior to the Annual General
Meeting to be held in that year, the company shall require that the requisitionists deposit or tender a sum sufficient to meet the Company’s
reasonable expenses in complying with such requisition in accordance with the Companies Acts.

Proceedings at General Meetings (including Annual General Meetings)

Electronic General Meetings

(A)

®)

©

(D)

()

Q)

The board may determine that a general meeting shall be held as a physical meeting or in combination with an electronic platform or
platforms that enables members to participate in the meeting without physically attending. A general meeting held partially on an
electronic platform in combination with a physical meeting is referred in these articles as an “electronic general meeting”.

The board may make arrangements for an electronic platform to permit members or their proxies who are not present together at the same
physical place to attend, speak and vote at an electronic general meeting by electronic means, and to permit directors or others to attend
and speak, and the chairman of the meeting to preside, at an electronic general meeting by electronic means. That meeting shall be duly
constituted and its proceedings valid if the chairman of the general meeting is satisfied that adequate facilities are available throughout the
electronic general meeting to ensure that members attending the electronic general meeting may participate in the business of the general
meeting.

The notice of an electronic general meeting shall specify the physical place of that meeting and shall specify the electronic platform and
arrangements by which members or their proxies may participate in the meeting.

A member who is entitled to vote and who participates or is represented by a proxy by means of a specified electronic platform at an
electronic general meeting shall be counted in the quorum for that general meeting.

The board may make arrangements for any documents which are required to be made available to the meeting to be accessible
electronically to members or their proxies.

Nothing in these articles prevents a general meeting being held only at a physical location, however a general meeting cannot be held
solely on an electronic platform.

Quorum

(A)

No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present when the meeting proceeds to business, but the absence
of a quorum shall not preclude the choice or appointment of a chairman of the meeting which shall not be treated as part of the business of
the meeting. Save as otherwise provided by these articles, two members present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall be a
quorum for all purposes. A shareholder which is a company is to be considered present if it is represented by a duly authorised
representative.
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(B)

If the directors so determine, any or all members (or their proxies) may participate in a general meeting by means of a conference
telephone, video teleconference equipment or any communication equipment which allows all persons participating in the meeting to
speak to and hear each other. A person so participating shall be deemed to be present in person at the meeting and shall be entitled to vote
or be counted in a quorum accordingly. A meeting which takes place by conference telephone, video teleconference or other such
communication equipment will be treated as taking place at the place where the chairman is.

Procedure if Quorum Not Present

If within five minutes (or such longer time not exceeding one hour as the chairman of the meeting may decide to wait) after the time appointed for
the commencement of the meeting a quorum is not present, or if during the meeting a quorum ceases to be present, the meeting:

(M)
(i)

if convened by or upon the requisition of members, shall be dissolved; and

in any other case, it shall stand adjourned to such other day (being not less than ten days later, excluding the day on which the meeting is
adjourned and the day for which it is reconvened) and at such other time or place as the chairman of the meeting may decide. At any
adjourned meeting one member present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote (whatever the number of shares held by him) shall be a
quorum and any notice of an adjourned meeting shall state that one member present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote (whatever
the number of shares held by him) shall be a quorum.

Security Arrangements

(A)

B

©

The directors or the secretary may take any action and may put in place any arrangements both before and during any meeting that they/he
consider appropriate for:

(i)  the safety of people attending a meeting;
(i) proper and orderly conduct of a meeting; or
(iii) the meeting to reflect the wishes of the majority.

This includes the power to refuse entry to, or eject from meetings, any person who fails to comply with any arrangements made or any
person who in the opinion of the directors or the secretary is acting in a manner that threatens the safety of people attending the meeting
and/or the proper and orderly conduct at a meeting.

The board may direct that persons wishing to attend any general meeting should submit to such searches or other security arrangements or
restrictions (including, without limitation, a requirement that such persons refrain from taking electronic
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equipment into a general meeting) as the board shall consider appropriate in the circumstances and the board shall be entitled in its
absolute discretion to, or to authorise some one or more persons who shall include a director or the secretary or the chairman of the
meeting to, refuse entry to, or to eject from, such general meeting any person who fails to submit to such searches or otherwise to comply
with such security arrangements or restrictions.

Confidential Information

No shareholder at any general meeting is entitled to require disclosure of or any information about any detail of the company’s trading, or any
matter that is or may be in the nature of a trade secret, commercial secret or secret process, or that may relate to the conduct of the business of the
company, if the directors decide it would be inexpedient in the interests of the company to make that information public.

Chairman of General Meeting

The chairman (if any) of the board or, in his absence, the deputy chairman (if any) shall preside as chairman at every general meeting. If more
than one deputy chairman is present they shall agree amongst themselves who is to take the chair or, if they cannot agree, the deputy chairman
who has been in office as a director longest shall take the chair. If there is no chairman or deputy chairman, or if at any meeting neither the
chairman nor any deputy chairman is present within five minutes after the time appointed for the commencement of the meeting, or if neither the
chairman nor any deputy chairman is willing to act as chairman, the directors present shall choose one of their number to act, or if one director
only is present he shall preside as chairman of the meeting if willing to act. If no director is present, or if each of the directors present declines to
take the chair, the persons present and entitled to vote shall appoint one of their number to be chairman of the meeting. Nothing in these articles
shall restrict or exclude any of the powers or rights of a chairman of a meeting which are given by law.

Orderly Conduct

(A)  The chairman of the meeting shall take such action or give directions for such action to be taken as he thinks fit to promote the orderly
conduct of the business of the meeting. The chairman’s decision on points of order, matters of procedure or arising incidentally from the
business of the meeting shall be final as shall be his determination as to whether any point or matter is of such a nature.

(B)  The directors may arrange for any people who they consider cannot be seated in the main meeting room, where the chairman will be, to
attend and take part in a general meeting in an overflow room or rooms. Any overflow room will have a live video link from the main
room, and a two-way sound link. The notice of the meeting does not have to give details of any arrangements under this Article. The
directors may decide how to divide people between the main room and any overflow room. If any overflow room is used, the meeting will
be treated as being held, and taking place, in the main room.
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Entitlement to Attend and Speak

Each director shall be entitled to attend and speak at any general meeting of the company. The chairman of the meeting may invite any person to
attend and speak at any general meeting of the company where he considers that this will assist in the deliberations of the meeting.

Adjournments

The chairman of the meeting may at any time without the consent of the meeting adjourn any meeting (whether or not it has commenced or a
quorum is present) either to a later time on the same day or to another time or place where it appears to him that (a) the members entitled to vote
and wishing to attend cannot be conveniently accommodated in the place appointed for the meeting (b) the conduct of persons present prevents or
is likely to prevent the orderly continuation of business (c) in relation to an electronic general meeting, the electronic platforms or arrangements
for that meeting become inadequate for the purpose of ensuring that members can participate properly and in an orderly and secure way or (d) an
adjournment is otherwise necessary so that the business of the meeting may be properly conducted. In addition, the chairman of the meeting may
at any time with the consent of any meeting at which a quorum is present (and shall if so directed by the meeting) adjourn the meeting either sine
die or to another time or place. When a meeting is adjourned sine die the time and place for the adjourned meeting shall be fixed by the board. No
business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting except business which might properly have been transacted at the meeting had the
adjournment not taken place. Any meeting may be adjourned more than once.

Notice of Adjournment

If the continuation of an adjourned meeting is to take place three months or more after it was adjourned or if business is to be transacted at an
adjourned meeting the general nature of which was not stated in the notice of the original meeting, notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given
as in the case of an original meeting. Except as provided in this article, it shall not be necessary to give any notice of an adjourned meeting or of
the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting.

Amendments

Amendments to Resolutions

In the case of a resolution duly proposed as a special resolution no amendment thereto (other than an amendment to correct a patent error) may be
considered or voted upon and in the case of a resolution duly proposed as an ordinary resolution no amendment thereto (other than an amendment
to correct a patent error) may be considered or voted upon unless either at least two working days prior to the date appointed for holding the
meeting or adjourned meeting at which such ordinary resolution is to be proposed notice in writing of the terms of the amendment and intention to
move the same has been received by the company at its office or the chairman of the meeting in his absolute discretion decides that it may be
considered or voted upon. With the consent of the chairman of the meeting, an amendment may be withdrawn by its proposer before it is put to
the vote.
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Amendments Ruled Out of Order

If an amendment shall be proposed to any resolution under consideration but shall be ruled out of order by the chairman of the meeting the
proceedings on the substantive resolution shall not be invalidated by any error in such ruling.

Voting

Votes of Members

Subject to any special terms as to voting upon which any shares may be issued or may at the relevant time be held and to any other provisions of
these articles, members shall be entitled to vote at a general meeting as provided in the Companies Acts.

Method of Voting

At any general meeting, including any electronic general meeting, a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a poll, which
shall be taken in such manner as the chairman of the meeting shall direct, including by means of electronic vote casters. The result of the vote
shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the vote was demanded. A vote to elect the chairman of the meeting or to adjourn the
meeting must be taken immediately at the meeting. Any other vote may be taken at any other time (within 30 days of the meeting) and place
determined by the chairman. The chairman can appoint scrutineers (who need not be shareholders) and set a day, time and place for the result of
the poll to be declared.

Votes of Joint Holders

In the case of joint holders of a share the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion
of the votes of the other joint holders and, for this purpose, seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the register in
respect of the joint holding.

Voting on Behalf of Incapable Member

A member in respect of whom an order has been made by any competent court or official on the ground that he is or may be suffering from a
mental disorder or is otherwise incapable of managing his affairs may vote at any general meeting of the company and may exercise any other
right conferred by membership in relation to general meetings by or through any person authorised in such circumstances to do so on his behalf
(and that person may vote by proxy), provided that evidence to the satisfaction of the board of the authority of the person claiming to exercise the
right to vote or such other right has been received by the company not later than the last time at which appointments of proxy should have been
received in order to be valid for use at that meeting or on the holding of that poll.

No Right to Vote where Sums Overdue on Shares

No member shall, unless the board otherwise decides, be entitled in respect of any share held by him to attend or vote (either personally or by
proxy) at any general meeting of the company or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to general meetings unless all
calls or other sums presently payable by him in respect of that share have been paid.
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Objections or Errors in Voting

If:

(6] any objection shall be raised to the qualification of any voter, or

(i1) any votes have been counted which ought not to have been counted or which might have been rejected, or
(iii)  any votes are not counted which ought to have been counted,

the objection or error shall not vitiate the decision of the meeting or adjourned meeting on any resolution unless it is raised or pointed out at the
meeting or, as the case may be, the adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is given or tendered or at which the error occurs. Any
objection or error shall be referred to the chairman of the meeting and shall only vitiate the decision of the meeting on any resolution if the
chairman decides that the same may have affected the decision of the meeting. The decision of the chairman on such matters shall be conclusive.

Approved Depositaries

Meaning of Approved Depositary

(A) Inthese articles, unless the context otherwise requires, “Approved Depositary” means a person approved by the board and appointed:

(i)  to hold the company’s shares or any rights or interests in any of the company’s shares; and

(i) to issue securities, documents of title or other documents which evidence that the holder of them owns or is entitled to receive the
shares, rights or interests held by the Approved Depository,

and shall include a nominee acting for a person appointed to do these things.

(B)  The trustees of any scheme or arrangements for or principally for the benefit of employees of the company and its associated companies
will be deemed to be an Approved Depositary for the purposes of these articles unless the board resolves otherwise.

(C)  References in these articles to an Approved Depositary or to shares held by it refer only to an Approved Depositary and to its shares held
in its capacity as an Approved Depositary.
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Appointment of Approved Depositaries

Subject to these articles and to applicable law, an Approved Depositary may appoint as its proxy or proxies in relation to any ordinary shares
which it holds, anyone it thinks fit and may determine the manner and terms of any such appointment. Each appointment must state the number
and class of shares to which it relates and the total number of shares of each class in respect of which appointments exist at any one time, which
must not exceed the total number of shares of each such class registered in the name of the Approved Depositary or its nominee (the “Depositary
Shares”) at that time.

Register of Approved Depositaries

The Approved Depositary must keep a register (the “Proxy Register”) of each person it has appointed as a proxy under Article 72 (an
“Appointed Proxy”) and the number of Depositary Shares (his “Appointed Number”) to which the appointment relates. The directors will
determine the requisite information to be recorded in the Proxy Register relating to each Appointed Proxy.

Any person authorised by the company may inspect the Proxy Register during usual business hours and the Approved Depositary will give such
person any information which he requests as to the contents of the Proxy Register.

Approved Depositaries’ Attendance at General Meetings

(A)  An Appointed Proxy may only attend a general meeting if he provides the company with written evidence of his appointment as such. This
must be in a form agreed between the directors and the Approved Depositary.

®B) Subject to applicable law and to these articles, and so long as the Approved Depositary or a nominee of the Approved Depositary holds at
least his Appointed Number of shares, an Appointed Proxy is entitled to attend a general meeting which holders of that class of shares are
entitled to attend, and he is entitled to the same rights, and subject to the same obligations, in relation to his Appointed Number of
Depositary Shares as if he had been validly appointed in accordance with Articles 74 to 78 by the registered holder of these shares as its
proxy in relation to those shares.

Proxies of Appointed Depositaries

An Appointed Proxy may appoint another person as his proxy for his Appointed Number of Depositary Shares, provided the appointment is made
and deposited in accordance with Articles 74 to 78. These articles apply to that appointment and to the person so appointed as though those
Depositary Shares were registered in the name of the Appointed Proxy and the appointment was made by him in that capacity. The directors may
require such evidence as they think appropriate to decide that such appointment is effective.
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Identifying Appointed Proxies

(A)

®)

©

D)

For the purposes of determining who is entitled as an Appointed Proxy to exercise the rights conferred by Articles 71 and 72 and the
number of Depositary Shares in respect of which a person is to be treated as having been appointed as an Appointed Proxy for these
purposes, the Approved Depositary may decide that the Appointed Proxies who are so entitled are the persons entered in the Proxy
Register at a time and on a date (a “Record Time”) agreed between the Approved Depositary and the company.

When a Record Date is decided for a particular purpose:

(i) an Appointed Proxy is to be treated as having been appointed for that purpose for the number and class of shares appearing against
his name in the Proxy Register as at the Record Time; and

(i) changes to entries in the Proxy Register after the Record Time will be ignored for this purpose.

Except for recognising the rights given in relation to General Meetings by appointments made by Appointed Proxies pursuant to
Article 72, the company is entitled to treat any person entered in the Proxy Register as an Appointed Proxy as the only person (other than
the Approved Depositary) who has any interest in the Depositary Shares in respect of which the Appointed Proxy has been appointed.

At a general meeting the chairman has the final decision as to whether any person has the right to vote or exercise any other right relating
to any Depositary Shares. In any other situation, the directors have the final decision as to whether any person has the right to exercise any
right relating to any Depositary Shares.

Proxies

Appointment of Proxies

The appointment of a proxy shall be in writing signed by the appointor or his duly authorised attorney or, if the appointor is a corporation, shall
either be executed under its seal or signed by an officer, attorney or other person authorised to sign it. If a member appoints more than one proxy
and the proxy forms appointing those proxies would give those proxies the apparent right to exercise votes on behalf of the member in a general
meeting over more shares than are held by the member, then each of those proxy forms will be invalid and none of the proxies so appointed will
be entitled to attend, speak or vote at the relevant general meeting.

Receipt of Proxies

(A)

The appointment of a proxy must:

(1)  inthe case of an appointment made in hard copy form, be received at the office (or such other place in the United Kingdom or in the
United States as may be specified by the company for the receipt of appointments of proxy in hard copy form) not less than 48 hours
(or such shorter time as the board may determine) before the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which
the person named in the appointment proposes to vote together with (if required by the board) any authority under which it is made
or a copy of the authority, certified notarially or in accordance with the Powers of Attorney Act 1971 or in some other manner
approved by the board;
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(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

™)

in the case of an appointment made by electronic means, be received at the address specified by the company for the receipt of
appointments of proxy by electronic means not less than 48 hours (or such shorter time as the board may determine) before the time
appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes to vote. Any
authority pursuant to which such an appointment is made or a copy of the authority, certified notarially or in accordance with the
Powers of Attorney Act 1971 or in some other manner approved by the board, must, if required by the board, be received at such
address or at the office (or such other place in the United Kingdom as may be specified by the company for the receipt of such
documents) not less than 48 hours (or such shorter time as the board may determine) before the time appointed for holding the
meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes to vote;

in the case of an appointment delivered by an Approved Depositary (except in respect of a proxy appointed in accordance with
Article 69) be delivered to the appropriate place referred to in (i) or (ii) above, as appropriate, depending on whether the
appointment is made in hard copy or electronic form;

in the case of a vote taken more than 48 hours subsequently to the date of the meeting or adjourned meeting, be received as aforesaid
not less than 24 hours (or such shorter time as the board may determine) before the time appointed for the taking of the vote; and

in the case of a vote taken not more than 48 hours subsequently to the date of the meeting or adjourned meeting, be received as
aforesaid by the time at which the vote was demanded (or at such later time as the board may determine),

and an appointment of a proxy which is not, or in respect of which the authority or copy thereof is not, received in a manner so permitted
shall be invalid. When two or more valid but differing appointments of a proxy are received in respect of the same share for use at the
same meeting or poll, the one which is last received (regardless of its date or of the date of its signature) shall be treated as replacing and
revoking the others as regards that share; if the company is unable to determine which was last received, none of them shall be treated as
valid in respect of that share. The appointment of a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting in person at the meeting
or poll concerned. The proceedings at a general meeting shall not be invalidated where an appointment of a proxy in respect of that
meeting is sent in electronic form as provided in these articles, but because of a technical problem it cannot be read by the recipient.

34



76.

77.

78.

79.

80.

(B)  The board may at its discretion determine that in calculating the periods mentioned in this article no account shall be taken of any part of a
day that is not a working day.

Maximum Validity of Proxy

No appointment of a proxy shall be valid after 12 months have elapsed from the date of its receipt save that, unless the contrary is stated in it, an
appointment of a proxy shall be valid for use at an adjourned meeting or vote after a meeting or an adjourned meeting even after 12 months, if it
was valid for the original meeting.

Form of Proxy

The appointment of a proxy shall be in any usual form or in such other form as the board may approve. The appointment of a proxy shall be
deemed to confer authority to vote on any amendment of a resolution put to, or any other business which may properly come before, the meeting
for which it is given as the proxy thinks fit. The appointment of a proxy shall, unless the contrary is stated in it, be valid as well for any
adjournment of the meeting as for the meeting to which it relates.

Cancellation of Proxy’s Authority

A vote given by a proxy or by the duly authorised representative of a corporation shall be valid notwithstanding the previous determination of the
authority of the person voting, unless notice in writing of the determination was received by the company at the office (or such other place or
address as was specified by the company for the receipt of appointments of proxy) not later than the last time at which an appointment of a proxy
should have been received in order to be valid for use at the meeting at which the vote was given.

Class Meetings

Separate General Meetings

The provisions of these articles relating to general meetings shall apply, with any necessary modifications to any separate general meeting of the
holders of shares of a class convened otherwise than in connection with the variation or abrogation of the rights attached to the shares of that class.
For this purpose, a general meeting at which no holder of a share other than an ordinary share may, in his capacity as a member, attend or vote
shall also constitute a separate general meeting of the holders of the ordinary shares.

Appointment, Retirement and Removal of Directors

Number of Directors

Unless otherwise determined by ordinary resolution of the company, the directors (disregarding alternate directors) shall be not less than two nor
more than 24 in number.
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Directors’ Shareholding Qualification

No shareholding qualification for directors shall be required.

Power of Company to Appoint Directors

Subject to the provisions of these articles, the company may by ordinary resolution elect any person who is willing to act to be a director, either to
fill a vacancy or as an addition to the existing board, but so that the total number of directors shall not at any time exceed any maximum number
fixed by or in accordance with these articles.

Power of Board to Appoint Directors

Subject to the provisions of these articles, the board may appoint any person who is willing to act to be a director, either to fill a vacancy or as an
addition to the existing board, but so that the total number of directors shall not at any time exceed any maximum number fixed by or in
accordance with these articles. Any director so appointed shall retire at the next annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for
re-appointment.

Annual Retirement of Directors

At every annual general meeting each of the directors shall retire from office and may offer himself for re-appointment by the members.

Filling Vacancies

Subject to the provisions of these articles, at the meeting at which a director retires the company can pass an ordinary resolution to re-appoint the
director or to elect some other eligible person in his place.

Power of Removal by Special Resolution

In addition to any power of removal conferred by the Companies Acts, the company may by special resolution remove any director before the
expiration of his period of office and may (subject to these articles) by ordinary resolution appoint another person who is willing to act to be a
director in his place.

Persons Eligible as Directors
No person other than a director retiring at the meeting shall be appointed or re-appointed a director at any general meeting unless:
@@ he is recommended by the board; or

(i1) not less than seven nor more than 42 days before the day appointed for the meeting, notice in writing by a member qualified to vote at the
meeting (not being the person to be proposed) has been given to the secretary of the intention to propose that person for appointment or
re-appointment together with confirmation in writing by that person of his willingness to be appointed or re-appointed.
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88. Position of Retiring Directors

A director who retires at an annual general meeting may, if willing to continue to act, be re-appointed. If he is re-appointed he is treated as
continuing in office throughout. If he is not re-appointed, he shall retain office until the end of the meeting or (if earlier) when a resolution is
passed to appoint someone in his place or when a resolution to re-appoint the director is put to the meeting and lost.

89. Vacation of Office by Directors
Without prejudice to the provisions for retirement contained in these articles, the office of a director shall be vacated if:

(6] he resigns his office by notice in writing sent to or received at the office or at an address specified by the company for the purposes of
communication by electronic means or tendered at a meeting of the board; or

(i1) by notice in writing sent to or received at the office or at an address specified by the company for the purposes of communication by
electronic means or tendered at a meeting of the board, he offers to resign and the board resolves to accept such offer; or

(iii) by notice in writing sent to or received at the office or at an address specified by the company for the purposes of communication by
electronic means or tendered at a meeting of the board, his resignation is requested by all of the other directors and all of the other
directors are not less than three in number; or

(iv)  heis or has been suffering from mental or physical ill health and the board resolves that his office is vacated; or

W) he is absent without the permission of the board from meetings of the board (whether or not an alternate director appointed by him attends)
for six consecutive months and the board resolves that his office is vacated; or

(vi)  he becomes bankrupt or compounds with his creditors generally; or
(vii)  he is prohibited by law from being a director; or
(viii) he ceases to be a director by virtue of the Companies Acts or is removed from office pursuant to these articles.

If the office of a director is vacated for any reason, he shall cease to be a member of any committee or sub-committee of the board.

90. Alternate Directors

(A)  Each director may appoint any person to be his alternate and may at his discretion remove an alternate director so appointed. If the
alternate director is not already a director, the appointment, unless previously approved by the board, shall have effect only upon and
subject to its being so approved. Any appointment or removal
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of an alternate director shall be effected by notice in writing signed by the appointor and sent to or received at the office or at an address
specified by the company for the purpose of communication by electronic means or tendered at a meeting of the board, or in any other
manner approved by the board. An alternate director shall be entitled to receive notice of all meetings of the board or of committees of the
board of which his appointor is a member. He shall also be entitled to attend and vote as a director at any such meeting at which the
director appointing him is not personally present and at such meeting to exercise and discharge all the functions, powers, rights and duties
of his appointor as a director and for the purposes of the proceedings at such meeting the provisions of these articles shall apply as if he
were a director.

Every person acting as an alternate director shall (except as regards power to appoint an alternate and remuneration) be subject in all
respects to the provisions of these articles relating to directors and shall during his appointment be an officer of the company. An alternate
director shall alone be responsible to the company for his acts and defaults and shall not be deemed to be the agent of or for the director
appointing him. An alternate director may be paid expenses and shall be entitled to be indemnified by the company to the same extent as if
he were a director. An alternate director shall not be entitled to receive from the company any fee in his capacity as an alternate director
but the company shall, if so requested in writing by the appointor, pay to the alternate director any part of the fees or remuneration
otherwise due to the appointor.

A director or any other person may act as an alternate director to represent more than one director. Every person acting as an alternate
director shall have one vote for each director for whom he acts as alternate, in addition to his own vote if he is also a director but he shall
count as only one for the purposes of determining whether a quorum is present. Signature by an alternate director of any resolution in
writing of the board or a committee of the board shall, unless the notice of his appointment provides to the contrary, be as effective as
signature by his appointor.

An alternate director shall cease to be an alternate director:

(i)  ifhis appointor ceases for any reason to be a director except that, if at any meeting any director retires but is re-appointed at the
same meeting, any appointment made by him pursuant to this article which was in force immediately before his retirement shall
remain in force as though he had not retired; or

(i)  on the happening of any event which if he were a director would cause him to vacate his office as director; or

(iii) if he resigns his office by notice in writing to the company.

Executive Directors

The board or any committee authorised by the board may from time to time appoint one or more directors to hold any employment or executive
office with the company for such period and upon such other terms as the board or any committee authorised by the board
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92.

may in its discretion decide and may revoke or terminate any appointment so made. Any revocation or termination of the appointment shall be
without prejudice to any claim for damages that the director may have against the company or the company may have against the director for any
breach of any contract of service between him and the company which may be involved in the revocation or termination. A director so appointed
shall receive such remuneration (whether by way of salary, commission, participation in profits or otherwise) as the board or any committee
authorised by the board may decide, and either in addition to or in lieu of his remuneration as a director.

Fees, Remuneration, Expenses and Pensions

Directors’ Fees

&)

®)

©

The directors can decide on the amount, timing and manner of payment of fees to be paid by the company to the directors for acting as
directors, but the total fees paid to all of the directors for acting as directors (including amounts paid under Article 93(ii) to 93(v) but
excluding any amounts paid under any other provision of these articles) shall not exceed the higher of:

(i)  £3 million a year; and
(i) any higher amount as the company may by ordinary resolution decide.
These fees can be satisfied in cash or in any other form.

If the directors decide to satisfy any of these fees in shares or in any other non-cash form, the value of the shares or other assets to be
counted towards this limit will be their value at the time the entitlement to them is first allocated, or provisionally allocated, to the director.
This value will be taken into account for the purpose of the limit in the year in which the entitlement is first allocated, or provisionally
allocated, and not in any later year when the fees, shares or other assets are actually paid or delivered to the director. This paragraph
applies even if:

(i)  the director’s entitlement to the fees, or to receive the assets, is subject to conditions which will, or may, be fulfilled at a later time;

(i) the fees, shares or other assets are to be, or may be, paid or delivered to the director at a later time or the director elects, agrees or is
required to receive the cash equivalent of the shares or other assets as determined by reference to their value at such later time;

(iii) the company has not paid for the relevant shares or other assets at the time the director first becomes, or becomes provisionally,
entitled to them, and their value subsequently changes.

Unless an ordinary resolution is passed saying otherwise, the fees will be divided between some or all of the directors in the way that they
decide. If they fail to decide, the fees will be shared equally by the directors, except that any director holding office as a director for only
part of the period covered by the fee is only entitled to a pro rata share covering that part period.
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Additional Remuneration

The directors can award special pay to any director who:

@@ holds any executive post;

(i1) acts as chairman;

(iii)  acts as senior independent director;

(iv)  acts as a scientific/medical expert on the board,;

W) is chairman of, or serves on, any committee of the directors; or

(vi)  performs any other services which the directors consider to extend beyond the ordinary duties of a director.

Special pay can take the form of salary, commission or other benefits or can be paid in some other way. This is decided on by the directors.

Expenses

(A)  Each director may be paid his reasonable travelling, hotel and incidental expenses of attending and returning from meetings of the board or
committees of the board or general meetings of the company or any other meeting which as a director he is entitled to attend and shall be
paid all other costs and expenses properly and reasonably incurred by him in the conduct of the company’s business or in the discharge of
his duties as a director. The company may also fund a director’s or former director’s expenditure for the purposes permitted under the
Companies Acts and may do anything to enable a director or former director of the company to avoid incurring such expenditure as
provided in the Companies Acts.

(B)  The directors can award extra pay to any director who, at the request of the directors, performs special services or goes or lives abroad for
any purposes of the company.

Pensions and Gratuities for Directors

The board or any committee authorised by the board may exercise all the powers of the company to provide benefits, either by the payment of
gratuities or pensions or by insurance or in any other manner whether similar to the foregoing or not, for any director or former director or the
relations, or dependants of, or persons connected to, any director or former director, provided that no benefits (except such as may be provided for
by any other article) may be granted to or in respect of a director or former director who has not been employed by, or held an executive office or
place of profit under, the company or any body corporate which is or has been its subsidiary undertaking or any predecessor in business of the
company or any such body corporate without the approval of an ordinary resolution of the company. No director or former director shall be
accountable to the company or the members for any benefit provided pursuant to this article and the receipt of any such benefit shall not disqualify
any person from being or becoming a director of the company.
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Directors’ Interests

Conflicts of interest requiring board authorisation

(A)

(B)

©

D)

The board may, subject to the quorum and voting requirements set out in this article, authorise any matter which would otherwise involve
a director breaching his duty under the Companies Acts to avoid conflicts of interest (“Conflict”).

A director seeking authorisation in respect of a Conflict shall declare to the board the nature and extent of his interest in a Conflict as soon
as is reasonably practicable. The director shall provide the board with such details of the relevant matter as are necessary for the board to
decide how to address the Conflict together with such additional information as may be requested by the board.

Any director (including the relevant director) may propose that the relevant director be authorised in relation to any matter the subject of a
Conflict. Such proposal and any authority given by the board shall be effected in the same way that any other matter may be proposed to
and resolved upon by the board under the provisions of these articles save that:

(1)  the relevant director and any other director with a similar interest shall not count towards the quorum nor vote on any resolution
giving such authority; and

(ii) the relevant director and any other director with a similar interest may, if the other members of the board so decide, be excluded
from any board meeting while the Conflict is under consideration.

Where the board gives authority in relation to a Conflict, or where any of the situations described in Article 97(B) apply in relation to a
director (“Relevant Situation”):

(1)  the board may (whether at the relevant time or subsequently) (a) require that the relevant director is excluded from the receipt of
information, the participation in discussion and/or the making of decisions (whether at meetings of the board or otherwise) related to
the Conflict or Relevant Situation; and (b) impose upon the relevant director such other terms for the purpose of dealing with the
Conflict or Relevant Situation as it may determine;

(i) the relevant director will be obliged to conduct himself in accordance with any terms imposed by the board in relation to the Conflict
or Relevant Situation;
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(iv)
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the board may provide that where the relevant director obtains (otherwise than through his position as a director of the company)
information that is confidential to a third party, the director will not be obliged to disclose that information to the company, or to use
or apply the information in relation to the company’s affairs, where to do so would amount to a breach of that confidence;

the terms of the authority shall be recorded in writing (but the authority shall be effective whether or not the terms are so recorded);
and

the board may revoke or vary such authority at any time but this will not affect anything done by the relevant director prior to such
revocation in accordance with the terms of such authority.

Other conflicts of interest

(A) Ifadirector is in any way directly or indirectly interested in a proposed contract with the company or a contract that has been entered into
by the company, he must declare the nature and extent of that interest to the directors in accordance with the Companies Acts.

(B)  Provided he has declared his interest in accordance with paragraph (A), a director may:

(@
(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

™)

Benefits

be party to, or otherwise interested in, any contract with the company or in which the company has a direct or indirect interest;

hold any other office or place of profit with the company (except that of auditor) in conjunction with his office of director for such
period and upon such terms, including as to remuneration, as the board may decide;

act by himself or through a firm with which he is associated in a professional capacity for the company or any other company in
which the company may be interested (otherwise than as auditor);

be or become a director or other officer of, or employed by or otherwise be interested in any holding company or subsidiary
company of the company or any other company in which the company may be interested; and

be or become a director of any other company in which the company does not have an interest and which cannot reasonably be
regarded as giving rise to a conflict of interest at the time of his appointment as a director of that other company.

A director shall not, by reason of his office or of the fiduciary relationship thereby established, be liable to account to the company or the
members for any remuneration, profit or other benefit realised by reason of his having any type of interest authorised under Article 96(A) or
permitted under Article 97(B) and no contract shall be liable to be avoided on the grounds of a director having any type of interest authorised

under Article 96(A) or permitted under Article 97(B).
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99. Quorum and voting requirements

(A)

®)

©

A director shall not vote on or be counted in the quorum in relation to any resolution of the board concerning his own appointment, or the
settlement or variation of the terms or the termination of his own appointment, as the holder of any office or place of profit with the
company or any other company in which the company is interested.

Where proposals are under consideration concerning the appointment, or the settlement or variation of the terms or the termination of the
appointment, of two or more directors to offices or places of profit with the company or any other company in which the company is
interested, a separate resolution may be put in relation to each director and in that case each of the directors concerned shall be entitled to
vote and be counted in the quorum in respect of each resolution unless it concerns his own appointment or the settlement or variation of
the terms or the termination of his own appointment or the appointment of another director to an office or place of profit with a company
in which the company is interested and the director seeking to vote or be counted in the quorum has a Relevant Interest in it.

A director shall not vote on, or be counted in the quorum in relation to, any resolution of the board in respect of any contract in which he
has an interest and, if he shall do so, his vote shall not be counted, but this prohibition shall not apply to any resolution where that interest
cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a conflict of interest or where that interest arises only from one or more of the
following matters:

(i)  the giving to him of any guarantee, indemnity or security in respect of money lent or obligations undertaken by him or by any other
person at the request of or for the benefit of the company or any of its subsidiary undertakings;

(i) the giving to a third party of any guarantee, indemnity or security in respect of a debt or obligation of the company or any of its
subsidiary undertakings for which he himself has assumed responsibility in whole or in part under a guarantee or indemnity or by the
giving of security;

(iii) the giving to him of any other indemnity where all other directors are also being offered indemnities on substantially the same terms;

(iv) the funding by the company of his expenditure on defending proceedings or the doing by the company of anything to enable him to
avoid incurring such expenditure where all other directors are being offered substantially the same arrangements;

(v)  where the company or any of its subsidiary undertakings is offering securities in which offer the director is or may be entitled to
participate as a holder of securities or in the underwriting or sub-underwriting of which the director is to participate;
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(vi) any contract in which he is interested by virtue of his interest in shares or debentures or other securities of the company or by reason
of any other interest in or through the company;

(vii) any contract concerning any other company (not being a company in which the director has a Relevant Interest) in which he is
interested directly or indirectly whether as an officer, shareholder, creditor or otherwise howsoever;

(viii) any contract concerning the adoption, modification or operation of a pension fund, superannuation or similar scheme or retirement,
death or disability benefits scheme or employees’ share scheme which relates both to directors and employees of the company or of
any of its subsidiary undertakings and does not provide in respect of any director as such any privilege or advantage not accorded to
the employees to which the fund or scheme relates;

(ix) any contract for the benefit of employees of the company or of any of its subsidiary undertakings under which he benefits in a
similar manner to the employees and which does not accord to any director as such any privilege or advantage not accorded to the
employees to whom the contract relates; and

(x) any contract for the purchase or maintenance of insurance against any liability for, or for the benefit of, any director or directors or
for, or for the benefit of, persons who include directors.

A company shall be deemed to be one in which a director has a Relevant Interest if and so long as (but only if and so long as) he is to his
knowledge (either directly or indirectly) the holder of or beneficially interested in one per cent. or more of any class of the equity share
capital of that company (calculated exclusive of any shares of that class in that company held as treasury shares) or of the voting rights
available to members of that company. In relation to an alternate director, an interest of his appointor shall be treated as an interest of the
alternate director without prejudice to any interest which the alternate director has otherwise.

Where a company in which a director has a Relevant Interest is interested in a contract, he also shall be deemed interested in that contract.

If any question shall arise at any meeting of the board as to the interest of a director (other than the chairman of the meeting) in a contract
and whether it is likely to give rise to a conflict of interest or as to the entitlement of any director (other than the chairman of the meeting)
to vote or be counted in the quorum and the question is not resolved by his voluntarily agreeing to abstain from voting or not to be counted
in the quorum, the question shall be referred to the chairman of the meeting and his ruling in relation to the director concerned shall be
conclusive except in a case where the nature or extent of the director’s interest (so far as it is known to him) has not been fairly disclosed
to the board. If any question shall arise in respect of the chairman of the meeting, the question shall be decided by a resolution of the board
(for which purpose the chairman of the meeting shall be counted in the quorum but
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shall not vote on the matter) and the resolution shall be conclusive except in a case where the nature or extent of the interest of the
chairman of the meeting (so far as it is known to him) has not been fairly disclosed to the board.

(G)  Subject to these articles, the board may also cause any voting power conferred by the shares in any other company held or owned by the
company or any power of appointment to be exercised in such manner in all respects as it thinks fit, including the exercise of the voting
power or power of appointment in favour of the appointment of the directors or any of them as directors or officers of the other company,
or in favour of the payment of remuneration to the directors or officers of the other company. Subject to these articles, a director may also
vote on and be counted in the quorum in relation to any of such matters.

General
(A)  References in Articles 96 to 99 to:

(1)  acontract include references to any proposed contract and to any transaction or arrangement or proposed transaction or arrangement
whether or not constituting a contract; and

(i) a conflict of interest include a conflict of interest and duty and a conflict of duties.

(B)  The company may by ordinary resolution suspend or relax the provisions of Articles 95 to 98 to any extent or ratify any contract not
properly authorised by reason of a contravention of any of the provisions of Articles 96 to 99.

Powers and Duties of the Board

General Powers of Company Vested in Board

Subject to the these articles and to any directions given by the company in general meeting by special resolution, the business of the company
shall be managed by the board which may exercise all the powers of the company whether relating to the management of the business of the
company or not. No alteration of these articles and no special resolution shall invalidate any prior act of the board which would have been valid if
that alteration had not been made or that resolution had not been passed. The powers given by this article shall not be limited by any special power
given to the board by any other article.

Borrowing Powers
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, the directors may exercise all the powers of the company:
>i) to borrow money;

(ii) to mortgage or charge all or any of the company’s undertaking, property (present and future) and uncalled capital;
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(iii)  to issue debentures and other securities; and

(iv)  to give security either outright or as collateral security for any debt, liability or obligation of the company or of any third party.

103. Agents

(A)  The board can appoint anyone as the company’s attorney by granting a power of attorney or by authorising them in some other way.
Attorneys can either be appointed directly by the board or the board can give someone else the power to select attorneys. The board or the
persons who are authorised by it to select attorneys can decide on the purposes, powers, authorities and discretions of attorneys. But they
cannot give an attorney any power, authority or discretion which the board does not have under these articles.

(B)  The board can decide how long a power of attorney will last for and attach any conditions to it. The power of attorney can include any
provisions which the board decides on for the protection and convenience of anybody dealing with the attorney. The power of attorney can
allow the attorney to grant any or all of his power, authority or discretion to any other person.

(C)  The board can:
(1)  delegate any of its authority, powers or discretions to any manager or agent of the company;
(i) allow managers or agents to delegate to another person;
(iii) remove any people it has appointed in any of these ways; and

(iv) cancel or change anything that it has delegated, although this will not affect anybody who acts in good faith who has not had any
notice of any cancellation or change.

(D)  Any appointment or delegation by the board which is referred to in this article can be on any conditions decided on by the board.

(E) The ability of the board to delegate under this article applies to all its powers and is not limited because certain articles refer to powers
being exercised by the board or by a committee authorised by the board while other articles do not.

104. Delegation to Individual Directors

The board may entrust to and confer upon any director any of its powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-delegate) upon such terms
and conditions and with such restrictions as it thinks fit, and either collaterally with, or to the exclusion of, its own powers, authorities and
discretions and may from time to time revoke or vary all or any of them but no person dealing in good faith and without notice of the revocation
or variation shall be affected by it. The power to delegate contained in this article shall be effective in relation to the powers, authorities and
discretions of the board generally and shall not be
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limited by the fact that in certain articles, but not in others, express reference is made to particular powers, authorities or discretions being
exercised by the board or by a committee authorised by the board.

Registers

The company may keep an overseas or local or other register in any place and the board may make and vary such regulations as it may think fit
respecting the keeping of the register.

Provision for Employees

The board may exercise any power conferred by the Companies Acts to make provision for the benefit of persons employed or formerly employed
by the company or any of its subsidiaries in connection with the cessation or the transfer to any person of the whole or part of the undertaking of
the company or that subsidiary.

Proceedings of the Board

Board Meetings

The board may meet for the despatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as it thinks fit. A director at any time may, and the
secretary on the requisition of a director at any time shall, summon a board meeting.

Notice of Board Meetings

Notice of a board meeting shall be deemed to be properly given to a director if it is given to him personally or by word of mouth or sent in writing
to him at his last known address or any other address given by him to the company for this purpose. A director may waive his entitlement to notice
of any meeting either prospectively or retrospectively and any retrospective waiver shall not affect the validity of the meeting or of any business
conducted at the meeting.

Quorum

The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the board may be fixed by the board and, unless so fixed at any other number, shall be
two. Subject to the provisions of these articles, any director who ceases to be a director at a board meeting may continue to be present and to act as
a director and be counted in the quorum until the termination of the board meeting if no other director objects and if otherwise a quorum of
directors would not be present.

Directors below Minimum through Vacancies

The continuing directors or a sole continuing director may act notwithstanding any vacancy in their number but, if and so long as the number of
directors is reduced below the minimum number fixed by or in accordance with these articles or is below the number fixed by or in accordance
with these articles as the quorum or there is only one continuing director, the continuing directors or director may act for the purpose of filling
vacancies or
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of summoning general meetings of the company but not for any other purpose. If there are no directors or director able or willing to act, then any
two members (excluding any member holding shares as treasury shares) may summon a general meeting for the purpose of appointing directors.

Appointment of Chairman

The board may appoint a director to be the chairman or a deputy chairman of the board, and may at any time remove him from that office. The
chairman of the board or failing him a deputy chairman shall act as chairman at every meeting of the board. If more than one deputy chairman is
present they shall agree amongst themselves who is to take the chair or, if they cannot agree, the deputy chairman who has been in office as a
director longest shall take the chair. But if no chairman of the board or deputy chairman is appointed, or if at any meeting neither the chairman nor
any deputy chairman is present within five minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting, the directors present may choose one of their
number to be chairman of the meeting. References in these articles to a deputy chairman include, if no one has been appointed to that title, a
person appointed to a position with another title which the board designates as equivalent to the position of deputy chairman.

Competence of Meetings

A meeting of the board at which a quorum is present shall be competent to exercise all the powers, authorities and discretions vested in or
exercisable by the board.

Voting

Questions arising at any meeting shall be determined by a majority of votes. In the case of an equality of votes the chairman of the meeting shall
have a second or casting vote.

Delegation to Committees

(A)  The board may delegate any of its powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-delegate) to any committee, consisting of such
person or persons (whether a member or members of its body or not) as it thinks fit, provided that the majority of persons on any
committee or sub-committee must be directors. References in these articles to committees include sub-committees permitted under this
article.

(B)  Any committee so formed shall, in the exercise of the powers, authorities and discretions so delegated, conform to any regulations which
may be imposed on it by the board. The meetings and proceedings of any committee consisting of two or more members shall be governed
by the provisions contained in these articles for regulating the meetings and proceedings of the board so far as the same are applicable and
are not superseded by any regulations imposed by the board.

©) The power to delegate contained in this article shall be effective in relation to the powers, authorities and discretions of the board generally
and shall not be limited by the fact that in certain articles, but not in others, express reference is made to particular powers, authorities or
discretions being exercised by the board or by a committee authorised by the board.
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Participation in Meetings

All or any of the members of the board may participate in a meeting of the board by means of a conference telephone or any communication
equipment which allows all persons participating in the meeting to speak to and hear each other or by a series of telephone calls from the chairman
of the meeting. A person so participating shall be deemed to be present in person at the meeting and shall be entitled to vote and be counted in a
quorum accordingly. Any such meeting will be treated as taking place where the chairman is located.

Resolution in Writing

A resolution in writing signed by all the directors who are at the relevant time entitled to receive notice of a meeting of the board and who would
be entitled to vote on the resolution at a meeting of the board (if that number is sufficient to constitute a quorum) shall be as valid and effectual as
a resolution passed at a meeting of the board properly called and constituted. The resolution may be contained in one document or in several
documents in like form each signed by one or more of the directors concerned.

Validity of Acts of Board or Committee

All acts done by the board or by any committee or by any person acting as a director or member of a committee shall, notwithstanding that it is
afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of any member of the board or committee or person so acting or that they or
any of them were disqualified from holding office or had vacated office or were not entitled to vote, be as valid as if each such member or person
had been properly appointed and was qualified and had continued to be a director or member of the committee and had been entitled to vote.

Seals

Use of Seals

The board shall provide for the custody of every seal of the company. A seal shall only be used by the authority of the board or of a committee of
the board authorised by the board in that behalf. Subject as otherwise provided in these articles, and to any resolution of the board or committee of
the board dispensing with the requirement for any counter-signature on any occasion, any instrument to which the common seal is applied shall be
signed by at least one director and the secretary, or by at least two directors or by one director in the presence of a witness who attests the
signature or by such other person or persons as the board may approve. Any instrument to which an official seal is applied need not, unless the
board otherwise decides or the law otherwise requires, be signed by any person.

Dividends and Other Payments

Declaration of Dividends by Company

The company may by ordinary resolution from time to time declare dividends in accordance with the respective rights of the members, but no
dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the board.
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Payment of Interim and Fixed Dividends by Board

The board may pay such interim dividends as appear to the board to be justified by the financial position of the company and may also pay any
dividend payable at a fixed rate at intervals settled by the board whenever the financial position of the company, in the opinion of the board,
justifies its payment. If the board acts in good faith, it shall not incur any liability to the holders of any shares for any loss they may suffer in
consequence of the payment of an interim or fixed dividend on any other class of shares ranking pari passu with or after those shares.

Calculation and Currency of Dividends
(A)  Except in so far as the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any share otherwise provide:

(i)  all dividends shall be declared and paid according to the amounts paid up on the share in respect of which the dividend is paid, but
no amount paid up on a share in advance of calls shall be treated for the purposes of this article as paid up on the share;

(i) all dividends shall be apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amounts paid up on the share during any portion or portions of
the period in respect of which the dividend is paid; and

(iii) dividends may be declared or paid in any currency.

(B)  The board may decide the basis of conversion for any currency conversions that may be required and how any costs involved are to be
met.

(C)  The board may also decide that a particular Approved Depositary should be able to receive dividends in a currency other than the currency
in which it is declared and may make arrangements accordingly. In particular, if an Approved Depositary has chosen or agreed to receive
dividends in another currency, the directors may make arrangements with that Approved Depositary for payment to be made to them for
value on the date on which the relevant dividend is paid, or a later date decided on by the directors.

Amounts Due on Shares may be Deducted from Dividends

The board may deduct from any dividend or other moneys payable to a member by the company on or in respect of any shares all sums of money
(if any) presently payable by him to the company on account of calls or otherwise in respect of shares of the company. Sums so deducted can be
used to pay amounts owing to the company in respect of the shares.

No Interest on Dividends

Subject to the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any shares, no dividend or other moneys payable by the company on or in respect of any
share shall bear interest against the company.
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(A)

®)

©

Any dividend or other sum payable in cash by the company in respect of a share may be paid:

(@)

(if)
(iif)

(iv)

by inter-bank transfer or by other electronic means (including payment through CREST) directly to an account with a bank or other
financial institution (or other organisations operating deposit accounts if allowed by the company) named in a written instruction
from the persons entitled to receive the payment under this article;

by sending a cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument by post addressed to the holder at his registered address;

by sending a cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument payable to someone else named in a written instruction from the
shareholder (or all joint shareholders) and sent by post to the address specified in that instruction; or

in some other way requested in writing by the shareholder (or all joint shareholders) and agreed with the company.

In respect of payment of any dividend or other money, the directors can decide and notify shareholders that:

@

(i)

(iif)

one or more of the payment means described in paragraph (A) above will be used for payment and, where more than one means will
be used, a shareholder (or all joint shareholders) may elect to receive payment by one of the means so notified in the manner
prescribed by the directors;

one or more of such means will be used for the payment unless a shareholder (or all joint shareholders) elects for another means of
payment in the manner prescribed by the directors; or

one or more of such means will be used for the payment and that shareholders will not be able to elect to receive the payment by any
other means.

a shareholder (or all joint shareholders) does not specify an address, or does not specify an account of a type prescribed by the
directors, or does not specify other details, and in each case that information is necessary in order to make payment of the dividend
or other money in the way in which under this article the directors have decided that the payment is to be made or by which the
shareholder (or all joint shareholders) has validly elected to receive the payment; or
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(i) payment cannot be made by the company using the information provided by the shareholder (or all joint shareholders),
then the dividend or other money will be treated as unclaimed for the purposes of these articles.

(D)  For joint shareholders or persons jointly entitled to shares by law, payment can be made to the shareholder whose name stands first in the
register. The company can then rely on a receipt for a dividend or other money paid on shares from any one of them on behalf of them all.

(E)  Cheques, warrants and similar financial instruments are sent, and payment in any other way is made, at the risk of the person who is
entitled to the money. The company is treated as having paid a dividend if the cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument is cleared or
if a payment is made through CREST, bank transfer or other electronic means. The company will not be responsible for any payment
which is lost or delayed.

F) Where a person is entitled by transmission to a share, any dividend or other sum payable by the company in respect of the share may be
paid as if he were a holder of the share and his address noted in the register were his registered address and where two or more persons are
so entitled, any one of them may give effectual receipts for any dividends or other moneys payable or property distributable on or in
respect of the shares.

Uncashed Dividends

The company may cease to send any cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument through the post or to employ any other means of payment,
including payment by means of a relevant system, for any dividend payable on any shares in the company which is normally paid in that manner
on those shares if in respect of at least two consecutive dividends payable on those shares the cheques, warrants or similar financial instruments
have been returned undelivered or remain uncashed during or at the end of the period for which the same are valid or that means of payment has
failed. In addition, the company may cease to send any cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument through the post or may cease to employ
any other means of payment if, in respect of one dividend payable on those shares, the cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument has been
returned undelivered or remains uncashed during or at the end of the period for which the same is valid or that means of payment has failed and
reasonable enquiries have failed to establish any new postal address or account of the holder. Subject to the provisions of these articles, the
company must recommence sending cheques, warrants or similar financial instruments or employing such other means in respect of dividends
payable on those shares if the holder or person entitled by transmission requests such recommencement in writing.

Forfeiture of Unclaimed Dividends

All dividends or other sums payable on or in respect of any shares which remain unclaimed may be invested or otherwise made use of by the
board for the benefit of the company until claimed. Any dividend or other sum unclaimed after a period of 12 years

52



127.

128.

from the date when it was declared or became due for payment shall be forfeited and shall revert to the company unless the board decides
otherwise and the payment by the board of any unclaimed dividend or other sum payable on or in respect of a share into a separate account shall
not constitute the company a trustee in respect of it.

Dividends Not in Cash

Any general meeting declaring a dividend may, upon the recommendation of the board, by ordinary resolution direct, and the board may in
relation to any interim dividend direct, that it shall be satisfied wholly or partly by the distribution of assets, and in particular of paid up shares or
debentures of any other company, and where any difficulty arises in regard to the distribution the board may settle it as it thinks expedient, and in
particular may authorise any person to sell and transfer any fractions or may ignore fractions altogether, and may fix the value for distribution
purposes of any assets or any part thereof to be distributed and may determine that cash shall be paid to any members upon the footing of the
value so fixed in order to secure equality of distribution and may vest any assets to be distributed in trustees as may seem expedient to the board.

Scrip Dividends and Dividend Plans Generally

The board may, if authorised by an ordinary resolution of the company, offer any holders of ordinary shares (excluding any member holding
shares as treasury shares) the right to elect to receive ordinary shares, credited as fully paid, instead of cash in respect of the whole (or some part,
to be determined by the board) of any dividend specified by the ordinary resolution. The following provisions shall apply:

@) an ordinary resolution may specify some or all of a particular dividend (whether or not already declared) or may specify some or all of any
dividends declared or paid within a specified period, but such period may not end later than the third anniversary of the date of the meeting
at which the ordinary resolution is passed;

(i1) the entitlement of each holder of ordinary shares to new ordinary shares shall be such that the relevant value of the entitlement shall be as
nearly as possible equal to (but not greater than) the cash amount (disregarding any tax credit) of the dividend that such holder elects to
forgo. For this purpose “relevant value” shall be calculated by reference to the average of the middle market quotations for the company’s
ordinary shares on the London Stock Exchange as derived from the Daily Official List (or any other publication of a recognised
investment exchange showing quotations for the company’s ordinary shares) on such five consecutive dealing days as the board shall
determine provided that the first of such days shall be on or after the day on which the ordinary shares are first quoted “ex” the relevant
dividend or in such other manner as may be determined by or in accordance with the ordinary resolution. A certificate or report by the
auditors as to the amount of the relevant value in respect of any dividend shall be conclusive evidence of that amount and in giving such a
certificate or report the auditors may rely on advice or information from brokers or other sources of information as they think fit;

(iii)  no fraction of any ordinary share shall be allotted. The board may make such provisions as it thinks fit for any fractional entitlements
including provisions whereby, in whole or in part, the benefit thereof accrues to the company and/or
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™)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

under which fractional entitlements are accrued and/or retained without interest and in each case accumulated on behalf of any holder of
ordinary shares and such accruals or retentions are applied to the allotment by way of bonus to or cash subscription on behalf of such
holder of fully paid ordinary shares and/or provisions whereby cash payments may be made to such holders in respect of their fractional
entitlements;

the board, if it intends to offer an election in respect of any dividend, shall give notice to the holders of ordinary shares of the right of
election offered to them, and specify the procedure to be followed which, for the avoidance of doubt, may include an election by means of
a relevant system and the place at which, and the latest time by which, elections must be lodged in order for elections to be effective; no
such notice need be given to holders of ordinary shares who have previously given election mandates in accordance with this article and
whose mandates have not been revoked; the accidental omission to give notice of any right of election to, or the non receipt (even if the
company becomes aware of such non-receipt) of any such notice by, any holder of ordinary shares entitled to the same shall neither
invalidate any offer of an election nor give rise to any claim, suit or action;

the board shall not proceed with any election unless the company has sufficient reserves or funds that may be capitalised, and the board
has authority to allot sufficient shares, to give effect to it after the basis of allotment is determined,

the board may exclude or restrict from any offer any shareholder who is an Approved Depositary or a nominee for an Approved
Depositary if the offer or exercise of the right to or by the persons on whose behalf the Approved Depositary holds the shares would suffer
legal or practical problems of the kind mentioned in Article 128(vii). If other shareholders (other than those excluded under Article 128
(vii)) have the right to opt for new shares, the directors must be satisfied that an appropriate dividend reinvestment plan or similar
arrangement is available to a substantial majority of the people on whose behalf the Approved Depositary holds shares or that such
arrangement will be available promptly and the first sentence of this Article 128(vi) does not apply until the directors are satisfied of this;

the board may exclude from any offer or make other arrangement in relation to any holders of ordinary shares where the board believes
that such exclusion or arrangement is necessary or expedient in relation to legal or practical problems under the laws of, or the
requirements of any recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in, any territory, or the board believes that for any other reason the
offer should not be made to them;

the dividend (or that part of the dividend in respect of which a right of election has been offered) shall not be payable on ordinary shares in
respect of which an election has been made (for the purposes of this article “the elected ordinary shares”) and instead additional ordinary
shares shall be allotted to the holders of the elected ordinary shares on the basis of allotment calculated as stated. For such purpose the
board shall capitalise, out of any amount standing to the credit of any reserve or fund (including the retained earnings) at the relevant time
whether or not the same is available for distribution as the board may determine, a sum equal to the aggregate nominal amount of the
additional ordinary shares to be allotted on
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(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

that basis and apply it in paying up in full the appropriate number of ordinary shares for allotment and distribution to the holders of the
elected ordinary shares on that basis. The board may do all acts and things considered necessary or expedient to give effect to any such
capitalisation;

the additional ordinary shares when allotted shall rank pari passu in all respects with the fully-paid ordinary shares then in issue except that
they will not be entitled to participation in the relevant dividend;

unless the board otherwise determines, or unless the uncertificated securities rules otherwise require, the new ordinary share or shares
which a member has elected to receive instead of cash in respect of the whole (or some part) of the specified dividend declared or paid in
respect of his elected ordinary shares shall be in uncertificated form (in respect of the member’s elected ordinary shares which were in
uncertificated form on the date of the member’s election) and in certificated form (in respect of the member’s elected ordinary shares
which were in certificated form on the date of the member’s election);

the board may also from time to time establish or vary a procedure for election mandates, which, for the avoidance of doubt, may include
an election by means of a relevant system, under which a holder of ordinary shares may elect in respect of future rights of election offered
to that holder under this article until the election mandate is revoked or deemed to be revoked in accordance with the procedure;

the board may decide how any costs relating to making new shares available in place of a cash dividend will be met, including deciding to
deduct an amount from the entitlement of a shareholder under this article; and

at any time before new ordinary shares are allotted instead of cash in respect of any part of a dividend, the board may determine that such
new ordinary shares will not be allotted. Any such determination may be made before or after any election has been made by holders of
ordinary shares in respect of the relevant dividend.

Capitalisation of Reserves

Power to Capitalise Reserves and Funds

The company may, upon the recommendation of the board, at any time and from time to time pass an ordinary resolution to the effect that it is
desirable to capitalise all or any part of any amount standing to the credit of any reserve or fund (including retained earnings) at the relevant time
whether or not the same is available for distribution and accordingly that the amount to be capitalised be set free for distribution among the
members or any class of members who would be entitled to it if it were distributed by way of dividend and in the same proportions, on the footing
that it is applied either in or towards paying up the amounts unpaid at the relevant time on any shares in the company held by those members
respectively or in paying up in full shares, debentures or other obligations of the company to be allotted and distributed credited as fully paid up
among those members, or partly in one way and partly in the other, but so that, for the purposes of this article: (i) a share premium account and a
capital redemption reserve, and any reserve or fund representing unrealised profits, may be applied only in paying up in full shares of the
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company that are to be allotted and distributed as fully paid up; and (ii) where the amount capitalised is applied in paying up in full shares that are
to be allotted and distributed as fully paid up, the company will also be entitled to participate in the relevant distribution in relation to any shares
of the relevant class held by it as treasury shares and the proportionate entitlement of the relevant class of members to the distribution will be
calculated accordingly. The board may authorise any person to enter into an agreement with the company on behalf of the persons entitled to
participate in the distribution and the agreement shall be binding on those persons.

Settlement of Difficulties in Distribution

Where any difficulty arises in regard to any distribution of any capitalised reserve or fund the board may settle the matter as it thinks expedient
and in particular may authorise any person to sell and transfer any fractions or may resolve that the distribution should be as nearly as may be
practicable in the correct proportion but not exactly so or may ignore fractions altogether, and may determine that cash payments shall be made to
any members in order to adjust the rights of all parties, as may seem expedient to the board.

Record Dates

Power to Choose Any Record Date

Notwithstanding any other provision of these articles, the company or the board may fix any date as the record date for any dividend, distribution,
allotment or issue and such record date may be on or at any time before or after any date on which the dividend, distribution, allotment or issue is
declared, paid or made. The power to fix any such record date shall include the power to fix a time on the chosen date.

Records and Summary Financial Statements

Inspection of Records

No member in his capacity as such shall have any right of inspecting any accounting record or book or document of the company except as
conferred by law, ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or authorised by the board or by ordinary resolution of the company.

Summary Financial Statements

The company may send or supply copies of its strategic reports with supplementary materials to its members instead of copies of its full accounts
and reports.

Service of Notices, Documents and Other Information

Method of Service

(A)  Any notice, document (including a share certificate) or other information may be served on or sent or supplied to any member by the
company:

(i)  personally;
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D)

(i) by sending it through the post addressed to the member at his registered address or by leaving it at that address addressed to the
member;

(iii) by means of a relevant system;

(iv) where appropriate, by sending or supplying it in electronic form to an address notified by the member to the company for that
purpose;

(v) where appropriate, by making it available on a website and notifying the member of its availability in accordance with this article; or

(vi) by any other means authorised in writing by the member.

In the case of joint holders of a share, service, sending or supply of any notice, document or other information on or to one of the joint
holders shall for all purposes be deemed a sufficient service on or sending or supplying to all the joint holders.

In the case of joint holders of a share, anything to be agreed or specified in relation to any notice, document or other information to be
served on or sent or supplied to them may be agreed or specified by any one of the joint holders and the agreement or specification of the
senior shall be accepted to the exclusion of that of the other joint holders and, for this purpose, seniority shall be determined by the order
in which the names stand in the register in respect of the joint holding.

If any member, including any joint holder, who is without a United Kingdom or United States postal address provides the company with
such postal address is entitled to have notice or documents served or supplied to him at that address. If such a member fails to provide the
company with a United Kingdom or United States postal address he may be ignored for the purposes of sufficient service or supply of any
notice or documents.

If on three consecutive occasions any notice, document or other information served on or sent or supplied to a member has been returned
undelivered, such member shall not thereafter be entitled to receive notices, documents or other information from the company until he
shall have communicated with the company and supplied to the company (or its agent) a new registered address, or a postal address within
the United Kingdom or the United States for the service of notices and the despatch or supply of documents and other information, or shall
have informed the company of an address for the service of notices and the despatch or supply of documents and other information in
electronic form. For these purposes, any notice, document or other information sent by post shall be treated as returned undelivered if the
notice, document or other information is served, sent or supplied back to the company (or its agents) and a notice, document or other
information served, sent or supplied in electronic form shall be treated as returned undelivered if the company (or its agents) receives
notification that the notice, document or other information was not delivered to the address to which it was sent. For the avoidance of
doubt, a notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied in electronic form shall not be treated as a failure to deliver if the
company (or its agents) receives an out of office notification from such member.

57



135.

136.

137.

(E)

The company may at any time and in its sole discretion choose (a) to serve, send or supply notices, documents or other information in hard
copy form alone to some or all members; and (b) not to serve, send or supply any notice, document or other information to a particular
member where it considers this necessary or appropriate to deal with legal, regulatory or practical problems in, or under the laws of, any
territory.

Record Date for Service

Any notice, document or other information may be served, sent or supplied by the company by reference to the register as it stands at any time not
more than 15 days before the date of service, sending or supply. No change in the register after that time shall invalidate that service, sending or
supply. Where any notice, document or other information is served on or sent or supplied to any person in respect of a share in accordance with
these articles, no person deriving any title or interest in that share shall be entitled to any further service, sending or supply of that notice,
document or other information.

Members Resident Abroad or on Branch Registers

(A)

(B

Any member whose registered address is not within the United Kingdom or the United States and who gives to the company a postal
address within the United Kingdom or the United States at which notices, documents or other information may be served upon, or sent or
supplied to, him shall be entitled to have notices, documents or other information served on or sent or supplied to him at that address or,
where applicable, by making them available on a website and notifying the holder at that address. Any member whose registered address is
not within the United Kingdom or the United States and who gives to the company an address for the purposes of communications by
electronic means may, subject to these articles, have notices, documents or other information served on or sent or supplied to him at that
address or, where applicable, by making them available on a website and notifying the holder at that address. Otherwise, a member whose
registered address is not within the United Kingdom or the United States shall not be entitled to receive any notice, document or other
information from the company.

For a member registered on a branch register, notices, documents or other information can be posted or despatched in the United
Kingdom, the United States or in the country where the branch register is kept.

Service of Notice on Person Entitled by Transmission

(A)

®)

This article applies where a member has died or become bankrupt or is in liquidation, or where someone else has otherwise become
entitled by law to that member’s shares, but is still registered as a member, it applies whether he is registered as a sole or joint member.

A person who is entitled by transmission to a share, and who proves this to the reasonable satisfaction of the directors, upon supplying the
company with a postal address within the United Kingdom or the United States for the service of notices and the despatch or supply of
documents and other information, shall
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D)

(E)

be entitled to have served upon or sent or supplied to him at such address any notice, document or other information to which he would
have been entitled if he were the holder of that share or, where applicable, to be notified at that address of the availability of the notice,
document or other information on a website.

A person who is entitled by transmission to a share, and who proves this to the reasonable satisfaction of the directors, upon supplying the
company with an address for the purposes of communications by electronic means for the service of notices and the despatch or supply of
documents and other information, may have served on, sent or supplied to him at such address any notice, document or other information
to which he would have been entitled if he were the holder of that share or, where applicable, may be notified at that address of the
availability of the notice, document or other information on a website.

In either case under paragraphs (B) and (C) above, such service, sending or supply shall for all purposes be deemed a sufficient service,
sending or supply of such notice, document or other information on all persons interested (whether jointly with or as claimants through or
under him) in the share.

Otherwise, any notice, document or other information served on or sent or supplied to any member pursuant to these articles shall,
notwithstanding that the member is then dead or bankrupt or that any other event giving rise to the transmission of the share by operation
of law has occurred and whether or not the company has notice of the death, bankruptcy or other event, be deemed to have been properly
served, sent or supplied in respect of any share registered in the name of that member as sole or joint holder.

Deemed Delivery

(A)

®)

©

Any notice, document or other information, if served, sent or supplied by the company by post, shall be deemed to have been received on
the day following that on which it was posted if first class post was used or 48 hours after it was posted if first class post was not used and,
in proving that a notice, document or other information was served, sent or supplied, it shall be sufficient to prove that the notice,
document or other information was properly addressed, prepaid and put in the post.

Any notice, document or other information not served, sent or supplied by post but left by the company at a registered address or at an
address (other than an address for the purposes of communications by electronic means) notified to the company in accordance with these
articles by a person who is entitled by transmission to a share shall be deemed to have been received on the day it was so left.

Any notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied by the company by means of a relevant system shall be deemed to
have been received when the company or any sponsoring system-participant acting on its behalf sends the issuer-instruction relating to the
notice, document or other information.
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(D)  Any notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied by the company using electronic means shall be deemed to have been
received on the day on which it was sent notwithstanding that the company subsequently sends a hard copy of such notice, document or
information by post. Any notice, document or other information made available on a website shall be deemed to have been received on the
day on which the notice, document or other information was first made available on the website or, if later, when a notice of availability is
received or deemed to have been received pursuant to this article. In proving that a notice, document or other information served, sent or
supplied by electronic means was served, sent or supplied, it shall be sufficient to prove that it was properly addressed.

(E) Any notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied by the company by any other means authorised in writing by the
member concerned shall be deemed to have been received when the company has carried out the action it has been authorised to take for
that purpose.

Notice When Post Not Available

If there is a suspension or curtailment of postal services within the United Kingdom, the United States or some part of either the United Kingdom
or the United States, the company need only give notice of a general meeting to those members with whom the company can communicate by
electronic means and who have provided the company with an address for this purpose. The company shall also advertise the notice in at least one
newspaper with a national circulation and make it available on its website from the date of such advertisement until the conclusion of the meeting
or any adjournment thereof. If at least six clear days prior to the meeting the sending or supply of notices by post in hard copy form has again
become generally possible, the company shall send or supply confirmatory copies of the notice by post to those members who would otherwise
receive the notice in hard copy form.

Destruction of Documents

Presumptions Where Documents Destroyed
If the company destroys or deletes:
@@ any share certificate which has been cancelled at any time after a period of one year has elapsed from the date of cancellation, or

(i1) any instruction concerning the payment of dividends or other moneys in respect of any share or any notification of change of name or
address at any time after a period of two years has elapsed from the date the instruction or notification was recorded by the company, or

(i)  any instrument of transfer of shares or Operator-instruction for the transfer of shares which has been registered by the company at any time
after a period of six years has elapsed from the date of registration, or

(iv)  any instrument of proxy which has been used for the purpose of a poll at any time after a period of one year has elapsed from the date of
use, or
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W) any instrument of proxy which has not been used for the purpose of a poll at any time after a period of one month has elapsed from the end
of the meeting to which the instrument of proxy relates, or

(vi)  any other document on the basis of which any entry is made in the register at any time after a period of six years has elapsed from the date
the entry was first made in the register in respect of it,

and the company destroys or deletes the document or instruction in good faith and without express notice that its preservation was relevant to a
claim, it shall be presumed irrebuttably in favour of the company that every share certificate so destroyed was a valid certificate and was properly
cancelled, that every instrument of transfer or Operator-instruction so destroyed or deleted was a valid and effective instrument of transfer or
instruction and was properly registered and that every other document so destroyed was a valid and effective document and that any particulars of
it which are recorded in the books or records of the company were correctly recorded. If the documents relate to uncertificated shares, the
company must comply with any requirements of the uncertificated securities rules which limit its ability to destroy these documents. Nothing
contained in this article shall be construed as imposing upon the company any liability which, but for this article, would not exist or by reason
only of the destruction of any document of the kind mentioned above before the relevant period mentioned in this article has elapsed or of the fact
that any other condition precedent to its destruction mentioned above has not been fulfilled. References in this article to the destruction of any
document include references to its disposal in any manner.

Indemnity and Insurance

Indemnity of Directors

(A)  To the extent permitted by the Companies Acts, every director or former director or other officer of the company or of any associated
company shall be indemnified by the company out of its own funds against all costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by
him in performing his duties and/or in exercising his powers and/or in supposedly doing these things and/or otherwise in relation to or in
connection with his duties, powers or office.

(B)  To the extent permitted by the Companies Acts, every director or former director or other officer of the company or of any associated
company is exempted from any liability to the company where that liability would be covered by the indemnity in Article 141(A).

(C)  Without prejudice to Article 141(A), the company may purchase and maintain insurance against any liability for any persons who are or
were at any time directors, officers or employees of the company or of any associated company or trustees of any pension fund or
employee share scheme in which employees of any such company are interested.
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(D)  No director or former director of the company or of any associated company shall be accountable to the company or the members for any
benefit provided pursuant to this article and the receipt of any such benefit shall not disqualify the person from being or becoming a
director of the company.

(E) For the purposes of this article, no person appointed or employed by the company or an associated company as an auditor is an officer.
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Company No. 3888792

The Companies Acts 1948 to 2006

COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES

RESOLUTIONS

GlaxoSmithKline plc (the “Company”)

Passed: 8 May 2019

At the NINETEENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the Company held on Wednesday 8 May 2019, the following resolutions were duly passed
under special business by the requisite majority of the members of the Company in accordance with sections 282 and 283 of the Companies Act 2006
respectively:-

17.

18.

19.

Authority to allot shares (ordinary resolution)

THAT the Directors be and are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised, in accordance with section 551 of the Act, in substitution for all
subsisting authorities, to exercise all powers of the company to allot shares in the company and to grant rights to subscribe for or convert any
security into shares in the company up to an aggregate nominal amount of £413,826,159 which authority shall expire at the end of the next AGM
of the company to be held in 2020 or, if earlier, at the close of business on 30 June 2020 (unless previously revoked or varied by the company in
general meeting) save that under such authority the company may, before such expiry, make an offer or agreement which would or might require
shares to be allotted or rights to subscribe for or convert any security into

shares to be granted after such expiry and the Directors may allot shares or grant rights to subscribe for or convert any security into shares in
pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the relevant authority conferred hereby had not expired.

General power to disapply pre-emption rights (special resolution)

THAT, subject to resolution 17 being passed, the Directors be and are hereby empowered to allot equity securities (as defined in the Act) for cash
under the authority given by that resolution and/or to sell Ordinary Shares held by the company as Treasury shares for cash as if section 561 of the
Act did not apply to any such allotment or sale, such power to be limited:

(a) to the allotment of equity securities and sale of Treasury shares in connection with an offer of, or invitation to apply for, equity securities:
(i)  to Ordinary shareholders in proportion (as nearly as may be practicable) to their existing holdings; and
(i) to holders of other equity securities, as required by the rights of those securities, or as the Directors otherwise consider necessary,

but so that the Directors may impose any limits or restrictions and make any arrangements which they consider necessary or appropriate to
deal with Treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, legal, regulatory or practical problems in, or under the laws of, any
territory or any other matter whatsoever; and

(b) to the allotment of equity securities or sale of Treasury shares (otherwise than under paragraph (a) above) up to a nominal amount of
£62,080,131,

such power to expire at the end of the next AGM of the company to be held in 2020 (or, if earlier, at the close of business on 30 June 2020) but, in
each case, prior to its expiry the company may make offers, and enter into agreements, which would, or might, require equity securities to be
allotted (and Treasury shares to be sold) after the power expires and the Directors may allot equity securities (and sell Treasury shares) under any
such offer or agreement as if the power had not expired.

Specific power to disapply pre-emption rights in connection with an acquisition or specified capital investment (special resolution)

THAT, subject to resolution 17 being passed, the Directors be and are hereby empowered in addition to any authority granted under resolution 18
to allot equity securities (as defined in the Act) for cash under the authority given by that resolution and/ or to sell Ordinary Shares held by the
company as Treasury shares for cash as if section 561 of the Act did not apply to any such allotment or sale, such power to be:

(@ limited to the allotment of equity securities or sale of Treasury shares up to a nominal amount of £62,080,131; and

(b) used only for the purposes of financing (or refinancing, if the authority is to be used within six months after the original transaction) a
transaction which the Directors determine to be an acquisition or other capital investment of a kind contemplated by the Statement of
Principles on Disapplying Pre-Emption Rights most recently published by the Pre- Emption Group prior to the date of this Notice,
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20.

22.

such power to expire at the end of the next AGM of the company to be held in 2020 (or, if earlier, at the close of business on 30 June 2020) but, in
each case, prior to its expiry the company may make offers, and enter into agreements, which would, or might, require equity securities to be
allotted (and Treasury shares to be sold) after the power expires and the Directors may allot equity securities (and sell Treasury shares) under any
such offer or agreement as if the power had not expired.

Purchase of own shares by the company (special resolution)

THAT the company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of section 701 of the Act to make market
purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the Act) of its own Ordinary Shares of 25 pence each provided that the:

(a) maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 496,641,052;
(b) minimum price, exclusive of expenses, which may be paid for each Ordinary Share is 25 pence;

() maximum price, exclusive of expenses, which may be paid for each Ordinary Share shall be the higher of (i) an amount equal to 5% above
the average market value for the company’s Ordinary Shares for the five business days immediately preceding the day on which the
Ordinary Share is contracted to be purchased; and (ii) the higher of the price of the last independent trade and the highest current
independent purchase bid at the time on the trading venue on which the purchase is carried out; and

(d) authority conferred by this resolution shall, unless renewed prior to such time, expire at the end of the next AGM of the company to be
held in 2020 (or, if earlier, at the close of business on 30 June 2020), save that the company may, before such expiry, enter into a contract
for the purchase of Ordinary Shares which would or might be completed wholly or partly after such expiry and the company may purchase
Ordinary Shares pursuant to any such contract as if this authority had not expired.

Reduced notice of a general meeting other than an AGM (special resolution)

THAT a general meeting of the company other than an AGM may be called on not less than 14 clear days’ notice.
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Exhibit 2.2

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES
REGISTERED UNDER SECTION 12 OF THE EXCHANGE ACT

As of December 31, 2019, GlaxoSmithKline plc (“GSK,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our”’) had ordinary shares, American Depositary
Receipts and debt securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Act”).

A. Description of Ordinary Shares

This summary of the general terms and provisions of our ordinary shares does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its
entirety by reference to our Articles of Association (the “Articles”), which are incorporated herein by reference to the Form 20-F filed on March 6,
2020 (File No. 001 15170).

GSK has ordinary shares in issue which are in registered form and are governed by the laws of England and Wales.

The holders of ordinary shares have statutory pre-emption rights under the UK Companies Act 2006 (the “Companies Act”) on the issuance of
new ordinary shares or rights to subscribe for, or to convert into, ordinary shares. Under the Companies Act, such pre-emption rights may be dis-applied
by special resolution of the shareholders of GSK. The shareholders of GSK passed a special resolution on May 8, 2019 to allow Directors to be
empowered to (i) disapply pre-emption rights in relation to an allotment of equity securities that is otherwise made on a pre-emptive basis in order to
deal appropriately with fractional entitlements, jurisdictional issues and other legal, regulatory or practical problems and (ii) allot equity securities for
cash and/or to sell ordinary shares held by GSK as treasury shares for cash up to an amount of £62,080,131 in nominal share capital as if pre-emption
rights did not apply. This authorization is set to expire at the end of GSK’s Annual General Meeting held in 2020 (or, if earlier, close of business on
June 30, 2020). As at December 31, 2019 there were 5,383,102,231 ordinary shares of 25 pence each in issue.

Our Articles contain provisions to the following effect:

Dividends

All ordinary shares rank pari passu in respect of dividends and other distributions of profits. Subject to the provisions of the Articles and
applicable legislation, GSK at any general meeting may declare dividends on the ordinary shares by ordinary resolution, but such dividends may not
exceed the amount recommended by the board of directors of GSK (the “Board”). The Board may also pay interim or fixed rate dividends if it appears
they are justified by our financial position.

All unclaimed dividends payable in respect of any share may be invested or otherwise made use of by the Board for the benefit of GSK until
claimed. If a dividend is not claimed after 12 years of it being declared or becoming payable, it is forfeited and reverts to us.

GSK mays, if authorized by an ordinary resolution, offer any holders of ordinary shares (excluding any member holding shares as treasury shares)
the right to elect to receive ordinary shares, credited as fully paid, instead of cash in respect of the whole (or some part, to be determined by the Board)
of any dividend specified by the ordinary resolution.

Voting

Subject to any special terms as to voting upon which any shares may be issued or may at the relevant time be held and to any other provisions of
the Articles, members shall be entitled to vote at a general meeting as provided in the Companies Act.

At any general meeting, a resolution that is put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a poll, which shall be taken in such manner as the
chairman of the meeting shall direct, including by means of electronic vote casters. The result of the vote shall be deemed to be the resolution of the
meeting at which the vote was demanded. A vote to elect the chairman of the meeting or to adjourn the meeting must be taken immediately at the
meeting. Any other vote may



be taken at any other time (within 30 days of the meeting) and place determined by the chairman. In the case of joint holders, only the vote of the senior
holder (as determined by order in the share register) or his or her proxy may be counted. If any sum payable remains unpaid in relation to a member’s
shareholding, that member is not entitled to vote that share or exercise any other right in relation to a meeting of GSK unless the Board determines
otherwise. For a proxy vote to be valid, the Board must have received satisfactory evidence such that the authority of the person claiming to exercise the
right to vote or such other right has been received by the Company not later than the last time at which appointments of proxy should have been received
in order to be valid for use at that meeting or on the holding of that poll.

Any objection or error shall be referred to the chairman of the meeting and shall only vitiate the decision of the meeting on any resolution if the
chairman decides that the objection or error may have affected the decision of the meeting.

Transfers

Ordinary shares may be held in either certificated or uncertificated form. Certificated ordinary shares shall be transferred in any usual or other
form approved by the Board and executed by or on behalf of the transferor. Transfers of uncertificated ordinary shares shall be made in accordance with
the Companies Act and Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, as amended.

The Board is not bound to register (i) a transfer of partly paid ordinary shares, (ii) uncertificated shares in the circumstances set out in the
Companies Act and Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 and (iii) transfers of uncertificated securities to joint holders where the number of such
joint holders exceeds four. The Board may also decline to register an instrument of transfer of certificated ordinary shares unless (i) it is duly stamped,
duly certified or otherwise shown to the satisfaction of the Board to be exempt from stamp duty and deposited at the prescribed place and accompanied
by the share certificate(s) and such other evidence as reasonably required by the Board to evidence right to transfer, (ii) it is in respect of one class of
shares only, and (iii) in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the share is to be transferred does not exceed four.

Redemption

Subject to any rights attached to existing shares, any share may be issued on terms that it is, at our option or the option of the holder of such share,
redeemable. The directors are authorized to determine the terms, conditions and manner of redemption of any such shares under the Articles.

Calls on capital

The directors may make calls upon the members in respect of any monies unpaid on their shares. A person upon whom a call is made remains
liable even if the shares in respect of which the call is made have been transferred. Interest will be chargeable on any unpaid amount called at a rate
determined by the Board (not exceeding the Bank of England base rate by more than 5%).

If a member fails to pay any call or installment of a call in full (following notice from the Board that such failure will result in forfeiture of the
relevant shares), such shares (including any dividends declared but not paid) may be forfeited by a resolution of the Board, and will become the property
of GSK. Forfeiture shall not absolve a previous member for amounts payable by him/her (which may continue to accrue interest).

GSK also has a lien over all of our partly paid shares for all monies payable or called on such shares and over the debts and liabilities of a member
to GSK. If any monies which are the subject of the lien remain unpaid after a notice from the Board demanding payment, we may sell such shares.

Other Shareholder Rights

On a distribution of capital on a winding-up, the ordinary shares rank pari passu with each other but behind the rights of all of GSK’s creditors.
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Variation of Rights

The rights attached to any class of shares may be varied either with the consent in writing of the holders of at least 75% in nominal value of the
issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the holders of the shares of that class.

The rights of shares shall not (unless expressly provided by the rights attached to such shares) be deemed varied by the creation of further shares
ranking equally with them.

Limitations on Share Ownership

There are no limitations on the rights of shareholders to own ordinary shares. In addition, there are no restrictions imposed by the Articles or
(subject to the effect of any economic sanctions or UK or EU merger control laws that may be in force from time to time) by current UK laws which
relate to non-residents or foreign shareholders and which limit the rights of such non-residents or foreign shareholders to hold or (when entitled to do so)
exercise voting rights on the ordinary shares.

B. Description of American Depositary Shares

This summary of the general terms and provisions of our American Depositary Shares (“ADSs”) does not purport to be complete and is subject to
and qualified in its entirety by our Form F-6 filed on July 19, 2019 (Commission file No. 333-232726) including the exhibits thereto. In the following
description, a “Holder” is the person registered with the Depositary (as defined below).

General

American Depositary Receipts (“ADRs”) evidencing ADSs are issuable pursuant to an amended and restated deposit agreement dated July 19,
2019, between GSK, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as depositary (the “Depositary”), and the Holders of the ADRs (the “Deposit Agreement”). The
principal executive office of the Depositary is 383 Madison Avenue, Floor 11, New York, New York 10179. Each ADS represents the right to receive
two ordinary shares of GSK. An ADR may evidence any number of ADSs.

Our American Depositary Receipts are admitted to trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “GSK”.

Voting

As soon as practicable after receipt of notice of any meeting at which the holders of ordinary shares are entitled to vote, or of solicitation of
consents or proxies from holders of ordinary shares or other deposited securities, the Depositary shall fix the ADS record date and shall, at GSK’s
expense, distribute to Holders a notice (the “Voting Notice”) stating (i) final information particular to such vote and meeting and any solicitation
materials, (ii) that each Holder on the record date set by the Depositary will, subject to any applicable provisions of English law, be entitled to instruct
the Depositary as to the exercise of the voting rights, if any, pertaining to the deposited securities represented by the ADSs evidenced by such Holder’s
ADRs and (iii) the manner in which such instructions may be given, including instructions to give a discretionary proxy to a person designated by GSK.
Each Holder shall be solely responsible for the forwarding of Voting Notices to any person or entity having a beneficial ownership interest in ADSs (the
“Beneficial Owner”) registered in such Holder’s name. There is no guarantee that Holders and Beneficial Owners generally or any Holder or Beneficial
Owner in particular will receive the notice described above with sufficient time to enable such Holder or Beneficial Owner to return any voting
instructions to the Depositary in a timely manner. GSK shall provide notice to the Depositary of such vote or meeting in a timely manner and at least 30
days prior to the date of such vote or meeting (unless less than 30 days’ notice of the meeting has been given in accordance with GSK’s Articles of
Association and English law, in which case GSK will provide to the Depositary such advance notice of the meeting as may be possible under the
circumstances); provided that if the Depositary receive less than 30 days’ notice of such vote or meeting, the Depositary shall distribute such Voting
Notice to the extent practicable.



Following actual receipt by the ADR department responsible for proxies and voting of Holders’ instructions (including, without limitation,
instructions of any entity or entities acting on behalf of the nominee for The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”)), the Depositary shall, in the manner
and on or before the time established by the Depositary for such purpose, endeavor to vote or cause to be voted the deposited securities represented by
the ADSs evidenced by such Holders’ ADRs in accordance with such instructions insofar as practicable and permitted under the provisions of or
governing deposited securities. The Depositary will not itself exercise any voting discretion in respect of any deposited securities.

Notwithstanding anything contained in the Deposit Agreement or any ADR, the Depositary may, to the extent not prohibited by any law, rule or
regulation or the rules and/or requirements of the stock exchange on which the ADSs are listed, in lieu of distribution of the materials provided to the
Depositary in connection with any meeting of or solicitation of consents or proxies from holders of deposited securities, distribute to the Holders a
notice, after consulting GSK as to the form of such notice to the extent practicable, that provides Holders with, or otherwise publicizes to Holders,
instructions on how to retrieve such materials or receive such materials upon request (i.e., by reference to a website containing the materials for retrieval
or a contact for requesting copies of the materials). Holders are strongly encouraged to forward their voting instructions as soon as possible. Voting
instructions will not be deemed received until such time as the ADR department responsible for proxies and voting has received such instructions
notwithstanding that such instructions may have been physically received by the Depositary prior to such time.

Procedures for Transmitting Notices, Reports and Proxy Soliciting Material

In addition to the procedures for transmitting notices discussed above under “Voting”, the Depositary or its agent will keep, at a designated
transfer office (the “Transfer Office”), (i) a register (the “ADR Register”) for the registration, registration of transfer, combination and split-up of ADRs
and (ii) facilities for the delivery and receipt of ADRs. Title to an ADR (and to deposited securities represented by the ADSs), when properly endorsed
(in the case of ADRs in certificated form) or upon delivery to the Depositary of proper instruments of transfer, is transferable by delivery with the same
effect as in the case of negotiable instruments under the laws of the State of New York; provided that the Depositary, notwithstanding any notice to the
contrary, may treat the person in whose name such ADR is registered on the ADR Register as the absolute owner hereof for all purposes and neither the
Depositary nor GSK will have any obligation or be subject to any liability under the Deposit Agreement or any ADR to any Beneficial Owner, unless
such Beneficial Owner is the Holder hereof. Such ADR is transferable on the ADR Register and may be split into other ADRs or combined with other
ADRs into one ADR, evidencing the aggregate number of ADSs surrendered for split-up or combination, by the Holder hereof or by duly authorized
attorney upon surrender of this ADR at the Transfer Office properly endorsed (in the case of ADRs in certificated form) or upon delivery to the
Depositary of proper instruments of transfer and duly stamped as may be required by applicable law; provided that the Depositary may close the ADR
Register at any time or from time to time when deemed expedient by it and it shall also close the issuance book portion of the ADR Register when
reasonably requested by GSK in order to enable GSK to comply with applicable law. At the request of a Holder, the Depositary shall, for the purpose of
substituting a certificated ADR with a Direct Registration ADR (defined below), or vice versa, execute and deliver a certificated ADR or a Direct
Registration ADR, as the case may be, for any authorized number of ADSs requested, evidencing the same aggregate number of ADSs as those
evidenced by the certificated ADR or Direct Registration ADR, as the case may be, substituted.

The Deposit Agreement, the provisions of or governing deposited securities and any written communications from GSK, which are both received
by the custodian or its nominee as a holder of deposited securities and made generally available to the holders of deposited securities, are available for
inspection by Holders at the offices of the Depositary and its agent or agents (the “Custodian”), at the Transfer Office, on the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission’s (the “Commission”) website, or upon request from the Depositary (which request may be refused by the Depositary at its
discretion). The Depositary will distribute copies of such communications (or English translations or summaries thereof) to Holders when furnished by
GSK. GSK is subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Act and accordingly files certain reports with the Commission. Such reports and other
information may be inspected and copied through the Commission’s EDGAR system or at public reference facilities maintained by the Commission
located at the date hereof at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549.



“Direct Registration ADR” means an ADR, the ownership of which is recorded on the Direct Registration System.

“Direct Registration System” means the system for the uncertificated registration of ownership of securities established by DTC and utilized by
the Depositary pursuant to which the Depositary may record the ownership of ADRs without the issuance of a certificate, which ownership shall be
evidenced by periodic statements issued by the Depositary to the Holders entitled thereto.

Sale or Exercising of Rights

The Depositary will distribute to each Holder entitled thereto on the record date set by the Depositary therefor at such Holder’s address shown on
the ADR Register, in proportion to the number of deposited securities (on which the following distributions on deposited securities are received by the
Custodian) represented by ADSs evidenced by such Holder’s ADRs: (i) warrants or other instruments in the discretion of the Depositary representing
rights to acquire additional ADRs in respect of any rights to subscribe for additional Shares or rights of any nature available to the Depositary as a result
of a distribution on deposited securities (“Rights”), to the extent that GSK timely furnishes to the Depositary evidence satisfactory to the Depositary that
the Depositary may lawfully distribute the same (GSK has no obligation to so furnish such evidence), or (ii) to the extent GSK does not so furnish such
evidence and sales of Rights are practicable, any U.S. dollars available to the Depositary from the net proceeds of sales of Rights as in the case of cash,
or (iii) to the extent GSK does not so furnish such evidence and such sales cannot practicably be accomplished by reason of the nontransferability of the
Rights, limited markets therefor, their short duration or otherwise, nothing (and any Rights may lapse).

Deposit or Sale of Securities Resulting from Dividends, Splits or Plans of Reorganization

If GSK makes a dividend payable at the election of the holders of ordinary shares in either cash or additional ordinary shares that it wishes to be
made available to the Holders, GSK shall give notice thereof to the Depositary at least 30 days prior to the proposed distribution stating whether or not it
wishes such elective distribution to be made available to the Holders. The Depositary shall make such elective distribution available to the Holders only
if, among other things, GSK has timely requested that the elective distribution is available to the Holders and the Depositary shall have determined that
such distribution is reasonably practicable. If the conditions for making the elective distribution available to the Holders are satisfied, the Depositary
will establish procedures to enable the Holders to elect the receipt of either cash or additional ADSs. If the conditions for making the elective
distribution available to the Holders are not satisfied, the Depositary will, to the extent permitted by law, distribute either cash or additional ADSs to the
Holders on the basis of the same determination as is made in the local market in respect of the ordinary shares for which no election is made. There can
be no assurance that Holders generally, or any Holder in particular, will be given the opportunity to receive elective distributions on the same terms and
conditions as the holders of ordinary shares.

If the Depositary determines that any distribution of property, other than cash, ordinary shares or rights to ordinary shares, cannot be made
proportionately among Holders or if for any other reason, including any requirement that GSK or the Depositary withhold an amount on account of
taxes or other governmental charges, the Depositary deems that such a distribution is not feasible, the Depositary may dispose of all or part of the
property in any manner, including by public or private sale, that it deems equitable and practicable. The Depositary will then distribute the net proceeds
of any such sale or the balance of any such property after deduction of such taxes to the Holders entitled thereto.
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The Depositary mayi, in its discretion, and shall if reasonably requested by GSK, distribute additional or amended ADRs or cash, securities or
property to reflect any change in par value, split-up, consolidation, cancellation or other reclassification of deposited securities, any ordinary share
distributions or other distributions not distributed to Holders or any cash, securities or property available to the Depositary in respect of deposited
securities from (and the Depositary is hereby authorized to surrender any deposited securities to any person and, irrespective of whether such deposited
securities are surrendered or otherwise cancelled by operation of law, rule, regulation or otherwise, to sell by public or private sale any property received
in connection with) any recapitalization, reorganization, merger, consolidation, liquidation, receivership, bankruptcy or sale of all or substantially all the
assets of the Company. To the extent the Depositary does not amend ADRs or make a distribution to Holders to reflect any of the foregoing, or the net
proceeds thereof, whatever cash, securities or property results from any of the foregoing shall constitute deposited securities and each ADS evidenced
by this ADR shall automatically represent its pro rata interest in the deposited securities as then constituted. Promptly upon the occurrence of any of the
aforementioned changes affecting deposited securities, GSK shall notify the Depositary in writing of such occurrence and as soon as practicable after
receipt of such notice from GSK, may instruct the Depositary to give notice thereof, at GSK’s expense, to Holders in accordance with the provisions
hereof. Upon receipt of such instruction, the Depositary shall give notice to the Holders in accordance with the terms thereof, as soon as reasonably
practicable.

Amendment and Termination of the Deposit Agreement

The form of ADRs evidencing ADSs and any provisions of the Deposit Agreement relating to those ADRs may be amended by GSK and the
Depositary. Any amendment that imposes or increases any fees or charges, other than taxes and other governmental charges, transfer or registration fees,
transmission costs, delivery costs or other such expenses, or that otherwise prejudices any substantial existing right of the Holders or beneficial owners,
will not take effect as to any ADRs until 30 days after notice of the amendment has been given to the Holders. Every Holder and beneficial owner of any
ADR, at the time an amendment becomes effective, will be deemed to continue to hold such ADR and to consent and agree to the amendment and to be
bound by the Deposit Agreement or the ADR as amended. No amendment may impair the right of any Holder to surrender ADRs and receive in return
the deposited securities represented by the ADSs. If any governmental body or regulatory body should adopt new laws, rules or regulations which would
require amendment or supplement of the Deposit Agreement or the form of ADR to ensure compliance therewith, GSK and the Depositary may amend
or supplement the Deposit Agreement and the ADR at any time in accordance with such changed laws, rules or regulations. Such amendment or
supplement to the Deposit Agreement in such circumstances may become effective before a notice of such amendment or supplement is given to
Holders or within any other period of time as required for compliance.

Whenever GSK directs, the Depositary has agreed to terminate the Deposit Agreement as to ADRs evidencing ADSs by mailing a termination
notice to the Holders then outstanding at least 30 days before the date fixed in the notice of termination. The Depositary may likewise terminate the
Deposit Agreement as to ADRs evidencing ADSs by mailing a termination notice to GSK and the Holders then outstanding at least 30 days before the
date of termination, under the following circumstances: (i) in the event of GSK’s bankruptcy or insolvency, (ii) if the ordinary shares cease to be listed
on an internationally recognized stock exchange, (iii) if GSK effects (or will effect) a redemption of all or substantially all of the deposited securities, or
a cash or share distribution representing a return of all or substantially all of the value of the deposited securities, or (iv) there occurs a merger,
consolidation, sale of assets or other transaction as a result of which securities or other property are delivered in exchange for or in lieu of deposited
securities, except where such transaction was commenced, announced by GSK or notified to the Depositary prior to the effective date of the Deposit
Agreement.

After the date so fixed for termination, the Depositary and its agents will perform no further acts under the Deposit Agreement and this ADR,
except to receive and hold (or sell) distributions on deposited securities and deliver deposited securities being withdrawn. As soon as practicable after
the date so fixed for termination, the Depositary shall use its reasonable efforts to sell the deposited securities and shall thereafter (as long as it may
lawfully do so) hold in an account (which may be a segregated or unsegregated account) the net proceeds of such sales, together with any other cash
then held by it under the Deposit Agreement, without liability for interest, in trust for the pro rata benefit of the Holders of ADRs not theretofore
surrendered. After making such sale, the Depositary shall be discharged from all obligations in respect of the Deposit Agreement and this ADR, except
to account for such net proceeds and other cash. After the date so fixed for termination, GSK shall be discharged from all obligations under the Deposit
Agreement except for its obligations to the Depositary and its agents.



Rights of Holders to Inspect the Transfer Books of the Depositary and the List of Holders

The Depositary will keep books for the registration and transfer of ADRs as well as facilities for the delivery and receipt of ADRs at a designated
transfer office. These books will be open for inspection by Holders at all reasonable times. However, this inspection may not be for the purpose of
communicating with Holders in the interest of a business or object other than GSK business or a matter related to the Deposit Agreement or the ADRs.

Restrictions on the Right to Transfer or Withdraw the Underlying Securities

As a condition precedent to the issue, registration, registration of transfer, split-up or combination of any ADR, the delivery of any distribution in
respect thereof, or the withdrawal of any deposited securities, GSK, the Depositary, or custodian may require payment of a sum sufficient to reimburse it
for any tax or other governmental charge and any stock transfer or registration fee with respect thereto (including any such tax or charge and fee with
respect to ordinary shares or other deposited securities being registered) and payment of any applicable fees as therein provided, may require the
production of proof satisfactory to it as to the identity and genuineness of any signature, as well as such other information, including without limitation,
information as to citizenship, residence, exchange control approval, beneficial or other ownership of any securities, compliance with applicable law,
regulations, provisions of or governing deposited securities and terms of the Deposit Agreement and ADR, as it may deem necessary or proper, and may
also require compliance with any regulations the Depositary may establish consistent with the provisions of the Deposit Agreement.

The issuance of ADRs, the acceptance of deposits of ordinary shares, the registration, registration of transfer, split-up or combination of ADRs or
the withdrawal of deposited securities may be suspended, generally or in particular instances, when the ADR Register or any register for deposited
securities is closed or when any such action is deemed advisable by the Depositary or GSK at any time or from time to time.

Limitations on the Depositary’s Liability

The Depositary shall not incur any liability to any Holder or beneficial owners of ADRs, if by reason of any provision of any present or future
law, rule, regulation, fiat, order or decree of the U.S., England, Wales or any other country or jurisdiction, or of any governmental or regulatory
authority or any securities exchange or market or automated quotation system, or the provisions of or governing any deposited securities, or by reason of
any provision, present or future, of the Company’s charter, or by reason of any act of God or war or terrorism or other circumstances beyond its control,
the Depositary shall be prevented or forbidden from or be subject to any civil or criminal penalty on account of doing or performing any act or thing
which by the terms of the Deposit Agreement it is provided shall be done or performed; nor shall the Depositary incur any liability to any Holder or
beneficial owner of any ADR by reason of any non-performance or delay, caused as aforesaid, in the performance of any act or thing which by the terms
of the Deposit Agreement it is provided shall or may be done or performed, or by reason of any exercise of, or failure to exercise, any discretion
provided for in the Deposit Agreement.

The Depositary assumes no obligation nor shall it be subject to any liability under the Deposit Agreement to any Holders or beneficial owners of
any ADR (including, without limitation, liability with respect to the validity or worth of any deposited securities), except that it agrees to perform its
obligations specifically set forth in the Deposit Agreement without gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Depositary shall not be a fiduciary or
have any fiduciary duty to Holders or beneficial owners.

The Depositary and its agents shall not be under any obligation to appear in, prosecute or defend any action, suit or other proceeding in respect of
any deposited securities or in respect of the ADRs. The Depositary shall not be liable to Holders or beneficial owners for any action or non-action by it
in reliance upon the advice of or information from the Company, legal counsel, accountants, any person presenting ordinary shares for deposit, any
Holder or any other person believed by it to be competent to give such advice or information. The Depositary shall not be liable for the acts or omissions
made by, or the insolvency of, any securities depository, clearing agency or settlement system.
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The Depositary shall not be responsible for, and shall incur no liability in connection with or arising from, the insolvency of any custodian that is
not a branch or affiliate of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. The Depositary shall not have any liability for the price received in connection with any sale of
securities, the timing thereof or any delay in action or omission to act nor shall it be responsible for any error or delay in action, omission to act, default
or negligence on the part of the party so retained in connection with any such sale or proposed sale. The Depositary shall not be liable for any acts or
omissions to act on the part of the custodian, except to the extent that any Holder has incurred liability directly as a result of the custodian having
(i) committed fraud or willful misconduct in the provision of custodial services to the Depositary or (ii) failed to use reasonable care in the provision of
custodial services to the Depositary as determined in accordance with the standards prevailing in the jurisdiction in which the custodian is located.

The Depositary and its respective agents may rely and shall be protected in acting upon any written notice, request, direction, instruction or
document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed, presented or given by the proper party or parties.

The Depositary shall be under no obligation to inform Holders or beneficial owners about the requirements of the laws, rules or regulations or any
changes therein or thereto of any country or jurisdiction or of any governmental or regulatory authority or any securities exchange or market or
automated quotation system.

The Depositary and its agents shall not be responsible for any failure to carry out any instructions to vote any of the deposited securities, including
without limitation any vote cast by a person to whom the Depositary is required to grant a discretionary proxy pursuant to the Deposit Agreement, or for
the effect of any such vote or the effect of any such vote.

The Depositary may rely upon instructions from the Company or its counsel in respect of any approval or license required for any currency
conversion, transfer or distribution.

The Depositary and its agents may own and deal in any class of securities of the Company and its affiliates and in ADRs.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Deposit Agreement or any ADR, the Depositary shall have no liability or responsibility
under the Deposit Agreement, any ADR or any related agreement, for any period prior to the effective date of the Deposit Agreement or for any act or
omission of the predecessor to the Depositary or any of its agents (including the Custodian as defined in the Prior Deposit Agreement), under or in
connection with this Deposit Agreement, any ADRs or any related agreement.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Deposit Agreement or any ADR, the Depositary and its agents may fully respond to any
and all demands or requests for information maintained by or on its behalf in connection with the Deposit Agreement, any Holder or Holders, any ADR
or ADRs or otherwise related hereto or thereto to the extent such information is requested or required by or pursuant to any lawful authority, including
without limitation laws, rules, regulations, administrative or judicial process, banking, securities or other regulators.

The Depositary shall not be liable for the failure by any Holder or beneficial owner to obtain the benefits of credits or refunds of non-U.S. tax paid
against such Holder’s or beneficial owner’s income tax liability.

The Depositary is under no obligation to provide the Holders and beneficial owners, or any of them, with any information about the tax status of
the Company. The Depositary shall not incur any liability for any tax or tax consequences that may be incurred by Holders and beneficial owners on
account of their ownership or disposition of the ADRs or ADSs.



The Depositary shall not incur any liability for the content of any information submitted to it by or on behalf of the Company for distribution to
the Holders or for any inaccuracy of any translation thereof, for any investment risk associated with acquiring an interest in the deposited securities, for
the validity or worth of the deposited securities, for the credit-worthiness of any third party, for allowing any rights to lapse upon the terms of the
Deposit Agreement or for the failure or timeliness of any notice from the Company.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Deposit Agreement or any ADR, the may use third party delivery services and providers
of information regarding matters such as pricing, proxy voting, corporate actions, class action litigation and other services in connection herewith and
the Deposit Agreement, and use local agents to provide extraordinary services such as attendance at annual meetings of issuers of securities. Although
the Depositary will use reasonable care (and cause their agents to use reasonable care) in the selection and retention of such third party providers and
local agents, they will not be responsible for any errors or omissions made by them in providing the relevant information or services.

The Depositary shall not be liable for any acts or omissions made by a successor depositary whether in connection with a previous act or omission
of the Depositary or in connection with any matter arising wholly after the removal or resignation of the Depositary.

By holding an ADS or an interest therein, Holders and beneficial owners each irrevocably agree that any legal suit, action or proceeding against or
involving the Depositary, arising out of or based upon the Deposit Agreement, the ADSs or the transactions contemplated herein, therein or hereby, may
only be instituted in a state or federal court in New York, New York, and by holding an ADS or an interest therein each irrevocably waives any
objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such proceeding, and irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of
such courts in any such suit, action or proceeding.

The Company has agreed to indemnify the Depositary and its agents under certain circumstances and the Depositary has agreed to indemnify the
Company under certain circumstances.

The Depositary shall not be liable to Holders or beneficial owners for any indirect, special, punitive or consequential damages (including, without
limitation, legal fees and expenses) or lost profits, in each case of any form incurred by any person or entity (including, without limitation, Holders and
beneficial owners), whether or not foreseeable and regardless of the type of action in which such a claim may be brought.
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C. Debt Securities
General

Each series of debt securities listed on the New York Stock Exchange and set forth on the cover page to GSK’s annual report on Form 20-F for the
year ended December 31, 2019 has been issued by either GlaxoSmithKline Capital Inc. (“GSK Capital Inc.”) or GlaxosmithKline Capital plc (“GSK
Capital plc”) and guaranteed by GlaxosmithKline plc. Each of these series of notes and related guarantees were issued pursuant to an effective
registration statement and a related prospectus and prospectus supplement setting forth the terms of the relevant series of notes and related guarantees.

The following table sets forth the name of the series, interest rate, dates of the registration statements, dates of the base prospectuses and dates of
issuance for each relevant series of notes (the “Notes”™).

Registration Date of Base
Series / Interest Rate Statement Prospectus Date of I e
2.875% Notes due 2022 333-223982  March 28,2018  March 25, 2019
3.000% Notes due 2024 333-223982  March 28,2018  March 25, 2019

3.375% Notes due 2029 333-223982  March 28,2018  March 25, 2019
3.125% Notes due 2021 333-223982  March 28, 2018 May 15,2018
Floating Rate Notes due 2021 (LIBOR plus 0.350% p.a.) 333-223982  March 28, 2018 May 15,2018
3.375% Notes due 2023 333-223982  March 28, 2018 May 15,2018
3.625% Notes due 2025 333-223982  March 28, 2018 May 15,2018
3.875% Notes due 2028 333-223982  March 28, 2018 May 15,2018
2.800% Notes due 2023 333-172621 March 4, 2011 March 18, 2013
4.200% Notes due 2043 333-172621 March 4, 2011 March 18, 2013
2.850% Notes due 2022 333-172621 March 4, 2011 May 9, 2012
6.375% Notes due 2038 333-149531 March 4, 2008 May 13, 2008

Pursuant to an Agreement of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance dated April 12, 2017 by and among GSK Capital plc, Law Debenture
Trust Company of New York and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas has become the successor trustee
to Law Debenture Trust Company of New York under the indenture dated as of April 6, 2004 among GSK, GSK Capital plc and Law Debenture Trust
Company of New York, as amended and supplemented.

Pursuant to an Agreement of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance dated April 12, 2017 by and among GSK Capital Inc., Law Debenture
Trust Company of New York and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas has become the successor trustee
to Law Debenture Trust Company of New York under the indenture dated as of April 6, 2004 among GSK, GSK Capital Inc. and Law Debenture Trust
Company of New York, as amended and supplemented.

The paying agent under the indentures governing the Notes is the trustee under the relevant indenture. The address of the trustee and paying agent
in relation to the Notes is 60 Wall Street, 16th Floor, New York, NY 10005.

The summary set out below of the general terms and provisions of the Notes does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified by
reference to, all of the definitions and provisions of the relevant indenture governing the applicable series of Notes, any supplement to the relevant
indenture and the form of the instrument representing each series of Notes. Certain terms, unless otherwise defined herein, have the meaning given to
them in the relevant indenture governing the applicable series of Notes.
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1. Notes offered pursuant to the Base Prospectus dated March 28, 2018
a. Prospectus Supplement (March 19, 2019) — 2.875% Notes due 2022, 3.000% Notes due 2024 and 3.375% Notes due 2029

Description of the Notes
General

GSK Capital plc issued the 2.875% Notes due 2022 (the “2022 Notes”), the 3.000% Notes due 2024 (the “2024 notes”) and the 3.375% Notes due
2029 (the “2029 Notes”) pursuant to an indenture, dated as of April 6, 2004, among GlaxoSmithKline plc, as guarantor, GSK Capital plc, as issuer, and
Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee (as successor to Law Debenture Trust Company of New York, pursuant to an Instrument of
Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance dated April 12, 2017, among GSK Capital plc, Law Debenture Trust Company of New York and Deutsche
Bank Trust Company Americas), as amended and supplemented by a first supplemental indenture, dated as of March 21, 2014 and as further amended
and supplemented by a second supplemental indenture dated as of May 15, 2018 (for purposes of this description of the 2022 Notes, the 2024 Notes and
the 2029 Notes only, the “Indenture”). References in this “Description of the Notes” to the “Notes” refer to the 2022 Notes, the 2024 Notes and the 2029
Notes.

GSK Capital plc issued the 2022 Notes in the initial aggregate principal amount of $1,500,000,000. The 2022 Notes will mature on June 1, 2022
unless redeemed or purchased prior to such date as described below. GSK Capital plc issued the 2024 Notes in the initial aggregate principal amount of
$1,000,000,000. The 2024 Notes will mature on June 1, 2024 unless redeemed or purchased prior to such date as described below. GSK Capital plc
issued the 2029 Notes in the initial aggregate principal amount of $1,000,000,000. The 2029 Notes will mature on June 1, 2029 unless redeemed or
purchased prior to such date as described below.

The Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by GlaxoSmithKline plc. If, for any reason, GSK Capital plc does not make any required
payment in respect of the Notes when due, whether on the normal due date, on acceleration, redemption or otherwise, GlaxoSmithKline plc will cause
the payment to be made to or to the order of the trustee. You will be entitled to payment under the guarantee of GlaxoSmithKline plc without taking any
action whatsoever against us.

GSK Capital plc issued the Notes in book-entry form only, in minimum denominations of $2,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess
thereof.

As used herein, “business day” means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banking institutions in the City of New York or
London, England are authorized or obligated by law, regulation or executive order to be closed.

We or any of our subsidiaries may at any time and from time to time purchase the Notes of any series in the open market or by tender or by
private agreement, if applicable law allows. The Notes of any such series purchased by us or any of our subsidiaries may be held, resold or surrendered
by the purchaser thereof through us to the trustee or any paying agent for cancellation.

Interest

The Notes each bear interest at the applicable interest rate shown in the table above and accrue interest from March 25, 2019, or from the most
recent date to which interest has been paid (or provided for), to but not including the next date upon which interest is required to be paid.

Interest is payable on each of the 2022 Notes, the 2024 Notes and the 2029 Notes twice a year, on June 1 and December 1, commencing
December 1, 2019, to the person in whose name a 2022 Note, a 2024 Note or a 2029 Note, respectively, is registered at the close of business on the
May 17 or November 16th on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months.

If an interest payment date or redemption date, or the maturity date, for the Notes, as the case may be, would fall on a day that is not a business
day, then the required payment will be made on the next succeeding business day, but no additional interest shall be paid unless we fail to make
payment on such next succeeding business day.
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Covenants

Subject to certain exceptions, if we are required to withhold or deduct any amount for or on account of any U.K. or U.S. withholding tax from any
payment made on the Notes, we will pay additional amounts on those payments so that the amount received by noteholders will equal the amount that
would have been received if no such taxes had been applicable. See “—Payment of Additional Amounts.”

As contemplated by the last paragraph under “Description of Debt Securities—Defeasance” below, the satisfaction of certain conditions will
permit us to omit to comply with some or all of our obligations, covenants and agreements under the Indenture with respect to the Notes of any or all
series, as applicable. In addition, we may omit to comply with certain covenants through covenant defeasance. We refer you to the information under
“Description of Debt Securities—Defeasance” below for more information on how we may do this.

Except as described herein, the Indenture does not contain any covenants or other provisions designed to protect holders of the Notes against a
reduction in our creditworthiness in the event of a highly leveraged transaction or that would prohibit other transactions that might adversely affect
holders of the Notes, including, among other things, through the incurrence of additional indebtedness.

Payment of Additional Amounts

The provisions of the Indenture described under “Description of Debt Securities—Covenants—Payment of Additional Amounts” do not apply to
the Notes. The following payment of additional amounts provisions apply to the Notes.

Payments made by us under or with respect to the Notes will be free and clear of and without withholding or deduction for or on account of any
present or future tax, duty, levy, impost, assessment or other governmental charge of any nature whatsoever imposed or levied by or on behalf of (i) the
government of the United Kingdom or of any territory of the United Kingdom or by any authority or agency therein or thereof having the power to tax
or (ii) the government of the United States or any state or territory of the United States or by any authority or agency therein or thereof having the power
to tax, which we refer to collectively as “Taxes,” unless we are required to withhold or deduct Taxes by law.

If we are required to withhold or deduct any amount for or on account of Taxes from any payment made with respect to the Notes, we will pay
such additional amounts as may be necessary so that the net amount received by each holder (including additional amounts) after such withholding or
deduction will not be less than the amount the holder would have received if the Taxes had not been withheld or deducted; provided that no additional
amounts will be payable with respect to Taxes:

. that would not have been imposed but for the existence of any present or former connection between such holder or beneficial owner of
the applicable Notes (or between a fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member or shareholder of, or possessor of a power over, such holder or
beneficial owner, if such holder or beneficial owner is an estate, trust, partnership or corporation) and the United Kingdom or the United
States or any political subdivision or territory or possession thereof or therein or area subject to its jurisdiction, including, without
limitation, such holder or beneficial owner (or such fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member, shareholder or possessor) being or having been
a citizen or resident thereof or treated as a resident thereof or domiciled thereof or a national thereof or being or having been present or
engaged in trade or business therein or having or having had a permanent establishment therein;

. that are estate, inheritance, gift, sales, transfer, personal property, wealth or similar taxes, duties, assessments or other governmental
charges,

. payable other than by withholding from payments of principal of or premium, if any, or interest on the applicable Notes;

. that would not have been imposed but for the failure of the applicable recipient of such payment to comply with any certification,

identification, information, documentation or other reporting requirement to the extent such compliance is required by applicable law or
administrative practice or an applicable treaty as a precondition to exemption from, or reduction in, the rate of deduction or withholding of
such Taxes;
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. that would not have been imposed but for the presentation of the applicable Notes (where presentation is required) for payment on a date
more than 30 days after the date on which such payment became due and payable or the date on which payment thereof was duly provided
for, whichever occurred later;

. that would not have been imposed if presentation for payment of the applicable Notes had been made to a paying agent other than the
paying agent to which the presentation was made;

. that are imposed solely by reason of the holder or beneficial owner owning or having owned, actually or constructively, 10% or more of
the total combined voting power of all classes of our stock entitled to vote;

. that would not have been imposed but for a failure by the holder or beneficial owner (or any financial institution through which the holder
or beneficial owner holds any security through which payment on the security is made) to comply with any certification, information,
identification, documentation or other reporting requirements (including entering into and complying with an agreement with the U.S.
Internal Revenue Service) imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code as in effect on the date of
issuance of the applicable Notes or any successor or amended version of such provisions; or

. any combination of the foregoing items;

nor shall additional amounts be paid with respect to any payment of the principal of or premium, if any, or interest on any Notes to any such holder who
is a fiduciary or a partnership or a beneficial owner who is other than the sole beneficial owner of such payment to the extent a beneficiary or settlor
with respect to such fiduciary or a member of such partnership or a beneficial owner would not have been entitled to such additional amounts had it
been the holder of such Notes.

We have agreed in the Indenture that at least one paying agent for the Notes will be located outside the United Kingdom.

Our obligation to pay additional amounts if and when due will survive the termination of the Indenture and the payment of all amounts in respect
of the Notes.

Tax Redemption

In the event of changes in U.K. or U.S. withholding taxes applicable to payments of interest, we may redeem the Notes of a series in whole (but
not in part) at any time prior to maturity, at a price equal to 100% of their principal amount plus accrued interest to the redemption date. See
“Description of Debt Securities—Optional Redemption for Tax Reasons” below.

Optional Make-Whole Redemption

Prior to May 1, 2022 (the date that is one month prior to the scheduled maturity date for the 2022 Notes) (the “2022 Notes Par Call Date”), we
may redeem the 2022 Notes, in whole or in part, at our option at any time and from time to time at a redemption price equal to the greater of (i) 100% of
the principal amount of the 2022 Notes to be redeemed on that redemption date; and (ii) as determined by the quotation agent (as defined below), the
sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal of and interest on the 2022 Notes to be redeemed on that redemption date
(not including any portion of such payments of interest accrued as of the redemption date) that would be due if the 2022 Notes matured on the 2022
Notes Par Call Date, discounted to the redemption date on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360 day year consisting of twelve 30 day months) at the
Treasury Rate plus 0.100%, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the redemption date. On or after the 2022 Notes Par Call Date,
we may redeem the 2022 Notes, in whole or in part, at our option at any time and from time to time at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the 2022 Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, thereon to, but excluding, the redemption date.

Prior to May 1, 2024 (the date that is one month prior to the scheduled maturity date for the 2024 Notes) (the “2024 Notes Par Call Date”), we
may redeem the 2024 Notes, in whole or in part, at our option at any time and from time to time at a redemption price equal to the greater of (i) 100% of
the principal amount of the 2024 Notes to be redeemed on that redemption date; and (ii) as determined by the quotation agent (as defined below), the
sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal of and interest on the 2024 Notes to be redeemed on that redemption date
(not including any portion of such payments of interest accrued as of the redemption date) that would be due if the 2024 Notes matured on the 2024
Notes Par
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Call Date, discounted to the redemption date on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360 day year consisting of twelve 30 day months) at the Treasury Rate
plus 0.125%, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the redemption date. On or after the 2024 Notes Par Call Date, we may redeem
the 2024 Notes, in whole or in part, at our option at any time and from time to time at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the
2024 Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, thereon to, but excluding, the redemption date.

Prior to March 1, 2029 (the date that is three months prior to the scheduled maturity date for the 2029 Notes) (the “2029 Notes Par Call Date”), we
may redeem the 2029 Notes, in whole or in part, at our option at any time and from time to time at a redemption price equal to the greater of (i) 100% of
the principal amount of the 2029 Notes to be redeemed on that redemption date; and (ii) as determined by the quotation agent (as defined below), the
sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal of and interest on the 2029 Notes to be redeemed on that redemption date
(not including any portion of such payments of interest accrued as of the redemption date) that would be due if the 2029 Notes matured on the 2029
Notes Par Call Date, discounted to the redemption date on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360 day year consisting of twelve 30 day months) at the
Treasury Rate plus 0.150%, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the redemption date. On or after the 2029 Notes Par Call Date,
we may redeem the 2029 Notes, in whole or in part, at our option at any time and from time to time at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the 2029 Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, thereon to, but excluding, the redemption date.

The 2022 Notes Par Call Date, the 2024 Notes Par Call Date and the 2029 Notes Par Call Date are each referred to herein as a “Par Call Date.”

Notwithstanding the foregoing, installments of interest on the Notes to be redeemed that are due and payable on an interest payment date falling
on or prior to a redemption date will be payable on the interest payment date to the registered holders as of the close of business on the relevant record
date according to the Notes and the Indenture, as applicable.

“Comparable Treasury Issue” means the United States Treasury security selected by the quotation agent as having a maturity comparable to the
remaining term of the Notes of the applicable series to be redeemed, assuming such Notes matured on the applicable Par Call Date, that would be
utilized, at the time of selection and in accordance with customary financial practice, in pricing new issues of corporate debt securities of comparable
maturity to the remaining term of such Notes, assuming such Notes matured on the applicable Par Call Date.

“Comparable Treasury Price” means, with respect to any redemption date, (i) the average of four Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations (as
defined below) for such redemption date, after excluding the highest and lowest such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, or (ii) if the quotation
agent for the Notes obtains fewer than four such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, the average of all such quotations, or (iii) if only one Reference
Treasury Dealer Quotation is received, the quotation.

“Quotation agent” means any Reference Treasury Dealer appointed by us.

“Reference Treasury Dealer” means (i) each of Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. and
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (or their respective affiliates that are Primary Treasury Dealers) and their respective successors;
provided, however, that if any of the foregoing shall cease to be a primary U.S. government securities dealer in the United States (a “Primary Treasury
Dealer”), we will substitute therefor another Primary Treasury Dealer, and (ii) any other Primary Treasury Dealer selected by us.

“Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations” means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer and any redemption date, the average, as
determined by us, of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount) quoted
in writing to the quotation agent by such Reference Treasury Dealer at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the third business day preceding such
redemption date.

“Treasury Rate” means, with respect to any redemption date, the rate per annum equal to the semi-annual equivalent yield to maturity of the
Comparable Treasury Issue, assuming a price for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed as a percentage of its principal amount) equal to the
Comparable Treasury Price for that redemption date.
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Notice of any redemption will be mailed at least 15 days but not more than 60 days before the redemption date to each registered holder of the
Notes of the applicable series to be redeemed by us or by the trustee on our behalf. Notice of redemption will be published in a daily newspaper of
general circulation in the United States, and we will give notice of any such redemption to any exchange on which such Notes are listed. On and after
any redemption date, interest will cease to accrue on the Notes or portions thereof called for redemption. On or before the redemption date, we will
deposit with a paying agent (or the trustee) money sufficient to pay the redemption price of and accrued interest on the Notes to be redeemed on that
date. If less than all of the Notes of the applicable series are to be redeemed, the Notes to be redeemed shall be selected by lot by The Depository Trust
Company (“DTC”), in the case of Notes represented by a global security, or by the trustee by such method as the trustee deems to be fair and
appropriate, in the case of Notes that are not represented by a global security.

Events of Default

The events of default under the Indenture, as applicable, with respect to the Notes are defined under “Description of Debt Securities—Events of
Default” below.

Further Issuances

We initially offered the 2022 Notes in the aggregate principal amount of $1,500,000,0000, the 2024 Notes in the aggregate principal amount of
$1,000,000,0000 and the 2029 Notes in the aggregate principal amount of $1,000,000,0000. We may from time to time, without the consent of the
holders of a series of Notes, create and issue further debt securities of the same series having the same terms and conditions in all respects as the
applicable Notes being offered hereby, except for the issue date, the issue price and the first payment of interest thereon. Any such additional debt
securities shall be issued under a separate CUSIP or ISIN number unless the additional debt securities are issued pursuant to a “qualified reopening” of
the original series, are otherwise treated as part of the same “issue” of debt instruments as the original series or are issued with no more than a de
minimis amount of original discount, in each case for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Book-Entry System

We issued the Notes of each series in the form of one or more fully registered global securities. We deposited these global securities with, or on
behalf of, DTC and register these securities in the name of DTC’s nominee. Direct and indirect participants in DTC will record beneficial ownership of
the Notes by individual investors. The transfer of ownership of beneficial interests in a global security will be effected only through records maintained
by DTC or its nominee, or by participants or persons that hold through participants.

Investors may elect to hold beneficial interests in the global securities through either DTC, Clearstream Banking S.A. (“Clearstream”) or
Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) if they are participants in these systems, or indirectly through organizations which are participants in these
systems. Beneficial interests in the global securities will be held in minimum denominations of $2,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess
thereof.

Upon receipt of any payment in respect of a global security, DTC or its nominee will immediately credit participants’ accounts with amounts
proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the principal amount of the global security as shown in the records of DTC or its nominee.
Payments by participants to owners of beneficial interests in a global security held through participants will be governed by standing instructions and
customary practices and will be the responsibility of those participants.

DTC holds securities of institutions that have accounts with it or its participants. Through its maintenance of an electronic book-entry system,
DTC facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among its participants and eliminates the need to deliver securities certificates
physically. DTC’s participants include securities brokers and dealers, including the underwriters of this offering, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations and other organizations. DTC is partially owned by some of these participants or their representatives. Access to DTC’s book-entry system
is also available to others such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a participant,
either directly or indirectly. DTC agrees with and represents to its participants that it will administer its book-entry system in accordance with its rules
and bylaws and requirements of law. The rules applicable to DTC and its participants are on file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s
(the “Commission”).
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Clearstream and Euroclear hold interests on behalf of their participants through customers’ securities accounts in Clearstream’s and Euroclear’s
names on the books of their respective depositaries, which in turn will hold interests in customers’ securities accounts in the depositaries’ names on the
books of DTC. At the date of the prospectus supplement, Citibank, N.A. acts as U.S. depositary for Clearstream and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. acts
as U.S. depositary for Euroclear, or, collectively, the “U.S. Depositaries.”

Clearstream holds securities for its participating organizations, or “Clearstream Participants,” and facilitates the clearance and settlement of
securities transactions between Clearstream Participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of Clearstream Participants, thereby
eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates. Clearstream provides to Clearstream Participants, among other things, services for
safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of internationally traded securities and securities lending and borrowing. Clearstream interfaces
with domestic markets in several countries.

Clearstream is registered as a bank in Luxembourg and as such is subject to regulation by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier
and the Banque Centrale du Luxembourg, which supervise and oversee the activities of Luxembourg banks. Clearstream Participants are worldwide
financial institutions, including underwriters, securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations, and may include the
underwriters or their affiliates. Indirect access to Clearstream is available to other institutions that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with
a Clearstream Participant. Clearstream has established an electronic bridge with Euroclear as the operator of the Euroclear System, or the “Euroclear
Operator,” in Brussels to facilitate settlement of trades between Clearstream and the Euroclear Operator.

Distributions with respect to the Notes of a series held beneficially through Clearstream will be credited to cash accounts of Clearstream
Participants in accordance with its rules and procedures, to the extent received by the U.S. Depositary for Clearstream.

Euroclear holds securities and book-entry interests in securities for participating organizations, or “Euroclear Participants” and facilitates the
clearance and settlement of securities transactions between Euroclear Participants, and between Euroclear Participants and participants of certain other
securities intermediaries through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of such participants or other securities intermediaries. Euroclear provides
Euroclear Participants with, among other things, safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement, securities lending and borrowing, and related
services.

Euroclear Participants are investment banks, securities brokers and dealers, banks, central banks, supranationals, custodians, investment managers,
corporations, trust companies and certain other organizations and may include the underwriters or their affiliates. Non-participants in Euroclear may
hold and transfer beneficial interests in a global security through accounts with a Euroclear Participant or any other securities intermediary that holds a
book-entry interest in a global security through one or more securities intermediaries standing between such other securities intermediary and Euroclear.

Distributions with respect to Notes of a series held beneficially through Euroclear will be credited to the cash accounts of Euroclear Participants in
accordance with the Terms and Conditions, to the extent received by the U.S. Depositary for Euroclear.

Transfers between Euroclear Participants and Clearstream Participants will be effected in the ordinary way in accordance with their respective
rules and operating procedures.

Cross-market transfers between DTC’s participating organizations, or the “DTC Participants,” on the one hand, and Euroclear Participants or
Clearstream Participants, on the other hand, will be effected through DTC in accordance with DTC’s rules on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, as the
case may be, by its U.S. Depositary; however, such cross-market transactions will require delivery of instructions to Euroclear or Clearstream, as the
case may be, by the counterparty in such system in accordance with the rules and procedures and within the established deadlines (European time) of
such system. Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, will, if the transaction meets its settlement requirements, deliver instructions to its U.S.
Depositary to take action to effect final settlement on its behalf by delivering or receiving interests in the global security in DTC, and making or
receiving payment in accordance with normal procedures for same-day fund settlement applicable to DTC. Euroclear Participants and Clearstream
Participants may not deliver instructions directly to their respective U.S. Depositaries.

Due to time zone differences, the securities accounts of a Euroclear Participant or Clearstream Participant purchasing an interest in a global
security from a DTC Participant in DTC will be credited, and any such crediting will be reported, to the relevant Euroclear Participant or Clearstream
Participant during the securities
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settlement processing day (which must be a business day for Euroclear or Clearstream) immediately following the settlement date of DTC. Cash
received in Euroclear or Clearstream as a result of sales of interests in a global security by or through a Euroclear Participant or Clearstream Participant
to a DTC Participant will be received with value on the settlement date of DTC but will be available in the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream cash
account only as of the business day for Euroclear or Clearstream following DTC’s settlement date.

The information in this section concerning DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream and their book-entry systems has been obtained from sources that we
believe to be reliable, but we take no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of that information.

None of us, any of the underwriters and the trustee will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream or their
respective participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

Although DTC, Clearstream and Euroclear have agreed to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of securities among participants
of DTC, Clearstream and Euroclear, they are under no obligations to perform or continue to perform such procedures and they may discontinue the
procedures at any time.

Same-Day Settlement and Payment

Initial settlement for the Notes was made in immediately available funds. Secondary market trading between DTC participants will occur in the
ordinary way in accordance with DTC rules and will be settled in immediately available funds using DTC’s Same-Day Funds Settlement System.

b. Prospectus Supplement (May 10, 2018) — 3.125% Notes due 2021, Floating Rate Notes due 2021, 3.375% Notes due 2023, 3.625% Notes due
2025 and 3.875% Notes due 2028

Description of the Notes
General

GSK Capital Inc. issued the 3.375% Notes due 2023 (for purposes of this “Description of the Notes” only, the “2023 Notes”), the 3.625% Notes
due 2025 (“2025 Notes”) and the 3.875% Notes due 2028 (“2028 Notes”) pursuant to an indenture, dated as of April 6, 2004, among GlaxoSmithKline
plc, as guarantor, GSK Capital Inc., as issuer, and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee (as successor to Law Debenture Trust Company
of New York, pursuant to an Instrument of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance dated April 12, 2017, among GSK Capital Inc., Law Debenture
Trust Company of New York and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas), as amended and supplemented by a first supplemental indenture, dated as
of March 18, 2013, as further amended and supplemented by a second supplemental indenture dated as of March 21, 2014 and as further amended and
supplemented by a third supplemental indenture which was entered into on May 15, 2018 (for purposes of this description of the 2023 Notes, the 2025
Notes and the 2028 Notes only, the “GSK Capital Inc. Indenture”).

GSK Capital Inc. issued the 2023 Notes in the initial aggregate principal amount of $1,250,000,000. The 2023 Notes will mature on May 15, 2023
unless redeemed or purchased prior to such date as described below. GSK Capital Inc. issued the 2025 Notes in the initial aggregate principal amount of
$1,000,000,000. The 2025 Notes will mature on May 15, 2025 unless redeemed or purchased prior to such date as described below. GSK Capital Inc.
issued the 2028 Notes in the initial aggregate principal amount of $1,750,000,000. The 2028 Notes will mature on May 15, 2028 unless redeemed or
purchased prior to such date as described below.

GSK Capital plc issued the 3.125% Notes due 2021 (the “2021 Notes”) and the Floating Rate Notes due 2021 (the “Floating Rate Notes™)
pursuant to an indenture, dated as of April 6, 2004, among GlaxoSmithKline plc, as guarantor, GSK Capital plc, as issuer, and Deutsche Bank Trust
Company Americas, as trustee (as successor to Law Debenture Trust Company of New York, pursuant to an Instrument of Resignation, Appointment
and Acceptance dated April 12, 2017, among GSK Capital plc, Law Debenture Trust Company of New York and Deutsche Bank Trust Company
Anmericas), as amended and supplemented by a first supplemental indenture, dated as of March 21, 2014 and as further amended and supplemented by a
second supplemental indenture which was entered into on May 15, 2018 (for purposes of this description of the 2021 Notes and the Floating Rate Notes
only, the “GSK Capital plc Indenture”).
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GSK Capital plc issued the 2021 Notes in the initial aggregate principal amount of $1,250,000,000. The 2021 Notes will mature on May 14, 2021
unless redeemed or purchased prior to such date as described below. GSK Capital plc issued the Floating Rate Notes in the initial aggregate principal
amount of $750,000,000. The Floating Rate Notes will mature on May 14, 2021 unless redeemed or purchased prior to such date as described below.

References in this “Description of the Notes” to the “Fixed Rate Notes” refer to the 2021 Notes, the 2023 Notes, the 2025 Notes and the 2028
Notes. References to the “Notes” refer to the Fixed Rate Notes and the Floating Rate Notes.

The Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by GlaxoSmithKline plc. If, for any reason, GSK Capital Inc, or GSK Capital plc do not make
any required payment in respect of the Notes when due, whether on the normal due date, on acceleration, redemption or otherwise, GlaxoSmithKline plc
will cause the payment to be made to or to the order of the trustee. You will be entitled to payment under the guarantee of GlaxoSmithKline plc without
taking any action whatsoever against us.

GSK Capital plc and GSK Capital Inc. issued the Notes in book-entry form only, in minimum denominations of $2,000 and integral multiples of
$1,000 in excess thereof.

“Business day” means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banking institutions in the City of New York or London,
England are authorized or obligated by law, regulation or executive order to be closed.

We or any of our subsidiaries may at any time and from time to time purchase the Notes of any series in the open market or by tender or by
private agreement, if applicable law allows. The Notes of any such series purchased by us or any of our subsidiaries may be held, resold or surrendered
by the purchaser thereof through us to the trustee or any paying agent for cancellation.

Interest
Fixed Rate Notes

The Fixed Rate Notes each bear interest at the applicable interest rate shown in the table above and accrue interest from May 15, 2018, or from the
most recent date to which interest has been paid (or provided for), to but not including the next date upon which interest is required to be paid.

Interest is payable on each of the 2023 Notes, the 2025 Notes and the 2028 Notes twice a year, on May 15 and November 15, commencing
November 15, 2018, to the person in whose name a 2023 Note, a 2025 Note, or a 2028 Note, respectively, is registered at the close of business on the
April 30 or October 31 that precedes the date on which interest will be paid. Interest is payable on the 2021 Notes twice a year, on May 14 and
November 14, commencing November 14, 2018, to the person in whose name a 2021 Note is registered at the close of business on the April 29 or
October 30 that precedes the date on which interest will be paid. Interest on the Fixed Rate Notes are paid on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of
twelve 30-day months.

If an interest payment date or redemption date, or the maturity date, for any series of Fixed Rate Notes, as the case may be, would fall on a day

that is not a business day, then the required payment will be made on the next succeeding business day, but no additional interest shall be paid unless we
fail to make payment on such next succeeding business day.

Floating Rate Notes

Interest on the Floating Rate Notes is payable quarterly on February 14, May 14, August 14 and November 14 of each year, commencing
August 14, 2018 (each, a “Floating Rate Interest Payment Date”).

The initial interest rate on the Floating Rate Notes for the first Floating Rate Interest Period (as defined below) will be a per annum rate equal to
the three-month U.S. dollar London interbank offered rate (“LIBOR”), as determined on May 11, 2018, plus 0.350% (the “Floating Rate Initial Interest
Rate”). Thereafter, the interest rate on the Floating Rate Notes for any Floating Rate Interest Period will be a per annum rate equal to LIBOR, as
determined on the applicable Interest Determination Date (as defined below), plus 0.350%.

The interest on the Floating Rate Notes is reset quarterly every February 14, May 14, August 14 and November 14 of each year, commencing
August 14, 2018 (each, an “Interest Reset Date™).
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The regular record dates for the Floating Rate Notes is the 15th calendar day preceding each Floating Rate Interest Payment Date, whether or not a
business day. Interest on the Floating Rate Notes is calculated on the basis of the actual number of days in each Floating Rate Interest Period, assuming
a 360-day year.

If a Floating Rate Interest Payment Date, other than the maturity date or a redemption date, for the Floating Rate Notes would fall on a day that is
not a business day, the Floating Rate Interest Payment Date will be postponed to the next succeeding business day and interest thereon will continue to
accrue to but excluding such succeeding business day, except that if that business day falls in the next succeeding calendar month, the Floating Rate
Interest Payment Date will be the immediately preceding business day and interest shall accrue to but excluding such preceding business day. If the
maturity date or a redemption date for the Floating Rate Notes would fall on a day that is not a business day, the required payment will be made on the
next succeeding business day, but no additional interest shall accrue and be paid unless we fail to make payment on such next succeeding business day.

“Floating Rate Interest Period” means the period beginning on (and including) May 15, 2018, in the case of the initial period, or thereafter a
Floating Rate Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Floating Rate Interest Payment Date.

“Interest Determination Date” means May 11, 2018, in the case of the initial period, or thereafter, the second London banking day preceding the
applicable Interest Reset Date.

“London banking day” means any day on which dealings in U.S. dollars are transacted in the London interbank market.

LIBOR will be determined by the calculation agent in accordance with the following provisions:

. With respect to any Interest Determination Date, LIBOR will be the rate (expressed as a percentage per year) for deposits in U.S. dollars
having a maturity of three months commencing on May 15, 2018 or the related Interest Reset Date, as applicable, that appears on Reuters
Page LIBOROL1 (as defined below) as of 11:00 a.m., London time, on that Interest Determination Date. If no such rate appears, then
LIBOR, in respect of that Interest Determination Date, will be determined in accordance with the provisions described in the following
paragraph.

. With respect to an Interest Determination Date on which no rate appears on Reuters Page LIBOROI, the calculation agent will request the
principal London offices of each of four major reference banks in the London interbank market (which may include affiliates of the
underwriters), as selected and identified by us (the “London Reference Banks”), to provide its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage
per year) for deposits in U.S. dollars for the period of three months, commencing on May 15, 2018 or the related Interest Reset Date, as
applicable, to prime banks in the London interbank market at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, on that Interest Determination Date
and in a principal amount that is representative for a single transaction in U.S. dollars in that market at that time. If at least two quotations
are provided, then LIBOR on that Interest Determination Date will be the arithmetic mean of those quotations. If fewer than two
quotations are provided, then LIBOR on the Interest Determination Date will be the arithmetic mean of the rates quoted at approximately
11:00 a.m., in the City of New York, on the Interest Determination Date by three major banks in the City of New York (which may
include affiliates of the underwriters), as selected and identified by us (together with the London Reference Banks, the “Reference
Banks”), for loans in U.S. dollars to leading European banks, for a period of three months, commencing on May 15, 2018 the related
Interest Reset Date, as applicable, and in a principal amount that is representative for a single transaction in U.S. dollars in that market at
that time. If at least two such rates are so provided, LIBOR on the Interest Determination Date will be the arithmetic mean of such rates. If
fewer than two such rates are so provided, LIBOR on the Interest Determination Date will be LIBOR in effect with respect to the
immediately preceding Interest Determination Date.

“Reuters Page LIBOR01” means the display that appears on Reuters Page LIBORO1 or any page as may replace such page on such service (or any
successor service) for the purpose of displaying LIBOR of major banks for U.S. dollars.

Covenants

Subject to certain exceptions, if we are required to withhold or deduct any amount for or on account of any U.K. or U.S. withholding tax from any
payment made on the Notes, we will pay additional amounts on those payments so that the amount received by noteholders will equal the amount that
would have been received if no such taxes had been applicable. See “—Payment of Additional Amounts.”
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As contemplated by the last paragraph under “Description of Debt Securities—Defeasance” below, the satisfaction of certain conditions will
permit us to omit to comply with some or all of our obligations, covenants and agreements under the GSK Capital Inc. Indenture or the GSK Capital plc
Indenture, as applicable, with respect to the Notes of any or all series, as applicable. In addition, we may omit to comply with certain covenants through
covenant defeasance. We refer you to the information under “Description of Debt Securities—Defeasance” below for more information on how we may
do this.

Except as described herein, neither the GSK Capital Inc. Indenture nor the GSK Capital plc Indenture contains any covenants or other provisions
designed to protect holders of the Notes against a reduction in our creditworthiness in the event of a highly leveraged transaction or that would prohibit
other transactions that might adversely affect holders of the Notes, including, among other things, through the incurrence of additional indebtedness.

Payment of Additional Amounts

The provisions of the GSK Capital Inc. Indenture and the GSK Capital plc Indenture described under “Description of Debt
Securities—Covenants—Payment of Additional Amounts” below do not apply to the Notes. The following payment of additional amounts provisions
apply to the Notes.

Payments made by us under or with respect to the Notes will be free and clear of and without withholding or deduction for or on account of any
present or future tax, duty, levy, impost, assessment or other governmental charge of any nature whatsoever imposed or levied by or on behalf of (i) the
government of the United Kingdom or of any territory of the United Kingdom or by any authority or agency therein or thereof having the power to tax
or (ii) the government of the United States or any state or territory of the United States or by any authority or agency therein or thereof having the power
to tax, which we refer to collectively as “Taxes,” unless we are required to withhold or deduct Taxes by law.

If we are required to withhold or deduct any amount for or on account of Taxes from any payment made with respect to the Notes, we will pay
such additional amounts as may be necessary so that the net amount received by each holder (including additional amounts) after such withholding or
deduction will not be less than the amount the holder would have received if the Taxes had not been withheld or deducted; provided that no additional
amounts will be payable with respect to Taxes:

. that would not have been imposed but for the existence of any present or former connection between such holder or beneficial owner of
the applicable Notes (or between a fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member or shareholder of, or possessor of a power over, such holder or
beneficial owner, if such holder or beneficial owner is an estate, trust, partnership or corporation) and the United Kingdom or the United
States or any political subdivision or territory or possession thereof or therein or area subject to its jurisdiction, including, without
limitation, such holder or beneficial owner (or such fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member, shareholder or possessor) being or having been
a citizen or resident thereof or treated as a resident thereof or domiciled thereof or a national thereof or being or having been present or
engaged in trade or business therein or having or having had a permanent establishment therein;

. that are estate, inheritance, gift, sales, transfer, personal property, wealth or similar taxes, duties, assessments or other governmental
charges;

. payable other than by withholding from payments of principal of or premium, if any, or interest on the applicable Notes;

. that would not have been imposed but for the failure of the applicable recipient of such payment to comply with any certification,

identification, information, documentation or other reporting requirement to the extent such compliance is required by applicable law or
administrative practice or an applicable treaty as a precondition to exemption from, or reduction in, the rate of deduction or withholding of
such Taxes;

. that would not have been imposed but for the presentation of the applicable Notes (where presentation is required) for payment on a date
more than 30 days after the date on which such payment became due and payable or the date on which payment thereof was duly provided
for, whichever occurred later;

. that would not have been imposed if presentation for payment of the applicable Notes had been made to a paying agent other than the
paying agent to which the presentation was made;
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. that are imposed solely by reason of the holder or beneficial owner owning or having owned, actually or constructively, 10% or more of
the total combined voting power of all classes of our stock entitled to vote;

. that would not have been imposed but for a failure by the holder or beneficial owner (or any financial institution through which the holder
or beneficial owner holds any security through which payment on the security is made) to comply with any certification, information,
identification, documentation or other reporting requirements (including entering into and complying with an agreement with the U.S.
Internal Revenue Service) imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code as in effect on the date of
issuance of the applicable Notes or any successor or amended version of such provisions; or

. any combination of the foregoing items;

nor shall additional amounts be paid with respect to any payment of the principal of or premium, if any, or interest on any Notes to any such holder who
is a fiduciary or a partnership or a beneficial owner who is other than the sole beneficial owner of such payment to the extent a beneficiary or settlor
with respect to such fiduciary or a member of such partnership or a beneficial owner would not have been entitled to such additional amounts had it
been the holder of such Notes.

We have agreed in the GSK Capital Inc. Indenture and the GSK Capital plc Indenture that at least one paying agent for the Notes will be located
outside the United Kingdom.

Our obligation to pay additional amounts if and when due will survive the termination of the GSK Capital Inc. Indenture or the GSK Capital plc
Indenture, as applicable, and the payment of all amounts in respect of the Notes.

Tax Redemption

In the event of changes in U.K. or U.S. withholding taxes applicable to payments of interest, we may redeem the Notes of a series in whole (but
not in part) at any time prior to maturity, at a price equal to 100% of their principal amount plus accrued interest to the redemption date. See
“Description of Debt Securities—Optional Redemption for Tax Reasons” below.

Optional Make-Whole Redemption

We may redeem the 2021 Notes, the 2023 Notes, the 2025 Notes and/or the 2028 Notes in whole or in part, at our option at any time and from
time to time, prior to maturity, at a redemption price equal to the greater of (i) 100% of the principal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes of the applicable
series to be redeemed on that redemption date; and (ii) as determined by the quotation agent (as defined below), the sum of the present values of the
remaining scheduled payments of principal of and interest on the Fixed Rate Notes of the applicable series being redeemed on that redemption date (not
including any portion of such payments of interest accrued as of the date of redemption), discounted to the date of redemption on a semi-annual basis
(assuming a 360 day year consisting of twelve 30 day months) at the Treasury Rate, plus 0.100% in the case of the 2021 Notes, 0.100% in the case of
the 2023 Notes, 0.150% in the case of the 2025 Notes, and 0.150% in the case of the 2028 Notes, plus, in each case, accrued and unpaid interest thereon
to, but excluding, the date of redemption. Notwithstanding the foregoing, installments of interest on the Fixed Rate Notes to be redeemed that are due
and payable on an interest payment date falling on or prior to a redemption date will be payable on the interest payment date to the registered holders as
of the close of business on the relevant record date according to the Fixed Rate Notes and the GSK Capital Inc. Indenture or the GSK Capital plc
Indenture, as applicable.

“Comparable Treasury Issue” means the United States Treasury security selected by the quotation agent as having a maturity comparable to the
remaining term (as measured from the date of redemption) of the Fixed Rate Notes of the applicable series to be redeemed that would be utilized, at the
time of selection and in accordance with customary financial practice, in pricing new issues of corporate debt securities of comparable maturity to the
remaining term of such Notes.

“Comparable Treasury Price” means, with respect to any redemption date, (i) the average of four Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations (as
defined below) for such redemption date, after excluding the highest and lowest such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, or (ii) if the quotation
agent for the Notes obtains fewer than four such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, the average of all such quotations, or (iii) if only one Reference
Treasury Dealer Quotation is received, the quotation.

“Quotation agent” means any Reference Treasury Dealer appointed by us.
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“Reference Treasury Dealer” means (i) each of Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (or their respective affiliates that are Primary Treasury Dealers) and their respective successors;
provided, however, that if any of the foregoing shall cease to be a primary U.S. government securities dealer in the United States (a “Primary Treasury
Dealer”), we will substitute therefor another Primary Treasury Dealer, and (ii) any other Primary Treasury Dealer selected by us.

“Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations” means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer and any redemption date, the average, as
determined by us, of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount) quoted
in writing to the quotation agent by such Reference Treasury Dealer at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the third business day preceding such
redemption date.

“Treasury Rate” means, with respect to any redemption date, the rate per annum equal to the semi-annual equivalent yield to maturity of the
Comparable Treasury Issue, assuming a price for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed as a percentage of its principal amount) equal to the
Comparable Treasury Price for that redemption date.

Notice of any redemption will be mailed at least 15 days but not more than 60 days before the redemption date to each registered holder of the
Fixed Rate Notes of the applicable series to be redeemed by us or by the trustee on our behalf. Notice of redemption will be published in a daily
newspaper of general circulation in the United States, and we will give notice of any such redemption to any exchange on which such Notes are listed.
On and after any redemption date, interest will cease to accrue on the Fixed Rate Notes or portions thereof called for redemption. On or before the
redemption date, we will deposit with a paying agent (or the trustee) money sufficient to pay the redemption price of and accrued interest on the Fixed
Rate Notes to be redeemed on that date. If less than all of the Fixed Rate Notes of the applicable series are to be redeemed, the Fixed Rate Notes to be
redeemed shall be selected by lot by The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), in the case of Notes represented by a global security, or by the trustee by
such method as the trustee deems to be fair and appropriate, in the case of Notes that are not represented by a global security.

Events of Default

The events of default under the GSK Capital Inc. Indenture or the GSK Capital plc Indenture, as applicable, with respect to the Notes are defined
under “Description of Debt Securities—Events of Default” below.

Further Issuances

We initially offered the 2021 Notes in the aggregate principal amount of $1,250,000,000, the 2023 Notes in the aggregate principal amount of
$1,250,000,000, the 2025 Notes in the aggregate principal amount of $1,000,000,000, the 2028 Notes in the aggregate principal amount of
$1,750,000,000 and the Floating Rate Notes in the aggregate principal amount of $750,000,000. We may from time to time, without the consent of the
holders of a series of Notes, create and issue further debt securities of the same series having the same terms and conditions in all respects as the
applicable Notes being offered hereby, except for the issue date, the issue price and the first payment of interest thereon. Any such additional debt
securities shall be issued under a separate CUSIP or ISIN number unless the additional debt securities are issued pursuant to a “qualified reopening” of
the original series, are otherwise treated as part of the same “issue” of debt instruments as the original series or are issued with no more than a de
minimis amount of original discount, in each case for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Book-Entry System

We issued the Notes of each series in the form of one or more fully registered global securities. We deposited these global securities with, or on
behalf of, DTC and register these securities in the name of DTC’s nominee. Direct and indirect participants in DTC will record beneficial ownership of
the Notes by individual investors. The transfer of ownership of beneficial interests in a global security will be effected only through records maintained
by DTC or its nominee, or by participants or persons that hold through participants.

Investors may elect to hold beneficial interests in the global securities through either DTC, Clearstream Banking S.A. (“Clearstream”) or
Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) if they are participants in these systems, or indirectly through organizations which are participants in these
systems. Beneficial interests in the global securities will be held in minimum denominations of $2,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess
thereof.

Upon receipt of any payment in respect of a global security, DTC or its nominee will immediately credit participants’ accounts with amounts
proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the principal amount of the global security as shown in the records of DTC or its nominee.
Payments by participants to owners of beneficial interests in a global security held through participants will be governed by standing instructions and
customary practices and will be the responsibility of those participants.
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DTC holds securities of institutions that have accounts with it or its participants. Through its maintenance of an electronic book-entry system,
DTC facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among its participants and eliminates the need to deliver securities certificates
physically. DTC’s participants include securities brokers and dealers, including the underwriters of this offering, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations and other organizations. DTC is partially owned by some of these participants or their representatives. Access to DTC’s book-entry system
is also available to others such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a participant,
either directly or indirectly. DTC agrees with and represents to its participants that it will administer its book-entry system in accordance with its rules
and bylaws and requirements of law. The rules applicable to DTC and its participants are on file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

Clearstream and Euroclear hold interests on behalf of their participants through customers’ securities accounts in Clearstream’s and Euroclear’s
names on the books of their respective depositaries, which in turn will hold interests in customers’ securities accounts in the depositaries’ names on the
books of DTC. At the date of the prospectus supplement, Citibank, N.A. acts as U.S. depositary for Clearstream and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. acts
as U.S. depositary for Euroclear, or, collectively, the “U.S. Depositaries.”

Clearstream holds securities for its participating organizations, or “Clearstream Participants,” and facilitates the clearance and settlement of
securities transactions between Clearstream Participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of Clearstream Participants, thereby
eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates. Clearstream provides to Clearstream Participants, among other things, services for
safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of internationally traded securities and securities lending and borrowing. Clearstream interfaces
with domestic markets in several countries.

Clearstream is registered as a bank in Luxembourg and as such is subject to regulation by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier
and the Banque Centrale du Luxembourg, which supervise and oversee the activities of Luxembourg banks. Clearstream Participants are worldwide
financial institutions, including underwriters, securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations, and may include the
underwriters or their affiliates. Indirect access to Clearstream is available to other institutions that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with
a Clearstream Participant. Clearstream has established an electronic bridge with Euroclear as the operator of the Euroclear System, or the “Euroclear
Operator,” in Brussels to facilitate settlement of trades between Clearstream and the Euroclear Operator.

Distributions with respect to the Notes of a series held beneficially through Clearstream will be credited to cash accounts of Clearstream
Participants in accordance with its rules and procedures, to the extent received by the U.S. Depositary for Clearstream.

Euroclear holds securities and book-entry interests in securities for participating organizations, or “Euroclear Participants” and facilitates the
clearance and settlement of securities transactions between Euroclear Participants, and between Euroclear Participants and participants of certain other
securities intermediaries through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of such participants or other securities intermediaries. Euroclear provides
Euroclear Participants with, among other things, safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement, securities lending and borrowing, and related
services.

Euroclear Participants are investment banks, securities brokers and dealers, banks, central banks, supranationals, custodians, investment managers,
corporations, trust companies and certain other organizations and may include the underwriters or their affiliates. Non-participants in Euroclear may
hold and transfer beneficial interests in a global security through accounts with a Euroclear Participant or any other securities intermediary that holds a
book-entry interest in a global security through one or more securities intermediaries standing between such other securities intermediary and Euroclear.

Distributions with respect to Notes of a series held beneficially through Euroclear will be credited to the cash accounts of Euroclear Participants in
accordance with the Terms and Conditions, to the extent received by the U.S. Depositary for Euroclear.

Transfers between Euroclear Participants and Clearstream Participants will be effected in the ordinary way in accordance with their respective
rules and operating procedures.
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Cross-market transfers between DTC’s participating organizations, or the “DTC Participants,” on the one hand, and Euroclear Participants or
Clearstream Participants, on the other hand, will be effected through DTC in accordance with DTC’s rules on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, as the
case may be, by its U.S. Depositary; however, such cross-market transactions will require delivery of instructions to Euroclear or Clearstream, as the
case may be, by the counterparty in such system in accordance with the rules and procedures and within the established deadlines (European time) of
such system. Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, will, if the transaction meets its settlement requirements, deliver instructions to its U.S.
Depositary to take action to effect final settlement on its behalf by delivering or receiving interests in the global security in DTC, and making or
receiving payment in accordance with normal procedures for same-day fund settlement applicable to DTC. Euroclear Participants and Clearstream
Participants may not deliver instructions directly to their respective U.S. Depositaries.

Due to time zone differences, the securities accounts of a Euroclear Participant or Clearstream Participant purchasing an interest in a global
security from a DTC Participant in DTC will be credited, and any such crediting will be reported, to the relevant Euroclear Participant or Clearstream
Participant during the securities settlement processing day (which must be a business day for Euroclear or Clearstream) immediately following the
settlement date of DTC. Cash received in Euroclear or Clearstream as a result of sales of interests in a global security by or through a Euroclear
Participant or Clearstream Participant to a DTC Participant will be received with value on the settlement date of DTC but will be available in the
relevant Euroclear or Clearstream cash account only as of the business day for Euroclear or Clearstream following DTC’s settlement date.

The information in this section concerning DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream and their book-entry systems has been obtained from sources that we
believe to be reliable, but we take no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of that information.

None of us, any of the underwriters and the trustee will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream or their
respective participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

Although DTC, Clearstream and Euroclear have agreed to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of securities among participants
of DTC, Clearstream and Euroclear, they are under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures and they may discontinue the
procedures at any time.

Same-Day Settlement and Payment
Initial settlement for the Notes was made in immediately available funds. Secondary market trading between DTC participants will occur in the

ordinary way in accordance with DTC rules and will be settled in immediately available funds using DTC’s Same-Day Funds Settlement System.

c. Base Prospectus — March 28, 2018

Description of Debt Securities
General

As used in this “Description of Debt Securities,” “debt securities” means the debentures, notes, bonds, guarantees and other evidences of
indebtedness that GSK issues or that a finance subsidiary issues and GSK fully and unconditionally guarantees and, in each case, the trustee
authenticates and delivers under the applicable indenture. The debt securities will be our direct unsecured obligations and will rank equally and ratably
without preference among themselves and at least equally with all of our other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness.

The debt securities will be issued in one or more series under an indenture dated as of March 4, 2008 between GSK and Deutsche Bank Trust
Company Americas, as trustee (the “trustee”) (as successor to Law Debenture Trust Company of New York, pursuant to an Instrument of Resignation,
Appointment and Acceptance dated April 12, 2017 among GSK, the trustee and Law Debenture Trust Company of New York), as supplemented by a
first supplemental indenture dated as of March 21, 2014 between GSK and the trustee (for purposes of this “Description of Debt Securities,” the “GSK
plc Indenture”), an indenture dated as of April 6, 2004 among GSK Capital ple, GSK, as guarantor, and the trustee (as successor to Law Debenture Trust
Company of New York, pursuant to an Instrument of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance dated
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April 12,2017 among GSK Capital plc, the guarantor, the trustee and Law Debenture Trust Company of New York), as supplemented by a first
supplemental indenture dated as of March 21, 2014 among GSK Capital plc, the guarantor and the trustee (for purposes of this “Description of Debt
Securities,” the “GSK Capital plc Indenture”), or an indenture dated as of April 6, 2004 among GSK Capital Inc., the guarantor and the trustee (as
successor to Law Debenture Trust Company of New York, pursuant to an Instrument of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance dated April 12,
2017, among GSK Capital Inc., the guarantor, the trustee and Law Debenture Trust Company of New York), as supplemented by a first supplemental
indenture dated as of March 18, 2013 among GSK Capital Inc., the guarantor and the trustee and a second supplemental indenture dated as of March 21,
2014 among GSK Capital Inc., the guarantor and the trustee (for purposes of this “Description of Debt Securities,” the “GSK Capital Inc. Indenture”).
Each of the GSK plc Indenture, the GSK Capital plc Indenture and the GSK Capital Inc. Indenture has been qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of
1939, as amended (the “Trust Indenture Act”). In the following discussion, we sometimes refer to these indentures collectively as the “indentures.”

This “Description of Debt Securities” briefly outlines the provisions of the indentures and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the indentures.
The terms of the indentures will include both those stated in the indentures and those made part of the indentures by the Trust Indenture Act. The
indentures have been filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which the base prospectus forms a part, and you should read the indentures for
provisions that may be important to you.

The indentures do not contain any covenants or other provisions designed to protect holders of the debt securities against a reduction in the
creditworthiness of GSK or the finance subsidiaries in the event of a highly leveraged transaction or that would prohibit other transactions that might
adversely affect holders of the debt securities.

Issuances in Series

The indentures do not limit the amount of debt securities that may be issued. The debt securities may be issued in one or more series with the
same or various maturities, at a price of 100% of their principal amount or at a premium or a discount. Not all debt securities of any one series need be
issued at the same time, and, unless otherwise provided, any series may be reopened, without the consents of the holders of debt securities of that series,
for issuances of additional debt securities of that series. Except in the limited circumstances described below under “—Covenants—Limitation on
Liens,” the debt securities will not be secured by any property or assets of GSK, as issuer or guarantor, or the finance subsidiaries.

The terms of any authorized series of debt securities will be described in a prospectus supplement. These terms will include some or all of the
following:

. the title, aggregate principal amount and denominations of the debt securities;
. the date or dates on which principal will be payable;

. the percentage of the principal amount at which the debt securities will be issued and whether the debt securities will be “original issue
discount” securities for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If original issue discount debt securities are issued (generally, securities that are
issued at a substantial discount below their principal amount), the special U.S. federal income tax and other considerations of a purchase of
original issue discount debt securities will be described;

. the rate or rates, which may be fixed or variable, at which the debt securities will bear interest;

. the interest payment dates;

. any optional or mandatory redemption terms;

. whether any sinking fund is required;

. the currency in which the debt securities will be denominated or principal, premium or interest will be payable, if other than U.S. dollars;

. whether the debt securities are to be issued as individual certificates to each holder or in the form of global certificates held by a depositary

on behalf of beneficial owners;

. information describing any book-entry features;
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. the names and duties of any co-trustees, depositaries, authenticating agents, paying agents, transfer agents or registrars for any series;

. the applicability of the defeasance and covenant defeasance provisions described herein, or any modifications of those provisions;
. any deletions from, modifications of or additions to the events of default or covenants with respect to the debt securities; and
. any other terms, conditions, rights or preferences of the debt securities.

Debt securities that have a maturity of less than one year from their date of issue and in respect of which the proceeds are to be received by us in
the United Kingdom will have a minimum denomination of £100,000 (or its equivalent in another currency).

The prospectus supplement relating to any series of debt securities may add to or change statements contained in the base prospectus. The
prospectus supplement may also include, if applicable, a discussion of certain U.S. federal income tax and U.K. income tax considerations.

GlaxoSmithKline Guarantees

Debt securities issued by the GSK Capital Inc. or GSK Capital plc (the “finance subsidiaries”) will be fully and unconditionally guaranteed by
GSK. If for any reason the applicable finance subsidiary does not make any required payment in respect of its debt securities when due, whether on the
normal due date, on acceleration, redemption or otherwise, GSK will cause the payment to be made to or to the order of the trustee. The holder of a
guaranteed debt security will be entitled to payment under the applicable guarantee of GSK without taking any action whatsoever against the finance
subsidiary.

Payment and Transfer

The debt securities will be issued only as registered securities, which means that the name of the holder will be entered in a register that will be
kept by the trustee or another agent appointed by us. Unless stated otherwise in a prospectus supplement, and except as described under “—Book-Entry
System” below, payments of principal, interest and additional amounts, if any, will be made at the office of the paying agent or agents named in the
prospectus supplement or by check mailed to you at your address as it appears in the register.

Unless other procedures are described in a prospectus supplement and except as described under “—Book Entry System” below, you will be able
to transfer registered debt securities at the office of the transfer agent or agents named in the prospectus supplement. You may also exchange registered
debt securities at the office of the transfer agent for an equal aggregate principal amount of registered debt securities of the same series having the same
maturity date, interest rate and other terms as long as the debt securities are issued in authorized denominations.

Neither we nor the trustee will impose any service charge for any transfer or exchange of a debt security; however, we may ask you to pay any
taxes or other governmental charges in connection with a transfer or exchange of debt securities.

Book-Entry System

Debt securities may be issued under a book-entry system in the form of one or more global securities. The global securities will be registered in
the name of a depositary or its nominee and deposited with that depositary or its custodian. Unless stated otherwise in the prospectus supplement, The
Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, or DTC, will be the depositary if a depositary is used.

DTC has advised us as follows:

. DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the
New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform
Commercial Code and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act;
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. DTC was created to hold securities of its participants and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions, such as
through transfers and pledges, among its participants in such securities through electronic book-entry changes to accounts of its
participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates;

. DTC’s participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations,
some of whom (and/or their representatives) own DTC;

. access to DTC’s book-entry system is also available to others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or
maintain a custodial relationship with a participant, either directly or indirectly; and

. the DTC rules applicable to its participants are on file with U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

According to DTC, the foregoing information with respect to DTC has been provided to the financial community for informational purposes only
and is not intended to serve as a representation, warranty or contract modification of any kind.

Following the issuance of a global security in registered form, the depositary will credit the accounts of its participants with the debt securities
upon our instructions. Only persons who hold directly or indirectly through financial institutions that are participants in the depositary can hold
beneficial interests in the global securities. Since the laws of some jurisdictions require certain types of purchasers to take physical delivery of such
securities in definitive form, you may encounter difficulties in your ability to own, transfer or pledge beneficial interests in a global security.

So long as the depositary or its nominee is the registered owner of a global security, we and the trustee will treat the depositary as the sole owner
or holder of the debt securities for purposes of the applicable indenture. Therefore, except as set forth below, you will not be entitled to have debt
securities registered in your name or to receive physical delivery of certificates representing the debt securities. Accordingly, you will have to rely on
the procedures of the depositary and the participant in the depositary through whom you hold your beneficial interest in order to exercise any rights of a
holder under the indenture. We understand that under existing practices, the depositary would act upon the instructions of a participant or authorize that
participant to take any action that a holder is entitled to take.

We will make all payments of principal, interest and additional amounts, if any, on the debt securities to the depositary. It is expected that the
depositary will then credit participants’ accounts proportionately with these payments on the payment date and that the participants will in turn credit
their customers’ accounts in accordance with their customary practices. Neither we nor the trustee will be responsible for making any payments to
participants or customers of participants or for maintaining any records relating to the holdings of or payments to participants and their customers, and
you will have to rely on the procedures of the depositary and its participants.

Global securities are generally not transferable. Physical certificates will be issued to beneficial owners in lieu of a global security only in the
special situations described in the sixth paragraph under the heading “Legal Ownership of Debt Securities—Global Securities” below.

Consolidation, Merger or Sale

We and the finance subsidiaries have agreed in the indentures not to consolidate with or merge with or into any other person or convey or transfer
all or substantially all of our respective properties and assets to any person (except that the finance subsidiaries may merge into us), unless:

. we or the applicable finance subsidiary, as the case may be, are the continuing person, or the successor expressly assumes by supplemental
indenture our obligations under the applicable indenture;

. the continuing person is a U.S. or U.K. company or is organized and validly existing under the laws of a jurisdiction that is a member
country of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (or any successor) and, if it is not a U.S. or U.K. company, the
continuing person agrees
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by supplemental indenture to be bound by a covenant comparable to that described below under “—Covenants—Payment of Additional
Amounts” with respect to taxes imposed in the continuing person’s jurisdiction of organization (in which case the continuing person will
benefit from a redemption option comparable to that described below under “—Optional Redemption for Tax Reasons” in the event of
changes in taxes in that jurisdiction after the date of the consolidation, merger or sale);

. immediately after the transaction, no default under the debt securities has occurred and is continuing; and

. we deliver to the trustee an officer’s certificate and, if neither we nor the applicable subsidiary are the continuing person, an opinion of
counsel, in each case stating, among other things, that the transaction and the supplemental indenture, if required, comply with these
provisions and the indenture.

Covenants
Payment of Additional Amounts

Payments made by us under or with respect to the debt securities will be free and clear of and without withholding or deduction for or on account
of any present or future tax, duty, levy, impost, assessment or other governmental charge of any nature whatsoever imposed or levied by or on behalf of
(i) the government of the United Kingdom or of any territory of the United Kingdom or by any authority or agency therein or thereof having the power
to tax or (ii) solely with respect to debt securities issued under the GSK Capital Inc. Indenture, the government of the United States or any state or
territory of the United States or by any authority or agency therein or thereof having the power to tax, which we refer to collectively as “Taxes,” unless
we are required to withhold or deduct Taxes by law.

If we are required to withhold or deduct any amount for or on account of Taxes from any payment made with respect to the debt securities, we
will pay such additional amounts as may be necessary so that the net amount received by each holder (including additional amounts) after such
withholding or deduction will not be less than the amount the holder would have received if the Taxes had not been withheld or deducted; provided that
no additional amounts will be payable with respect to Taxes:

. that would not have been imposed but for the existence of any present or former connection between such holder or beneficial owner of
the debt securities (or between a fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member or shareholder of, or possessor of a power over, such holder or
beneficial owner, if such holder or beneficial owner is an estate, trust, partnership or corporation) and the United Kingdom or, solely with
respect to debt securities issued under the GSK Capital Inc. Indenture, the United States or, as applicable, any political subdivision or
territory or possession thereof or therein or area subject to its jurisdiction, including, without limitation, such holder or beneficial owner
(or such fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member, shareholder or possessor) being or having been a citizen or resident thereof or treated as a
resident thereof or domiciled thereof or a national thereof or being or having been present or engaged in trade or business therein or having
or having had a permanent establishment therein;

. that are estate, inheritance, gift, sales, transfer, personal property, wealth or similar taxes, duties, assessments or other governmental
charges;

. payable other than by withholding from payments of principal of or interest on the debt securities;

. that would not have been imposed but for the failure of the applicable recipient of such payment to comply with any certification,

identification, information, documentation or other reporting requirement to the extent such compliance is required by applicable law or
administrative practice or an applicable treaty as a precondition to exemption from, or reduction in, the rate of deduction or withholding of
such Taxes;

. that would not have been imposed but for the presentation of a debt security (where presentation is required) for payment on a date more
than 30 days after the date on which such payment became due and payable or the date on which payment thereof was duly provided for,
whichever occurred later;

. that are imposed on a payment to an individual and are required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any
other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of November 26-27, 2000 on the taxation of savings
income, or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive;
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. that would not have been imposed if presentation for payment of the relevant debt securities had been made to a paying agent other than
the paying agent to which the presentation was made;

. that would not have been imposed but for a failure by the holder or beneficial owner (or any financial institution through which the holder
or beneficial owner holds any debt security through which payment on the debt security is made) to comply with any certification,
information, identification, documentation or other reporting requirements (including entering into and complying with an agreement with
the U.S. Internal Revenue Service or any other governmental authority) imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S.
Internal Revenue Code as in effect on the date of issuance of the Notes or any successor or amended version of such provisions, or any
agreement entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code, or any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or
practices adopted pursuant to any intergovernmental agreement entered into in connection with the implementation of such Sections of the
U.S. Internal Revenue Code (or any law implementing such intergovernmental agreement);

. solely with respect to debt securities issued under the GSK Capital Inc. Indenture, that are imposed solely by reason of the holder or
beneficial owner owning or having owned, actually or constructively, 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of the
Company’s stock entitled to vote; or

. any combination of the foregoing items;

nor shall additional amounts be paid with respect to any payment of the principal of or interest on any debt security to any such holder who is a fiduciary
or a partnership or a beneficial owner who is other than the sole beneficial owner of such payment to the extent a beneficiary or settlor with respect to
such fiduciary or a member of such partnership or a beneficial owner would not have been entitled to such additional amounts had it been the holder of
the debt security.

We have agreed in each indenture that at least one paying agent for each series of debt securities will be located outside the United Kingdom. We
have also agreed that if we maintain a paying agent with respect to a particular series of debt securities in any member state of the European Union, we
will maintain a paying agent in at least one member state (other than the United Kingdom) that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct taxes pursuant
to any law implementing European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting
of November 26-27, 2000 on the taxation of savings income, provided there is at least one member state that does not require a paying agent to withhold
or deduct pursuant to such Directive.

Our obligation to pay additional amounts if and when due will survive the termination of the indentures and the payment of all amounts in respect
of the debt securities.

Limitation on Liens

We have agreed in the indentures not to incur or assume (or permit any of our subsidiaries to incur or assume) any lien on or with respect to any of
our or our subsidiaries’ property, assets or revenues, present or future, to secure any relevant indebtedness (as this term is defined below) without
making (or causing our subsidiaries to make) effective provision for securing the debt securities equally and ratably with such relevant indebtedness as
to such property, assets or revenues, for as long as such relevant indebtedness is so secured.

The restrictions on liens will not apply to:

. liens arising by operation of law;

. liens on property, assets or revenues of any person, which liens are existing at the time such person becomes a subsidiary; and

. liens on property, assets or revenues of a person existing at the time such person is merged with or into or consolidated with us or any of
our subsidiaries or at the time of a sale, lease or other disposition to us of the properties of a person as an entirety or substantially as an
entirety.

For purposes of the limitation on liens covenant, the term “relevant indebtedness” means any of our debt that:

. is in the form of or represented by bonds, notes, loan stock, depositary receipts or other securities issued (otherwise than to constitute or by
banks or other lending institutions);

. is denominated in, or confers any right of payment by reference to, any currency other than the currency of the country in which the issuer
of the indebtedness has its principal place of business, or is denominated in or by reference to the currency of such country but more than
20% of which is placed or offered for subscription or sale by or on behalf of, or by agreement with, the issuer outside such country; and
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. at its date of issue is, or is intended by the issuer to become, quoted, listed, traded or dealt in on any stock exchange, over-the-counter
market or other securities market.

Additional Covenants

We may be subject to additional covenants, including restrictive covenants in respect of a particular series of debt securities. Such additional
covenants will be set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement and, to the extent necessary, in the supplemental indenture or board resolution
relating to that series of debt securities.

Optional Redemption for Tax Reasons

We may redeem any series of debt securities in whole but not in part at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice of such
redemption, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount plus accrued interest, if any, to the date fixed for redemption (except in the case of
discounted debt securities, which may be redeemed at the redemption price specified by the terms of each series of such debt securities), if:

. we determine that, as a result of any change in or amendment to the laws or any regulations or rulings promulgated thereunder of the
United Kingdom (or of any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof) or, solely with respect to debt securities issued under the GSK
Capital Inc. Indenture, the United States (or of any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof), or any change in the application or
official interpretation of such laws, regulations or rulings, or any change in the application or official interpretation of, or any execution of
or amendment to, any treaty or treaties affecting taxation to which any such jurisdiction is a party, which change, execution or amendment
becomes effective on or after the issue date or such other date specified in the debt securities of that series:

*  we would be required to pay additional amounts (as described under “—Covenants—Payment of Additional Amounts” above) with
respect to that series of debt securities on the next succeeding interest payment date and the payment of such additional amounts
cannot be avoided by the use of reasonable measures available to us; or

+  withholding tax has been or would be required to be withheld with respect to interest income received or receivable by the
applicable finance subsidiary directly from the guarantor (or any affiliate) and such withholding tax obligation cannot be avoided by
the use of reasonable measures available to the applicable finance subsidiary or the guarantor (or any affiliate); or

. we determine, based upon an opinion of independent counsel of recognized standing that, as a result of any action taken by any legislative
body of, taxing authority of, or any action brought in a court of competent jurisdiction in, the United Kingdom (or any political subdivision
or taxing authority thereof) or, solely with respect to debt securities issued under the GSK Capital Inc. Indenture, the United States (or any
political subdivision or taxing authority thereof) (whether or not such action was taken or brought with respect to GSK, as issuer or
guarantor, or the applicable finance subsidiary, as the case may be), which action is taken or brought on or after the issue date or such
other date specified in the debt securities of that series, there is a substantial probability that the circumstances described above would
exist; provided, however, that such notice of redemption may be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which we would be
obligated to pay such additional amounts.

We will also pay to each holder, or make available for payment to each such holder, on the redemption date any additional amounts resulting from
the payment of such redemption price. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption, we will deliver to the trustee:

. an officer’s certificate stating that we are entitled to effect a redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions
precedent of the right so to redeem have occurred; or

. an opinion of counsel to the effect that the conditions specified above have been satisfied.

Any notice of redemption will be irrevocable once we deliver the officer’s certificate to the trustee.
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Events of Default
Unless otherwise specified in a prospectus supplement, an event of default with respect to a series of debt securities occurs upon:

. default in payment of the principal (or premium, if any) of any debt security of that series when due (including as a sinking fund
installment), and, in the case of technical or administrative difficulties, the continuance of that default for more than two business days;

. default in payment of interest on, or any additional amounts payable in respect of, any debt security of that series when due and payable,
and the continuance of that default for 30 days;

. default in performing any other covenant in the indenture applicable to that series for 90 days after the receipt of written notice specifying
such default from the trustee or from the holders of 25% in principal amount of the debt securities of that series;

. default under any bond, debenture, note or other evidence of indebtedness for money borrowed of GSK or either finance subsidiary, as the
case may be (not including any indebtedness for which recourse is limited to property purchased), having in any particular case an
outstanding principal amount in excess of £100,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) where any such failure results in such
indebtedness being accelerated and becoming due and payable prior to its stated maturity and such acceleration shall not have been
rescinded or annulled or such indebtedness shall not have been discharged; provided that there shall not be deemed to be an Event of
Default if such acceleration is rescinded or annulled or such payment is made within 10 days after there has been given to GSK and either
finance subsidiary by the trustee or to either finance subsidiary, GSK and the trustee by the holders of 25% or more in aggregate principal
amount of the debt securities of such series a written notice specifying such default and requiring it to be remedied and stating that such
notice is a “Notice of Default” hereunder;

. certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of GSK or either finance subsidiary, as the case may be;

. any other event of default provided with respect to that particular series of debt securities.

Any additional or different events of default applicable to a particular series of debt securities will be described in the prospectus supplement
relating to such series.

An event of default with respect to a particular series of debt securities will not necessarily constitute an event of default with respect to any other
series of debt securities.

The trustee may withhold notice to the holders of debt securities of any default (except in the payment of principal, premium or interest) if it, in
good faith considers such withholding of notice to be in the best interests of the holders. A default is any event which is an event of default described
above or would be an event of default but for the giving of notice or the passage of time.

If an event of default occurs and continues, the trustee or the holders of the aggregate principal amount of the debt securities specified below may
require us to repay immediately, or accelerate:

. the entire principal of the debt securities of such series; or
. if the debt securities are original issue discount securities, such portion of the principal as may be described in the applicable prospectus
supplement.

If the event of default occurs because of a default in a payment of principal or interest on the debt securities of any series, then the trustee or the
holders of at least 25% of the aggregate principal amount of debt securities of that series can accelerate that series of debt securities. If the event of
default occurs because of a failure to perform any other covenant in the applicable indenture or any covenant for the benefit of one or more, but not all,
of the series of debt securities, then the trustee or the holders of at least 25% of the aggregate principal amount of debt securities of all series affected,
voting as one class, can accelerate all of the affected series of debt securities. If the event of default occurs because of bankruptcy proceedings, then all
of the debt securities under the indenture will be accelerated automatically. Therefore, except in the case of a default on a payment of principal or
interest on the debt securities of your series or a default due to our bankruptcy or insolvency, it is possible that you may not be able to accelerate the
debt securities of your series because of the failure of holders of other series to take action.
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The holders of a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the debt securities of all affected series, voting as one class, can rescind this
accelerated payment requirement or waive any past default or event of default or allow noncompliance with any provision of the applicable indenture.
However, they cannot waive a default in payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on any of the debt securities when due otherwise than as a
result of acceleration.

After an event of default, the trustee must exercise the same degree of care a prudent person would exercise under the circumstances in the
conduct of her or his own affairs. Subject to these requirements, the trustee is not obligated to exercise any of its rights or powers under the applicable
indenture at the request, order or direction of any holders, unless the holders offer the trustee indemnity satisfactory to it. If they provide this indemnity,
the holders of a majority in principal amount of all affected series of debt securities, voting as one class, may direct the time, method and place of
conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the trustee, or exercising any power conferred upon the trustee, for any series of debt securities.
However, the trustee may refuse to follow any direction that conflicts with law or the indenture or is unduly prejudicial to the rights of other holders.

No holder will be entitled to pursue any remedy with respect to the indenture unless the trustee fails to act for 60 days after it is given:

. notice of default by that holder;

. a written request to enforce the indenture by the holders of not less than 25% in principal amount of all outstanding debt securities of any
affected series; and

. an indemnity to the trustee, reasonably satisfactory to the trustee;

and during this 60-day period the holders of a majority in principal amount of all outstanding debt securities of such affected series do not give a
direction to the trustee that is inconsistent with the enforcement request. These provisions will not prevent any holder of debt securities from enforcing
payment of the principal of (and premium, if any) and interest on the debt securities at the relevant due dates.

If an event of default with respect to a series of debt securities occurs and is continuing, the trustee will mail to the holders of those debt securities
a notice of the event of default within 90 days after it occurs. However, except in the case of a default in any payment in respect of a series of debt
securities, the trustee shall be protected in withholding notice of an event of default if it determines in good faith that this is in the interests of the holders
of the relevant debt securities.

Modification of the Indentures

In general, rights and obligations of us and the holders under the indentures may be modified if the holders of a majority in aggregate principal
amount of the outstanding debt securities of each series affected by the modification consent to such modification. However, each of the indentures
provides that, unless each affected holder agrees, an amendment cannot:

. make any adverse change to any payment term of a debt security such as extending the maturity date, extending the date on which we have
to pay interest or make a sinking fund payment, reducing the interest rate, reducing the amount of principal we have to repay, changing the
currency in which we have to make any payment of principal, premium or interest, modifying any redemption or repurchase right, or right
to convert or exchange any debt security, to the detriment of the holder and impairing any right of a holder to bring suit for payment;

. waive any payment default;

. reduce the percentage of the aggregate principal amount of debt securities needed to make any amendment to the applicable indenture or to
waive any covenant or default; or

. make any other change to the amendment provisions of the applicable indenture.
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However, if we and the trustee agree, the applicable indenture may be amended without notifying any holders or seeking their consent if the
amendment does not materially and adversely affect any holder. We and the trustee are permitted to make modifications and amendments to the
applicable indenture without the consent of any holder of debt securities for any of the following purposes:

. to cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency in the indenture;
. to comply with sections of the indenture governing when we may merge and substitute obligors;
. to comply with any requirements of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the qualification of the indenture

under the Trust Indenture Act;

. to evidence and provide for the acceptance by a successor trustee of appointment under the indenture with respect to the debt securities of
any or all series;

. to establish the form or forms or terms of the debt securities of any series or of the coupons appertaining to such debt securities as
permitted under the indenture;

. to provide for uncertificated debt securities and to make all appropriate changes for such purpose;

. to provide for a further guarantee from a third party on outstanding debt securities of any series and the debt securities of any series that
may be issued under the indenture;

. to change or eliminate any provision of the indenture; provided that any such change or elimination will become effective only when there
are no outstanding debt securities of any series created prior to the execution of such supplemental indenture that is entitled to the benefit
of such provision;

. to supplement any of the provisions of the indenture to such extent as will be necessary to permit or facilitate the defeasance and discharge
of any series of debt securities pursuant to the indenture; provided that any such action will not adversely affect the interests of the holders
of such or any other series of debt securities in any material respect; or

. to make any change that does not materially and adversely affect the rights of any holder of the debt securities.

Defeasance

The term defeasance means discharge from some or all of the obligations under the indentures. If we deposit with the trustee sufficient cash or
government securities to pay the principal, interest, any premium and any other sums due to the stated maturity date or a redemption date of the debt
securities of a particular series, then at our option:

. we will be discharged from our respective obligations with respect to the debt securities of such series; or

. we will no longer be under any obligation to comply with the restrictive covenants, if any, contained in the applicable indenture and any
supplemental indenture or board resolution with respect to the debt securities of such series, and the events of default relating to failures to
comply with covenants will no longer apply to us.

If this happens, the holders of the debt securities of the affected series will not be entitled to the benefits of the applicable indenture except for
registration of transfer and exchange of debt securities and replacement of lost, stolen or mutilated debt securities. Instead, the holders will only be able
to rely on the deposited funds or obligations for payment.

We must deliver to the trustee an opinion of counsel to the effect that the deposit and related defeasance would not cause the holders of the debt
securities to recognize income, gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We may, in lieu of an opinion of counsel, deliver a ruling to such
effect received from or published by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service.

Substitution of Issuer

We may at our option at any time, without the consent of any holders of debt securities, cause GSK or any other subsidiary of GSK to assume the
obligations of the applicable finance subsidiary under any series of debt securities, provided that the new obligor executes a supplemental indenture in
which it agrees to be bound by the terms of those debt securities and the relevant indenture. If the new obligor is not a U.S. or U.K. company, it must be
organized and validly existing under the laws of a jurisdiction that is a member country of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
(or any successor) and it must also agree in the

33



supplemental indenture to be bound by a covenant comparable to that described above under “—Covenants—Payment of Additional Amounts” with
respect to taxes imposed in its jurisdiction of organization (in which case the new obligor will benefit from a redemption option comparable to that
described above under “—Optional Redemption for Tax Reasons” in the event of changes in taxes in that jurisdiction after the date of the substitution).
In the case of such a substitution, the applicable finance subsidiary will be relieved of any further obligation under the assumed series of debt securities.

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, a substitution of obligors as described above generally would be treated as a deemed taxable exchange of
debt securities for new debt securities issued by the new obligor. As discussed further in the applicable prospectus supplement, a United States person
who holds debt securities or owns a beneficial interest therein generally will recognize capital gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between
the issue price of the new debt securities and such person’s adjusted tax basis in the debt securities. Such persons should consult their own tax advisors
regarding the tax consequences of a deemed taxable exchange in the event of a substitution of obligors.

Information Concerning the Trustee

Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, 60 Wall Street, 16th Floor, New York, NY 10005, will be the trustee. The trustee will be required to
perform only those duties that are specifically set forth in the indentures, except when a default has occurred and is continuing with respect to the debt
securities. After a default, the trustee must exercise the same degree of care that a prudent person would exercise under the circumstances in the conduct
of her or his own affairs. Subject to these requirements, the trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of the powers vested in it by the
indentures at the request of any holder of debt securities unless the holder offers the trustee indemnity satisfactory to it against the costs, expenses and
liabilities that might be incurred by exercising those powers.

Governing Law

The debt securities, the related guarantees and the indentures will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New
York.

Legal Ownership of Debt Securities

“Street Name” and Other Indirect Holders

We generally will not recognize investors who hold debt securities in accounts at banks or brokers as legal holders of those debt securities.

Holding securities in accounts at banks or brokers is called holding in “street name.” If an investor holds debt securities in street name, we
recognize only the bank or broker or the financial institution the bank or broker uses to hold the debt securities. These intermediary banks, brokers and
other financial institutions pass along principal, interest and other payments on the debt securities, either because they agree to do so in their customer
agreements or because they are legally required to do so. If you hold debt securities in street name, you should check with your own institution to find
out:

. how it handles payments and notices with respect to securities;

. whether it imposes fees or charges;

. how it would handle voting if ever required;

. how and when you should notify it to exercise on your behalf any rights or options that may exist under the debt securities;

. whether and how you can instruct it to send you securities registered in your own name so you can be a direct holder as described below;
and

. how it would pursue rights under the debt securities if there were a default or other event triggering the need for holders to act to protect

their interests.

34



Registered Holders

Our obligations, as well as the obligations of the trustee and those of any third parties employed by us or the trustee, extend only to persons who
are registered as holders of debt securities. As noted above, we do not have obligations directly to you if you hold in street name or through other
indirect means, either because you choose to hold debt securities in that manner or because the debt securities are issued in the form of global securities
as described below. For example, once we make payment to the registered holder, we have no further responsibility for the payment even if that holder
is legally required to pass the payment along to you but does not do so.

Global Securities

A global security is a special type of indirectly held security. If we choose to issue debt securities in the form of global securities, the ultimate
beneficial owners of the debt securities will be indirect holders. We do this by requiring that the global security be registered in the name of a financial
institution we select and by requiring that the debt securities represented by the global security not be registered in the name of any other holder except
in the special situations described below. The financial institution that acts as the sole registered holder of the global security is called the depositary.
Any person wishing to own a debt security may do so indirectly through an account with a broker, bank or other financial institution that in turn has an
account with the depositary. The prospectus supplement will indicate whether your series of debt securities will be issued only as global securities.

Transfers of debt securities represented by the global security will be made only on the records of the depositary or its nominee by transferring
such debt securities from the account of one broker, bank or financial institution to the account of another broker, bank or financial institution. These
transfers are made electronically only and are also known as book-entry transfers. Securities in global form are sometimes also referred to as being in
book-entry form.

As an indirect holder, your rights relating to a global security will be governed by the account rules of your broker, bank or financial institution
and of the depositary, as well as general laws relating to securities transfers. We will not recognize you as a holder of debt securities and instead will

deal only with the depositary that holds the global security.

You should be aware that if debt securities are issued only in the form of a global security:

. except in very limited circumstances described below, you will not have any right to have debt securities registered in your own name;
. you cannot receive physical certificates for your interest in the debt securities;
. you will be a street name holder and must look to your own broker, bank or financial institution for payments on the debt securities and

protection of your legal rights relating to the debt securities;

. you may not be able to sell interests in the debt securities to some insurance companies and other institutions that are required by law to
own securities in the form of physical certificates;

. the depositary’s policies will govern payments, transfers, exchanges and other matters relating to your indirect interest in the global
security. We and the trustee will have no responsibility for any aspect of the depositary’s actions or for its records of ownership interests in
the global security. We and the trustee also will not supervise the depositary in any way; and

. the depositary will require that indirect interests in the global security be purchased or sold within its system using same-day funds for
settlement.

In a few special circumstances described below, the global security will terminate and the indirect interests in it will be exchanged for registered
debt securities represented by physical certificates. After that exchange, the choice of whether to hold debt securities in registered form or in street name
will be up to you. You must consult your broker, bank or financial institution to find out how to have your interests in debt securities transferred to your
name, so that you will be a registered holder of the debt securities.

Unless we specify otherwise in the prospectus supplement, the special circumstances for termination of a global security are:

. when the depositary notifies us that it is unwilling or unable to continue as depositary and we do not or cannot appoint a successor
depositary within 90 days;

. the depositary ceases to be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act and we do not appoint a successor depositary within 90
days;
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. an event of default has occurred and is continuing and beneficial owners representing a majority in principal amount of the applicable
series of debt securities have advised the depositary to cease acting as the depositary; or

. we decide we do not want to have the debt securities of that series represented by a global security.

The prospectus supplement may also list additional circumstances for terminating a global security that would apply only to the particular series of
debt securities covered by the prospectus supplement. When a global security terminates, the depositary (and not us or the trustee) is responsible for
deciding the names of the institutions that will be the initial registered holders.

The Term “Holder”

In the descriptions of the debt securities included herein, when we refer to the “holder” of a given debt security as being entitled to certain rights
or payments, or being permitted to take certain actions, we are in all cases referring to the registered holder of the debt security.

While you would be the registered holder if you held a certificated security registered in your name, it is likely that the holder will actually be
either the broker, bank or other financial institutions where you have your street name account, or, in the case of a global security, the depositary. If you
are an indirect holder, you will need to coordinate with the institution through which you hold your interest in a debt security in order to determine how
the provisions involving holders described in the descriptions of the debt securities included herein will actually apply to you. For example, if the debt
security in which you hold a beneficial interest in street name can be repaid at the option of the holder, you cannot exercise the option yourself by
following the procedures described in the prospectus supplement. Instead, you would need to cause the institution through which you hold your interest
to take those actions on your behalf. Your institution may have procedures and deadlines different from or additional to those described in the
prospectus supplement relating to the debt security.

2. Notes offered pursuant to the Base Prospectus dated March 4, 2011
a. Prospectus Supplement (March 13, 2013) — 2.800% Notes due 2023 and 4.200% Notes due 2043

Description of the Notes
General

We issued the 2.800% Notes due 2023 (for purposes of this “Description of the Notes” only, the “2023 notes”) and the 4.200% Notes due 2043
(the “2043 notes”) pursuant to an indenture, dated April 6, 2004, among GlaxoSmithKline plc, as guarantor, GSK Capital Inc., as issuer, and Law
Debenture Trust Company of New York, the trustee for the notes (as successor to Citibank, N.A., pursuant to an Instrument of Resignation,
Appointment and Acceptance dated December 27, 2007 among GSK Capital Inc., GlaxoSmithKline plc, Law Debenture Trust Company of New York
and Citibank, N.A.), as supplemented by a first supplemental indenture thereto dated March 18, 2013 (for purposes of this description of the 2023 and
the 2043 notes only, the “indenture”). References in this “Description of the Notes” to the “notes” refer to the 2023 notes and the 2043 notes. The notes
are each a series of our debt securities. GSK Capital Inc. issued the 2023 notes in the aggregate principal amount of $1,250,000,000. The 2023 notes will
mature on March 18, 2023 unless redeemed or repurchased prior to such date as permitted below. GSK Capital Inc. issued the 2043 notes in the
aggregate principal amount of $500,000,000. The 2043 notes will mature on March 18, 2043 unless redeemed or repurchased prior to such date as
permitted below. GSK Capital Inc. issued the notes only in book-entry form, in minimum denominations of $2,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in
excess thereof.

The notes each bear interest at the applicable interest rate shown in the table above and accrue interest from March 18, 2013, or from the most
recent date to which interest has been paid (or provided for), to but not including the next date upon which interest is required to be paid.

Interest is payable on each of the 2023 notes and the 2043 notes twice a year, on March 18 and September 18, commencing September 18, 2013,
to the person in whose name a 2023 note or a 2043 note, respectively, is registered at the close of business on the March 3 or September 3 that precedes
the date on which interest will be paid. Interest on the notes is paid on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. “Business day”
means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banking institutions in the City of New York or London, England are authorized or
obligated by law, regulation or executive order to be closed.
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If an interest payment date or redemption date, or the maturity date, for the 2023 notes or the 2043 notes, as the case may be, would fall on a day
that is not a business day, then the interest payment date or redemption date, or the maturity date, as the case may be, will be postponed to the next
succeeding business day, but no additional interest shall be paid unless we fail to make payment on such next succeeding business day.

The notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by GlaxoSmithKline plc. If, for any reason, GSK Capital Inc. does not make any required
payment in respect of the notes when due, whether on the normal due date, on acceleration, redemption or otherwise, GlaxoSmithKline plc will cause
the payment to be made to or to the order of the trustee. You will be entitled to payment under the guarantee of GlaxoSmithKline plc without taking any
action whatsoever against us.

Covenants

Subject to certain exceptions, if we are required to withhold or deduct any amount for or on account of any U.K. or U.S. withholding tax from any
payment made on the notes, we will pay additional amounts on those payments so that the amount received by noteholders will equal the amount that
would have been received if no such taxes had been applicable. See “—Payment of Additional Amounts.”

As contemplated by the last paragraph under “Description of Debt Securities—Defeasance” below, the satisfaction of certain conditions will
permit us to omit to comply with some or all of our obligations, covenants and agreements under the indenture with respect to the notes. In addition, we
may omit to comply with certain covenants through covenant defeasance. We refer you to the information under “Description of Debt
Securities—Defeasance” below for more information on how we may do this.

Except as described herein, the indenture for the notes does not contain any covenants or other provisions designed to protect holders of the notes
against a reduction in our creditworthiness in the event of a highly leveraged transaction or that would prohibit other transactions that might adversely
affect holders of the notes, including, among other things, through the incurrence of additional indebtedness.

Payment of Additional Amounts

The provisions of the indenture described under “Description of Debt Securities—Covenants—Payment of Additional Amounts” below do not
apply to the notes. The following payment of additional amounts provisions apply to the notes.

Payments made by us under or with respect to the notes will be free and clear of and without withholding or deduction for or on account of any
present or future tax, duty, levy, impost, assessment or other governmental charge of any nature whatsoever imposed or levied by or on behalf of (i) the
government of the United Kingdom or of any territory of the United Kingdom or by any authority or agency therein or thereof having the power to tax
or (ii) the government of the United States or any state or territory of the United States or by any authority or agency therein or thereof having the power
to tax, which we refer to collectively as “Taxes,” unless we are required to withhold or deduct Taxes by law.

If we are required to withhold or deduct any amount for or on account of Taxes from any payment made with respect to the notes, we will pay
such additional amounts as may be necessary so that the net amount received by each holder (including additional amounts) after such withholding or
deduction will not be less than the amount the holder would have received if the Taxes had not been withheld or deducted; provided that no additional
amounts will be payable with respect to Taxes:

. that would not have been imposed but for the existence of any present or former connection between such holder or beneficial owner of
the notes (or between a fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member or shareholder of, or possessor of a power over, such holder or beneficial
owner, if such holder or beneficial owner is an estate, trust, partnership or corporation) and the United Kingdom or the United States or
any political subdivision or territory or possession thereof or therein or area subject to its jurisdiction, including, without limitation, such
holder or beneficial owner (or such fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member, shareholder or possessor) being or having been a citizen or
resident thereof or treated as a resident thereof or domiciled thereof or a national thereof or being or having been present or engaged in
trade or business therein or having or having had a permanent establishment therein;
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. that are estate, inheritance, gift, sales, transfer, personal property, wealth or similar taxes, duties, assessments or other governmental

charges;
. payable other than by withholding from payments of principal of or premium, if any, or interest on the notes;
. that would not have been imposed but for the failure of the applicable recipient of such payment to comply with any certification,

identification, information, documentation or other reporting requirement to the extent such compliance is required by applicable law or
administrative practice or an applicable treaty as a precondition to exemption from, or reduction in, the rate of deduction or withholding of
such Taxes;

. that would not have been imposed but for the presentation of notes (where presentation is required) for payment on a date more than 30
days after the date on which such payment became due and payable or the date on which payment thereof was duly provided for,
whichever occurred later;

. that are imposed on a payment to an individual and are required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any
other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of November 26-27, 2000 on the taxation of savings
income, or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive;

. that would not have been imposed if presentation for payment of the relevant notes had been made to a paying agent other than the paying
agent to which the presentation was made;

. that are imposed solely by reason of the holder or beneficial owner owning or having owned, actually or constructively, 10% or more of
the total combined voting power of all classes of our stock entitled to vote;

. that would not have been imposed but for a failure by the holder or beneficial owner (or any financial institution through which the holder
or beneficial owner holds any Security through which payment on the security is made) to comply with any certification, information,
identification, documentation or other reporting requirements (including entering into and complying with an agreement with the U.S.
Internal Revenue Service) imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code as in effect on the date of
issuance of the Notes or any successor or amended version of such provisions; or

. any combination of the foregoing items;

nor shall additional amounts be paid with respect to any payment of the principal of or premium, if any, or interest on any notes to any such holder who
is a fiduciary or a partnership or a beneficial owner who is other than the sole beneficial owner of such payment to the extent a beneficiary or settlor
with respect to such fiduciary or a member of such partnership or a beneficial owner would not have been entitled to such additional amounts had it
been the holder of notes.

We have agreed in the indenture that at least one paying agent for the notes will be located outside the United Kingdom. We have also agreed that
if we maintain a paying agent with respect to the notes in any member state of the European Union, we will maintain a paying agent in at least one
member state that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct taxes pursuant to any law implementing European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any
other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of November 26-27, 2000 on the taxation of savings income, provided
there is at least one member state that does not require a paying agent to withhold or deduct pursuant to such Directive.

Our obligation to pay additional amounts if and when due will survive the termination of the indenture and the payment of all amounts in respect
of the notes.

Optional Make-Whole Redemption

We may redeem the 2023 notes and/or the 2043 notes, in whole or in part, at our option at any time and from time to time at a redemption price
equal to the greater of (i) 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed on that redemption date; and (ii) as determined by the quotation
agent (as defined below), the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the notes being redeemed on
that redemption date (not including any portion of such payments of interest accrued as of the date of redemption), discounted to the date of redemption
on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the Treasury Rate, plus 0.150% in the case of the 2023 notes
and 0.175% in the case of the 2043 notes, plus, in each case, accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the date of redemption.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, installments of interest on notes to be redeemed that are due and payable on an interest payment date falling on or prior
to a redemption date will be payable on the interest payment date to the registered holders as of the close of business on the relevant record date
according to the notes and the indenture.
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“Comparable Treasury Issue” means the United States Treasury security selected by the quotation agent as having a maturity comparable to the
remaining term (as measured from the date of redemption) of the notes to be redeemed that would be utilized, at the time of selection and in accordance
with customary financial practice, in pricing new issues of corporate debt securities of comparable maturity to the remaining term of such notes.

“Comparable Treasury Price” means, with respect to any redemption date, (i) the average of four Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations (as
defined below) for such redemption date, after excluding the highest and lowest such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, or (ii) if the quotation
agent for the notes obtains fewer than four such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, the average of all such quotations, or (iii) if only one Reference
Treasury Dealer Quotation is received, the quotation.

“Quotation agent” means any Reference Treasury Dealer appointed by us.

“Reference Treasury Dealer” means (i) each of Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Goldman, Sachs & Co., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and UBS
Securities LLC (or their respective affiliates that are Primary Treasury Dealers) and their respective successors; provided, however, that if any of the
foregoing shall cease to be a primary U.S. government securities dealer in the United States (a “Primary Treasury Dealer”), we will substitute therefor
another Primary Treasury Dealer, and (ii) any other Primary Treasury Dealer selected by us.

“Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations” means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer and any redemption date, the average, as
determined by us, of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount) quoted
in writing to the quotation agent by such Reference Treasury Dealer at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the third business day preceding such
redemption date.

“Treasury Rate” means, with respect to any redemption date, the rate per annum equal to the semi-annual equivalent yield to maturity of the
Comparable Treasury Issue, assuming a price for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed as a percentage of its principal amount) equal to the
Comparable Treasury Price for that redemption date.

Notice of any redemption will be mailed at least 30 days but not more than 60 days before the redemption date to each registered holder of the
notes to be redeemed by us or by the trustee on our behalf. Notice of redemption will be published in a daily newspaper of general circulation in the
United States, and we will give notice of any such redemption to any exchange on which such notes are listed. On and after any redemption date,
interest will cease to accrue on the notes or portions thereof called for redemption. On or before the redemption date, we will deposit with a paying
agent (or the trustee) money sufficient to pay the redemption price of and accrued interest on the notes to be redeemed on that date. If less than all of the
notes are to be redeemed, the notes to be redeemed shall be selected by lot by The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), in the case of notes represented
by a global security, or by the trustee by such method as the trustee deems to be fair and appropriate, in the case of notes that are not represented by a
global security.

Events of Default

The definitions of an event of default with respect to a series of debt securities under “Description of Debt Securities—Events of Default” below
do not apply to the notes.

The following are events of default under the indenture with respect to the notes of a series:

. default in payment of the principal of (or premium, if any, on) any such note when due, and, in the case of technical or administrative
difficulties, the continuance of that default for more than two business days;

. default in payment of interest on, or any additional amounts payable in respect of, any such note when due and payable, and the
continuance of that default for 30 days;

. default in performing any other covenant in the indenture applicable to any such note for 90 days after the receipt of written notice
specifying such default from the trustee or from the holders of 25% in principal amount of such notes;
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. default under any bond, debenture, note or other evidence of indebtedness for money borrowed of GlaxoSmithKline plc or GSK Capital
Inc. (not including any indebtedness for which recourse is limited to property purchased), having in any particular case an aggregate
outstanding principal amount in excess of £100,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) whether such indebtedness now exists or
shall hereafter be created, which default results in such indebtedness becoming or being accelerated and declared due and payable prior to
its stated maturity and such acceleration shall not have been rescinded or annulled or such indebtedness shall not have been discharged;
provided that there shall not be deemed to be an event of default if such acceleration is rescinded or annulled or such payment is made
within 10 days after the receipt of written notice specifying such default from the trustee or from the holders of 25% in principal amount of
such notes; and

. certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of GlaxoSmithKline plc or GSK Capital Inc.

Because the applicable threshold amount of indebtedness the acceleration of which would give rise to an event of default under the indenture is
lower, and the number of days that must pass before the ongoing default in the performance of any covenant under the indenture other than the payment
of principal, interest or additional amounts that would give rise to an event of default under the indenture is lower, for each series of debt securities
issued under the indenture before the date of the first supplemental indenture, the acceleration of outstanding indebtedness of GlaxoSmithKline plc or
GSK Capital Inc. or the ongoing default in the performance of any covenant in the indenture other than payment of principal, premium, interest or
additional amounts may constitute an event of default with respect to one or more of such previously issued series, but may not constitute an event of
default under the respective terms of the notes offered by the prospectus supplement.

Further Issuances

We initially offered the 2023 notes in the aggregate principal amount of $1,250,000,000 and the 2043 notes in the aggregate principal amount of
$500,000,000. We may from time to time, without the consent of the holders of a series of notes, create and issue further notes of the same series having
the same terms and conditions in all respects as the applicable notes being offered hereby, except for the issue date, the issue price and the first payment
of interest thereon. We will not issue any further notes unless such further notes have no more than a de minimis amount of original issue discount or
such issuance would constitute a “qualified reopening” for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Additional 2023 notes issued in this manner will be
consolidated with and will form a single series with the 2023 notes being offered hereby. Additional 2043 notes issued in this matter will be
consolidated with and will form a single series with the 2043 notes being offered hereby.

Book-Entry System

We issued the notes of each series in the form of one or more fully registered global securities. We deposited these global securities with, or on
behalf of, DTC and register these securities in the name of DTC’s nominee. Direct and indirect participants in DTC will record beneficial ownership of
the notes by individual investors. The transfer of ownership of beneficial interests in a global security will be effected only through records maintained
by DTC or its nominee, or by participants or persons that hold through participants.

Investors may elect to hold beneficial interests in the global securities through either DTC, Clearstream Banking S.A. (“Clearstream”) or
Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) if they are participants in these systems, or indirectly through organizations which are participants in these
systems. Beneficial interests in the global securities will be held in minimum denominations of $2,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess
thereof.

Upon receipt of any payment in respect of a global security, DTC or its nominee will immediately credit participants’ accounts with amounts
proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the principal amount of the global security as shown in the records of DTC or its nominee.
Payments by participants to owners of beneficial interests in a global security held through participants will be governed by standing instructions and
customary practices and will be the responsibility of those participants.

DTC holds securities of institutions that have accounts with it or its participants. Through its maintenance of an electronic book-entry system,
DTC facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among its participants and eliminates the need to deliver securities certificates
physically. DTC’s participants include securities brokers and dealers, including the underwriters of this offering, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations and other organizations. DTC is partially owned by some of these participants or their representatives. Access to DTC’s book-entry system
is also available to others such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a participant,
either directly or indirectly. DTC agrees with and represents to its participants that it will administer its book-entry system in accordance with its rules
and bylaws and requirements of law. The rules applicable to DTC and its participants are on file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Clearstream and Euroclear hold interests on behalf of their participants through customers’ securities accounts in Clearstream’s and Euroclear’s
names on the books of their respective depositaries, which in turn will hold interests in customers’ securities accounts in the depositaries’ names on the
books of DTC. At the date of the prospectus supplement, Citibank, N.A. acts as U.S. depositary for Clearstream and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. acts
as U.S. depositary for Euroclear, or, collectively, the “U.S. Depositaries.”

Clearstream holds securities for its participating organizations, or “Clearstream Participants,” and facilitates the clearance and settlement of
securities transactions between Clearstream Participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of Clearstream Participants, thereby
eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates. Clearstream provides to Clearstream Participants, among other things, services for
safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of internationally traded securities and securities lending and borrowing. Clearstream interfaces
with domestic markets in several countries.

Clearstream is registered as a bank in Luxembourg and as such is subject to regulation by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier
and the Banque Centrale du Luxembourg, which supervise and oversee the activities of Luxembourg banks. Clearstream Participants are worldwide
financial institutions, including underwriters, securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations, and may include the
underwriters or their affiliates. Indirect access to Clearstream is available to other institutions that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with
a Clearstream Participant. Clearstream has established an electronic bridge with Euroclear as the operator of the Euroclear system, or the “Euroclear
Operator,” in Brussels to facilitate settlement of trades between Clearstream and the Euroclear Operator.

Distributions with respect to the notes of a series held beneficially through Clearstream will be credited to cash accounts of Clearstream
Participants in accordance with its rules and procedures, to the extent received by the U.S. Depositary for Clearstream.

Euroclear holds securities and book-entry interests in securities for participating organizations, or “Euroclear Participants” and facilitates the
clearance and settlement of securities transactions between Euroclear Participants, and between Euroclear Participants and participants of certain other
securities intermediaries through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of such participants or other securities intermediaries. Euroclear provides
Euroclear Participants with, among other things, safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement, securities lending and borrowing, and related
services.

Euroclear Participants are investment banks, securities brokers and dealers, banks, central banks, supranationals, custodians, investment managers,
corporations, trust companies and certain other organizations and may include the underwriters or their affiliates. Non-participants in Euroclear may
hold and transfer beneficial interests in a global security through accounts with a Euroclear Participant or any other securities intermediary that holds a
book-entry interest in a global security through one or more securities intermediaries standing between such other securities intermediary and Euroclear.

Distributions with respect to notes of a series held beneficially through Euroclear will be credited to the cash accounts of Euroclear Participants in
accordance with the Terms and Conditions, to the extent received by the U.S. Depositary for Euroclear.

Transfers between Euroclear Participants and Clearstream Participants will be effected in the ordinary way in accordance with their respective
rules and operating procedures.

Cross-market transfers between DTC’s participating organizations, or the “DTC Participants,” on the one hand, and Euroclear Participants or
Clearstream Participants, on the other hand, will be effected through DTC in accordance with DTC’s rules on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, as the
case may be, by its U.S. Depositary; however, such cross- market transactions will require delivery of instructions to Euroclear or Clearstream, as the
case may be, by the counterparty in such system in accordance with the rules and procedures and within the established deadlines (European time) of
such system. Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, will, if the transaction meets its settlement requirements, deliver instructions to its U.S.
Depositary to take action to effect final settlement on its behalf by delivering or receiving interests in the global security in DTC, and making or
receiving payment in accordance with normal procedures for same-day fund settlement applicable to DTC. Euroclear Participants and Clearstream
Participants may not deliver instructions directly to their respective U.S. Depositaries.
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Due to time zone differences, the securities accounts of a Euroclear Participant or Clearstream Participant purchasing an interest in a global
security from a DTC Participant in DTC will be credited, and any such crediting will be reported, to the relevant Euroclear Participant or Clearstream
Participant during the securities settlement processing day (which must be a business day for Euroclear or Clearstream) immediately following the
settlement date of DTC. Cash received in Euroclear or Clearstream as a result of sales of interests in a global security by or through a Euroclear
Participant or Clearstream Participant to a DTC Participant will be received with value on the settlement date of DTC but will be available in the
relevant Euroclear or Clearstream cash account only as of the business day for Euroclear or Clearstream following DTC’s settlement date.

The information in this section concerning DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream and their book-entry systems has been obtained from sources that we
believe to be reliable, but we take no responsibility for the accuracy of that information.

None of us, any of the underwriters and the trustee will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream or their
respective participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

Although DTC, Clearstream and Euroclear have agreed to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of securities among participants
of DTC, Clearstream and Euroclear, they are under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures and they may discontinue the
procedures at any time.

Same-Day Settlement and Payment
Initial settlement for the notes was made in immediately available funds. Secondary market trading between DTC participants will occur in the

ordinary way in accordance with DTC rules and will be settled in immediately available funds using DTC’s Same-Day Funds Settlement System.

b. Prospectus Supplement (May 2, 2012) — 2.850% Notes due 2022

Description of the Notes

General

We issued the 2.850% Notes due 2022 pursuant to an indenture, dated April 6, 2004, among GlaxoSmithKline plc, as guarantor, GSK Capital plc,
as issuer, and Law Debenture Trust Company of New York, the trustee for the notes (as successor to Citibank, N.A., pursuant to an Instrument of
Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance dated January 7, 2008 among GSK Capital plc, GlaxoSmithKline plc, Law Debenture Trust Company of
New York and Citibank, N.A.) (for purposes of this description of the 2.850% Notes due 2022 only, the “indenture”). The 2.850% Notes due 2022 are a
series of our debt securities. References in this “Description of the Notes™ to the “notes” refer to the 2.850% Notes due 2022. GSK Capital plc issued the
notes in the aggregate principal amount of $2,000,000,000. The notes will mature on May 8, 2022. GSK Capital plc issued the notes only in book-entry
form, in minimum denominations of $2,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess thereof.

The notes bear interest at the applicable interest rate shown in the table above and accrue interest from May 9, 2012, or from the most recent date
to which interest has been paid (or provided for), to but not including the next date upon which interest is required to be paid.

Interest is payable on the notes twice a year, on May 8 and November 8, commencing November 8, 2012, to the person in whose name a note is
registered at the close of business on the April 23 or October 23 that precedes the date on which interest will be paid. Interest on the notes is paid on the
basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. “Business day” means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banking
institutions in the City of New York or London, England are authorized or obligated by law, regulation or executive order to be closed.

If an interest payment date or redemption date, or the maturity date, for the notes, as the case may be, would fall on a day that is not a business
day, then the interest payment date or redemption date, or the maturity date, as the case may be, will be postponed to the next succeeding business day,
but no additional interest shall be paid unless we fail to make payment on such next succeeding business day.

The notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by GlaxoSmithKline plc. If, for any reason, GSK Capital plc does not make any required
payment in respect of the notes when due, whether on the normal due date, on acceleration, redemption or otherwise, GlaxoSmithKline plc will cause
the payment to be made to or to the order of the trustee. You will be entitled to payment under the guarantee of GlaxoSmithKline plc without taking any
action whatsoever against us.

42



Covenants

Subject to certain exceptions, if we are required to withhold or deduct any amount for or on account of any U.K. or U.S. withholding tax from any
payment made on the notes, we will pay additional amounts on those payments so that the amount received by noteholders will equal the amount that
would have been received if no such taxes had been applicable. See “Description of Debt Securities—Covenants—Payment of Additional Amounts”
below.

As contemplated by the last paragraph under “Description of Debt Securities—Defeasance” below, the satisfaction of certain conditions will
permit us to omit to comply with some or all of our obligations, covenants and agreements under the indenture with respect to the notes. In addition, we
may omit to comply with certain covenants through covenant defeasance. We refer you to the information under “Description of Debt
Securities—Defeasance” below for more information on how we may do this.

Except as described in the “Description of Debt Securities” below, the indenture for the notes does not contain any covenants or other provisions
designed to protect holders of the notes against a reduction in our creditworthiness in the event of a highly leveraged transaction or that would prohibit
other transactions that might adversely affect holders of the notes, including, among other things, through the incurrence of additional indebtedness.

Optional Make-Whole Redemption

We may redeem the notes, in whole or in part, at our option at any time and from time to time at a redemption price equal to the greater of (i)
100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed on that redemption date; and (ii) as determined by the quotation agent (as defined below), the
sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the notes being redeemed on that redemption date (not
including any portion of such payments of interest accrued as of the date of redemption), discounted to the date of redemption on a semi-annual basis
(assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the Treasury Rate, plus 0.150%, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but
excluding, the date of redemption. Notwithstanding the foregoing, installments of interest on notes to be redeemed that are due and payable on interest
payment dates falling on or prior to a redemption date will be payable on the interest payment date to the registered holders as of the close of business
on the relevant record date according to the notes and the indenture.

“Comparable Treasury Issue” means the United States Treasury security selected by the quotation agent as having a maturity comparable to the
remaining term (as measured from the date of redemption) of the notes to be redeemed that would be utilized, at the time of selection and in accordance
with customary financial practice, in pricing new issues of corporate debt securities of comparable maturity to the remaining term of the notes.

“Comparable Treasury Price” means, with respect to any redemption date, (i) the average of four Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations (as
defined below) for such redemption date, after excluding the highest and lowest such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, or (ii) if the quotation
agent for the notes obtains fewer than four such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, the average of all such quotations, or (iii) if only one Reference
Treasury Dealer Quotation is received, the quotation.

“Quotation agent” means any Reference Treasury Dealer appointed by us.

“Reference Treasury Dealer” means (i) each of Barclays Capital Inc., Citigroup Global Markets Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Morgan
Stanley & Co. LLC (or their respective affiliates that are Primary Treasury Dealers) and their respective successors; provided, however, that if any of
the foregoing shall cease to be a primary U.S. government securities dealer in New York City (a “Primary Treasury Dealer”), we will substitute therefor
another Primary Treasury Dealer, and (ii) any other Primary Treasury Dealer selected by us.

“Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations” means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer and any redemption date, the average, as
determined by us, of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount) quoted
in writing to the quotation agent by such Reference Treasury Dealer at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the third business day preceding such
redemption date.

43



“Treasury Rate” means, with respect to any redemption date, the rate per annum equal to the semi-annual equivalent yield to maturity of the
Comparable Treasury Issue, assuming a price for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed as a percentage of its principal amount) equal to the
Comparable Treasury Price for that redemption date.

Notice of any redemption will be mailed at least 30 days but not more than 60 days before the redemption date to each registered holder of the
notes to be redeemed by us or by the trustee on our behalf. Notice of redemption will be published in a daily newspaper of general circulation in the
United States, and we will give notice of any such redemption to any exchange on which the notes are listed. On and after any redemption date, interest
will cease to accrue on the notes or portions thereof called for redemption. On or before the redemption date, we will deposit with a paying agent (or the
trustee) money sufficient to pay the redemption price of and accrued interest on the notes to be redeemed on that date. If less than all of the notes are to
be redeemed, the notes to be redeemed shall be selected by lot by The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), in the case of notes represented by a global
security, or by the trustee by such method as the trustee deems to be fair and appropriate, in the case of notes that are not represented by a global
security.

Further Issuances

We initially offered the notes in the aggregate principal amount of $2,000,000,000. We may from time to time, without the consent of the holders
of a series of notes, create and issue further notes of the same series having the same terms and conditions in all respects as the applicable notes being
offered hereby, except for the issue date, the issue price and the first payment of interest thereon. We will not issue any further notes unless such further
notes have no more than a de minimis amount of original issue discount or such issuance would constitute a “qualified reopening” for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. Additional notes issued in this manner will be consolidated with and will form a single series with the notes being offered hereby.

Book-Entry System

We issued the notes of each series in the form of one or more fully registered global securities. We deposited these global securities with, or on
behalf of, DTC and register these securities in the name of DTC’s nominee. Direct and indirect participants in DTC will record beneficial ownership of
the notes by individual investors. The transfer of ownership of beneficial interests in a global security will be effected only through records maintained
by DTC or its nominee, or by participants or persons that hold through participants.

Investors may elect to hold beneficial interests in the global securities through either DTC, Clearstream Banking S.A. (“Clearstream”) or
Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) if they are participants in these systems, or indirectly through organizations which are participants in these
systems. Beneficial interests in the global securities will be held in minimum denominations of $2,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess
thereof.

Upon receipt of any payment in respect of a global security, DTC or its nominee will immediately credit participants’ accounts with amounts
proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the principal amount of the global security as shown in the records of DTC or its nominee.
Payments by participants to owners of beneficial interests in a global security held through participants will be governed by standing instructions and
customary practices and will be the responsibility of those participants.

DTC holds securities of institutions that have accounts with it or its participants. Through its maintenance of an electronic book-entry system,
DTC facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among its participants and eliminates the need to deliver securities certificates
physically. DTC’s participants include securities brokers and dealers, including the underwriters of this offering, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations and other organizations. DTC is partially owned by some of these participants or their representatives. Access to DTC’s book-entry system
is also available to others such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a participant,
either directly or indirectly. DTC agrees with and represents to its participants that it will administer its book-entry system in accordance with its rules
and bylaws and requirements of law. The rules applicable to DTC and its participants are on file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

Clearstream and Euroclear hold interests on behalf of their participants through customers’ securities accounts in Clearstream’s and Euroclear’s
names on the books of their respective depositaries, which in turn will hold interests in customers’ securities accounts in the depositaries’ names on the
books of DTC. At the date of the prospectus supplement, Citibank, N.A. acts as U.S. depositary for Clearstream and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. acts
as U.S. depositary for Euroclear, or, collectively, the “U.S. Depositaries.”
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Clearstream holds securities for its participating organizations, or “Clearstream Participants,” and facilitates the clearance and settlement of
securities transactions between Clearstream Participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of Clearstream Participants, thereby
eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates. Clearstream provides to Clearstream Participants, among other things, services for
safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of internationally traded securities and securities lending and borrowing. Clearstream interfaces
with domestic markets in several countries.

Clearstream is registered as a bank in Luxembourg and as such is subject to regulation by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier
and the Banque Centrale du Luxembourg, which supervise and oversee the activities of Luxembourg banks. Clearstream Participants are worldwide
financial institutions, including underwriters, securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations, and may include the
underwriters or their affiliates. Indirect access to Clearstream is available to other institutions that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with
a Clearstream Participant. Clearstream has established an electronic bridge with Euroclear as the operator of the Euroclear System, or the “Euroclear
Operator,” in Brussels to facilitate settlement of trades between Clearstream and the Euroclear Operator.

Distributions with respect to the notes of a series held beneficially through Clearstream will be credited to cash accounts of Clearstream
Participants in accordance with its rules and procedures, to the extent received by the U.S. Depositary for Clearstream.

Euroclear holds securities and book-entry interests in securities for participating organizations, or “Euroclear Participants” and facilitates the
clearance and settlement of securities transactions between Euroclear Participants, and between Euroclear Participants and participants of certain other
securities intermediaries through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of such participants or other securities intermediaries. Euroclear provides
Euroclear Participants with, among other things, safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement, securities lending and borrowing, and related
services.

Euroclear Participants are investment banks, securities brokers and dealers, banks, central banks, supranationals, custodians, investment managers,
corporations, trust companies and certain other organizations and may include the underwriters or their affiliates. Non-participants in Euroclear may
hold and transfer beneficial interests in a global security through accounts with a Euroclear Participant or any other securities intermediary that holds a
book-entry interest in a global security through one or more securities intermediaries standing between such other securities intermediary and Euroclear.

Distributions with respect to notes of a series held beneficially through Euroclear will be credited to the cash accounts of Euroclear Participants in
accordance with the Terms and Conditions, to the extent received by the U.S. Depositary for Euroclear.

Transfers between Euroclear Participants and Clearstream Participants will be effected in the ordinary way in accordance with their respective
rules and operating procedures.

Cross-market transfers between DTC’s participating organizations, or the “DTC Participants,” on the one hand, and Euroclear Participants or
Clearstream Participants, on the other hand, will be effected through DTC in accordance with DTC’s rules on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, as the
case may be, by its U.S. Depositary; however, such cross-market transactions will require delivery of instructions to Euroclear or Clearstream, as the
case may be, by the counterparty in such system in accordance with the rules and procedures and within the established deadlines (European time) of
such system. Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, will, if the transaction meets its settlement requirements, deliver instructions to its U.S.
Depositary to take action to effect final settlement on its behalf by delivering or receiving interests in the global security in DTC, and making or
receiving payment in accordance with normal procedures for same-day fund settlement applicable to DTC. Euroclear Participants and Clearstream
Participants may not deliver instructions directly to their respective U.S. Depositaries.

Due to time zone differences, the securities accounts of a Euroclear Participant or Clearstream Participant purchasing an interest in a global
security from a DTC Participant in DTC will be credited, and any such crediting will be reported to the relevant Euroclear Participant or Clearstream
Participant during the securities settlement processing day (which must be a business day for Euroclear or Clearstream) immediately following the
settlement date of DTC. Cash received in Euroclear or Clearstream as a result of sales of interests in a global security by or through a Euroclear
Participant or Clearstream Participant to a DTC Participant will be received with value on the settlement date of DTC but will be available in the
relevant Euroclear or Clearstream cash account only as of the business day for Euroclear or Clearstream following DTC’s settlement date.
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The information in this section concerning DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream and their book-entry systems has been obtained from sources that we
believe to be reliable, but we take no responsibility for the accuracy of that information.

None of us, any of the underwriters and the trustee will have any responsibility for the performance by Euroclear or Clearstream or their
respective participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

Although DTC, Clearstream and Euroclear have agreed to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of securities among participants
of DTC, Clearstream and Euroclear, they are under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures and they may discontinue the
procedures at any time.

Same-Day Settlement and Payment
Initial settlement for the notes will be made in immediately available funds. Secondary market trading between DTC participants will occur in the

ordinary way in accordance with DTC rules and will be settled in immediately available funds using DTC’s Same-Day Funds Settlement System.

c. Base Prospectus — March 4, 2011

Description of Debt Securities

General

As used in this “Description of Debt Securities,” “debt securities” means the debentures, notes, bonds, guarantees and other evidences of
indebtedness that GSK issues or that GSK Capital Inc. or GSK Capital plc (the “finance subsidiaries”) issues and GSK fully and unconditionally
guarantees and, in each case, the trustee authenticates and delivers under the applicable indenture. The debt securities will be our direct unsecured
obligations and will rank equally and ratably without preference among themselves and at least equally with all of our other unsecured and
unsubordinated indebtedness.

The debt securities will be issued in one or more series under an indenture between GSK and Law Debenture Trust Company of New York, as
trustee, or under indentures among the finance subsidiaries, Law Debenture Trust Company of New York, as trustee (as successor to Citibank, N.A.,
pursuant to Instruments of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance among the finance subsidiaries, the guarantor, Law Debenture Trust Company of
New York and Citibank, N.A.), and GSK, as guarantor. The indentures applicable to GSK, GSK Capital Inc. and GSK Capital plc will each be qualified
under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or the Trust Indenture Act. In the following discussion, we sometimes refer to these indentures
collectively as the “indentures.”

This “Description of Debt Securities” briefly outlines the provisions of the indentures and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the indentures.
The terms of the indentures will include both those stated in the indentures and those made part of the indentures by the Trust Indenture Act. The forms
of the indentures have been filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which the base prospectus forms a part, and you should read the indentures
for provisions that may be important to you.

The indentures do not contain any covenants or other provisions designed to protect holders of the debt securities against a reduction in the
creditworthiness of GSK or the finance subsidiaries in the event of a highly leveraged transaction or that would prohibit other transactions that might
adversely affect holders of the debt securities.

Issuances in Series

The indentures do not limit the amount of debt securities that may be issued. The debt securities may be issued in one or more series with the
same or various maturities, at a price of 100% of their principal amount or at a premium or a discount. Not all debt securities of any one series need be
issued at the same time, and, unless otherwise provided, any series may be reopened, without the consents of the holders of debt securities of that series,
for issuances of additional debt securities of that series. Except in the limited circumstances described below under “— Covenants — Limitation on
Liens,” the debt securities will not be secured by any property or assets of GSK, as issuer or guarantor, or the finance subsidiaries.

The terms of any authorized series of debt securities will be described in a prospectus supplement. These terms will include some or all of the
following:

. the title, aggregate principal amount and denominations of the debt securities;
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. the date or dates on which principal will be payable;

. the percentage of the principal amount at which the debt securities will be issued and whether the debt securities will be “original issue
discount” securities for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If original issue discount debt securities are issued (generally, securities that are
issued at a substantial discount below their principal amount), the special U.S. federal income tax and other considerations of a purchase of
original issue discount debt securities will be described;

. the rate or rates, which may be fixed or variable, at which the debt securities will bear interest;

. the interest payment dates;

. any optional or mandatory redemption terms;

. whether any sinking fund is required;

. the currency in which the debt securities will be denominated or principal, premium or interest will be payable, if other than U.S. dollars;

. whether the debt securities are to be issued as individual certificates to each holder or in the form of global certificates held by a depositary

on behalf of beneficial owners;

. information describing any book-entry features;

. the names and duties of any co-trustees, depositaries, authenticating agents, paying agents, transfer agents or registrars for any series;
. the applicability of the defeasance and covenant defeasance provisions described herein, or any modifications of those provisions;

. any deletions from, modifications of or additions to the events of default or covenants with respect to the debt securities; and

. any other terms, conditions, rights or preferences of the debt securities.

Debt securities that have a maturity of less than one year from their date of issue and in respect of which the proceeds are to be received by us in
the United Kingdom will have a minimum denomination of £100,000 (or its equivalent in another currency).

The prospectus supplement relating to any series of debt securities may add to or change statements contained in the base prospectus. The
prospectus supplement may also include, if applicable, a discussion of certain U.S. federal income tax and U.K. income tax considerations.

GlaxoSmithKline Guarantees

Debt securities issued by the finance subsidiaries will be fully and unconditionally guaranteed by GSK. If for any reason the applicable finance
subsidiary does not make any required payment in respect of its debt securities when due, whether on the normal due date, on acceleration, redemption
or otherwise, GSK will cause the payment to be made to or to the order of the trustee. The holder of a guaranteed debt security will be entitled to
payment under the applicable guarantee of GSK without taking any action whatsoever against the finance subsidiary.

Payment and Transfer

The debt securities will be issued only as registered securities, which means that the name of the holder will be entered in a register that will be
kept by the trustee or another agent appointed by us. Unless stated otherwise in a prospectus supplement, and except as described under “— Book-Entry
System” below, payments of principal, interest and additional amounts, if any, will be made at the office of the paying agent or agents named in the
prospectus supplement or by check mailed to you at your address as it appears in the register.

Unless other procedures are described in a prospectus supplement and except as described under “— Book Entry System” below, you will be able
to transfer registered debt securities at the office of the transfer agent or agents named in the prospectus supplement. You may also exchange registered
debt securities at the office of the transfer agent for an equal aggregate principal amount of registered debt securities of the same series having the same
maturity date, interest rate and other terms as long as the debt securities are issued in authorized denominations.
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Neither we nor the trustee will impose any service charge for any transfer or exchange of a debt security; however, we may ask you to pay any
taxes or other governmental charges in connection with a transfer or exchange of debt securities.

Book-Entry System

Debt securities may be issued under a book-entry system in the form of one or more global securities. The global securities will be registered in
the name of a depositary or its nominee and deposited with that depositary or its custodian. Unless stated otherwise in the prospectus supplement, The
Depository Trust Company, New York, New York, or DTC, will be the depositary if a depositary is used.

DTC has advised us as follows:

. DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the
New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform
Commercial Code and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act;

. DTC was created to hold securities of its participants and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions, such as
through transfers and pledges, among its participants in such securities through electronic book-entry changes to accounts of its
participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates;

. DTC’s participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations,
some of whom (and/or their representatives) own DTC;

. access to DTC’s book-entry system is also available to others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or
maintain a custodial relationship with a participant, either directly or indirectly; and

« the DTC rules applicable to its participants are on file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

According to DTC, the foregoing information with respect to DTC has been provided to the financial community for informational purposes only
and is not intended to serve as a representation, warranty or contract modification of any kind.

Following the issuance of a global security in registered form, the depositary will credit the accounts of its participants with the debt securities
upon our instructions. Only persons who hold directly or indirectly through financial institutions that are participants in the depositary can hold
beneficial interests in the global securities. Since the laws of some jurisdictions require certain types of purchasers to take physical delivery of such
securities in definitive form, you may encounter difficulties in your ability to own, transfer or pledge beneficial interests in a global security.

So long as the depositary or its nominee is the registered owner of a global security, we and the trustee will treat the depositary as the sole owner
or holder of the debt securities for purposes of the applicable indenture. Therefore, except as set forth below, you will not be entitled to have debt
securities registered in your name or to receive physical delivery of certificates representing the debt securities. Accordingly, you will have to rely on
the procedures of the depositary and the participant in the depositary through whom you hold your beneficial interest in order to exercise any rights of a
holder under the indenture. We understand that under existing practices, the depositary would act upon the instructions of a participant or authorize that
participant to take any action that a holder is entitled to take.

We will make all payments of principal, interest and additional amounts, if any, on the debt securities to the depositary. It is expected that the
depositary will then credit participants’ accounts proportionately with these payments on the payment date and that the participants will in turn credit
their customers’ accounts in accordance with their customary practices. Neither we nor the trustee will be responsible for making any payments to
participants or customers of participants or for maintaining any records relating to the holdings of participants and their customers, and you will have to
rely on the procedures of the depositary and its participants.

Global securities are generally not transferable. Physical certificates will be issued to beneficial owners in lieu of a global security only in the
special situations described in the sixth paragraph under the heading “Legal Ownership of Debt Securities — Global Securities” below.
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Consolidation, Merger or Sale

We and the finance subsidiaries have agreed in the indentures not to consolidate with or merge with or into any other person or convey or transfer
all or substantially all of our respective properties and assets to any person (except that the finance subsidiaries may merge into us), unless:

. we or the applicable finance subsidiary, as the case may be, are the continuing person, or the successor expressly assumes by supplemental
indenture our obligations under the applicable indenture;

. the continuing person is a U.S. or U.K. company or is organized and validly existing under the laws of a jurisdiction that is a member
country of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (or any successor) and, if it is not a U.S. or U.K. company, the
continuing person agrees by supplemental indenture to be bound by a covenant comparable to that described below under “— Covenants
— Payment of Additional Amounts” with respect to taxes imposed in the continuing person’s jurisdiction of organization (in which case
the continuing person will benefit from a redemption option comparable to that described below under

. “— Optional Redemption for Tax Reasons” in the event of changes in taxes in that jurisdiction after the date of the consolidation, merger
or sale);

. immediately after the transaction, no default under the debt securities has occurred and is continuing; and

. we deliver to the trustee an officer’s certificate and, if neither we nor the applicable subsidiary are the continuing person, an opinion of

counsel, in each case stating, among other things, that the transaction and the supplemental indenture, if required, comply with these
provisions and the indenture.

Covenants
Payment of Additional Amounts

Payments made by us under or with respect to the debt securities will be free and clear of and without withholding or deduction for or on account
of any present or future tax, duty, levy, impost, assessment or other governmental charge of any nature whatsoever imposed or levied by or on behalf of
(1) the government of the United Kingdom or of any territory of the United Kingdom or by any authority or agency therein or thereof having the power
to tax or (ii) the government of the United States or any state or territory of the United States or by any authority or agency therein or thereof having the
power to tax, which we refer to collectively as “Taxes,” unless we are required to withhold or deduct Taxes by law.

If we are required to withhold or deduct any amount for or on account of Taxes from any payment made with respect to the debt securities, we
will pay such additional amounts as may be necessary so that the net amount received by each holder (including additional amounts) after such
withholding or deduction will not be less than the amount the holder would have received if the Taxes had not been withheld or deducted; provided that
no additional amounts will be payable with respect to Taxes:

. that would not have been imposed but for the existence of any present or former connection between such holder or beneficial owner of
the debt securities (or between a fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member or shareholder of, or possessor of a power over, such holder or
beneficial owner, if such holder or beneficial owner is an estate, trust, partnership or corporation) and the United Kingdom or the United
States or any political subdivision or territory or possession thereof or therein or area subject to its jurisdiction, including, without
limitation, such holder or beneficial owner (or such fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member, shareholder or possessor) being or having been
a citizen or resident thereof or treated as a resident thereof or domiciled thereof or a national thereof or being or having been present or
engaged in trade or business therein or having or having had a permanent establishment therein;

. that are estate, inheritance, gift, sales, transfer, personal property, wealth or similar taxes, duties, assessments or other governmental
charges;

. payable other than by withholding from payments of principal of or interest on the debt securities;

. that would not have been imposed but for the failure of the applicable recipient of such payment to comply with any certification,

identification, information, documentation or other reporting requirement to the extent:

*  such compliance is required by applicable law or administrative practice or an applicable treaty as a precondition to exemption from,
or reduction in, the rate of deduction or withholding of such Taxes; and
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«  atleast 30 days before the first payment date with respect to which such additional amounts shall be payable, we have notified such
recipient in writing that such recipient is required to comply with such requirement;

+ that would not have been imposed but for the presentation of a debt security (where presentation is required) for payment on a date
more than 30 days after the date on which such payment became due and payable or the date on which payment thereof was duly
provided for, whichever occurred later;

+ that are imposed on a payment to an individual and are required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or
any other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of November 26-27, 2000 on the taxation of
savings income, or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive;

+ that would not have been imposed if presentation for payment of the relevant debt securities had been made to a paying agent other
than the paying agent to which the presentation was made; or

* any combination of the foregoing items;

nor shall additional amounts be paid with respect to any payment of the principal of or interest on any debt security to any such holder who is a fiduciary
or a partnership or a beneficial owner who is other than the sole beneficial owner of such payment to the extent a beneficiary or settlor with respect to
such fiduciary or a member of such partnership or a beneficial owner would not have been entitled to such additional amounts had it been the holder of
the debt security.

We have agreed in each indenture that at least one paying agent for each series of debt securities will be located outside the United Kingdom. We
have also agreed that if we maintain a paying agent with respect to a particular series of debt securities in any member state of the European Union, we
will maintain a paying agent in at least one member state (other than the United Kingdom) that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct taxes pursuant
to any law implementing European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting
of November 26-27, 2000 on the taxation of savings income, provided there is at least one member state that does not require a paying agent to withhold
or deduct pursuant to such Directive.

Our obligation to pay additional amounts if and when due will survive the termination of the indentures and the payment of all amounts in respect
of the debt securities.

Limitation on Liens

We have agreed in the indentures not to incur or assume (or permit any of our subsidiaries to incur or assume) any lien on or with respect to any of
our or our subsidiaries’ property, assets or revenues, present or future, to secure any relevant indebtedness (as this term is defined below) without
making (or causing our subsidiaries to make) effective provision for securing the debt securities equally and ratably with such relevant indebtedness as
to such property, assets or revenues, for as long as such relevant indebtedness is so secured.

The restrictions on liens will not apply to:

. liens arising by operation of law;

. liens on property, assets or revenues of any person, which liens are existing at the time such person becomes a subsidiary; and

. liens on property, assets or revenues of a person existing at the time such person is merged with or into or consolidated with us or any of
our subsidiaries or at the time of a sale, lease or other disposition to us of the properties of a person as an entirety or substantially as an
entirety.

For purposes of the limitation on liens covenant, the term “relevant indebtedness” means any of our debt that:

. is in the form of or represented by bonds, notes, loan stock, depositary receipts or other securities issued (otherwise than to constitute or
represent advances made by banks or other lending institutions);

. is denominated in, or confers any right of payment by reference to, any currency other than the currency of the country in which the issuer
of the indebtedness has its principal place of business, or is denominated in or by reference to the currency of such country but more than
20% of which is placed or offered for subscription or sale by or on behalf of, or by agreement with, the issuer outside such country; and

. at its date of issue is, or is intended by the issuer to become, quoted, listed, traded or dealt in on any stock exchange, over-the-counter
market or other securities market.
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Additional Covenants

We may be subject to additional covenants, including restrictive covenants in respect of a particular series of debt securities. Such additional
covenants will be set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement and, to the extent necessary, in the supplemental indenture or board resolution
relating to that series of debt securities.

Optional Redemption for Tax Reasons

We may redeem any series of debt securities in whole but not in part at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice of such
redemption, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount plus accrued interest, if any, to the date fixed for redemption (except in the case of
discounted debt securities, which may be redeemed at the redemption price specified by the terms of each series of such debt securities), if:

. we determine that, as a result of any change in or amendment to the laws or any regulations or rulings promulgated thereunder of the
United Kingdom (or of any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof) or the United States (or of any political subdivision or taxing
authority thereof), or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws, regulations or rulings, or any change in the
application or official interpretation of, or any execution of or amendment to, any treaty or treaties affecting taxation to which any such
jurisdiction is a party, which change, execution or amendment becomes effective on or after the issue date or such other date specified in
the debt securities of that series:

* we would be required to pay additional amounts (as described under “— Covenants — Payment of Additional Amounts” above)
with respect to that series of debt securities on the next succeeding interest payment date and the payment of such additional
amounts cannot be avoided by the use of reasonable measures available to us; or

+  withholding tax has been or would be required to be withheld with respect to interest income received or receivable by the
applicable finance subsidiary directly from the guarantor (or any affiliate) and such withholding tax obligation cannot be avoided by
the use of reasonable measures available to the applicable finance subsidiary or the guarantor (or any affiliate); or

. we determine, based upon an opinion of independent counsel of recognized standing that, as a result of any action taken by any legislative
body of, taxing authority of, or any action brought in a court of competent jurisdiction in, the United Kingdom (or any political subdivision
or taxing authority thereof) or the United States (or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof) (whether or not such action was
taken or brought with respect to GSK, as issuer or guarantor, or the applicable finance subsidiary, as the case may be), which action is
taken or brought on or after the issue date or such other date specified in the debt securities of that series, there is a substantial probability
that the circumstances described above would exist; provided, however, that no such notice of redemption may be given earlier than 90
days prior to the earliest date on which we would be obligated to pay such additional amounts.

We will also pay to each holder, or make available for payment to each such holder, on the redemption date any additional amounts resulting from
the payment of such redemption price. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption, we will deliver to the trustee:

. an officer’s certificate stating that we are entitled to effect a redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions
precedent of the right so to redeem have occurred; or

. an opinion of counsel to the effect that the conditions specified above have been satisfied.

Any notice of redemption will be irrevocable once we deliver the officer’s certificate to the trustee.

Events of Default
Unless otherwise specified in a prospectus supplement, an event of default with respect to a series of debt securities occurs upon:

. default in payment of the principal (or premium, if any) of any debt security of that series when due (including as a sinking fund
installment), and, in the case of technical or administrative difficulties, the continuance of that default for more than two business days;

. default in payment of interest on, or any additional amounts payable in respect of, any debt security of that series when due and payable,
and the continuance of that default for 30 days;

. default in performing any other covenant in the 